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I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

This suit is about Plaintiff David Schneider’s and Intervening Plaintiff Highlands of 

McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association’s (the “HOA”) (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”) attempt to obtain an injunction that would end community religious practice for 

approximately thirty families of Orthodox Jews in far North Dallas based only on minor 

irritations such as having to stop vehicles to permit blind people and mothers with children to 

cross the street.  The members and other attendees of the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. (the 

“Congregation”)1 are homeowners who want to practice their religious beliefs in their homes, an 

issue that lies at the core of individual liberty.  Plaintiffs—a single neighbor and the HOA—

unfortunately are attempting to bully minority members of their community with this suit. 

Since February 2011, with the HOA’s full knowledge, the Congregation’s prayer and 

study activities have taken place primarily at two homes in the housing development over which 

the HOA has authority: the Highlands of McKamy IV and V (the “Highlands of McKamy”). 

From February 2011 until August 2013, the Congregation’s activities took place primarily at the 

home of Rabbi Yaakov Rich at 7119 Bremerton Court, and since August 2013, the same 

activities have taken place primarily at 7103 Mumford Court,2 the home owned by Defendants 

Judith D. Gothelf and Mark B. Gothelf.  The HOA has known about these activities since early 

2011, but took no steps to try to stop them until sending a letter on October 14, 2013.  The HOA 

1  The Congregation is not a proper Defendant in this case because it is not, nor ever has been, a homeowner in the 
Highlands of McKamy.  The Congregation therefore cannot be bound by the restrictive covenants at issue in this 
case.  See Jim Walter Homes, Inc. v. Youngtown, Inc., 786 S.W.2d 10, 11 (Tex. App.—Beaumont 1990, no writ) 
(holding that non-property owners have no duty to comply with restrictive covenants).  Indeed, the HOA has 
intervened only against the Gothelfs.  The Congregation has filed a no-evidence motion for summary judgment that 
is pending before the Court.  See Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim’s No-Evidence Motion for Summary 
Judgment, filed March 7, 2014; Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim’s Reply in Support of No-Evidence Motion 
for Summary Judgment, filed June 26, 2014.  The Congregation hereby incorporates all of its briefing and evidence 
submitted in support of its No-Evidence Motion for Summary Judgment. 
2  Avrohom Rich’s use of 7103 Mumford Court as his personal residence is the primary use of the property.  Some 
of the Congregation’s religious activities also take place there.  See Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s and 
Intervening Plaintiff’s Motions for Partial Summary Judgment, filed June 19, 2014. 
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sent this letter despite the conclusion of its counsel that the Highlands of McKamy’s restrictive 

covenants lacked the “preferred language” for deeming the Congregation’s presence in the 

neighborhood to be a violation.3 

The Court has already denied two of Plaintiffs’ attempts to shut down the Congregation’s 

religious practice by (1) denying a request for a temporary injunction on April 10, 2014, and (2) 

denying the HOA’s motion for summary judgment on August 20, 2014, on the issue of whether 

Defendants are in breach of the Highlands of McKamy’s restrictive covenants.  Discovery has 

since closed, and based on the application of Texas law to the undisputed facts (and in some 

instances the complete absence of facts) Defendants are entitled to summary judgment based on 

several independent grounds. 

First, although Defendants are not at this time moving for summary judgment on the 

issue of whether their activities at 7103 Mumford Court violate the Highlands of McKamy’s 

restrictive covenants,4 Defendants are entitled to complete summary judgment on all of their 

affirmative defenses, each of which has been established as a matter of law and which 

independently foreclose Plaintiffs’ claims: 

 Interpreting the restrictive covenants to prevent the Congregation’s religious 
activities would violate the Texas Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“Texas 
RFRA”), Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code §§ 110.001, et seq., because it would 
place a substantial burden on the Congregation members’ religious practice, 
would not further any compelling interest, and would not be the least restrictive 
means of furthering any interest that may exist. 
 

 Interpreting the restrictive covenants to prevent the Congregation’s religious 
activities would violate the federal Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 
Persons Act of 2000 (“RLUIPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc, et seq., because it would 

                                                 
3  Exhibit V at 4. 
4  Defendants are not in violation of the restrictive covenants.  See Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s and 
Intervening Plaintiff’s Motions for Partial Summary Judgment, filed June 19, 2014.  If this case proceeds to trial, the 
evidence will show, among other things, that Avrohom Rich’s use of 7103 Mumford Court as his personal residence 
is the primary use of the property. 
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place a substantial burden on the Congregation members’ religious practice, 
would not further any compelling interest, and would not be the least restrictive 
means of furthering any interest that may exist.  Interpreting the restrictive 
covenants to prevent the Congregation’s religious activities would also violate 
RLUIPA because it would treat the Congregation’s religious activities on unequal 
terms with other non-residential uses that are or have taken place in the Highlands 
of McKamy.  

 The HOA may not enforce the Highlands of McKamy’s restrictive covenants
against Defendants because the HOA’s decisions to intervene in this suit and to
attempt to enforce the restrictive covenants were arbitrary, capricious, or
discriminatory under § 202.004 of the Texas Property Code.

 Plaintiffs have waived and/or abandoned their right to enforce the residential use
restriction because the HOA has never attempted to prevent other non-residential
uses of homes within the Highlands of McKamy.

 The doctrine of laches bars the HOA’s claims because the HOA unreasonably
delayed in challenging the Congregation’s activities, and the Gothelfs and the
Congregation relied on the HOA’s non-opposition to their detriment.

 The doctrine of unclean hands bars Schneider from asserting claims to enforce the
restrictive covenants in the Highlands of McKamy because he is himself in
violation of the restrictive covenants he seeks to enforce.  In direct contravention
of the residential-only provision of the restrictive covenants, Schneider maintains
a shed in his yard.  See Exhibit B at Article VI.1.5

Second, independent of Defendants’ affirmative defenses, summary judgment is also 

proper as to certain of Plaintiffs’ claims for additional reasons: 

 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ claim for a permanent
injunction to the extent an injunction would prohibit the Congregation’s religious
activities at 7103 Mumford Court.  The Court must balance the equities before
issuing a permanent injunction, and the undisputed facts reflect that no balancing
of the equities could reasonably be resolved in favor of Plaintiffs.  An injunction
prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court would end
community religious life for approximately thirty families.  By contrast, Plaintiffs
complain of alleged harms such as parking and dogs barking.  Even if Plaintiffs
were to prevail at trial, any injunction should be narrowly tailored to address
specific alleged harms (such as parking), rather than shutting down the synagogue
entirely.

5  Exhibit A identifies the evidence attached to this Motion.  Defendants hereby incorporate all Exhibits attached 
to this Motion. 
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 Defendants are entitled to a no-evidence summary judgment on Schneider’s claim
for statutory damages under Tex. Prop. Code § 202.004(c).  The statute does not
permit individual homeowners to recover damages.

 Defendants are entitled to a no-evidence summary judgment on Schneider’s claim
for $50,000 due to an alleged decline in value of his home.  Schneider has no
evidence that his home has lost value.

This case should be put to rest now.  Defendants should not have to incur the burden and 

expense of going to trial in a case that never should have been filed.  Defendants respectfully 

request that the Court grant Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.6 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Congregation’s Formation 

The Congregation is a small community of Orthodox Jews in far North Dallas in 

existence since 2007.  Exhibit C at 27:25-28:2; Exhibit D at 16:7-16:9, 41:15-42:7, 55:17-56:12. 

There is only one other congregation of Orthodox Jews in the entire Dallas-Fort Worth area that 

shares the Congregation’s particular outlook on spiritual life: the Ohr HaTorah Shul, which is 

located approximately seven miles south of the Highlands of McKamy.  Exhibit D at 41:15-42:7, 

74:3-75:3.  While a member of the Ohr HaTorah Shul, Rabbi Yaakov Rich discovered that 

several families living around the Highlands of McKamy wanted to join an Orthodox Jewish 

synagogue that shared the same focus as the Ohr HaTorah Shul.  Exhibit D at 74:3-75:3. 

Orthodox Jews are prohibited from driving on the Sabbath; these families therefore must live 

within walking distance of a synagogue to attend prayer services on the Sabbath.  Exhibit C at 

28:20-29:2; Exhibit D at 30:20-31:4, 39:25-40:4, 74:16-75:3, 84:1-84:13; Exhibit F at 72:9-73:4. 

6  If this Motion is granted in its entirety, it would dispose of all of Plaintiffs’ claims.  The Motion does not 
address Defendants’ contention that they are entitled to attorneys’ fees and expenses.  See Defendants’ First 
Amended Answer, filed October 1, 2014, at ¶¶ 8-10.  Defendants intend to present evidence and argument regarding 
attorneys’ fees and expenses at a later time. 
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When Rabbi Rich started the Congregation in 2007, locating it in and around the 

Highlands of McKamy was facilitated by the fact that the area had already been established as an 

eruv.7  Exhibit D at 76:11-76:17.  Creating an eruv is an extensive process that requires approval 

from and a leasing agreement with the city.  Exhibit D at 74:21-76:10.  The eruv that 

encompasses the Highlands of McKamy is called the Far North Dallas Eruv and is approximately 

two square miles.  Exhibit E (map of Far North Dallas Eruv); Exhibit F at 72:9-73:4.  The eruv 

had been created by the members of another Orthodox Jewish synagogue, Ohev Shalom, but that 

synagogue does not share the same particular outlook on the spiritual life as the Congregation.  

Exhibit D at 38:21-39:2, 41:15-42:7, 66:1-67:11, 74:3-74:15, 75:23-76:17. 

B. Rabbi Rich Begins Hosting Congregation Activities 

From 2007 until 2011, the Congregation met at a small home on Hillcrest Road (outside 

the Highlands of McKamy).  Exhibit C at 27:25-28:4; Exhibit D at 42:23-43:3, 63:2-63:17.  In 

February 2011, Rabbi Rich’s home in the Highlands of McKamy became the primary location 

for the Congregation.  Exhibit C at 28:3-28:10; Exhibit D at 63:2-63:5.  By then, most of the 

members lived east of Hillcrest Road, so the Rabbi’s home in the middle of the Highlands of 

McKamy was more centrally located with respect to where the Congregation’s members lived 

than the Hillcrest home.  Exhibit D at 66:1-67:22, 76:21-77:11.  The main activities of the 

Congregation took place at 7119 Bremerton Court for two and a half years—from February 2011 

to August 2013.  Exhibit C at 28:3-28:14; Exhibit D at 63:2-63:5.  During that time, members of 

the HOA board were fully aware of the Congregation’s activities at 7119 Bremerton Court, yet 

the HOA never claimed that this activity was somehow not permitted under the restrictive 

                                                 
7  An eruv is a ritual enclosure that allows Orthodox Jews to carry certain objects outside of their homes on the 
Sabbath.  Exhibit D at 74:21-76:10, 91:5-91:23; Exhibit F at 72:9-73:4.  The enclosure is formed by integrating a 
number of private and public properties into one larger private domain utilizing PVC piping and wires connected to 
telephone and electric poles.  Exhibit D at 74:21-76:10. 
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covenants.  Exhibit C at 33:20-34:14; Exhibit D at 77:12-78:11; Exhibit G (deposition notice to 

HOA); Exhibit H (HOA’s designation of Carolyn Peadon as representative to testify for the 

HOA); Exhibit I at 6:3-6:9, 9:3-10:2, 22:1-13 (Ms. Peadon’s testimony). 

C. The Congregation Moves to 7103 Mumford Court 

In the spring of 2013, a longtime friend of Rabbi Rich, Mark Gothelf (and his mother, 

Judith Gothelf), purchased a home in the Highlands of McKamy at 7103 Mumford Court, 

planning to have the home occupied by a resident and also permitting it to be used for the 

Congregation’s activities.  Exhibit D at 23:10-24:2; Exhibit F at 10:8-11:7, 73:17-74:7. 

Avrohom Moshe Rich moved into the home on September 16, 2013, and has since that time used 

the house as his personal residence.  Exhibit D at 79:8-79:17.  Avrohom Rich’s use of 7103 

Mumford Court is the primary use of the property.8  The Congregation began meeting there in 

August 2013.  Exhibit C at 28:11-28:14; Exhibit D at 79:18-79:23.  No changes have been made 

to the exterior of the home, and no changes are planned.  Exhibit J at 70:25-71:7, 75:1-75:17; 

Exhibit K. 

Although the home’s address is on Mumford Court and the front of the home faces that 

street, 7103 Mumford Court actually sits on the corner of Frankford Road and Meandering Way, 

both major streets that run for miles through North Dallas.  Exhibit D at 67:12-67:22; Exhibit L 

(map reflecting location of 7103 Mumford Court); Exhibit M (map reflecting that Frankford 

Road stretches for over eleven miles across Dallas); Exhibit N (map reflecting that Meandering 

Way stretches for over five miles across Dallas).9  Thus, attempts to characterize 7103 Mumford 

Court as being tucked away in the middle of a quiet neighborhood are simply inaccurate. 

8  See Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s and Intervening Plaintiff’s Motions for Partial Summary Judgment, 
filed June 19, 2014.  Defendants hereby incorporate their June 19, 2014 filing, including all evidence cited therein, 
in its entirety. 
9  The Court can take judicial notice of Exhibits L, M, and N under Tex. R. Evid. 201. 
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D. Congregation Activities at 7103 Mumford Court  

The activities that take place at Mumford Court are the same activities that took place at 

7119 Bremerton Court for two and a half years.  Exhibit C at 28:15-29:2; Exhibit D at 79:24-

80:16.  On non-Sabbath days, the Congregation has morning, afternoon, and evening prayer 

meetings, attended by no more than ten to twelve people on average.  Exhibit C at 29:5-30:1; 

Exhibit D at 80:17-81:13.  Usually, about five members drive to these prayer meetings.  Exhibit 

D at 81:14-81:23.  Three cars typically park in the backyard driveway, and three cars park in 

front of 7103 Mumford Court.  Exhibit C at 30:2-31:3; Exhibit D at 81:24-82:10.  It is most often 

the case that no cars are parked in front of other houses.  Exhibit C at 30:18-31:3.  Also, between 

two and six people study at the home during the day.  Exhibit C at 29:15-29:23; Exhibit D at 

80:17-81:13. 

Once a week, on the evening before the Sabbath, approximately twenty people gather at 

the home to pray.  Exhibit D at 83:16-83:25.  On Saturday morning, approximately thirty people 

gather to pray.  Id.  Afternoon and evening prayer on the Sabbath usually attracts about twenty 

people.  Id.10  Because Orthodox Jews cannot drive on the Sabbath, all of the Congregation’s 

members walk to 7103 Mumford Court for the events on Friday evening and Saturday.  Exhibit 

C at 28:20-29:2; Exhibit D at 30:20-31:4, 39:25-40:4, 74:16-75:3, 84:1-84:13; Exhibit F at 72:9-

73:4. 

E. The Congregation Has Nowhere Else to Go 

If the Gothelfs are enjoined from hosting Congregation activities at 7103 Mumford 

Court, multiple families in the Highlands of McKamy will be without a spiritual gathering place.  

Exhibit C at 31:4-33:19; Exhibit D at 41:15-42:7, 66:1-68:4.  In the years before operating at 

                                                 
10  Thus, although approximately thirty families identify with the Congregation, even the most highly attended 
prayer gatherings each week average no more than about twenty to thirty attendees. 
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7103 Mumford Court, the Congregation explored a move to another location.  Id.  It discovered 

that all of the commercially zoned properties within walking distance of its members were 

unavailable.  Id.  Other areas within walking distance of the Congregation’s members were also 

ruled out as unsuitable for various reasons.11  Id.  Thus, the Congregation has nowhere else to go 

if it is prevented from conducting activities in the Highlands of McKamy.  Id.  Indeed, as Rabbi 

Rich testified regarding the effect of an injunction on the Congregation and its members: 

Asking the activities to stop would be similar to asking a person to stop eating. 
Let me explain what I mean. 

You see, we believe that there are physical needs and there are spiritual needs. 
And just like our bodies need nourishment every day, our souls need nourishment 
every day.  That’s our prayer and that is our Torah study. 

And if our members were asked . . . that they could not participate actively in 
Torah study or prayer, it would individually be a terrible disaster for those 
individuals, force people to have to relocate and immediately shut down the 
Congregation, without question. 

Exhibit C at 31:12-32:1. 

F. The Alleged Harms Due to the Congregation’s Presence in the Neighborhood 
are Trivial 

In contrast to the harm that would result from prohibiting the Congregation’s activities in 

the Highlands of McKamy—ending community religious life for thirty families—the alleged 

harms from the Congregation’s presence in the community are trivial.  At the temporary 

injunction hearing on April 10, 2014, and in depositions since that time, Plaintiffs have 

repeatedly had the opportunity to testify at to what they perceive as the negative effects of the 

Congregation’s presence in the Highlands of McKamy.  See Exhibit C at 8:10-9:3, 13:12-16:5, 

17:2-18:6, 20:13-21:19, 22:7-23:5 (temporary injunction hearing testimony of witnesses called 

11  For example, it would have been very disrespectful to Ohev Shalom and its rabbi and a violation of the 
Congregation’s religious beliefs for the Congregation to center its activities in close proximity to another Orthodox 
Jewish synagogue.  Exhibit C at 31:4-33:19; Exhibit D at 41:15-42:7, 66:1-68:4. 
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by Plaintiffs); Exhibit J at 65:18-69:18, 82:6-82:23 (Schneider’s deposition testimony); Exhibit 

O at 46:8-48:17 (HOA board member Ted Day’s deposition testimony); Exhibit P at 16:9-18:5 

(HOA board member Michael Donohue’s testimony).  Setting aside speculative alleged harms 

regarding what Plaintiffs fear could happen in the future, the only specific evidence of actual 

alleged harms is: 

 A pile of dirt that has since been removed was on the property at 7103 Mumford 
Court at one time.  Exhibit C at 8:10-9:3; Exhibit K. 
 

 Neighbors were forced to look at a window air-conditioning unit.  Exhibit C at 
8:10-9:3. 

 
 People and cars come and go from the home at 7103 Mumford Court.  Exhibit C 

at 8:10-9:3, 14:21-15:6, 20:16-21:6; Exhibit J at 66:2-66:12, 82:6-82:23; Exhibit 
O at 46:8-46:14, 48:6-48:17; Exhibit P at 16:23-17:15. 

 
 It sometimes looks “unusual” and “odd” when Congregation members exit the 

home.  Exhibit J at 82:6-82:23. 
 

 When Jewish worshipers come to 7103 Mumford Court, it causes dogs to bark, 
which sometimes causes teenage children to wake up.  Exhibit C at 14:3-14:13. 

 
 A neighbor has had to stop his vehicle to allow a woman pushing a baby carriage 

to cross the street.  Exhibit C at 14:14-14:17. 
 

 A neighbor has had to stop his vehicle to allow a blind person to cross the street.  
Exhibit C at 14:21-15:3. 

 
 The synagogue allegedly causes parking issues on Mumford Court, which the 

Congregation has taken steps to address.  Exhibit C at 14:21-15:3, 15:19-16:5, 
17:2-17:12, 20:16-21:6, 30:2-31:3; Exhibit O at 46:8-46:14, 48:6-48:17. 

 
 There are speculative concerns—with no evidence—that the Congregation affects 

home values in the neighborhood.  E.g., First Amended Petition, filed April 2, 
2014, at 18; Exhibit J at 67:13-67:18. 
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G. Plaintiff Schneider, His Relentless Pursuit of the Congregation, and 
Takeover of the HOA Board 

Schneider and his wife Laura are the two owners of the home at 7035 Mumford.12  

Exhibit J. at 83:5-83:12.  In December 2013, he sued Defendants for allegedly violating a 

residential-only restrictive covenant despite the fact that a shed he admits is in his yard blatantly 

violates the same residential-only restrictive covenant.  Exhibit J at 23:21-25:13; Exhibit S. 

Article VI.1 of the HOA’s restrictive covenants provides: 

RESIDENTIAL USAGE:  No structure shall be erected, placed, altered, used for 
or permitted to remain on any residential building lot other than one detached 
single family dwelling not to exceed three stories and one private garage for not 
more than four automobiles and servants’ quarters if they are employed on the 
premises.  No temporary structures may be placed on lot except during 
construction.  Metal storage buildings, sheds or structures are not permitted.  Only 
new structures shall be constructed on any lot and no house or structures shall be 
moved onto a lot. 
 

Exhibit B at Article VI.1. 

After suing, Schneider then attempted to get the HOA to join his suit, even stating that he 

could help keep the HOA’s costs down by serving as “lead counsel” if the HOA were to 

intervene.  Exhibit T at 1.  The HOA’s board at the time did not decide to intervene, having 

concluded that the HOA had no right to stop the Congregation from worshiping in homes in the 

neighborhood.  Exhibit U at 3 (HOA minutes reflecting “Conclusions: The HOA cannot stop the 

building from being used for worship”).  The HOA’s counsel had also concluded that the 

restrictive covenants did not have the “preferred language” for deeming Defendants to be in 

violation.  Exhibit V at 4 (“With the appropriate set of facts and the appropriate language in the 

deed restrictions, courts have ruled that use of a residence as a church did violate the deed 

                                                 
12  Laura Schneider is not a plaintiff in this suit. 
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restrictions.  Unfortunately, The Highlands Declaration and other governing documents do not 

contain the preferred language.”). 

Schneider then waged a proxy campaign to get himself and four likeminded neighbors 

(collectively, the “Schneider Board”) elected as the new HOA board.  Exhibit J at 39:8-40:1; 

Exhibit O at 17:18-19:6; Exhibit P at 19:17-20:17; Exhibit W (Schneider’s promotional flier).  

Upon the takeover, one of the first acts of the Schneider Board was to cause the HOA to 

intervene in Schneider’s lawsuit.  Exhibit X at 4-5.  The Schneider Board also adopted a “new 

policy” to enforce the residential-only restrictive covenant, implying that the HOA did not have 

such an enforcement policy prior to that time.  Exhibit P at 21:4-21:20 (Schneider Board member 

Donohue answering “Correct” when asked if “a new policy was adopted to enforce deed-use 

restrictions” in February 2014); Exhibit Y (HOA minutes reflecting that the Schneider Board 

adopted a policy of enforcement on February 3, 2014). 

The HOA membership was upset with the decision to intervene and demanded a special 

meeting for the neighborhood to discuss potential bylaw changes.  Exhibit O at 35:23-37:1; 

Exhibit P at 24:14-25:21; Exhibit Z at 4.  Schneider scheduled the meeting to occur on the 

Jewish Sabbath, and refused to move the date to accommodate members of the Congregation.  

Id.  Regrettably, this decision is not the only instance of Schneider expressing hostility to the 

faith of Orthodox Jews: 

 He has published a paper on his web site that criticizes Orthodox Jewish views of 
the Torah.  Exhibit J at 32:16-35:9 (Schneider testifying that he views the Torah 
as the “word of man” and as a compilation of writings by multiple human 
authors). 
 

 He recently filed a pro se lawsuit against another one of his neighbors for building 
a temporary structure (called a “Sukkah”) in celebration of a Jewish holiday.  
Exhibit AA. 
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 He has referred to a Sukkah as a “strange-looking thing,” “unusual structure,” and 
“eyesore” and stated that he was “disturbed and dismayed” by its presence.  
Exhibit AA. 

 
 He has stated that Jewish residents of the Highlands of McKamy should “[g]o 

outside the neighborhood to celebrate.”  Exhibit BB. 
 

H. The HOA’s Conflicted and Delayed Involvement in this Suit 

Although it was forced into this suit by the Schneider Board, the HOA’s own corporate 

representative deponent testified that she would have preferred that the HOA not done so.  

Exhibit G (deposition notice to HOA); Exhibit H (HOA’s designation of Carolyn Peadon as 

representative to testify for the HOA); Exhibit I at 16:23-17:8 (“I would have preferred not to 

resort to litigation.”), 29:2-29:6 (expressing concern about the appropriateness of expending 

HOA funds on this litigation), 25:14-26:8.  This testimony is attributable to the HOA as an 

entity, thus putting the HOA in the awkward position of having testified under oath that it should 

not have intervened in a suit in which it remains a party.  Id.  Furthermore, despite being aware 

of the Congregation’s activities in the Highlands of McKamy since early 2011, the HOA did not 

take any action to oppose those activities until October 14, 2013, in a letter sent to the Gothelfs.  

Exhibit F at 55:7-55:22; Exhibit CC (October 14, 2013 letter).  The HOA sent this letter despite 

concluding that it had no right to stop the Congregation from worshiping in homes in the 

neighborhood.  Exhibit U at 3.  Moreover, its counsel had concluded that (1) the restrictive 

covenants lacked “preferred language,” and (2) the HOA may be barred from opposing the 

Congregation’s activities for failing to object for approximately three years.  Exhibit V at 4, 6. 

As a result of sentiments within the neighborhood that the HOA should not be involved 

in this suit, the homeowners voted to remove Schneider from the board on July 20, 2014, and the 

remaining members of the Schneider Board were only narrowly retained.  Exhibit J at 51:10-

53:12; Exhibit O at 21:23-25:17; Exhibit P at 30:25-33:6. 
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I. The HOA’s History of Non-Enforcement of the Restrictive Covenants and 
Singling Out of the Congregation 

When the HOA suddenly decided to oppose the religious activities of its own members, it 

was the first time that the HOA had brought an enforcement action in court in the HOA’s 35-

year history since 1979.  Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O 

at 55:10-55:13.  Indeed, the HOA was required to implement a “new policy” to enforce the 

residential-only restrictive covenant in February 2014.  Exhibit P at 21:4-21:20; Exhibit Y.  This 

is true notwithstanding the fact that there are currently numerous non-residential uses of property 

in the Highlands of McKamy, and there have been others over the years.  For example: 

 There is an eldercare facility at 7038 Lattimore Dr. known as the Weismer House.
Exhibit C at 39:18-40:9; Exhibit D at 88:15-89:16; Exhibit J at 56:9-57:9; Exhibit
O at 51:3-51:12; Exhibit DD (HOA minutes reflecting HOA knew of use in
2006); Exhibit EE (letter reflecting HOA knew of use in 2001); business web site
at http://www.weismerhouse.com.

 There is a residential care facility at 6806 Rocky Top Circle known as Wellington
Residential Care.  Exhibit C at 39:18-40:9; Exhibit D at 88:15-89:16; Exhibit J at
56:9-57:9; Exhibit O at 51:3-51:12; Exhibit FF (letter reflecting HOA knew of use
in 2011); business web site at http://www.wellingtonresidentialcaredallas.com.

 A home on Bremerton Court regularly conducts swimming lesson camps.  Exhibit
C at 39:18-40:9; Exhibit D at 88:15-89:16; Exhibit I at 18:5-19:1; Exhibit O at
51:13-51:19; Exhibit GG at 2 (minutes reflecting HOA knew of use in 2013).

 A used car business with a revolving inventory of cars operates on Judi Street.
Exhibit HH.

 A seven-day per week music school that has hosted a recital operates on Judi
Street.  Exhibit HH.

 The wife of the HOA’s secretary ran a court reporting business from her home.
Exhibit P at 38:13-38:19; 40:9-40:24; Exhibit II (reflecting business address on
Mumford Street); business web site at http://www.bradfordcourtreporting.com.

 An HOA board member has mentioned a garage rental apartment near his home.
Exhibit JJ (2013 email from Ted Day mentioning “a garage near my home has
been converted to a rental apartment”).
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 Schneider testified that an attorney in the neighborhood runs his law practice from
his home.  Exhibit J at 60:19-61:8.

 A former neighborhood resident operated a sales business from her home.
Exhibit P at 38:2-38:12.

 A business training center was formerly operated at 7031 Bremerton Drive.
Exhibit KK (HOA board minutes reflecting knowledge of existence of business
training center in 2007 and 2008).

 Schneider maintains a shed in his yard in direct violation of the residential-only
restrictive covenant.  Exhibit J at 23:21-25:13; Exhibit S.

Under its “new policy” or otherwise, the HOA has never brought an enforcement action 

regarding any of these other non-residential uses, arbitrarily singling out the Congregation’s 

activities.  Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-

55:13. 

J. Plaintiffs’ Claims 

In the two operative Petitions in this case, Plaintiffs assert the following claims: 

 The HOA brings a claim against Mark and Judith Gothelf for breach of the
restrictive covenants.  See Petition in Intervention, filed March 13, 2014, at 9-10.
The HOA does not seek monetary damages in connection with the claim, but
rather asks the Court to enter a declaratory judgment.  Id.  The Court has denied
the HOA’s motion for summary judgment on this claim.  Schneider brings the
same claim against the Gothelfs and the Congregation.  See First Amended
Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 12.

 The HOA brings a claim for a temporary and permanent injunction to prohibit the
Gothelfs from permitting the Congregation and its members to practice their
religion at 7103 Mumford Court.  See Petition in Intervention, filed March 13,
2014, at 10-12.  The Court has denied the HOA’s request for a temporary
injunction, leaving only the request for permanent injunctive relief to be
adjudicated.  Schneider brings the same claim against the Gothelfs and the
Congregation.  See First Amended Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 13-16.13

 The HOA brings a claim against the Gothelfs for a discretionary statutory penalty
of up to $200 per day for alleged violations of the restrictive covenants.  See

13  Schneider also brings a second, duplicative claim seeking a permanent injunction.  See First Amended Petition, 
filed April 2, 2014, at 18-19 (“Count 5 – Likelihood of Future Violations”). 
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Petition in Intervention, filed March 13, 2014, at 12-13.  Schneider brings the 
same claim against the Gothelfs and the Congregation, although the relevant 
statute does not authorize individual homeowners to pursue damages.  See First 
Amended Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 16-18. 

 The HOA brings a claim against the Gothelfs to recover its attorneys’ fees and
costs.  See Petition in Intervention, filed March 13, 2014, at 13.

 Schneider brings a purported claim against Defendants for $50,000 in
compensatory damages for allegedly causing his home to decline in value.  See
First Amended Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 18.  It is unclear what legal cause
of action (if any) Schneider sues under, as the title of the claim is simply “Count 4
– Damage to Schneider’s Property,” and nothing within the text of the count
identifies a specific cause of action.  Id.

Each of these claims requires Plaintiffs to show that Defendants have breached the restrictive 

covenants.  Thus, if there has been no breach and/or if Defendants establish an affirmative 

defense on the issue of breach, all of Plaintiffs’ claims necessarily fail. 

III. SUMMARY JUDGMENT GROUNDS

Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on the following independent grounds: 

 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on all of Schneider’s claims, and
the Gothelfs are entitled summary judgment on all of the HOA’s claims because
Defendants have established their affirmative defense under the Texas Religious
Freedom Restoration Act.

 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on all of Schneider’s claims, and
the Gothelfs are entitled summary judgment on all of the HOA’s claims because
Defendants have established their affirmative defense under the Religious Land
Use and Institutionalized Persons Act.

 The Gothelfs are entitled to summary judgment on all of the HOA’s claims
because Defendants have established their affirmative defense that the HOA’s
actions were arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory under the Texas Property
Code.

 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on all of Schneider’s claims, and
the Gothelfs are entitled summary judgment on all of the HOA’s claims because
Defendants have established their affirmative defense that the Highlands of
McKamy’s residential use restriction has been waived and/or abandoned.
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 The Gothelfs are entitled to summary judgment on all of the HOA’s claims 
because Defendants have established the affirmative defense of laches. 

 
 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on all of Schneider’s claims 

because Defendants have established the affirmative defense of unclean hands. 
 

 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Schneider’s claim for a 
permanent injunction, and the Gothelfs are entitled to summary judgment on the 
HOA’s claim for a permanent injunction to the extent Plaintiffs seek injunctive 
relief that would prohibit the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court.  
No balancing of the equities could possibly support the issuance of such an 
injunction. 

 
 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Schneider’s claim for statutory 

damages under the Texas Property Code because the law does not permit 
individual homeowners to recover such damages.  Therefore, no evidence 
supports the claim. 

 
 Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Schneider’s claim for an alleged 

decline in value of his home because there is no evidence that supports the claim. 
 

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

A. Summary Judgment Standards 

Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 166a governs the propriety of summary judgments.  Entry 

of summary judgment is appropriate where the summary judgment record establishes that there 

are no genuine issues of material fact, and that movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  

Tex. R. Civ. P. 166a(c).  A defendant moving for summary judgment must conclusively negate at 

least one essential element of each of the plaintiff’s causes of action, or conclusively establish an 

affirmative defense.  Randall’s Food Mkts., Inc. v. Johnson, 891 S.W.2d 640, 644 (Tex. 1995).  

When moving for summary judgment on a plaintiff’s claim, once a defendant presents evidence 

entitling it to summary judgment by negating an element of the claim, the burden shifts to the 

plaintiff to present evidence raising a fact issue on the negated element.  Lection v. Dyll, 65 

S.W.3d 696, 701 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2001, pet. denied).  When moving for summary judgment 
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on an affirmative defense, the defendant has the burden to conclusively establish that defense.  

KPMG Peat Marwick v. Harrison Cnty. Hous. Fin. Corp., 988 S.W.2d 746, 748 (Tex. 1999). 

Under Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 166a(i), a party may also move for summary 

judgment on the ground that there is no evidence of one of the essential elements of a claim on 

which an adverse party would have the burden of proof at trial.  A no-evidence motion for 

summary judgment “is essentially a motion for a pretrial directed verdict.  Once such a motion is 

filed, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to present evidence raising an issue of material 

fact as to the elements specified in the motion.”  Mack Trucks, Inc. v. Tamez, 206 S.W.3d 572, 

582 (Tex. 2006).  “The Court must grant the motion unless the respondent produces summary 

judgment evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact.”  Tex. R. Civ. P. 166a(i). 

B. Defendants are Entitled to Summary Judgment on Each of Their Affirmative 
Defenses. 

Defendants have asserted six independent affirmative defenses, each of which 

independently entitles Defendants to summary judgment.  See Defendants’ First Amended 

Answer, filed October 1, 2014, at ¶¶ 2-7.  Each defense is entirely dispositive as to all claims of 

one or both Plaintiffs.  See supra Section III.  Thus, although Defendants contend that each 

defense has been established as a matter of law, Defendants need only win summary judgment 

on a single defense as to each Plaintiff in order for Plaintiffs’ claims to be dismissed in their 

entirety. 

1. Interpreting the restrictive covenants to prevent the Congregation’s religious 
activities would violate the Texas Religious Freedom Restoration Act. 

Texas RFRA prohibits the government from “substantially burden[ing] a person’s free 

exercise of religion” unless the burden “is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest” 

and “is the least restrictive means of furthering that interest.”  Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 

110.003.  This prohibition against governmental burden of the free exercise of religion applies 
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whether or not the government itself is a party to the action.  Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 

110.004 (“A person whose free exercise of religion has been substantially burdened . . . may 

assert that violation as a defense in a judicial or administrative proceeding without regard to 

whether the proceeding is brought in the name of the state or by any other person.”). 

a. Texas RFRA applies to this litigation. 

Texas RFRA applies to this litigation in three independent ways: (i) Plaintiffs are seeking 

to enforce state statutes that are subject to Texas RFRA, (ii) judicial enforcement of restrictive 

covenants is itself state action subject to Texas RFRA, and (iii) homeowners’ associations are 

quasi-governmental entities that are themselves subject to Texas RFRA. 

i. Plaintiffs are seeking to enforce state statutes that are subject 
to Texas RFRA. 

 
Texas RFRA “applies to each law of this state unless the law is expressly made exempt 

from the application of this chapter by reference to this chapter.”  Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 

110.002(c).  Each of Plaintiffs’ claims is based in state law that has not been exempted from 

Texas RFRA.  Fundamentally, Plaintiffs are seeking to enforce restrictive covenants, both the 

creation and the enforcement of which are authorized by Tex. Prop. Code §§ 5.001 et seq. and 

202.001 et seq.  None of these statutes, however, has been exempted from Texas RFRA and are 

thus subject to the limitations imposed by Texas RFRA.  This is true even though the state is not 

a party to this litigation.  Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 110.004. 

ii. Judicial enforcement of restrictive covenants is itself state 
action subject to Texas RFRA. 

 
Not only are the underlying statutes themselves subject to Texas RFRA, but any judicial 

enforcement of Plaintiffs’ claims is itself state action subject to Texas RFRA.  The principle that 

judicial enforcement of restrictive covenants is state action subject to constitutional protections 
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was first applied by the United States Supreme Court in Shelley v. Kraemer, 334 U.S. 1 (1943).  

In that case, the Court refused to enforce restrictive covenants that limited the use or occupancy 

of a building on the basis of race because judicial action enforcing them would be state action 

that would violate the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  The Court 

noted that judicial enforcement had long been considered state action in other contexts as well.  

Shelley, 334 U.S. at 16-18 (see, e.g., American Federation of Labor v. Swing, 312 U.S. 321 

(1941) (refusing to enforce a common-law policy that would restrain peaceful picketing because 

judicial enforcement of the policy would offend the Constitution)); see also Shaver v. Hunter, 

626 S.W.2d 574, 578-79 (Tex. App.—Amarillo 1981, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (subjecting the state’s 

action in enforcing a restrictive covenant to constitutional scrutiny); Gerber v. Long Boat 

Harbour, 757 F. Supp. 1339, 1341 (M.D. Fla. 1991) (“[J]udicial enforcement of private 

agreements contained in a declaration of condominium constitutes state action and brings the 

heretofore private conduct within the scope of the Fourteenth Amendment, through which the 

First Amendment guarantee of free speech is made applicable to the state.”). 

That judicial enforcement is state action subject to Texas RFRA is an even easier case.  

Texas RFRA itself includes a definition of state action that is very broad, applying to “any 

ordinance, rule, order, decision, practice, or other exercise of governmental authority,” which 

encompasses judicial action.  Accordingly, at least one Texas court has suggested that judicial 

enforcement of restrictive covenants would be subject to Texas RFRA.  See Voice of the 

Cornerstone Church Corp. v. Pizza Prop. Partners, 160 S.W.3d 657, 672 n.10 (Tex. App.—

Austin 2005, no pet.) (“Cornerstone did not raise the Texas Religious Freedom [Restoration] Act 

below in its pleadings, summary-judgment response, or briefing.  See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. 

Code § 110.004 (person whose free exercise of religion has been violated under act may assert 
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violation as defense in judicial or administrative proceeding). . . .  Thus, we have no occasion 

here to consider the potential implication of the Act or the merit of ExxonMobil’s contention that 

it does not apply to courts.  See id. § 110.001(a)(2) (defining ‘Government agency’ to include 

‘any agency of this state . . . including a department’), .002(a) (Act ‘applies to any . . . order, 

decision, practice or other exercise of governmental authority.’)” (second and third ellipses in 

original)). 

iii. Homeowners’ associations are quasi-governmental entities that 
are themselves subject to Texas RFRA. 

 
Finally, homeowners’ associations themselves are subject to Texas RFRA because of 

their quasi-governmental nature.  See Mayad v. Cummins Lane Owners Ass’n, 1988 Tex. App. 

LEXIS 1973, at *4 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] Aug. 11, 1988, no writ) (“[A]n owners 

association is a ‘quasi-governmental’ entity with the power to charge individual owners 

assessments to fund common expenses.”); Belvedere Condominium Unit Owners’ Ass’n v. R.E. 

Roark Cos., 617 N.E.2d 1075, 1080 (Ohio 1993) (“An owners’ association acts as a ‘quasi-

governmental entity paralleling in almost every case the powers, duties, and responsibilities of a 

municipal government.’”) (quoting Hyatt & Rhoads, Concepts of Liability in the Development 

and Administration of Condominium and Home Owners Associations, 12 Wake Forest L. Rev. 

915, 918 (1976)); Colo. Homes v. Loerch-Wilson, 43 P.3d 718, 722 (Colo. Ct. App. 2001) 

(homeowners associations serve “quasi-governmental functions”). 

In Marsh v. Alabama, 326 U.S. 501 (1946), the Supreme Court struck down a privately-

owned town’s restrictions on distributing flyers and recognized that Constitutional protections 

can limit even private property rights when the property is taking on the nature of a 

governmental entity.  The Marsh Court stated, 
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When we balance the Constitutional rights of owners of property against those of 
the people to enjoy freedom of press and religion, as we must here, we remain 
mindful of the fact that the latter occupy a preferred position.  As we have stated 
before, the right to exercise the liberties safeguarded by the First Amendment 
“lies at the foundation of free government by free men” and we must in all cases 
“weigh the circumstances and . . . appraise the . . . reasons . . . in support of the 
regulation . . . of the rights.” Schneider v. State, 308 U.S. 147, 161.  In our view, 
the circumstance that the property rights to the premises where the deprivation of 
liberty, here involved, took place, were held by others than the public, is not 
sufficient to justify the State’s permitting a corporation to govern a community of 
citizens so as to restrict their fundamental liberties and the enforcement of such 
restraint by the application of a state statute. 
 

Marsh, 326 U.S. at 509 (ellipses in original). 

Here, the HOA is “govern[ing] a community of citizens” in just such a way that it is 

violating their most fundamental rights—rights that Texas RFRA was intended to protect.  See 

Barr v. City of Sinton, 295 S.W.3d 287, 305-06 (Tex. 2009) (noting that Texas RFRA protects 

“fundamental, constitutional rights” that are superior to the interests protected by zoning 

ordinances); see also E. Tex. Baptist Univ. v. Sebelius, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 180727 at *77-78 

(S.D. Tex. Dec. 27, 2013) (holding, in interpreting the Federal Religious Freedom Restoration 

Act, upon which Texas RFRA is based, that “[p]rotecting constitutional rights and the rights 

under RFRA are in the public’s interest”).  If fully private property, as in Marsh, is limited in its 

ability to restrict fundamental liberties, how much more should a quasi-governmental entity such 

as the HOA be limited in its ability to restrict fundamental liberties. 

b. Preventing the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court 
would completely prevent thirty families from being able to worship, 
which is a substantial burden on their religious exercise. 

 
There is no bright-line rule for what constitutes a “substantial burden.”  The Texas 

Supreme Court has held that Texas RFRA, “like its federal cousins, ‘requires a case-by-case, 

fact-specific inquiry.’” Barr, 295 S.W.3d at 302 (quoting Adkins v. Kaspar, 393 F.3d 559, 570 

(5th Cir. 2004)). 



DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 22 

Barr, however, provides an example of a situation that the Texas Supreme Court held to 

be a substantial burden. In that case, Barr, on the basis of his religious convictions, operated a 

halfway house in two homes.  The City of Sinton, Texas, wanted Barr to relocate, but finding a 

viable alternative location for the halfway house was unlikely.  Barr, 295 S.W.3d at 302. The 

Texas Supreme Court held that prohibiting Barr from exercising his faith through operating the 

halfway house was a substantial burden.  Furthermore, the Texas Supreme Court held that 

“evidence of some possible alternative, irrespective of the difficulties presented, does not, 

standing alone, disprove substantial burden.”  Id.  The Court noted that “[i]n a related context, 

the [United States] Supreme Court has observed that ‘one is not to have the exercise of his 

liberty of expression in appropriate places abridges on the plea that it may be exercised in some 

other place.’”  Id. (quoting Schneider v. New Jersey, 308 U.S. 147, 163 (1939)).  The Barr Court 

also pointed to an example similar to the present case in Islamic Ctr. of Miss., Inc. v. City of 

Starkville, 840 F.2d 293, 294 (5th Cir. 1988), in which Starkville, Mississippi, violated the Free 

Exercise Clause by attempting to use zoning restrictions to keep Muslim students from 

worshipping in a home in a residential area of Starkville.  “‘By making a mosque relatively 

inaccessible within the city limits to Muslims who lack automobile transportation, the City 

burdens their exercise of their religion.’ . . .  Although the zoning ordinance did not foreclose all 

locations, the court determined ‘relatively impecunious Muslim students’ were left with ‘no 

practical alternatives for establishing a mosque in the city limits.’”  Id. at 304 (quoting Islamic 

Ctr., 840 F.2d at 299-300). 

The Texas Supreme Court also rejected the idea that the size of the relevant location 

alleviates the substantial burden, stating, “The City argues that its zoning restrictions on locating 

Barr’s ministry inside city limits could not have been a substantial burden because the City is so 
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small that excluding the ministry from inside the city limits was inconsequential.  But size alone 

is not determinative. . . .  [In Schad v. Borough of Mount Ephraim, 452 U.S. 61 (1981), t]he 

Supreme Court did not consider the small size of the municipality to be important and 

specifically rejected the argument that the adult entertainment business at issue could simply 

move elsewhere.”  Id. at 302-03. 

The City of Sinton also argued that relocating Barr’s halfway house was not a substantial 

burden because the parolees could be disbursed among other homes.  The Texas Supreme Court 

rejected this argument, too, holding that “a burden on a person’s religious exercise is not 

insubstantial simply because he could always choose to do something else.”  Id. at 303. 

In the present case, the Congregation must meet within walking distance of its members 

and within the North Dallas Eruv.  See supra Sections II.A., II.D., II.E.; Exhibit C at 28:20-29:2; 

Exhibit D at 30:20-31:4, 39:25-40:4, 74:16-75:3, 84:1-84:13; Exhibit F at 72:9-73:4.  After 

searching for a suitable location to replace Rabbi Rich’s home, which is within the HOA, 7103 

Mumford Court was determined to be the only viable location that was available to the 

Congregation.  Exhibit C at 31:4-33:19; Exhibit D at 41:15-42:7, 66:1-68:4.  If the Congregation 

cannot meet at 7103 Mumford Court, then, because of the restrictions placed upon the 

Congregation by their Orthodox Jewish religious beliefs, they will be unable to have communal 

worship.  Id.; see supra Section II.E.  The practical abolition of the Congregation’s members’ 

religious worship is a much more significant burden than that in Barr, and is similar to the 

burden in Islamic Ctr. 

c. Plaintiffs do not have a compelling interest in prohibiting the 
Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court. 

 
Because Plaintiffs’ action would substantially burden Defendants’ religious freedoms, 

Plaintiffs have the burden of showing that their interests are compelling.  The Texas Supreme 
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Court noted that, “[b]ecause religious exercise is a fundamental right, that justification can only 

be found in ‘interests of the highest order’, to quote the Supreme Court in [Wisconsin v.] Yoder[, 

406 U.S. 205, 215 (1972)], and to quote Sherbert [v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398, 406 (1945)], only to 

avoid ‘the gravest abuses, endangering paramount interest[s].’”  Barr, 295 S.W.3d at 306. 

Not only must a compelling interest be an interest “of the highest order,” the Texas 

Supreme Court pointed to the United States Supreme Court’s holding that: 

“RFRA requires the Government to demonstrate that the compelling interest is 
satisfied through application of the challenged law ‘to the person’—the particular 
claimant whose sincere exercise of religion is being substantially burdened.”  To 
satisfy this requirement, the Supreme Court stated, courts must “look[] beyond 
broadly formulated interests justifying the general applicability of government 
mandates and scrutinize[] the asserted harm of granting specific exemption to 
particular religious claimants.” 

 
Id. at 306 (quoting Gonzalez v. O Centro Espirita Beneficente Uniao do Vegetal, 546 U.S. 418, 

430-31, 439 (2006) (brackets in original)).  “In this regard, there is no basis for distinguishing 

RFRA from [Texas ] RFRA; the same requirement verbatim is in both.”  Id. 

The Texas Supreme Court held that interests such as “preserv[ing] the public safety, 

morals, and general welfare” are “the kind of ‘broadly formulated interest’ that does not satisfy 

the scrutiny mandated by [Texas ]RFRA.”  Id.  The Court went on to note, particularly relevantly 

to the present litigation, “‘[T]he compelling interest test must be taken seriously.  Courts and 

litigants must focus on real and serious burdens to neighboring properties, and not assume that 

zoning codes inherently serve a compelling interest, or that every incremental gain to city 

revenue (in commercial zones), or incremental reduction of traffic (in residential zones), is 

compelling.”  Id. at 307 (quoting Douglas Laycock, State RFRAs and Land Use Regulation, 32 

U.C. Davis L. Rev. 755, 784 (1999)). 



 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  25 

Plaintiffs have not shown any compelling interest in preventing the Congregation from 

meeting at 7103 Mumford Court.  Their stated interests have included being forced to wait while 

a blind man and a woman pushing a stroller crossed the street and general concerns about 

parking.  See supra Section II.F.  None of these concerns are “real and serious burdens to 

neighboring properties” that would constitute “an interest of the highest order” and avoid “the 

gravest abuses, endangering paramount interests.”  

Any assertion by Plaintiffs that they have a compelling interest in prohibiting the 

Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court is further undercut by their refusal to stop 

other uses within the Highlands of McKamy IV and V that are non-residential.  See supra 

Section II.I.; Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-

55:13.  As the Supreme Court noted, “a law cannot be regarded as protecting an interest of the 

highest order when it leaves appreciable damage to that supposedly vital interest unprohibited.”  

Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 547 (1993) (internal 

citations omitted).  In this case, Plaintiffs have never sued to prohibit non-residential uses within 

the HOA, and thus the same claimed “harms” Plaintiffs allege here abound throughout the 

neighborhood without any attempt to curb them.  See supra Section II.I.; Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 

17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-55:13.  Their efforts to stop the 

Congregation and the Gothelfs are thus unique, demonstrating that the interests are manufactured 

and not compelling. 

d. Prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court 
is not the least restrictive means of furthering any compelling interest. 

 
To avoid summary judgment, not only must Plaintiffs show that they have a compelling 

interest in prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court, Plaintiffs must 

also show that their actions in prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford 
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Court are the “least restrictive means” of achieving their compelling interest.  Tex. Civ. Prac. & 

Rem. Code § 110.003.  “The least-restrictive-means standard is exceptionally demanding. . . .” 

Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. v. Burwell, 134 S. Ct. 2751, 2781 (2014).  In order to satisfy the least-

restrictive-means test, Plaintiffs must show that they lack any other means of achieving any 

compelling interest “without imposing a substantial burden on the exercise of religion by the 

objecting parties.”  Id. at 2782.  Plaintiffs have been unwilling to even discuss alternatives to 

completely prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court, but even if 

Plaintiffs had an interest that qualified as compelling, a resolution short of stopping the religious 

exercise of the members of the Congregation could be found.  For example, Plaintiffs could have 

sought to limit parking near 7103 Mumford Court, ensure that the home maintains its exterior 

character, etc.  Instead, Plaintiffs seek the broadest possible relief—a complete shutdown of the 

Congregation that would prohibit any gathering at all. 

2. Interpreting the restrictive covenants to prevent the Congregation’s religious 
activities would violate the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons 
Act. 

There is a second, independent statute that forecloses Plaintiffs’ claims—a statute that 

Congress enacted to prohibit the very actions taken by Plaintiffs here.  RLUIPA “is the latest of 

long-running congressional efforts to accord religious exercise heightened protection from 

government-imposed burdens, consistent with [the Supreme] Court’s precedents.”  Cutter v. 

Wilkinson, 544 U.S. 709, 714 (2005).  Following the Supreme Court’s refusal to apply Federal 

RFRA against the states, Congress enacted a more measured attempt to ensure that state and 

local governments protect the rights of religious institutions and adherents in two particular 

contexts where Congress concluded that constitutional rights were most threatened by laws of 

general applicability: land use regulation and religious exercise by institutionalized persons.  

Cutter, 544 U.S. at 715; 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc, 2000cc-1.  As Congress recognized, land use 
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regulations pose a particularly serious risk to religious freedom because “[t]he right to assemble 

for worship is at the very core of the free exercise of religion,” and “[c]hurches and synagogues 

cannot function without a physical space adequate to their needs and consistent with their 

theological requirements.”  146 Cong. Rec. 16698 (2000).  Importantly, Congress specifically 

described “[t]he right to build, buy, or rent such a space [a]s an indispensable adjunct of the core 

First Amendment right to assemble for religious purposes.”  Id. 

To protect this right, RLUIPA imposes several limitations, divided into two categories, 

on government land-use restrictions relevant here.  First, the “Substantial Burden Clause” uses 

the same fundamental test that is employed by Texas RFRA.  Second, under the category of 

“Discrimination and exclusion,” the “Equal Terms Clause” provides that “No government shall 

impose or implement a land use regulation in a manner that treats a religious assembly or 

institution on less than equal terms with a nonreligious assembly or institution.”  RLUIPA § 

2000cc(b)(1).  Third, the “Nondiscrimination Clause” prohibits any government from 

“impos[ing] or implement[ing] a land use regulation that discriminates against any assembly or 

institution on the basis of religion or religious denomination.”  RLUIPA § 2000cc(b)(2).  Finally, 

the “Unreasonable Limitation Clause” prohibits governments from “impos[ing] or 

implement[ing] a land use regulation that . . . unreasonably limits religious assemblies, 

institutions, or structures within a jurisdiction.”  RLUIPA § 2000cc(b)(3)(B).  Congress 

specifically provided that RLUIPA “shall be construed in favor of a broad protection of religious 

exercise, to the maximum extent permitted by the terms of this Act and the Constitution.” 

RLUIPA § 2000cc-3(g).  Plaintiffs violate all four of these restrictions. 
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a. RLUIPA applies to this litigation. 

RLUIPA applies to this litigation for the same reasons that Texas RFRA applies to this 

litigation as discussed in Section IV.B.1.a. above.  Furthermore, while the application of 

RLUIPA to restrictive covenants has yet to be litigated, the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Eleventh Circuit itself raised the issue that RLUIPA may apply to restrictive covenants.  

Konikov v. Orange County, 410 F.3d 1317, 1324 n.3 (11th Cir. 2005) (noting that a restrictive 

covenant “originating from” a neighborhood homeowners’ association “might constitute a 

constitutional violation and substantial burden in violation of RLUIPA”). 

b. Plaintiffs have violated RLUIPA’s Substantial Burden Clause. 

RLUIPA’s Substantial Burden Clause has the same basic test that Texas RFRA uses.  

This clause provides that “[n]o government shall impose or implement a land use regulation in a 

manner that imposes a substantial burden on the religious exercise of a person, including a 

religious assembly or institution, unless the government demonstrates that imposition of the 

burden on that person, assembly, or institution – (A) is in furtherance of a compelling 

governmental interest; and (B) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling 

governmental interest.”  RLUIPA § 2000cc(a)(1).  Because this test is the same as the test used 

by Texas RFRA, and because Plaintiffs have substantially burdened Defendants’ religious 

exercise, do not have a compelling interest to do so, and have not used the least restrictive 

means, Defendants are entitled to prevail under the Substantial Burden Clause of RLUIPA. 

c. Plaintiffs have violated RLUIPA’s Equal Terms Clause. 

RLUIPA’s Equal Terms Clause prohibits the government from “treat[ing] the Church on 

terms that are less than equal to the terms on which it treats similarly situated nonreligious 

institutions.”  The Elijah Grp. v. City of Leon Valley, Tex., 643 F.3d 419, 424 (5th Cir. 2011).  
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The test is one of strict liability: if a restrictive covenant treats a church on less than equal terms 

than a similarly situated nonreligious institution, Plaintiffs have no opportunity to offer a 

justification for the disparity.  See, e.g., id. (finding a violation of RLUIPA’s Equal Terms 

Clause after determining that a church was treated on less than equal terms with a nonreligious 

institution, without any analysis of possible justification); Lighthouse Inst. for Evangelism, Inc. 

v. City of Long Branch, 510 F.3d 253, 269 (3d Cir. 2007) (same).  The only concern of the Equal

Terms Clause is whether “secular and religious institutions are treated equally.”  Third Church of 

Christ, Scientist v. City of New York, 626 F.3d 667, 671 (2d Cir. 2010); see also Centro Familiar 

Cristiano Buenas Nuevas v. City of Yuma, 651 F.3d 1163, 1172 (9th Cir. 2011) (“Both because 

the language of the equal terms provision does not allow for it, and because it would violate the 

‘broad construction’ provision, we cannot accept the notion that a ‘compelling governmental 

interest’ is an exception to the equal terms provision, or that the church has the burden of proving 

a ‘substantial burden’ under the equal terms provision.”). 

In the present case, Plaintiffs have acknowledged that while there are non-residential uses 

within the HOA, no enforcement action has been brought against any such uses.  See supra 

Section II.I.; Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-

55:13.  The only enforcement action brought under the residential use provision of the restrictive 

covenants has been against Defendants in violation of RLUIPA’s Equal Terms Clause. 

d. Plaintiffs have violated RLUIPA’s Nondiscrimination and
Unreasonable Limitation Clauses.

Because of Plaintiffs’ refusal to enforce their restrictive covenants against anyone except 

Defendants, their enforcement is both discriminatory against Defendants’ religious exercise and 

unreasonable, in violation of RLUIPA. 
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3. The HOA’s claims are barred because the HOA has arbitrarily singled out 
Defendants. 

The Texas Property Code also independently forecloses the HOA’s claims.  Under that 

statute, a homeowners’ association may not enforce a restrictive covenant if the decision to do so 

is arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory.  See Tex. Prop. Code § 202.004(a).  The Property 

Code prevents homeowners’ associations from enforcing a restrictive covenant against a 

property owner when the association has not enforced similar alleged violations against others in 

the neighborhood.  Leake v. Campbell, 352 S.W.3d 180, 190 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth 2011, no 

pet.) (enforcement against one owner but not others committing similar alleged violations is 

evidence of arbitrariness); Nolan v. Hunter, 2013 Tex. App. LEXIS 11990, at *12-14 (Tex. 

App.—San Antonio Sept. 25, 2013, no pet.) (homeowners association’s opposition to a fence 

was arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory when there were other similar fences in the 

neighborhood). 

Here, this lawsuit is the only enforcement action the HOA has ever brought since it was 

formed in 1979.  See supra Section II.I.; Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit J at 58:1-

61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-55:13.  Yet, there are numerous non-residential uses of property in the 

neighborhood that the HOA has never attempted to stop.  See supra Section II.I.  As catalogued 

above, non-residential uses such as an eldercare facility, a residential care facility, swimming 

camps, a court reporting business, a music school, a used car business, and others have occurred 

freely in the neighborhood.  See supra Section II.I.  Only after Schneider took over the board and 

the Schneider Board implemented a “new policy” in early 2014 did the HOA decide to get 

involved in this suit.  See supra Section II.G.  The “new policy,” however, has not been enforced 

against anyone other than Defendants.  The HOA’s action can only be described as arbitrary as a 
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matter of law, and thus the Gothelfs are entitled to granted summary judgment for this reason 

alone. 

4. Plaintiffs have waived and/or abandoned their right to enforce the residential 
use restriction because the HOA has never attempted to prevent other non-
residential uses of homes within the Highlands of McKamy. 

The common law doctrine of waiver precludes both Plaintiffs’ claims as a matter of law.  

Until this case, the HOA had never filed suit to enforce its residential-only restrictive covenant 

since its founding in 1979.  See supra Section II.I.; Exhibit I at 14:12-15:5, 17:17-17:20; Exhibit 

J at 58:1-61:16; Exhibit O at 55:10-55:13.  The HOA has had this hands-off approach for years 

despite the existence of numerous non-residential uses of property in the neighborhood.  See 

supra Section II.I.  As a result of the HOA’s inaction, Article VI.1 of the restrictive covenants 

has therefore been waived and is no longer enforceable. 

“A party asserting waiver of a restrictive covenant or deed restriction must prove . . . that 

the party seeking enforcement of the covenant or restriction has acquiesced in such substantial 

violations to amount to abandonment of the covenant or restriction.”  Loch ‘N’ Green Vill. 

Section Two Homeowners Ass’n v. Murtaugh, 2013 Tex. App. LEXIS 6613, at *14 (Tex. App.—

Fort Worth May 30, 2013, no pet.).  “Among the factors to be considered are the number, nature 

and severity of the existing violations, any prior acts of enforcement, and whether it is still 

possible to realize to a substantial degree the benefits sought to be obtained by way of the 

covenants.”  Wildwood Civic Ass’n v. Martin, 1995 Tex. App. LEXIS 1575, at *13 (Tex. App.—

Houston [1st Dist.] July 13, 1995, no writ).  “Evidence showing multiple violations of a 

restrictive covenant in a subdivision is more than sufficient to uphold a trial court’s finding that 

the restrictive covenant has been abandoned.”  Glenwood Acres Landowners Ass’n v. Alvis, 2007 
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Tex. App. LEXIS 6060, at *7 (Tex. App.—Tyler July 31, 2007, no pet.).14  “Waiver may be 

proved by a party’s express renunciation of an actually or constructively known right or by 

silence or inaction for so long a period as to show an intention to yield the known right.”  Loch 

‘N’ Green, 2013 Tex. App. LEXIS 6613, at *14 (citation omitted).  “[L]ong-term acquiescence 

in violations of . . . restrictions” supports granting summary judgment on the issue of waiver.  Id. 

at *20-22 (granting summary judgment on waiver based on failure to attempt to enforce 

restrictions over a period of years). 

Courts commonly find that a provision has been waived where, as here, there are multiple 

similar uses coupled with a history of non-enforcement.  See, e.g.: 

 Loch ‘N’ Green, 2013 Tex. App. LEXIS 6613, at *12-22 (granting summary 
judgment on waiver where association had not sought to enforce other alleged 
violations); 
 

 Glenwood Acres, 2007 Tex. App. LEXIS 6060, at *5-7 (finding waiver where 
association had not enforced mobile home prohibition against others); 

 
 Lay v. Whelan, 2004 Tex. App. LEXIS 5777, at *12-17 (Tex. App.—Austin July 

1, 2004, pet. denied) (finding waiver where there were similar alleged violations 
and no evidence of prior enforcement actions); 

 
 Wildwood, 1995 Tex. App. LEXIS 1575, at *11-15 (finding waiver where 

association had not enforced maintenance fee provision against another 
homeowner); 

 
 Foxwood Homeowners Ass’n v. Ricles, 673 S.W.2d 376, 379-80 (Tex. App.—

Houston [1st Dist.] 1984, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (affirming finding of waiver based on 
“similar violations” and where association was “inconsistent” in its enforcement 
efforts); 

 

                                                 
14  When a provision of a restrictive covenant has been waived, the waiver also applies in suits by individual 
homeowners—such as Schneider—in addition to applying to suits by homeowners’ associations.  See Cowling v. 
Colligan, 312 S.W.2d 943, 945 (Tex. 1958) (holding in suit brought by individual homeowners that courts can 
refuse to enforce residential-only restrictive covenants based on “acquiescence of the lot owners . . . of substantial 
violations within the restricted area”); Baker v. Brackeen, 354 S.W.2d 660, 663 (Tex. Civ. App.—Amarillo 1962, no 
writ) (finding waiver in suit brought by individual homeowners).  This makes sense, as the doctrine of waiver would 
be rendered a nullity if homeowners’ associations could evade its application merely by having an individual 
property owner bring a suit in his own name. 
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 Baker, 354 S.W.2d at 663 (finding waiver of residential-only provision where 
homeowners had not sought to enforce provision in the past). 

 
Here, the numerous instances of non-residential uses of property that the HOA has never 

brought enforcement actions to stop—both current and past—in the Highlands of McKamy are 

more than sufficient to find that the residential-only restrictive covenant has been waived.  As 

catalogued above, non-residential uses such as an eldercare facility, a residential care facility, 

swimming camps, a court reporting business, a music school, a used car business, and others 

have occurred freely in the neighborhood.  See supra Section II.I.  The residential-only provision 

has been waived as a matter of law, and the Court should grant Defendants summary judgment, 

dismissing all claims by both Plaintiffs, for this additional reason. 

5. The doctrine of laches bars the HOA’s claims. 

The HOA’s claims further fail under the common law defense of laches.  A defendant 

establishes the defense of laches by showing “(1) unreasonable delay in asserting one’s legal or 

equitable rights and (2) a good faith change of position by another to his detriment because of the 

delay.”  Houston Lighting & Power Co. v. City of Wharton, 101 S.W.3d 633, 639 (Tex. App.—

Houston [1st Dist.] 2003, pet. denied). 

The HOA unreasonably delayed in asserting its legal rights in this case.  As noted above, 

the same Congregation activities that the HOA now challenges have taken place with the HOA’s 

knowledge at homes within the Highlands of McKamy since February 2011.  Exhibit C at 33:20-

34:14; Exhibit D at 77:12-78:11; Exhibit G (deposition notice to HOA); Exhibit H (HOA’s 

designation of Carolyn Peadon as representative to testify for the HOA); Exhibit I at 6:3-6:9, 9:3-

10:2, 22:1-13 (Ms. Peadon’s testimony).  The HOA did not take a position against these 

activities until October 14, 2013, well over two and half years after the Congregation’s activities 

first started in the Highlands of McKamy.  Exhibit F at 55:7-55:22; Exhibit CC (October 14, 
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2013 letter).  And the HOA did not take legal steps against the Congregation until March 2014, 

over three years after the Congregation began having its prayer and study activities at homes 

within the Highlands of McKamy.  See Petition in Intervention, filed March 13, 2014.  This 

delay is unreasonable as a matter of law.  See Henke v. Fuller, 2005 Tex. App. LEXIS 3141, at 

*8-12 (Tex. App.—San Antonio Apr. 27, 2005, no pet.). 

In good faith reliance on the HOA’s non-opposition, the Gothelfs purchased a home in 

the Highlands of McKamy, in part so that the Congregation and its members could use it to 

practice their religion.  Exhibit D at 89:17-90:15.  Moreover, in the months before the HOA first 

opposed the Congregation’s activities, some of the Congregation’s members purchased property 

in the area with the good faith belief that the Congregation would be able to have its activities in 

the neighborhood.  Exhibit D at 90:16-90:24.  The Gothelfs, the Congregation, and some of its 

members have thus all changed their position to their detriment in good faith reliance on the 

HOA’s non-opposition.  The defense of laches therefore precludes the HOA’s claims as a matter 

of law.  See, e.g., Huntington Park Condo. Ass’n v. Van Wayman, 2008 Tex. App. LEXIS 1480, 

at *11-13 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi Feb. 28, 2008, no pet.) (affirming trial court’s application 

of laches where association did not sue until years after homeowner acted); Henke, 2005 Tex. 

App. LEXIS 3141, at *8-12 (suit barred by laches where plaintiffs had not objected to 

defendant’s prior similar use of property within the neighborhood and defendant had spent 

money in good faith reliance on this non-opposition). 

6. The doctrine of unclean hands bars Schneider’s claims. 

“Under the doctrine of unclean hands, a court may refuse to grant equitable relief to a 

plaintiff who has been guilty of unlawful or inequitable conduct regarding the issue in dispute.”  

Lazy M Ranch v. TXI Operations, LP, 978 S.W.2d 678, 683 (Tex. App.—Austin 1998, pet. 

denied); see also Jamison v. Allen, 377 S.W.3d 819, 823-24 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2012, no pet.) 
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(holding that homeowners could not sue to enforce a restrictive covenant when they were in 

violation of the same covenant); Foxwood Homeowners Ass’n v. Ricles, 673 S.W.2d 376, 379 

(Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 1984, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (“Injunctive relief is an equitable remedy 

and the complaining party must come into court with clean hands . . .”). 

Schneider is himself in violation of the residential-only restrictive covenant that forms the 

basis of his claims.  He admits that he has a shed in his yard, and the residential-only restrictive 

covenant unambiguously prohibits sheds.  Exhibit B at Article VI.1; Exhibit J at 23:21-25:13; 

Exhibit S.  Schneider therefore comes to the Court with unclean hands.  It is unconscionable to 

permit Schneider to sue on a covenant provision when he is indisputably in violation of that same 

covenant.  See Jamison, 377 S.W.3d at 823-24.  The Court should hold that the doctrine of 

unclean hands bars Schneider’s claims as a matter of law. 

C. Defendants are Entitled to Summary Judgment on Certain of Plaintiffs’ Claims for 
Additional Independent Reasons 

Independent of their affirmative defenses, Defendants are also entitled to summary 

judgment on certain of Plaintiffs’ claims for other independent reasons. 

1. Plaintiffs’ claims for a permanent injunction fail as a matter of law to the 
extent Plaintiffs seek an injunction that would prohibit the Congregation 
from meeting at 7103 Mumford Court. 

The HOA brings a claim for a permanent injunction to prohibit the Gothelfs from 

permitting the Congregation and its members to practice their religion at 7103 Mumford Court.  

See Petition in Intervention, filed March 13, 2014, at 10-12.  Schneider brings the same claim 

against the Gothelfs and the Congregation.  See First Amended Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 

13-16.  These claims fail as a matter of law based upon an application of the proper factors to the 

undisputed facts here. 
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A permanent injunction is an equitable remedy that can only be issued by the Court, not a 

jury.  Priest v. Tex. Animal Health Comm’n., 780 S.W.2d 874, 876 (Tex. App.—Dallas 1989, no 

writ); see also Tex. R. Civ. P. 683.  Among other requirements, in order to issue an injunction 

the Court must balance the equities to determine whether the harm from not issuing the 

injunction would exceed the harm from issuing the injunction.  Reliant Hosp. Partners, LLC v. 

Cornerstone Healthcare Grp. Holdings, Inc., 374 S.W.3d 488, 503 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2012, 

pet. denied).  Even where a defendant has committed a primary violation of some kind, the Court 

should still refuse to enjoin the conduct if the balancing of the equities weighs against doing so. 

See, e.g., Storey v. Cent. Hide & Rendering Co., 226 S.W.2d 615, 617-19 (Tex. 1950) (balancing 

equities to conclude that operation of jury-found nuisance could not be enjoined where there was 

nowhere the defendant could have moved and an injunction would have put the defendant out of 

business); Georg v. Animal Def. League, 231 S.W.2d 807, 808-11 (Tex. Civ. App.—San Antonio 

1950, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (affirming denial of injunctive relief even where jury had found for 

plaintiff as to some claims); see also Cowling v. Colligan, 312 S.W.2d 943, 946 (Tex. 1958) 

(holding that court can refuse to enforce a residential-only restriction by injunction if the 

decision arises from a “balancing of equities” or of “relative hardships” where the harm from the 

injunction would be significantly greater than the harm from declining to enjoin).  Moreover, 

where—as here—a homeowners’ association attempts to enforce a restrictive covenant only after 

a significant period of inaction, the prior inaction should factor into the Court’s balancing of the 

equities analysis.  Indian Beach Prop. Owners’ Ass’n v. Linden, 222 S.W.3d 682, 691 (Tex. 

App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, no pet.) (balancing of equities weighed against injunction 

where homeowners’ association delayed taking action). 
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Issuing the permanent injunction requested by Plaintiffs would effectively end 

community religious life for the approximately thirty families in the Congregation.  See supra 

Section II.E.; Exhibit C at 31:4-33:19; Exhibit D at 41:15-42:7, 66:1-68:4.  If the Gothelfs are 

enjoined from hosting the Congregation’s prayer and study activities at 7103 Mumford Court, 

the Congregation’s members would have nowhere else to go within walking distance of their 

homes and would therefore not be able to pray in community as their religious beliefs require.  

Id.  Plus, Congregation members have purchased homes within walking distance of 7103 

Mumford Court in reliance on the ability to practice their religious beliefs there.  Exhibit D at 

90:16-90:24.  The ability to worship in community is of central importance to Orthodox Jews.  

Thus, the permanent injunction that Plaintiffs propose would bring about severe and irreparable 

harm to the religious liberty of the Congregation and its members. 

In contrast to ending community religious life for thirty families, Plaintiffs complain of 

such “harms” as having to stop to let blind people and mothers cross the street, barking dogs, and 

street parking issues (which the Congregation has already taken steps to minimize).  See supra 

Section II.F.; Exhibit C at 30:2-31:3.  Also, as explained above, the HOA permits multiple non-

residential uses of property in the neighborhood (including Schneider’s own violation of the 

restrictive covenants) and delayed taking action regarding the Congregation for years.  See supra 

Sections II.G., II.H., II.I., IV.B. 

Accordingly, no balancing of the equities could possibly favor Plaintiffs to such a degree 

that would justify an injunction prohibiting the Congregation from meeting at 7103 Mumford 

Court.  As the HOA’s counsel has acknowledged,15 even should the Court be of the opinion that 

some of the alleged harms from the Congregation’s presence in the Highlands of McKamy are 
                                                 
15  Exhibit V at 1-2 (HOA’s counsel acknowledging that even if the use of 7103 Mumford Court were found to 
violate the restrictive covenants, an injunction from the Court could either “order[] the owner to stop using the 
residence as a synagogue or order[] the owner to limit/restrict certain aspects of the activities” (emphasis added)). 
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significant, the Court could issue an injunction that is narrowly tailored towards those specific 

harms without taking the drastic and harsh step of enjoining the Congregation’s religious 

practice altogether.  Therefore, Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ 

claims for a permanent injunction to the extent Plaintiffs seek to prevent the Congregation from 

meeting at 7103 Mumford Court. 

2. No evidence supports Schneider’s claim for statutory damages under Tex. 
Prop. Code § 202.004(c). 

Schneider purports to seek damages under § 202.004(c) of the Texas Property Code, even 

though he is an individual homeowner, not a homeowners’ association.  See First Amended 

Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at ¶¶ 1, 7-8, 42-43 & page 19.  Under both the plain language of the 

statute and the unanimous case law interpreting the statute, however, individual homeowners 

may not recover damages. 

Section 202.004 of the Texas Property Code applies only to associations or their 

designated representatives, not to individual homeowners: 

ENFORCEMENT OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS.  (a) An exercise of 
discretionary authority by a property owners’ association or other representative 
designated by an owner of real property concerning a restrictive covenant is 
presumed reasonable unless the court determines by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the exercise of discretionary authority was arbitrary, capricious, or 
discriminatory. 
(b)  A property owners’ association or other representative designated by an 
owner of real property may initiate, defend, or intervene in litigation or an 
administrative proceeding affecting the enforcement of a restrictive covenant or 
the protection, preservation, or operation of the property covered by the 
dedicatory instrument. 
(c)  A court may assess civil damages for the violation of a restrictive covenant in 
an amount not to exceed $200 for each day of the violation. 
 

Tex. Prop. Code § 202.004. 

Thus, courts unanimously hold that § 202.004 does not permit individual homeowners to 

recover damages: 
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 Quinn v. Harris, 1999 WL 125470 (Tex. App.—Austin Mar. 11, 1999, pet. 
denied).  The court in Quinn held that the plain language of the statute precludes 
individual homeowners from recovery and therefore reversed the trial court’s 
award of statutory damages.  Id. at *7-8.  The court also observed that permitting 
individual homeowners to recover under § 202.004 would lead to absurd results 
that the legislature could not have intended: “If appellees’ interpretation of section 
202.004(c) were followed, each individual homeowner in a subdivision could 
recover up to $200 per day from the time she filed suit until the judgment was 
signed.  We do not believe the legislature intended this result.”  Id. at *8. 
 

 Hawkins v. Walker, 233 S.W.3d 380 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth 2007, no pet.).  In 
Hawkins, the court reversed the trial court’s judgment for homeowners under § 
202.004, and held that the statute unambiguously precludes homeowners from 
seeking recovery.  Id. at 388-90, 403.  The court held that the “exclusive language 
[of the statute] evidences a legislative intent that only property owners’ 
associations or the designated representative of a property owner may sue for civil 
damages under the statute.  Individual property owners are not identified in the 
statute as persons or entities who are authorized to bring suit under the statute.”  
Id. at 389. 
 

 Jacks v. Bobo, 2009 WL 2356277 (Tex. App.—Tyler July 31, 2009, pet. denied).  
Relying on Hawkins and Quinn, the court held that “[b]oth courts that have 
addressed the question have held that an individual owner bringing suit on his 
own behalf and not as a representative designated by the other owners may not 
recover civil damages under subsection 202.004(c).”  Id. at *7.  Accordingly, the 
court held that the trial judge erred in concluding that an individual homeowner 
can bring suit to recover civil damages under § 202.004(c).  Id. at *7-8. 
 

 Tanglewood Homes Ass’n, Inc. v. Feldman, 436 S.W.3d 48 (Tex. App.—Houston 
[14th Dist.] 2014, pet. filed).  The court in Tanglewood affirmed the trial court’s 
rejection of plaintiffs’ request for damages under § 202.004, holding that 
individual homeowners may not recover damages under the statute.  Id. at 75-76. 

 
In fact, Defendants are not aware of a single case that permitted individual homeowners to 

recover damages under § 202.004(c).  Defendants are thus entitled to summary judgment on this 

claim by Schneider as a matter of law. 

3. No evidence supports Schneider’s claim based on his home’s alleged loss of 
value. 

Without identifying any particular cause of action under which he sues, Schneider asserts 

that he is entitled to $50,000 because Defendants have allegedly caused his home to decline in 
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value.  See First Amended Petition, filed April 2, 2014, at 18.  This claim is meritless and should 

be summarily dismissed because Schneider has no evidence that his home has lost value. 

The only record “evidence” that facially relates to the value of Schneider’s home is 

Schneider’s response to Defendants’ Request for Disclosure and his own deposition testimony.  

Exhibit D at 20:13-23:20 (Schneider’s deposition testimony); Exhibit LL (response to Request 

for Disclosure).  Those sources reflect that the alleged reduction in value to Schneider’s home is 

based solely on his own conjecture without regard to market conditions and that he has no 

training and no expertise in real estate valuation.  Id.  The Texas Supreme Court prohibits this 

kind of testimony as to a home’s value, requiring instead that a property owner’s testimony be 

based on market data rather than another speculative measure.  Natural Gas Pipeline Co. of Am. 

v. Justiss, 397 S.W.3d 150, 155 (Tex. 2012).  “An owner’s conclusory or speculative testimony 

will not support a judgment.”  Id. at 158.  Schneider makes no effort to base his claim on market 

conditions.  Thus, there is no evidence that Schneider could present at trial in support of his 

claim, and Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on this claim as a matter of law. 

V. PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that the Court: 

(1) grant their Motion for Summary Judgment in its entirety; 

(2) enter an order dismissing all of Plaintiffs’ claims with prejudice; 

(3) enter an order directing that Plaintiffs take nothing by way of their claims against 

Defendants; 

(4) grant Defendants all other and further relief to which they may be entitled; and 

(5) Defendants further request that, upon dismissing Plaintiffs’ claims, the Court 

receive evidence and argument regarding Defendants’ entitlement to recover attorneys’ fees and 

expenses at a later time. 
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Dated: January 9, 2015 Respectfully Submitted, 

HAYNES AND BOONE, LLP 
 
By: /s/ Matthew A. McGee     
2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700 
Dallas, TX 75219 
JEREMY D. KERNODLE 
Tex. Bar No.: 24032618 
T: (214) 651-5159 
F: (214) 200-0693 
jeremy.kernodle@haynesboone.com 
MATTHEW A. MCGEE 
Tex. Bar No.: 24062527 
T: (214) 651-5103 
F: (214) 200-0585 
matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 
PHONG T. TRAN 
Tex. Bar No.: 24093273 
T: (214) 651-5126 
F: (214) 200-0588 
phong.tran@haynesboone.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR CONGREGATION TORAS 
CHAIM, INC. 
 
THE LIBERTY INSTITUTE 
 
By: /s/ Justin Butterfield     
2001 West Plano Parkway, Suite 1600 
Plano, TX 75075 
KELLY J. SHACKELFORD 
Tex. Bar No. 18070950 
kshackelford@libertyinstitute.org 
JEFFREY C. MATEER 
Tex. Bar No. 13185320 
jmateer@libertyinstitute.org 
JUSTIN BUTTERFIELD 
Tex. Bar No. 24062642 
jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
T: (972) 941-4444 
F: (972) 941-4457 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR CONGREGATION TORAS 
CHAIM, INC., JUDITH D. GOTHELF, AND 
MARK B. GOTHELF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing instrument has been served 

in accordance with the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, on this 9th day of January 2015, upon the 

following: 

David R. Schneider, Pro Se 
7035 Mumford 
Dallas, TX 75252 
T: (214) 315-5531 
Email:DavidRaySchneider@gmail.com 

David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street, Suite 1400 
Dallas, TX 75219 
T: (214) 760-6766 
Email:dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 
Attorney for Intervenor Highlands of McKamy 
IV and V Community Improvement Association 

/s/ Matthew A. McGee_______________________ 
Matthew A. McGee 
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CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

IN THE MATTER OF § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
§ 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, § 
§ 

Plaintiff, § OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 
§ 

vs. § 
§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF, § 4z9th JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
AND CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, § 
INC. § 

§ 
Defendants, § 

§ 
and § 

§ 
HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV and § 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 
ASSOCIATION, § 

§ 
Intervening Plaintiff, § 

§ 
vs. § 

§ 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF and § 
MARK B. GOTHELF, § 

§ 
Defendants. § 

AFFIDAVIT OF MATTHEW A. MCGEE IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
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STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

COUNTY OF DALLAS § 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary Public, on this day personally appeared Matthew 

A. McGee, known to me to be the person whose name is subscribed below, who being duly 

sworn, deposed and states as follows: 

1. My name is Matthew A. McGee. I am over 21 years of age and I am fully 

competent to make this Affidavit under oath. All of the facts set forth in this Affidavit are based 

on my personal knowledge and on the records produced in this case and are true and correct. 

2. I am counsel for the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the above-styled lawsuit. 

I have reviewed and am familiar with the documents produced in this matter. 

3. Attached to this Affidavit are Exhibits B through LL in support of Defendants' 

Motions for Summary Judgment. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of the "First Revised 

Declaration of Restrictions for Highlands of McKamy, Phase IV and Phase V, Dallas, Texas," 

which are the restrictive covenants at issue in this suit. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the hearing 

on Intervenor's application for temporary injunction, conducted April 10, 2014, in this cause. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral 

deposition of Rabbi Yaakov Rich, taken April 9, 2014, in this cause. 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true and correct copy of a map of the Far North 

Dallas Eruv produced by the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the course of this litigation. 

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit F is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the 

transcript of the oral deposition of Mark B. Gothelf, taken March 18, 2014, in this cause. 
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9. Attached hereto as Exhibit G is a true and correct copy of Defendants' Notice of 

Intent to Take Oral and Video Deposition of Intervenor Highlands of McKamy IV and V 

Community Improvement Association. 

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit H is a true and correct copy of an email I received 

from counsel for the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association on 

October 15, 2014. 

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit I is a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral 

deposition of Carolyn Peadon, taken November 4, 2014, in this cause. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit J is a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral 

deposition of Plaintiff David R. Schneider, taken August 5, 2014, in this cause. 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit K is a true and correct copy of a letter from Justin 

Butterfield to David Surratt dated January 31, 2014. 

14. Attached hereto as Exhibit L is a true and correct copy of a map that I printed 

from Google Maps reflecting the location of 7103 Mumford Court, Dallas, TX 75252. 

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit Mis a true and correct copy of a map that I printed 

from Google Maps reflecting the location and length of Frankford Road. 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibit N is a true and correct copy of a map that I printed 

from Google Maps reflecting the location and length of Meandering Way. 

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit 0 is a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral 

deposition of Theodore E. Day, taken August 8, 2014, in this cause. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibit P is a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral 

deposition of Michael D. Donohue, taken August 8, 2014, in this cause. 
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19. Attached hereto as Exhibit Q is a true and correct copy of an email produced by 

Plaintiff David R. Schneider in the course of this litigation. 

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit R is a true and correct copy of an email chain 

produced by Plaintiff David R. Schneider in the course of this litigation. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit S are true and correct copies of three pictures that were 

introduced as exhibits at the oral deposition of Plaintiff David R. Schneider on August 5, 2014, 

and that have been produced by the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the course of this 

litigation. 

22. Attached hereto as Exhibit T is a true and correct copy of an email chain produced 

by Plaintiff David R. Schneider in the course of this litigation. 

23. Attached hereto as Exhibit U is a true and correct copy of an Agenda & Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 

24. Attached hereto as Exhibit V is a true and correct copy of an email chain 

produced by Plaintiff David R. Schneider in the course of this litigation. 

25. Attached hereto as Exhibit Wis a true and correct copy of a document produced 

by Plaintiff David R. Schneider in the course of this litigation. 

26. Attached hereto as Exhibit X is a true and correct copy of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 

27. Attached hereto as Exhibit Y is a true and correct copy of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 
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28. Attached hereto as Exhibit Z is a true and correct copy of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 

29. Attached hereto as Exhibit AA is a true and correct copy of a document produced 

by the Congregation Toms Chaim, Inc. in the course of this litigation. 

30. Attached hereto as Exhibit BB is a true and correct copy of an email chain 

produced by the Congregation Toms Chaim, Inc. in the course of this litigation. 

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit CC is a true and correct copy of a letter produced by 

the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the course of this 

litigation. 

32. Attached hereto as Exhibit DD is a true and correct copy of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 

33. Attached hereto as Exhibit EE is a true and correct copy of a letter produced by 

the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the course of this 

litigation. 

34. Attached hereto as Exhibit FF is a true and correct copy of a letter produced by 

the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the course of this 

litigation. 

35. Attached hereto as Exhibit GG is a true and correct copy of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 
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36. Attached hereto as Exhibit HH is a true and correct copy of the Declaration of 

Michael Benklifa produced by the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the course of this 

litigation. Attached to Exhibit HH as Exhibit 1 thereto is a true and correct copy of an email 

produced by the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the course of this litigation. 

3 7. Attached hereto as Exhibit II is a true and correct copy of a document produced 

by the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. in the course of this litigation. 

38. Attached hereto as Exhibit JJ is a true and correct copy of an email produced by 

the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the course of this 

litigation. 

39. Attached hereto as Exhibit KK are true and correct copies of Board Minutes 

produced by the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association in the 

course of this litigation. 

40. Attached hereto as Exhibit LL is a true and correct copy of Plaintiff David R. 

Schneider's Response to Defendant's Request for Disclosure. 

Further affiant sayeth not. 

Matthew A. McGee 

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me on this <?ltt day of 942015. 
,, DEONNA TOOMEY WILLIS

15 ,,..,.. ·l~ Notary Public, State of !ex 
! : J .. : My Commission Expires 
V~;, ... ,-(."l Sentember 01, 2015 

;,,,,,f,~.~,,\,,... .... 
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the benc!'it ot the present and future owner,a o!' re11denUal. lots, 

hu tu:retotore f11ed J.rticlft>i of lncorpor&Uort tor H1ghlandit of 

NcKo.1111 IV atid V Ccrn:r.\ln1t)' Improvement A:uoc1at1on (here1n the Au:>­

ctaUon) and bas filed that certain "l>ecl&raUon of Jlntric:Uons 

ror H1ghlands ot KeKamy • l'baee lV ano l'batto V • Dal.lac. Tc • .,.11 ... 

dattd March 13, 1979. ut record in Vol~llle 1162. Page 613, Deed 

Records or Collin County, 'l'e~a•; and 

WHEREAS. tb& CHy or Dallas. Tcx:u: hn:i rt~uu\~d certain 

changes in •a14 ~t~tr1tt1ona. 

E -1-
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1!0!1, 'l'KW:»oRt., Dada rant• c..1tncr n!' all ! :1• :c~s ln 1a1d 

J:e~~ar.t)' IV and HCf.til!I)' V doe• herob11 ;iuri.uant t.o t\l~l:-oru.1 r.rcntcd 

1n salcl DcclaraUon does hel'Ob)' ranee! the above ntd. Dcclarat1on 

ano 1111.tblJUtutH thia F.!.r41' Rov1a!X1 Doc).ar.AUon o~ P.ecstrict1ontr 6 in~ 

poitng tbe rollowlng re1tr1ct1ona. reacrvat1ons, co1enanto and con­

cUUon• upon dl N•1dt:nt1al )ota in MclCa:v lV r:l YcKamy V,, t:htch 

at:a:ll constitute covenants running wltb the uue o: :iatd rea14C°n .. 

tial 1otG and which abal' be binding upon and 1n~re to the bentrit 

ot l>eclarant. ita 111u~ce111aora and a~aigr<•• an4 ea.~ an4 c~or~ pur­

chaser or al\)' or sa14 rea14ential lota and their respective beir1, 

adm1n1atratora. succeasora and a$slgns. and each an4 all of aucb 

btnef1o1ar1es an4 turther, the lUghlands or Mctan,y tV and T Cof'll!Wn• 

itY l111Prove~enL Association ab.all have the right to enforece the 

l"C$~r1ct1ons, reservations. oovcnant8 and cond1tlons herein act 

rorLh b7 llhJ proceedins at law and/or J.n equtty &$ ~ be deemed 

advieab1e or &pprop~iate. 

Decla'rant r-asex-vcu; tbe r1&ht to develop, rue aml obtain the 

al)p1"(;tva1 or the tlty ct DaUu. !'e:itus of II fina\ pllt of thc prop­

erties above ~cterrcd to aa MoJtamy v. 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

l. •Association" ~hall incan and refer to H1;h1an4a or McX~ 
IV and v Coir.mun1ty lr.l~rovement A&aoc1at1on, a Texas non-profit 
corporation, ita succesaora and assigns. 

~. "OWner" shall mean and refer to the record owner. whether 
one or "ore persons or entit1ea. ot tee a1~ple title to any lot 
\1hich is a part or the ProperUe&. 1nolud1ng contract buycr::s. but. 
excluding thoac wh~se ti~l• 1& hcl4 J11erel1 ~ aecur1ty tor tbe per-
1'oml!.nce or an obllotion. 

3. "Propel-ties" :;ball *1tean and ntet' to the r~al propert~ 
her.-sn11bove ducribed., and. where applicable. the real Pf'OP'Orty t.hieh 
may bei-eafter be annexed into the Jur1s41et1on of the Assoc1at1on in 
the •anner hereinafter oescr1bed. 

-· "Common Area• shall ~ean all real property which aay oe 
acquiJ-ed by t<he Aa1odat.1on for the coruion uae ena enJ01ment or the 
O•mera 1n McKitfn)' lY tmd McKam)' V (1nc)ud1ng prount COMOn t;reen 
ar~s); and. BO long AS the City or Dallan, ~oxna Jhall permit the 
A11oc1ation to ligbt And maintain the Flood~a~ s:anagenont Area ex• 
tending through the propertiea. ahall alao moan auch Tloodway 
i.ianagc11ont. Area. 
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~. "Lot" flh'l!U r:cnn ano t-t:fv:> ~o t.':':l n!::• c" l1md .sh•·~ 11:,,., 
1ir.y rt-cC\rueo aubtJ1 vl$,ton ri:p or plat or t.hc Pr..i:-c:·:!c!;. vh.h ~he il'l:1-
ci;pt.to., 01' (n) pv11'J.J.<. 61'~.t;:, ::OU::')• .... f'lll"':,_'\t OllT'J....,;:.y.;;, COM~..'.ln f:":'.,AS 
e~o floodway mnnacemcnt areas as shonn on any such suba1v1s10~ ~P 
or- plnl., and (b) any collt.'"on arta or co•.non crcen -:.'-1cb na) b~ ac­
qu1T"ert b3 the Aaso~1at1on. 

fi. "l>eclarant'* shall mean and refer to ;•ctari- Da\•elop-,m:. 
to:-pora1'lon 1 a TeYe.a corporat.1on, nno 1ts sueces~.,r:; anti as::;!K"l&, 
~n~ shall include Dn~ pPr~on or ontlty to wh.lch ~cclhrant ~·a~&1&n 
1ts r16hts and privileges, duties and obl1ent1ons hPr~under. which 
are and shall be ass~gnable. 

AR'l'lC:l.t l! 

PftOPE:Jn'Y fltr.w:s rn C011"01l AR&/' 

1. Every O\mer shall have non-(txcluajvc r 1a;l.t and easenent 
or enjoyment in and to the Commo11 ;.rca., if ony, 'n1ch rlr.ht ahall 
be appurtenant to and •ball pa•s ~1th the title to every lot. 3\ll>­
Ject to the following provisions: 

(a) 'l'ha r1£ht or the Assoc1at1on to charGe reasonable adm1s­
s1ona and oth~r tcos tor the use of an~ ~ecrcational facility •itu­
a.t.ed upon the Col11lllon Area.0 and 

(b) 'The ri.&ht ot ttu~ Anocbtion to :;u=.pend the voting rii:tita 
anl1 right to uu ot the recreational facilities by an OWller for any 
per1od during wh1cb any assessment against his lot remains unpaid~ 
ana tor a period not to exceed iS1xt.y (60) days fo"!' any 1nrra.ct1on or 
it# publ:hhed l"Uleti and ree;ulationsi and 

{c} The r1gbt or tbe AuociaUon to dedicate ol" t:ranster all 
or any pnrt of the Cor.non Area to on~ publlc agencyj author1tJ or 
ut:Uity company tor s.rcb purposes end &ubJect to 11.uch conditions u 
f'.1,y be agreed to by th~ rn~rnbers; providc.d., however, t ~at no till.Ch 
4cd1cat:l.on or t.ran11>:'er l>*'all be c!"rectiv.c unlc£t> an 1ni.t.ruroent G1(;'e<1 
liy t.\io-thirds {2/3ri:s) of each class or MembeX>iS tl.bl"Ceir.g to such 
dec1ont1on or tran5fer haD been recorded. 

(d) !!:'he dsht and obUcat1on ot the A&11c>c,h.t:l.on, '1hicb 
obU£Ett1on 1s hereby tr.•evocably assu1:1ed,. to pay tor the 1n11tallation 
anu maintenance or lighting or the Flood~ay Manabcment Area ~nd Arly 
othor 1111prr>vC11lent11 to 'the Ploodway Manager.ienl. Area vh1ch might. te 
desired to oe made b~ the Aasoc1at1on and approved by i.he C1ty or 
Dallas. 'l'exas. tbe Assoe.!.ation he1'eby 1n-evocabl~ guarant.ee1ni to 
the Cit)' or Palla:i. Texas that the A:u1ociaUon r·1ll bear all such 
installation and maintenance expenses pN>111ptl)I as incurN!d. optH:iti.­
cally including the p~1ner.t or all utility bills tor li&hting t~e 
Floodway 148.inta~t\anc& Ar1:e.. 'I'h1s r;uar;intee 11':1 ma4e for a valuable 
conr.10orat1on. being the ae:rccmemt ot' the City or l>allaa., 'l'exu to 
perl:lit the AasociaUon to light the Fl90'2w~y Management Area. 

~. Any Owner Illa.)' delegate. in accordance with 1-hc Il.Y-Lilt:s 
or the Association,. hie. .right of' enJoym:ml to the Cor~"'lon Area and 
faciUties to the mnbera or his ra111ly or to person:; rer.1d1n& en 
tbe lot under a learut or contract to purchase tro"'l the Oitnei-. 

ARTICLE llr 

RTGHTS OP 'l'HE CIT'>' OF l>ALV1.~. 
REVISED .AND SUPl'l .. l.HEtll'ARY D&CLARf'1'lO'lS 

l. Ruv.hfed. t.?;'1d Supplc:mentnry Clprnttons.:.. D~clat-ant 1r1v :file 
ot record a Supple~ntary Dticlaral.ior. t.o :rillert the dH.ferent 
charact.er, 1r any, or MrKa111y IV and f!cY.al'ly V; provided, howenr. that 
any :supplementary declaration u111 not .l n ;my ua:1 l'dc t.o the obl!c;a­
l1ono 1 OJ" 1nct-1HlS"' tho t'C'l\tl"ict1ons of tho 01\nCJ'S. Of f!cKairy 1'' el.:ll'pt 
cs pcrm1H1ble by tho provl&1on& t>f thls 1nstru:--..n: 't'l'laUn& to :i.o~-
1r1cntion or anencncnt horoor, or oa mny b~ i-cqu1rcd bl the City or 
ll'11lns, 'l'cxau. 

-- ~-1-
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2. Jlirht.a ot the Cit¥ or D.:i.llH t...'J'~nas. ?or p\ll'J>Oltt'l> of' 
tt.h Ari.1cle Ill only die 'ficrelrabove statiici-tt'i!":."IH.!ons. shall b~ 
expandeO to include the tollow1nn: 

(a) "As:.odr.tion" 11ha.ll also 1nc111_.~ al: -;.~ oredcccl'l&or:s 
to the Assoc1at1on whose duty 1t is to Aa1ntc1n tno a?pcaranee arA 
ctm41Uon of the Cornn:on P.ropertio:i.; 

(b) ~Oline~• shall ~l&o include the D~cl~rant ~nd any Builder. 
their succesaors. aas1gnG~ heirs. and e~plo1ees. 

~he c~tU or Dalla~. 'l'e~Ae shall havo t"" ri&ht and ray 
aosuwe the duly or perforr.r1ng all naintcnanc o!>U.,ratlons ot the 
l.ncu:iation in eii~her ot thr: tollO\tlng events: 

(•) 'he Aasociatlon dissolves and the City or Dalla& has 
given wr1t;on notice to Lhe 0-aner&; br 

(b) 1J'h& Aa.soc!atton 11haU t.aU or refuse to natnta1n the 
BPP<UiJ'&incc and cond1t1o"'I of t.tu~ Coir.mrm PJ"OpeT"lfH~s ,1hicb 1t 11:1 ob:a ... 
gated to 1Nt1nta1n hf'reund('r and ttlr: 1111i.int.enance lietec.te hf.>'>:'. n;>t beltn 
corrected with1n ten (lO) dafa after receipt b¥ t~c Assoctnt2on or 
urUt.en not.icl' tro:m the CH)' ot Dl!Uaa st>t.t:tn,t !'o:-th 1n detaU the 
tutture and extent or $UCh na1nt.en•nce detects. 

Upon asaUT.inc $u:h maSnttnance obligations, the City ot 
Dalla:. triay collect.,. 11>tum t.he &a:me may become clue,. all aue&smfmts > 
annual or special. for t.ne purpo$e or rci:m1r1ng, replac1ng. n~lnta1n-
1ns. or c£rtng ro~ th~ Col"l!ilon Propert1~s; and. 1F necessar9 to collect 
del1nqucnt a11.sessm11n11.t 1n ~ecorllancc •111.h 1tn1 11t?.h or local l1n: or 
ordinance, or the O.f>-pl1caible prov1s101u sr>t; torth 11.U.hin t.hlll Ded•u·a· 
tion. ~h~ City or ~allaa, ~n 1t& sol~ and conplete discrttion. nay 
choo-.t! c1the:r .or tbn !ollov.1ng two aUt<rnathu in ().of",Putinn Md 
levying a.ucasJ11ent.a i 

(a) ~ho~e as&ess~~nts levied by tho A~so:1atlon pursua~t to 
the prov1o,1ons hereof; or 

(b) An a$se•s~cnt ~pon each lot en a pro ~-t~ basis. 

Upon the Citt of Dall~s A&sun1ng the ra1ntenancf obl1ga• 
t.toru1 or tl'le Al\l:iOClat.tor, 1u1ta:aairt:nb Ohllll bl' r:.i.de on a1J lot11 ::-e­
gfl.r!!lesJ! or ownershfp, t.nd t..he atu~eHrmnt& uJll co•u1t.1tute a lien 
t"J)on the lot att.1nst v.Mch each ae!JHcment 1:11 n:'.l<!.:i. During tht- pedo:l 
the City or Dalla$ u:~U':"C$ t.hc o~U.eauon to n:...1:-~c.1n and ctu•e f;Qr the 
Co:rrion l'roperUe--:. the J.5e>oc1.at1on aball ll:icvc no o~ligat1on or autho· 
:r1 ty vi th respect to su:::"i maintenance. 'l'he p1>uer and author Us hel'ein 
granted to the City of Dalla.a ahall cease to e~1&t at &ucn ~1re e& the 
AalH>c1at1on shal.1 d1:liver to the C1t1 ot Dallas 11ubst.ant1~1 t-v1oenc.e 
as 1ts willingness and ability to resume rnain~cna~ce of the Cotin~n 
Pro~rties. :tn the event that tht C1ty or D:tllu assumes the dut.1 or 
pef'rormin& the 111n1ntenancc ob:Usa1.eions c-r th11 Auoc1at1on provided 
ho>""Cin, then tho City or Dallas. it1 aecnts. repr~$entativcaL and em­
ployee.s shall have the right ot access in, to, c"l:.i over the c.;o:,..-;.on 
Prvpert1ea tor the purpo!lcs or r.a1ntan1r1r;. 1nprov1ng. and pre:ier,.r!ng 
the aamc. Furt.her 1 in t.hc ovont that the CH.y ti!' Jlallas as:>U""er. the 
obligation or the Aut.OC1l1tion 1n fl(lCO?'l.hmcc or thh i.c:H:tltm. the 
llnocisUon and fill ovncro 11lmll 1n4t-t:n:1fy ant! t.ol.'1 Lnc Cit..>· ot i>allns­
harml~ss or un~ rrom any and all co't~. cxDonsos, suSts. den11nds, 
l1ab111Ucs. dal'lt1r,es. or ot.tu~:rv;1t.<:,. 1nclu1U.nt nt~orncy•n re1.>:1 cn:l 
costs or 1u.11t. arJ.dnc rrorn or 111 cc.n-:cct!.on \'lt"' the rcrforr.'lre' ot 
~ny acta, or Lho omisa1on or any net. by ~he City or ~allAa ~~r1uant 
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to \.he tcrm:s of thl11 sect.ion; and in no even;, Q"lt': i.:-ii!er no c1:-cu"­
stllncat :&hall. tho City or Dalla$ be H11,blr to th: /nochtScm or Ml)' 
O;•nor or thclr rcu;poct1ve hcira, pcraons.l rcprc::c"l·~Uvcs. succcssor11,. 
enQ ass1cns ror neG11gcnt Acts or construction rel~:in~ 1n an)' r~nncr 
to na1nta1n1nt. the Con:r.on Ar•ac. or ror f~1lurc to ~ertor:-. e~~h r~ln­
tcnanLe, I~ the event any or the terns or prov1~1o"ll or thls section 
u·t 1n conflict lfltb any other provb1on cmtdru:.•d 1n thh lleclara• 
Uo-.. the teM'll> nnd prcwia.l.ons ot th1lli 111ect.lo'l ;1?>;-:U prc-va.U. 'l'h1a 
ra:ct1on JllllY not bl! Altered or cnane;cd without the co:uu:nt or the :::ny 
Co~nc11 or the City of Dalla~ ev1d~nced by R~tolu~icn. lt is und~r­
ato:.d a111ons t;hc parlilea thU. \<he CU.y Attornc,r•s O!"t'1Ce of the CU.Y 
of DaU.a!i ruu ap.•rov .. 11 Cl<! T.O fora this Sl!'et1on onl~·. 

Aft'rlCL'E lV 

J\El~BERSH!P AtU> VOT:tNO Rl:OH'l'S IN ASSOCH'i'lON 

l. KEF.SE~SH!P. Every o~ner or a lot ~h1ch is subJeet to 
Aase1>1s>1crit a.ball be a nentier of 'l;htt As&ot1at1on. i•enbere:.h1p shall 
be appurtenant to a.n6 aha11 not bc sepa.r.ato l':ror.i o•mc:r•hip er an1 
lot which is subject to Jsseasrocnl. Every member shall have the 
right tit all reasonable times durine; budn~ss hours to inspect the 
booka ot the Aaaoc1ation. 

2. \'OrINO ftTCh"'!'S. ~he A$soctat1on shall have two (2) 
classes or voting ~em~er~hips. 

(CONTINIJED on PAG:O fl) 
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CL~Sfl A: Cl:iss Ii m•rl11mi:: 1>b:.ll bt: all O'm«:-.. 

(wH1i *1,1'iO"ncc,pli1;m ol thu U:ic't:n•zmL) tmUl Clru.i. 
n 1:1e>.11bc1'l.hS.11 !!:c cronvt.':rtod to Cl1ai:.-:; A nc-.'lb.:w:.1ap a:o 
Ut!lO\f J•J't'IVi.dctl, tllld t..Jmll be entitled to OllC VOfc 
tor encl. l..oi. o\.nc-d \.rum t'IO>"O ~l1l\n 0111> pc1 :;.011 
nold:s rm :i11tcu:: . .-t :in nn;,• ll>t i nll i.ucJl po1·.t..a:is 
slinll be ite:"'lbt:1·r.. 'the vt>'ht Ior r.uch lot $hull. be 
cxorcli:.od :ts tlmy anon:<; thc;a1roolvc:> clctc-rnlllr. but 
1>1 mi cwcnt Gh:,ll JllOl'O thn11 one vote be cn!.t viU1 
rospccL to. ~ll.Y lnt, and itte1•c sbnll l>c no Irnc­
t!o1t!\l votes. 

CL.l\SS D: Tiu:i Cbsf. D l'lCnb;::r Sb;ill be tho 
.r>cic'ln:i.-nnt n, • .- D~" \~X-l'rnt &hall be l:l'nbtlcd to 
c:.lvc (5) votes !01· each t.e• ovno<l. 'The> Cl:iss 
B mf!t\bcrship sb::i.11. co;u~c J\l\d be convc:rtc 1 to 
Class. A Jl!Bn.bers'>lip on t:bo haj)pcnill:t of <:nt •1.1 
ot 'the :tollo\Vint; events, wtu.cllovc:r- ocwr:. 
cnrl:u.'lr: . 

(a) on ll~ce~ber 31• 1D83; or 

(b) the \.Tittcn dcc:ltL,.:it1on of 'tltc 
Dltclnrnnt * deli vcrcd to the Association. 
thnt it: do.sires to convert lUi C:tass D 
netabershi.P into Clnsfl'. A 111or.i.berstu.p; or 

(c) :Dacla1·:uit's ow1m1-ship ot propcl"'Uos 
within 'h"acts cmc tuHl 'J\ro nbov11 dtIBc;i;·ib&d 
shl\U be reduced to loss th.nn 20 lots. 

:I. l3Y-t.JMS. °:i'•~O Asiso~.:l.ation m.11.y 111\ko '\~lmtcvc.:r rulc.s .11n(l 
By-L.'\\'IS it sli:lll dccn dcuira.blc to r.ovorn tha Associnhon and its 
no,'Jbcl:s, i>rovifccl, ho\lcvcr, MY con1Uct bo'hvccn such Ry-L:nH; nnd 
t ht: )'1-0Vl:>ion~ hcreo.f :;;hall be C:X>nt1;.ollcd b)' 1.hE:" J:l)OViS~Oll& hereof. 

AllTlCLJ; ,, 

ASSl!SS•.fr.?T'rS 

l. COV£NAWrs :?'OR A.sst:ss•u:w.rs. Tho D:lcln1•..tut ::tor ~:ach lot 
t.\":&.Ct or p11.r-cc:X or-Iruid o\lnod 6l' lt wJ,tJ1J.n JlcKiun)' IV .and !.lcKa-;:y y • 
hex-cby covon!lnts., ant! oacll purch11so1· of any i;uch lot. tX'att 01• ' 
parcel of lnnd by a.cccptnnce of A deed therefor, \\hctl1cr or riot it 
sb;.11 bo ao tixpre1>soa in any such dood or other convc~ n.ncc, shtill 
be do&r.lod ~o covenant to p~y to the AssocintM>n nnuuhl nascasr,ents 
or cbiu..,;cs wi; opecit:u1£? in :P.n·crnpb 3 of this Ai•ticlc \t, all o: suet( 
asscucmcntc to be E1~ed. cstabli6hod1 nnd collc~tcd troa tine to ttfio 
a:,; hcrcLuaftcr provided. 

~. PURPOSE Ol! ASSl!SS\IT.WIS. *lite uscs:sncnts lcw!od b)· tb~ 
AssocbUon s?i:\Il he usrd c)l'dudvcly fo:r the purpose o:f pronotin; 
th«: co'tc:n:t, hoal.1;b 1 i.m£oty and wolf~ro o:r tbu O.;m:Tli or the 
propcu•Uc.s, or an)' pari tbc.rl!Df. nnd :fol' c:i.rri> n out the J>Ul'Jl~i.\}c 
of tbo /is.sociaUon ;i,s &tatocl 111 Uc Adiclcs of lncorp:>:r:i.Uou. 

:f,. ASSCSS\'£~7.$. Bacb O+mc1· oi Al'I,)' pni-t of the. J>l~pcrUc!i 
thon f>Lllijct:t to thit> llt.clnrntion Lh:iU pn.)• to tl\C Ant:ociatlcH1. in 
ac:h•ancc. n r.ic::>nthl)1. q\l;u.·to1·l)' o» l':C•iii-J\nm1~1 n~scni:mcnt ns t\11)' !1'\'):=. 
t1r~o 'to t1t110 \.lo nxcd by tho Jlot11•11 of Db•oetoi'l.l ol t>1c At.se>cfaU.on, 
1•rovicl11:d th111t tho u:.s:cr.•s·.innt t;hnll. ncvo:a.· exceed u~c nu.~ of '\'hh·t)' 
Jl:>ll:.r1> ($30.00)J)(JJ• lot per ncmU1 \v1U10ul the.. :i.!Iurmth•o voto or t1t 
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lo~st ccvc:ml)'-J:i.vc pi;;t}C~T't (?S~) or tho Cln•,•, /, ncl''t~i·:. or the 
1~:..s::u:H•tio11. S;pcc>.:i.l ::i!>~m:.sr:.llnt! for nCl)•u.sit:i.01i ot p-::-o;i .. t-;y, 
c.o"'::.tn1c.U.cm 01· rccon:oh•\1ctio:i cost-., l'C!Jll:11. .. e'7'c:.ts nnd !or ott~cr 
pu;.·p:>&cs o! the 1~r.noci:ttion lllllY b.: lt'V1<'d co•\)' \tp:J11 the :lff!r•,:i­
ti\•et ''o'to or '75~ or the Cln11o:; /t. 1:a::n':.>1:1·:::. :tt :i mi:cti\1~ ca.l11:d :ror 
rmcb p~:j""lOt.t~:.. on not lti"Js th:rn thu·l$ (30) tl:>J'n notice. 

4. co'i:1i:i:c~m:~·r m·tc o:·· ;.ssr.ss·:1:?.·u;. Tht lust asrr"11s-
1.1011t Jn:•ov,hlod" Iot• IH•r<li 1, \ilneh sfi:U nvt c"c«<l l"ivo I»llnu. 
(~S.DO) pc1· r-onth poi· lot. uh:i.11 CO"l"lCllCC 

(n) !Jll luts 111 :Icii::u•y I\', upoa• ttu1 .fuM. day 
ot tht! MOnth nc'l:t 1;uc.,.001h.na tho closin;; of Sllle 
of the t1rst lot to b~ nold by Declr·nnt to 
b.iildors in !'cT.;i, -:y lY. tllld sh:i.ll t.o cc ~.1.cc. ted !or 
th.c ~irst )"Qllr in advance at tho clusin;:s of lot 
s::iles :l'J!OM Deal:tl."!Ult to b\lildcrs. 

(b) On 1ots in Uc2in111y Y 1 upon tl1c tu.i:.f day 
ot the J•:i:>nth n~:i..t sueeccdinz the <:losir.z: of sa,lc 
or 1.hc !irnt lot to be sold by I>cclnr:mt to 
bu;>.ldincs ln t:c;::1.: .. y v, and sha.11 be collllcted for 
the 1':i.rst yc.:i.r in advance ~t the closinr,s o! lot 
S'-les frora Decln.:-:tnt to builders. 

5, Dl.it l\\TE O? 1\SSt:ss•tr:!fT.S. 'J'hc !i.rst a!>"icssmont shall 
be p:l.)'ablc 11mnu1.;..I1 :ui "''.h· .. mcc as prov1.dcd 111 P;iu:ai;r.-ph ..: or 'thi!. 
l•rhcle V 4 Subscc:u1ent assc:.i:.ncnts, lcv;.cu! As provided in P~rli\gr.11.J>h 
3 ol this Artie) e \' 1 shall be auo rmd ~aynble Vl. tl\:i.n thirty (30) 
day& oX the mailing o: an i:n\oico for s11111c. 

C>. p1>1:~rn1s PJ:RM'.l'!l\T. om.TGNl'IOlf FOP. l"f,\'i!t:l.'l' OI~ r=:;,.,i:ss•:n:•T$. 
~he assc~smcnt.s imov.ideJ lor here.in ~baU he thti per:,on:i.i ~ lfiiil.-:. 
vlc:l~&.l Clcbt of' the O·:ner ot: t.h~ T'rt>pcrty CL\CJ'C<1 by :.uch asse{;!.nonts. 
l~<t Oun er ia:iy C;\f:'r.oj.:.L hin:;c'I r fro"l l h1bll.l ty for :.uc.h tl:;~r!il>l"t:nts. In 
the C'VcnL of' dcf'ault in U,e p::.l·r.~:-:t of' any sue'> tlbt>t:.!bS'7.~nt > the:!),, .. ,~ 
or the PJ•opcrt;r sh~ll be obl ... i:;ate<l to pny intc:-cst. at the J>ate or tt:n 
pt'rtcnt noi) ;per annu-n on the amount or the e.::st:.sr.cnt fr.:il'I the cim: 
dntc t;J1croof' • toz;cthc1· ':$ ih 11ll coi>t.a anc'l Q>.pcns.c$~ 1ncli.;<H.nr;. at.tor~ 
ne)".a f'eei.. 

7. ASSE5SfliEHT LJJ;I' /llD ll'OllECLOS\Jm~. 1111 sums as.se.i.scd :tn tba 
nanner p~ovldud in tbi~ A~t~clc hut unpaid> $hall> toDe~h~r ulth 1n­
tcrcst aa prov.tdccl in pal"AL'traph 6 of this Article V encl the cc.st.. or • 
collection,. 1nclucllng &.ttorney• :> fees o.s bc:rcinnrter pl"ol•lded,. ~ 
\.lpcm became a cont1nu.1uz; ltcn end charc;c on th& pl"opnrty covcl'e:~ b•• 
&Uc)) 81SS&SA>J'll:mt., \Jhlch Lhnl.l bind liU.Ch proper!.)' in tbc ha.tide ot t.h7: 
Ouner. ana h1:> heir£ a d<.·v1secis.. pc:rtonnl rcprcscnt.nt.1ves,. and aasip. 
"'he- arore.naid 11.cn thall be supcr-io:r t.o all other liens 2.1'1! cl1a:-ces 
ur;o..1nst the: uiicl p1-operty. c><ccp;, only ro1• t1u. l:icns anti all t.Ul:ls un­
paid on a tirst tnort.cace llon or 1'irst. flood or t1•1uit ls.cm or record 
£Cc\1rine 1.n eitlu:1~ instance t.W'ls barro1•cd ror t.h.: puNh~:.· or lr.i- • 
provemcnt r;t' the propi:r;.y in CJuc:iUon. ~he J,ssociatlon shall J>:we 
the pouc:r to :>Ubo:Nnnatc the Dfo:rcsuiJ ai.~cssJr.:nt lien to any other 
licm. Sueb poucr i;hall be cnt..i1'oly diac1•c:t.iom:i:ry \1.it,h 1.h~ J.:.:io.:ic:-
t ton. ~·o evidence the aforcsn1cl assessment. lien. the /lss<>cintion 
nball prc:pttrc a uriitcn not.ic.c CJf llbt.cs:.ine>nt lien sctl.in& fol"th tl>e 
aU1ount .ot the unpa1iJ :S.nllcb\.cllncu:.# the nrunc or tbc Oi;rnr or the: 
J>1"f>J>C>:-l y c;avcrcd b;y a.u.:'h l 1. ,..n and n cle:.cript.i on t>t" 1-ht- PX'<>j)ert1. 5-i::.'1 
noUcc nhnll bo 1>1c:nod by onl' tif' t.hc Ol'flec:rs of the As.M1t~::t11m n:-.d 
f>hall be ~ceordc<l in the ot:fit.c ot thr County C~erJt er Coll1n Co11ntl', 
Tc~n11. Such lien for pt1y1r.ent. or n:.sct.t.ime>nt.s :>l'lan ntt nch '111.h the 
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pl• itw't t.~· :,l1ovc .::.rt. tt.>J•Ut I r('l',1 Ut" •l,•1.t· Lhctt ~ut h )' •>'l'~;it. \l:'-"(.P,..;..':• (~"­
\ i llll\h.llt ht• :.ct i 01•th .in p:11•rp-. )\l• 5 <>t th 1.-. J.rL k le V "'"' • uy 1>1.1 ~11• 
Jen c-c.l \:J> to:rL<c' o~m·c c•r C.h<: d.- fi1t1 UJ,n:; O .. nt:r ':. J1r:1;1::::-L)' by Lb!.' l•!.i.o­
t U~'-.letn ln l lJtC tw~nncr 01:. R f,lnrl :'il~«' Ctll )•(:t:l J'IN';•erL)' :.u\,:>c«:u~nt. to 
lhc rcirm·.l h1:,;: or it noUcc: of ,,a:.:a -.:.r.•:.nt l \C'U i"!. 112'(.t\•lrt:<i t-llt1vc, or U•:: 
li:.:i.t:it .h:t \on llll'l.Y $ni;t.lhttc: t>uH. nr,,.im.\. th~ o ·"'1~1· )•1.l'J•t.onn'l» ob\i&ntct. 
1 o p;.y Ll1C' n:.sc:.t.i.":mt ;mcl/o:r fo:- 1c1:rc-clc1:.t11•.e <•i the a: O>'U·l'.: id l.1.nn 
.huHcJ.al l,y. ln tll'l.Y l"c:o1cc-l(11.uJ·:· N'OC-CNim.t.. rh!'Ll•:')' j •. ::ticii-1 or ntii. 
Jv,Jclnl} the O':ncr :t11:>l\ be• r.,<!uirca t.o i•.:tY Lb? co;.t.!.. <:H•!%11s1:a •• Pr1tl 
:N•1tr.rm:\blc ;tt.Lcl'nc~·'e.. l'cc:. 1nc1117..._r;l. '!l")u. /i:i.:.t>f:.u:t \on :.h-ll hl:l\'C' tht.• 
)lt>Wt'l' t.o bld on tbc J>»oric1•t l' n! fortn:lo:.m•c o:- ott1.::1• lcu'.t :ale ::mi 
t.o ncgu1 ,., • holtl. lt".1u;c • norLr •• :!_!c. co:n<<-> or o:.>-:-ri-lt.t" cl:.-.:l u.H.h t'he 
.i.:wu:::. Vpon t.hc \tr.i.\.t.cn ro-.1•1c::..t or tn.r nori..i;.:-r.c c hold ::iz a pl•lo>" 
l(cm or. nny part; ot' the :rr.,pcrti<"f'• t:J1r: /u,·o::;rnthm :.h::=lll rcp:>rt t.o 

.:.n1C.:: r40l"tcuecc any l.lnfla itl a11uu:tt.McnLl. rcn>1 tn •... ••p:t!d to1• lonL;t:r 
Lb;:n thirt.y (30) day.s nrl..t-r> tht- ~nat\ a1't: <luc • . 

o.. tcl'mt>N PnO'Pl:H'i'Tf.S t:>:t,H''t. Jlny Co"l"lO:r> J'rop~rt1c:; n11.l all 
J)CJJ't.J.cm~ Of'~ro;il'.\'l"ll.t:J, Oltnt!ii bl' "or otlWl'tt.!.t.0 dt•t\ieatc:(i t.o a::n;y 
J'>fll;U;~cal Mtbdivislon f'hall 1'<' cX<-mpt rro'l1 t.ltti ;u~c~a.r.~n:.s t:.n<l Hc:i 
c:rc111.oa hcrc:ln. 

,PO~STI?V("'J'IO':, 'Un'\cc., 1.1;n 1>nc1r:pn;c·nm:.1, CO'.'~AWl'S 

~ui ~liovcsnid Pl'OJ)t.::tit:!. a1-o hereby #Inda su'!>.icc1: to the rollcw ... 
i11f. ~oatY'i et:ion~, ocndit :ion.,., :h.mt·t.Jl.ticmi.: anu co\•cnn.nts (ticrcin t bi: 
covan~nts). to-wit: 

l.. Rtsnn;t~TlM .. US!iCE: l~o. strut"turc shall be t'rt!-ttc" 
plnc:cd, .alt:crt'l:l, u:.N'l for or pc-r1dt.tc.Hl to rc:nnin on il"Y rcs.ltlcnti::~ 
buildint. lot. other t.hnn ot\c d1. t<ltht:<l trintlc f.rrlly p:dv.atc duclU~; 
tio't lo c~cc:cd to1•ce: :.torics nncl cmc priv.1:1..1; J;:IU"Jtt,c tor rtwt ll"\!'.:lrc tha~ 
four auLot.IObUct. .n:u! St:'X'Vllnts • Q\lllrtc:T"° U lhc:y llTC e:"'.ploycd on th: 
prcmt:.c:i::. No ttt":'";>'-lrn~y strm:turcs l'l!'l)' lie pl~cNl on lot c>.ccpt du=· 
int. c.<.mcu.ruetion. nct£<1 '"' urci;c bu.tldin;,t.. :i.l•cd~ or r.t:·ut:tuu:$ t1r.; 
not. Jlt?l"mittcd. Only lltm i.u·ucturcr. £h:i.ll ht! coni>t:ructcd on any lo: 
ona no hou~c or stn1cturc~ llhnll be moved onto a lot. 

2. C/1MC'£S: HP 1:,an.ivi lllZ)' op~n or face onto a :;trc<!'~ 
in t:his .rnM:i.tion cl:ccpt: for t:be following lot#) in l.~ci:.;:;1117 1V: 

l>loc1: 
Dlocl> 
»locl: 

1,/8758: 
l/87!!&: 
3/8758; 

Lou. 'l~7 
Lots 20-27 
J..ot:. 11-ll 

On the "~ave lot$. cnr-.:•ccs trios t llavc: I' circuler dr lvc in the 
front t.n <>pen or f t1cr: Lht- $tl.~vt·L • othc1·ttl ~-c, t be:y sl1ll l l opi-n to 
t.hc $:icfo.G or rem:. l'urti1cn-mon-. cnc.h c:ii.c must. bl' rcvie• oil and 
npproYcd by t.ha hrehU.ecturJtl. Rcvic.;t CrwuiittN: !nr cc1mpttibility 
uiLh ncJi;hhar:int homes. 

3. MIHDIUU SQUATtt FOO"f/1CC: Tho tainin>.l:\ n:i:x:­
eortd.i.li(lnNl 1>qu~1·c fo<>t .1J;C of l he l'"iln lnuldint, ar d\•cllin~ ho\rn<' 
exclusive ot vurcht>&, tc:rrtic:-cr., t~l.'11£>0" .:ulC1 out-l.niild:i.nt,I', shnll ' 
ho 2600 MJUl.lt"C ft:f't • (;rrrt"OhO\l'.C<;, \:\wn: incot flt">l'lll.C:d • AU.At.hcd 
<•r .:cmt11Sm:::tl tr. thr: n:iin buildiuc, .t.b::iU. l>c: ineh1dctl ns. nu-con­
dHicmc:d £f>ollCC ln1t i11Lcrior CO\ITltl OllNI l<•. 1:4:ilhC•t' t>hnll not. 

-r.-
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4. J.L\~O~l~\· co~sTnuc.·no:t: The C>.lc'dor c:o:,~1.rut.tio 1 
e;f thti' dvl' 11 h1& htmsc crt:ctert on :my lul 2.'h-:.11 bL •• t lc.:i ... t $!11, 
i!l,"f;tmry, cxtltlf.1.Vc a! \linclo..s. d<>n1s :mil ro:.rs. unlcs!. otl1crwir.t 
"f'l1lruvrd by U1c l\i:chi tN' I nl.'nl ni•vicm CO,f.ll'ittc~. lii"l:.Onl'.) b h~1 <?by 
d...:fln!'d :I!: e.tono. )n·id1 or \•cnrt·r:. o! :m1~,., U.ndLn.'ln:l :.1Gi.n.,: is 
1u ohib:i.acd for us<> c:.n :in:t c:l.i'cll.lnc. All firt•pl:><~N~ aml chir.ncy:. :;l-.i~~ 
l.t. lOOl 1nn,a.onry construct.ion 0;1 the Ml.i.C'rior. 

s. noo: COHST<tlJCTIOi~; At least 157. o( <"i:<'h roo! 
t:tructurc slu1.l..l have pit.ch. l'lnL roo!s 11u1 proMbitctl u""lc:u 
r.pt:cifically ~cviawec1 aucl opp:rovcd in 11rilin3 ... 1 1-Ju• 11:.ccMtcuur<rl 
)h:v4.cn Conr1itLec. Ulm$nr<'l type '-"Clo!~ '1rc ~1.cci.acnUy prol1ib'it.u'l 
for use on :m>' cl.fell int; \1hm:c tho,;· c-an be 1>oc» !:nun the sttcct. 
All :roDf; sb11ll be o! uood if.hi»t:ltt; Jael·•l. $Ut "• ela)'. or conci.:etc 
tile unlcu;s ot11crwise $pccibcally .approvccl '::.y t:he ll'tchit<:cturnl 
ncvbm Comm.ttrcc. 

G.. SE'!'~'t.CKS: The 'mlin bocly of tt1\)' duc'lH.:::; 
ht•uso sltall not be erected at any point closor t.han twenty five 
Cr!>) t'f.l;cl. .fxom t:ho front properly lino. 

'7. .ru:ces: ?io fence sball extend clonol' th"n thirty 
(30) f'cct to the £rent propoi·ty line. Ho cl1111n i:u11,, woven Jl':tft\l. vu·J:! 
<u· ei,..iliu· fcmct:> <typer lli.hr.ll be consn·uctod 'Where it cnn be vJ.011•ecl tron 
t hti 1:trcot. 1Yood fcncc:1- sb:.1cll bQ no llif:hCJ< th1m a1~ :feet rmd con-
&t :ructcd of Tc,iu1od. cc®r or cypr!'ss. Ho fence :<.l'mll bci const~ctccl 
1u:rof>S the b:ick oI :U\i' o'f t>1tt following lots in Jtc:::u•r .t\' unless 1t )\:t~ 
b~o•t c:pl'c"if:u;11ill:r rc\•iN·cd t1nd ap1>rovc:d u \1'r4Uun by the ltrehHcctur11 l 
nc\'1C\V CoiniittOC, ii,, <:or:structcd oi \ll"Ol#IJ!ll u-,,.-, l.G }11\illfcd 1mC r.c,ii-
1TNlspnront jn ch;,ra;ctor, nnd is no 1.01·0 tbtm four (<d) 1o<"t l.n ho1::ht 
Ir~~ tini~h grl\Ge: 

L.->ts l-7 
20-27 
B•ll 

ln the event ii !cnec or b1·icl: ltaU it1i con1>h«.u::tu:l nlo11: tllc ro.n• 01" 
r.1.t"a pro1lo1 .. ty hno o ! Lota 13-24 ot Dloclr. $/S7SS in ?lcirru I) I\'• p1•1o1• 
to occup::mc.v o'I a na1ccs:.oo on s:i.id lot:>, 'UlC:'I it &lt<lll be p.io:1t'lnted 
to altor sai.'1 :!once or v:i.ll or t:o ccnstruct 'm;r Soneo o~ sh"llot:uTc 
p1>rd 1ol to &a1d wall, closor Ui:m fi\•o (5) feet in diSbN:c fro·1 or 
hithol" t)n1n 1.n:iJ br1c;l~ vAl1 o:r 1'"cnco. 'ntc purpooo o! and rosbtcho~ 
:u; to have an nttr:i.ctivc 1tppcn:ranco CO:IUl!Oll to ciach ot t11c:i.c properties. 

8. J)'f'Jill'UICE· ~o bullrHri!! slinll bn r.o eon1;t:J:uct~d 
thnt duinnr.c m1tcr is '!orc:ccl onto iidjointn& pr<>perty. l~o lot 
:.hr..ll be tintfih snded so th:Jt tlninni:c u.itc1'. uill intr11de on ii.djo· 
intnn lo&.fl. All xoof 11nil nrcll dr:.atus a.hnll d:a.n<.1mi:a:;c e1thc-t touart'l 
L1>c !roul or thr> ye:r.r of thtt lot. nrnl 1.lu~ll bo cm t Led to t.hc c\u:b 
or llllc1 when drainn&C" ucmltl cl'or.:i adjnc:cmt 111·0JlN'fy. 

o. scnt:CNlltG: All air-condlt:ioninr. c<1ui,pmr.:1it ~rz.ll 
be• inU n) l ~(1 :ln tlui -CNlr 0¥" in tha t:it1cynrcl, 1.c~'J.«•l'."ccl frol'I ViM .. 1 fret"'t 
the strc•cL, by 1m 01~nquc lcnC'l' 01• t11.1• cmr)' \•.ill. C:11 :tntl r.>loct.1:lcd 
in.:tcrrs sbnll be conccnlccl f2·nm vit-w frotn n1c from. 

l<>. v11nu 1.um·rs; J\l1 d11c.•U intn t.h.1ll 1i.1w u HLhti:J 
1:nn OT electric )'.:\rd lichr. t.itu:il.f'd nt>l t11nu• th:m !oui (It) hf..l £uq 
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tin:· a.;.,,, ,,:--c,pc•!j*' \it't· J"'nr 11i•r*l in.~ .... :;;, :.rlt~· r:~tt-f.: .. • ...... , 
l ir,hl"r. l.l•:ill lir.• lU>:.iti.Ont>tl :.o th:.« U·r.ht. lt.tll > Uu:111n:zt.c• ~h~ ... . 
t:llcy for ;t.('N1riry. For lotcc l1:wh1~ nu .;.:.h,. c.l.t hz,ht •l-..-11 
h'· pot.it ionc-cl $.n t11c CC!nt<'r of l11c re:lr l'\0,\t-U)' line t•:tfoa.1. 
<>thci·wbc- Cflpl'O\.C:d by the hf'Cl\ltt-C .. \U!'il\ ltt'\*lc.ti• C'C~'n'llitlN •• 

ll. ~ICNS: Tiu: l.n.dldu•n cp,,t uu.trn 01 <•'•ncr 
ht!)' CY'f'C.t. 01· pl.it.:.• o.··u· J>i._nn or 1\flt l"ltll'C t.b.111 Civ .. (~) $1.".:t\l"t" 

:feet idcnLi!.Yinc3 lho buildcn; 01· :td\•Cititi1ig t\1c Ju.opi:n} !oi­
r.clc or lcnsc. 

:12. lllHJ:nt.t. J~nU.1.lNC; t:a oil oi· other nin~rnl 
C.:ril) lHl!. rcf :i. tl in,::, /; :-01·.,,ee • tJunrry\inr. or 1!'1ni1'~ o;wr:i :.lon• o!! 
l'ny kind f;l\nl.l bt? permitted up.in 1.1ny loL. 

u. JtUttllSll: l~o rubM.sh. t.r .$.h. &ubatc or 
\•At.to .itba,ll. be plaecd, clumped or pc:r111.it1rd to rcmicliu on P.ny lot 
in this Addit1on. 

• 14. 1~1!lUAt.S: • Ho animals of 11n:t tyrse s'hnll be • 
raised, b.ccd or kept: !or c~crcinl purro~cs. llom.cho'.ld pets 
A.htill be l"ept on any l'1t. only '"hc-n a oucl.H.nc, b constructed 
and occupiou thereon. not l!lorc Llu>n ;11 to cal ot !J.vc hcnuu~l1old 
pets shall b~ allow~d. . 

lG. l10XIOUS J.CTI\'ITY: No acr1\•lty sh:rll hr: 
carried o:n upon .nny lot: uhich lll."l)' be or l14"tY bcco11c on flnttoy.ince 
or ntiito:ncc to the: nc:t:.~hborhoocl. TTucl.s in oxc«?ss o! 3/t, ton 
or ony ''ebiclc:s ui th painted 4dvcrtb~c1u. ore pi obs bi ted f ror.1 
p:ut;int overnight 0.'1 st.i:-ccu~. cldvC\m)·r.. nlle)'r. en.· l.ot:.. 

lG. A!tC!HlTJ::C'HlltAL QUAt.lTY: AU cluclH~ct< 
shell b«? closi!tru::d 1md constriu, tc:d o! tJunHt }' mc1t ed«ls 2r>tl uith 
a>:tornnl de::.!nn in hai-mony vitl1 c>.bt.SnJ~ edJaccmt ch·allil"ts. 

1'1. AltClllTtC'tlJML ltLVll~\? CO!Nl".t'TI:J:: 'n.o 
Co:wnil tnc .hall t.C!' co:-po&e:d of the JU'"c>$idcnt. o! l:cltn;oiy 1>:..,·clo!l .. 
nant Corporaticua and rvo menheu Appoinr <>d by the- Prcsiec.-:u: c.r 
:sc.R;:rr:y l>Lf\•c.lop«.imt Cc•:-por-.:Lif•"l. o.u: of ,;h:ii .i.h:>l l be ll. tctblcrce 
brch1s.cct or rc~htcred Civil l:llt,ineo7: in the St:iLe of "i~as. 
Uithin thirty (:jO) imys after '•CJ'l.. of Lhc lots in the nbove .. clc:bcdbod 
Propo:rtics h~vo ros:idoricos occu,piod 'by ho.111001.,nors. ono (l) ot' asaul 
llomccwnbrc thn.ll be .appointed to rnplact! one of the a.10 nf!Mbua 
ltfipt:'intccl by the president of Hc:Xmn,r Dttvclopr..ent Corporation 
on the J\rc.hitc:ctur.r.1 lt~view Co:timittec. Uilhin, thirty dl!)',s, (30) 
aftc:-c lOOi. o! che lo:::s have resi<bmces occuptnd by U0tt1e::.;•ne:rs. 
tbo Prt:d.clcnt of )•ic~af"y J:>cvcl.optnunt Corpi:n.·l:tion :.h>tll appoint 
:rn llclcli t.tonal HoR"co·'Tlcr to take tl1e ht?sitl~nt •fl plncc O:l the1 
Cow:nittcc. '.L'ho:rcoftel:, the llomcO\ncrs shall clc-ct by D majority 
\'Ole. '1ithiri tuo \IC'CKIS after J;mul'>ry l~L of ctn.b ~ucc~ssbc 
yc;:rr. um mcm'bcn:s to the Archit.cCLJ.Sra'.l Com:nit.t«ic-, the tf.ni:? 
in«'mt.cr couLinuinz, to ht." 11 -rcn,b.tcrcd r.n~inc:cr Ol' Arcbitf'ct 
hPf•o:inlccl by Mc.lt:imy 7'<"Vf'lop•-:1Nlt CoipornLinn. or hi!. clc:~isruit<:,<l 
rcprt"t:cnlntivc or MJccc:sco1·s. ln lhC! t.!Vcnt an clN"tiori is uot 
held as bcrcin rirov),cicd. 'the cm:a.·cnt 1;iNnl>cTs uUl cont.lm1r: 
t•ntil f.\lcl1 on election is held The \H>\1crs :ind cli.tlicr. of ~uch 
C.CJ'i',fli tt ,.<: :.bnll ccmsr Lldl·ty (:SO) )'t:tu,·:, fl."<11» drt c htn .. cof. llw 
t~rrh:l..rccl\n."·nl Cormt1it c c:r :.1,nll h()l,\ 1nccriu1;l tit hm:it c1u;,rtctl.)' 
nncl r.1m11 l~ccr 1ntnutcm ot cnt'\1 \.·cr.ul:ir l'l'l<·clint, :m<l nn)' othcn 
r.\ct:LSon ncc~~z.n1•Uy l1clc1. notl l>uch 1ninulr-s :.l1:ill \le C>)Jt':l fo~· 
in:.pc:<.tfon by tl1c llomcownr.rs 11L .all l'<'at>011:tl>lr Ut•ic:>. 
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A. All four (4) elcv~tlons 
:B. Florr l'lan. 
c:. Foumlntion pliin. 
D. Roof Plnn. 
E. Sl"tbacl: lines on site plan. 

'the .Arcbi-:cctt.n::-,al ltcvS.e\1 C"o'>V'lit:t:ce aay require additional 
sul>n\ittals tlt its dbcrction. Arplic.ntioru1 $hall be s\tb'tllttcd 
at t:bc offi.ccs of ?.:cXt"ll)' llevclopmt>nt Corporation or at tho 
office of tbe Architect or &ntincer Co111.·uittcc t.'lt:nl.icr t"hcn ts10 
Ho,eowners arc on ~he Con:riitL~~• 

l.9., }'£CS: The Preddcnt of 1ic:Xllmy llcvolop­
t"cnt Corporation nntl nll otlier mcmbcrs of tlui Atcbltc:ctural 
J:!ovicu C91!1--nittcc1 e:i.ccpt the ?"egbtcretl Arc11> •• tcct or Engineer. 
sh:ill serve uitbout ,tny cor.:pcru;<ition for au.rrv .. ec:. pcr!or;r.cd 
pursunnt bexcto. Tht! rct:lt>tercd tru::.incc.n: or 1~rchitccl 1:hftll 
hill compen$.ru:c(l !or his t.crvicc:. on th~ b••ds o( an l1ourly I{!e 
'1t n \'lH.P Approve:d by tl•c other i:uo mc111b1•1t. o: Uu:• Co.ii*ittc;::. 
'l'nc Cornmltt:co shall .sett n fllo for rovho o! :.ppUcntions 1<u!!ic• 
iont to cover it~ ~~~in\~lrativc CXpPnr.cs. 

J\ R'flCLE VH 

l. PUT'/ or 111\l){T.E'J\AXCI!. O&\llCU and OCCUplints 
(including lessees) of :my ;part of the above properties shall 
jointly and :.cvcral.ly bnvc tbe duty ancl rcc;J1:»1slblcl.'.l1.c)', at their 
solo cost and ex;:ie.nsc, to keep thnt p:1rt of the Jlropoll"t::i.cs ~ 
o\rncd ol'.' occup2cd, inc:ludinc; buildings, bpTl'IVCr.tCJ<'ls ~nc:I grounds 
in connection 'ttu.lrowitb, in a vcll-1'1nintai11od. snrc. clean ~ud 
ntt::r:aotivc coru:lition at al1 1;i111cs. Such rnintcnanco 1ncluclos, !)ut 
is not limited to, tho following: 

cl. 

t. 

PJ'Oit.p't ;r-01110v:il ot All litter, ti•ash, 
refuse. ll\nd \\·a3'f..cs. 

J...·wm 1110\Yin~. 

'!l'r(.to ;i~d shrub pruntnt;. 

\f~tcriun. 

r.cop1.;r1;: 11\.\"11 trnd {:f\rdcn l\l:'i'>Ml ;i.l1\•c1 

f-,,-o~ of wcitds, nnll :atU.·:\etivo. 

Koop1i'=: pnrltinr, 1u·o:is, ch·lvt:\\ti)'i-., r.Tld 
rotul'l ia\ "'.>oc1 rcp:.11·. 

Comply1n1t vitb n 'll to\•o>·nnc11t hC'nltn 
:.ncl police J'C(l\lilt:irntt.. 
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1. nop:iir of cxtoricr cl:r"t>f:t'S to 
lUllpn>\ OtlCIH t t. • 

. 2.. ~tOl".C£1'£'\"t. ll, ,.., uui oph1ion or the 
/.am:icj A( 1011 nn:r :nu;b ouncr or orcurant b"IS t:nlt.i•\ i.n any ol the 
tore:-o:u'I::; duU.Nll o::r 1•01.f!Cn-;ibil1.h..r1:1, ·t)u:i"I the lumuci.i\hon nny 
gtsc 1mc.h pel·scn \\'1•itton notico of :mcb fnilill'n nml t..ucb po.rson 
nnst vUhin ten (10) days after J"Ccc1v1n:: sucb notice, pcr•,ni 
the c1u.•c: nncl rmtntcnnnc..o required. Snould ;t'!l)' sucl\ person f;\il 
to fulr5ll 'thi"! dutv ahd rv$:-v•u .. iuibtf wUh~n su~li ,Pf>ri.01t, t11m 
tho At.sociatit..n Uu:-ouch its 10uthori1;cd tltront or aaonts shall h.lvu 
tile richt and power to enter onto the pronhes nnt:l perfat1:1 such 
Cll1'0 ;md 111Af.1rteru:11,nc;;c V1thO\lt any 11:tbllity :XO' ~ dl.!XCS Or VJ'OUC­
lt1l ontrr. •ti·ospa$S or othorris" to nny per.1>on. 1bc O-.. "n.or:.> And 
oecvpnnts (including losGoos) of any part of' tho P1-o~rUos on 
\>ilnoh suc::h work ls porlonned sb:i.ll jo1nt1y nnil sovorally be 
:'U.ablo Ear 'tho eoet of Guch Yor:~ and ohall p:ro;.•ptl;y l'efabur.s& the 
AssociaUon for auch cost. %:t such ownor or occup:mt shall t'id.1 
to l"Oi':lburi;;e tho As:.oc1aticm V'1tlnn 3'J <lays art:'*" w-ro1pt of 11. 
ct1Atc1">Qni tor o:uch lvorl;: tro111 1 he Assoc111.Uon, than caul illdcbtod• 
tJHs stml:l be a debt of :il.l of srdd pa1•.mr:inc .)o1ntly and scvcicral~; 
ari«t Shall constitute a hen ncnlnst thll.t port:i.on of the Properties 
on \"b1ch aa1d v.1.uil was pea·tcnncd. &.>ch lion sbn.ll h;;vo tho BO'i\O: 
attr1bu'::os ns 'tho lien :ror ;u;.s.o&t.ncnts sot f"ort11 in 11.rUclc \~ • 
P,u·~g»: pb 7 nb::>v4, \'1hlch provu.ions nrc :u~co:r!>Ol"<lted herein b)• 
rCltor.::ncc, nml tho ,,\ssocil'ltion sbgill have iclcnticnl po· .. -cn and 
riuhto u1 All rospetct:;;. inc;1"1dln~ but not lual'l.'.cd to \.he J"iJ:bt ot 
toroc1osuro. 

nrr.cr.U..*i.l~COUS Pnov ISl'CMS 

l. DU."Jl'rIO':. 'l'bb ))oc1~r:iUon 11.nei tl1e covc-nants. 
:rost:ricU.Pns, clmrf,'c:u>, and l:umri GC?t 011t heroin shall run \.it1i and 
bind tllci l::md, J>nci s>t~ll. j.nt1rc to the bPncflt of nnd be entore~­
able by 'tho .t.ssoc!a'tiot1, and cvcn·r oW\cr or su1)· pn.rt o! tllo 
Propo11:1ot. tmb.}act hereto. includ:inu Jklclc.ra1rts, afld theb 
respective lo;nl npTosontAtivet., hob-s, Ruccof.fi>ors, and assigns. 
tor a term bec1nn1nr. o~ tho date tbis D~claration is recorded, and 
cont!nuin& tbrourfh and i.ncluchnt; Dccoml>cll.• tn, 2008 After Which tll:le 
caid covonn:nts ah~ll be nutoJ1int1c~llY ~~1:endca tor iruccassivc 
por1ods of t.cn (10) roars unless a chnnc:o (the word °'chu:ge .. 111-
cluoin~ ~dd1tions, deletions o~ nod1r1cat.ion~ 'thereto, in 'hole or 
in pn:i·t) is ~ypro\•od 1.>;r a nl\jority off: the totnl c1tt1blo \'Oba ot 
tho 1:1ember.sM.p of tbe J1s:socia.t1on voting in :person or b) J>l'Ox;y &t 
a l!lOetlng duly callcul :for eucb pul."posc, written notice of whict1 
nhall bB iLvcn 'to 11.U nembcrs e.t los.s't thirty (30) d:iys itl adv:mci? 
11.nd strnl 1 sot 1ortll tlui purpose ot such nt>Gt ll.nJn :prc>Vi.do4• ho'\\ ever, 
thnt no sucb change shnll be ctfocUvc until Ol\c (1) year follow­
:1.nt 1.ho vot.c rotcrrod to nbovtt • nor shnll nr.y such cbnra:c be 
ol'tocU.vo pa-1.or to U•<> J"VCcU·Ji»c of n c;crU fa.cG t:O'l''JI of' ei.c:t• 
rcso luU.on in tho D1tod nocordi; of CollJ.n Co\lnty • 'fcxn,.. 

a. J\\tr.ND'tJ;tT. Prior .> tho occtipnncy ot re.s1-
dc:mco~ on SOS:. 01• a•11:11•c cf tho lot~ in l«cti:,Pif JY ltnd Jh::X;;:.n.)' \f, 
Article$ VI nncl VU of this U.cbu.•Atlou J\'lfi)' be nno11dcd by 1nr.tru .. 
111orit ln wrUing O:):Ocnatotl by Doclnumt nntl lilcd tor record S.n l>.::1,!'d 
Jlocca'l:la oS Collin Cou11l)', 'l'CM'lt:: thc.rc-nftl'r1 nr1cmc\.'!icmt ot 1u1Ld 

-10 .. 
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A~rUeloJ> VI ftMl VU 1.l1n\1 >-c•;;ult;-c ho .thu·d-. (2/;,;,t:;;) or th~ 
tot.:il votes of tllo fist.tH'l.nt1c.m, l:itit both Cl.i.-.:. .. f. or th ... ct••n·•~,.­
cb1.p Yot .LU:~ lo:othri·. AU t•Uuw Alt u::lc"> J\:l} brt nocmlcd u~n 
u!t1JT1nt1vu voto ol t\.'D ... tltirdn of tbt::' Cl:\s& ii uonl•i:rs• \•otc 
proYidt•ll thnt 'l\O such =•'IOml1·umt ,..ny be ll'".lld.:- p• 'en to J;uw;n•t l, 
l.9!;/l dthcmt t11c \.r1ttcn con-.cnt of ~cht·~•it. l:rltte.i notice 
of nll :i..,cm'll'cnts ~hnll b.? J.lV<'n to nll 11c11!.>c1;; of tho A~:.orbtioJ'I, 
On nrunut-·ont rcquh· . .1.0;: n \•oto oI Uni ucnl>al!;, lll".'i!>:-1n r.i,a:y Vt>lc in 
rt~u1on 02• by JU"O.Al' nt :1 1ncl't u1:: tlulr c::,llot !01· &t•ch J'l'.S.l',Jl:>$c. 
vrJ.ttcn m:it.1cc of \,bJ.C'll &h:tll b~ cu1cn to :ill ncr .. bl.!n. at lcAst _ 
tlU.l'tJ' (30) tln)'& ln :ulv.ii,cc nncl sb:>U •ct fo1·tll ttio purposes or 
1rn(.h ru•ctins-. Provh•t-:1. hol\cvc.r, U1nt not"ith,..tn11d.i.11c any ot tho 
othor )U'OYi~1011s ol PM·.'lgrapl• 7 o.C Arbclc \', tln::. 2l<-<.br:1.ho11 
nny not be nnendcd in nnr Jinrnncr to dcn,.r.rtitc: t1•ol"I tho )•it;htG 0£ 
:first i:iorti;:>.to or .tir&;t ,toed .o.t tu.1st huldor:. a: ....... n:ld JH'l.1·ai:x-~ph 
sot !'orth. 

3. E':Fon.cnm::zn. 'Jbe Association shall h:i.vo tho 
:r"i.trht (but not the dut)"') 1;o cnror1;0 any o:r the covenants ;uad. 
restrictions set out :i.n Sl.l\Y Declaration hereafter .!Uod b)I 
D\lclarnnt oi• nny subsequent owner, :&nforc(?nr.mt ol the .c::ovcna:nts 
nnd .nn;tr1otions sbr.11 be b)' nur p.rococ<ltnzs r..t l:iw or in equity 
n;;t!.iru::t ::i.ny por<.Jo:ls \•iola:tinu or atf«> ... t>tir>g to v\oln:t.c am)' 
::-:>\•cnnnt or rest.:ricU.on, onbcr to )'C~ta·4u1 v1olat:i.on or to ro­
.... •1<u· dana.tes, nnd :ignins1. 'tho lnnd, 'le> cllto:rec any lien cr&nted 
h,r these covcmarits; nnd tallu1·c by the AssPcb.tion or any O'tner 
to tm:fo1•cc 1:1.i1~· such CO\'On:rnt or .rcst~·ictl.on Sh:!.ll in no event bo 
clec.ned a. waiVCl' of the i·i:::ht to do fio Uu:1rc;\ftl:n·. 

4. S:CVEMtILl'I'V OF P.nov1SIO'!.S. 'U nny p:n•;ii;:raph, 
sentence, cl"t1">0 or phrn4'c o.r tills Xl.lcl:u."at>o:i shnll bt 01· bccone 
illognl. null, or \c•oid tor an)' ronson or sh:i.ll b<" hold by rn1y 
court of eompot.cnt Ju1·1::.41ction 1.o bo 11lo;::a1, null, or voi<l• tho 
1•on:i.ini11:: :i.arA,::tr~;:h-:;, f.ontcncos, c11:1uS!l".l, or phr.n'llC'.l o:f 'th~s 
z.,..,cll\l :..t ion :,.b.J.ll cont.1.n.:o in ft•ll 1M rr nnd i-ffoct :i.nd t.hnll not 
bo ~:!:foctotl thereby. It is h~robJ c:leclnrod thnt snid rcr.:i.inil\ti: 
riara.irrapJia, scntciiccs, clmti:H::., and pbrASO$ \~0\1.l<t h:1.vc bc!ln nru:I 
aro :unposed 1r.t'&ll>J)et.tlvc o! the f'net th;..:. .w> .u~ or 11101·0 otho1· 
pn:ra::,r;tphs. si:mtonc~r. clnu::.c.s. or pbra<;es sha"'ll bOcot.ic or be 
;1.l.lei:'nl 1 nuJ.l, o::r '~Cl)..'1. 

5. l\Ol'IC.E. \\het't'VCl' \\rlt'l.Cn 110Ucc to a J\Cl'lb3r 
(or mornbtrs) is per;r1 tt11ct or requirtld hcrcund.'.?r, tmell shall be 
c;ivon b;r tbc ru1.ilinor of s\lch to 'the mcnber ll.'t 1:hc addi·c:.s ot t>ucli 
rcmbu.• nppeari.nr. on tlu.t recortls of tho A!.&oc1ation. unless such 
nomber has given '.\,?·itton notice tc; the Jlssocbhon o! a di!tcrcnt 
a.:Jclross, i.n \'Illich event sucb notice s}ln.l l bO sent to the no'l!:bnr 
at t:llo ruldroli:.1> to dc!::i;:n;:.tod. ln a-uch o'•cnt, !'uc11 nutico J.hn\l 
conclusively be d.ec:.t;e<! to haYe been itivcn b/ tho J.ssoeiation oY 
plo.cint s.n•ne in tho l.'.lito<l Statcu 11111..il• properly addressed. 
vhethc:r i-occivcd by the 41ddro1nsoo or not. . . 

l:XECUT!:D thl $ 

-n-
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~~! S~ATE OF ~£).AS l 

:01Jlfn' 011 J)~LLAS I 

a11~5iB 

&Jo;J.'ORE m;;, the unth.-rai1tncd author-Uy* ori this cay pel'.So(llll~ 

1.pp~nrcd .:rom: F. SY.ELTON 11 t, knoi.n to re to bt> t t-.~ J>er$on tend 

o~tlc~~ ~hoa~ nan~ l~ OUbG~r1bC4 to the fOl"lC&OiJ'h Sn1~ru~ent tmd 

n:J>nt>'t.lcdge<l to lilt that !'.he HI"~ 11:i:i t.he net or tho aaid tlclAlW 

:!l?\'t:LOj>S!EN'l' QtlllPl'.lRM!lO?l• ca, c;orparAUon. ~nd \..h::t >it euu::ut;,f'4 the 

HUre 11.s the tu:t or sueh corporation tor tho purposu ana cona·lciera~ 

tSon therein expJ'$!a&ed. a~4 Jn the ~apacitr th&~e1n at•ted. 

CllVEM l1?'J)Sft MY HAXP ANP SEAL OF O:FFlCE th1Z> -li1!1 da.)' ot 

Auguat. 1979. 
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DAVID R. 

VS, 

JUDITH D, 

REPORTER'S RECORD VOLUME 1 OF 1 

TRIAL COURT CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

SCHNEIDER )( THE DISTRICT COURT 
)( 
)( 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
)( 

GOTHELF, MARK B. )( 
GOTHELF, CONGREGATION )( 
TORAS CHAIM, INC. )( COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

TEMPORARY INJUNCTION HEARING 

APRIL 10, 2014 

On the 10th day of April, 2014, the following 

20 proceedings came on to be heard in the above-entitled 

21 and -numbered cause before the Honorable Jill Willis, 

22 held in McKinney, Collin, Texas: 

23 Proceedings reported by Computerized Stenotype 

24 Machine. 

25 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

A P P E A R A N C E S 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

PRO SE - DAVID R, SCHNEIDER 

FOR THE INTERVENOR PLAINTIFF' HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV and 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 
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DAVID A. SURRATT 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street 
Regency Plaza, Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
(214) 760-6766 
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11 
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13 
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SBOT NO. 24062692 
JUSTIN E. BUTTERFIELD 
Liberty Institute 
2001 W, Plano Parkway 
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(972) 941-4451 

15 FOR THE DEFENDANT, CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, INC.' 

16 SBOT NO, 24060698 
JOHN A. TANCABEL 

17 SBOT NO. 24032618 
JEREMY D, KERNODLE 

18 Haynes and Boone, LLP 
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P R 0 C E E D I N G S 

THE COURT: Let's go on the record. 

429-04998-2013. Please state your names and who you 

represent. 

MR. SCHNEIDER: David Schneider, 

representing myself 

MR. SURRATT: David Surratt, representing 

the Intervening Plaintiff, Highlands of McKamy IV and V 

Community Improvement Association. 

10 MR. TANCABEL: John Tancabel, representing 

11 Congregation Toras Chaim. 

12 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Justin Butterfield, 

13 representing the Congregation Taras Chaim and Mark and 

14 Judith Gothelf. 

15 MR. KERNODLE: Jeremy Kernodle, Haynes and 

16 Boone, for Congregation. 

17 THE COURT: Okay. I will ask you to give 

18 the court reporter your business cards after the hearing 

19 so that she can get the proper spellings of your last 

20 names. 

21 You have 20 mi nut es a side. I have read 

22 all the briefs, which I thought were very good on both 

23 sides. So I will hear 20 minutes of testimony or 

24 however you would like to use your 20 minutes. 

25 MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, just a point of 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

clarification. Is that 20 minutes for both the 

temporary injunction and the motion for summary 

judgment? 

THE COURT: No. The motion for summary 

judgment is separate. You get 10 minutes a side to 

argue that. 

So we're proceeding with the injunction at 

this point. 

MR. SURRATT: Right. Your Honor, if 

10 there's no objection, the Intervening Plaintiff is 

11 actually the one who noticed the hearing. If there's no 

12 objection, I'll proceed. 

13 Your Honor, do you prefer that I talk from 

14 here or do I need to come to the microphone? 

15 THE COURT: That's fine, as 1 ong as we can 

16 hear you. 

17 MR. SURRATT: Let me know if I'm not loud 

18 enough. 

19 THE COURT: She wi 11. 

20 MR. SURRATT: represent the Intervening 

21 Plaintiff, and the Court has had the opportunity to 

22 review the pleadings and the essence of the temporary 

23 i nj unction. 

24 The Defendants with regard to the 

25 Intervening Plaintiff is Mark B. Gothelf and Judith D. 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

Gothelf, the owners of record of the property that's in 

issue. I would 1 i ke to go ahead and cal 1 as a witness 

the pro se Plaintiff, Mr. Schneider. 

THE COURT: Okay. Sir, if you' 11 take a 

seat up here in the black chair. And I'm going to swear 

you in before you testify, if you will raise your right 

hand. 

(Witness sworn.) 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

10 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 

11 having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

12 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

13 BY MR. SURRATT: 

14 Q. Sir, please state your name for the record. 

15 A. David R. Schneider. 

16 Q. If you cannot hear me, please let me know as we 

17 proceed. 

18 Where do you live, sir? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A. At 7035 Mumford, Dallas, Texas. 

Q. Is that in the Highlands of McKamy community? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you are the Pl ai nti ff that brought this 

23 lawsuit, correct? 

24 

25 

10 

A. I am. 

Q. How long have you lived at the Mumford Court 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

address? 

A. Just over a year. 

Q. And where is your house in relation to the 

property at 7103 Mumford Court? 

A. It's directly across the street. 

Q. And are you aware of the activities at 7103 

Mumford Court that are being undertaken by the 

Congregation Taras Chaim? 

A. Yes, daily. 

Q. Have you personally experienced any negative 

11 effects, in your opinion, of the activities that occur 

12 at 7103 Mumford Court? 

13 A. Any number of effects. There's a tremendous 

14 number of people coming and going in all varying times 

15 of the day. There is al 1 kinds of things that appear 

16 around the pl ace. 

17 One day, a huge pile of dirt appeared on 

18 the property that was vi si bl e from the street. One 

19 time, a window air-conditioning unit, which is 

20 unscreened, appeared in the living room window. 

21 I have seen groups of people outside, 

22 across the street from the house having some kind of, 

23 guess, ceremony, I'm not sure. There's been cars coming 

24 and going. 

25 A lot of times, it's very difficult for --
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you can see cars trying to go get in and out. There's 

enough coming through that it's a problem. And I can go 

on as 1 ong as you 1 i ke. 

Q. That should be sufficient. 

As the Plaintiff and participating in the 

pleadings in this lawsuit, you understand why we're here 

today. Is there anything particular you would like for 

the Court to instruct the Gothelfs, as the owners of the 

property, or the Congregation to refrain from doing 

10 until the time of trial in this case? 

11 A. Yes. I would like that house to be operated 

12 like other houses that are in the neighborhood. I moved 

13 into a beautiful, quiet neighborhood. And I am amazed 

14 every day at all the things that are going on and don't 

15 fully understand them. And that's why I'm here. 

16 Q. Have you experienced anything similar to the 

17 activity that you are seeing at 7103 Mumford with any 

18 other houses in the neighborhood area or adjoining 

19 streets? 

20 

21 

A. No, sir. 

Q. You are also a member of the association's 

22 board of directors, correct? 

A. I am. 23 

24 Q. You were not a member of the board of di rectors 

25 when you were elected - · correction. 
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You were not a member of the board of 

directors when you filed suit originally? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Have you had an opportunity to review the 

Congregation's website? 

A. have on a number of occasions. 

MR, SURRATT: May I approach, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: Yes' 

Q, (By Mr, Surratt) Mr. Schneider, I' 11 move 

10 right along. The court reporter's just handed you what 

11 has been marked as Intervenor's Exhibit No. 1. If you 

12 will take a minute to look at that. 

13 

14 

A. (Witness complied. 

Q. Does that appear to be an accurate hard copy 

15 printout of the information you have seen on the 

16 Congregation's website? 

17 A. Yes, sir. 

10 

18 a. And does that list a schedule of activities for 

19 the Congregation on a weekly basis? 

20 

21 

A. It does. 

Q. Does that seem to be similar to what you have 

22 seen on the different occasions when you have viewed the 

23 website? 

24 

25 

A. Very similar. 

MR. SURRATT: Your Honor, we'd like to 
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10 

11 

12 

offer into evidence Intervenor's Exhibit No. 1. 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR, TANCABEL No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Admitted. 

MR. SURRATT: Counsel, we have, I think, 

stipulated and agreed to the declarations and covenants 

and restrictions. Is that acceptable to do so for the 

purposes of today? 

MR. TANCABEL: Yes. 

MR, SURRATT: May approach, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. SURRATT: Your Honor, I would 1 i ke to 

11 

13 offer into evidence for the record ·· and it's the same 

14 document attached to the motion for summary judgment and 

15 other pleadings in the case -- the First Revised 

16 Declaration of Restrictions for Highlands of McKamy, 

17 Phase IV and V, Dallas, Texas, what we refer to as the 

18 declaration of the restrictions. believe this has 

19 been marked as Intervenor's Exhibit No. 2, correct? 

MR. TANCABEL: No objection. 

THE COURT: Admitted. 

20 

21 

22 Q. (By Mr. Surratt) Mr. Schneider, could you cite 

23 from the declaration the provision that you feel is 

24 being violated at 7103 Mumford Court? 

25 A. Certainly. "Article VI, construction: Usage 
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and architectural covenants, Section No. 1: Residential 

usage. No structure shall be erected, placed, altered, 

used for or permitted to remain on any residential 

building lot other than one detached, single-family, 

private dwelling, not to exceed three stories, and one 

private garage for not more than four automobi 1 es and 

servants' quarters if they are employed on the 

premises. 

Q. Is that the primary provision, then, that you 

10 believe is being violated at 7103 Mumford Court? 

11 A. It is. There are a couple of other ancillary 

12 things, but this is really the heart of the issue. 

13 Q. Did you live in your property prior to the sale 

14 of 7103 Mumford Court to the Gothelfs? 

15 A. I believe · · you said 7103 ~ ~ before the sale 

16 of 7103? 

17 Q. Correct. 

18 A. Yes. lived there for approximately four 

19 months. 

20 0. In your observations during that ti me period, 

21 did you see the type of activity at 7103 Mumford as you 

22 are now seeing at 7103 Mumford? 

23 A. No. It's a night·and-day difference. Before, 

24 it was 1 i ke most other houses. 

25 MR. SURRATT: Pass the witness, Your Honor. 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 71



13 

MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, we have no 

questions. 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. You may step 

down. You may call your next witness. 

MR. SURRATT: Your Honor, I would like to 

call Robert Colmery. 

(Witness sworn.) 

ROBERT COLMERY, 

having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

10 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

11 BY MR. SURRATT: 

12 Q, Please state your name for the record. 

13 A. It's Robert Col mery. 

14 Q. Where do you live, sir? 

15 A. 7108 Mumford Court. 

16 Q. And is that in the Highlands of McKamy 

17 community? 

18 A. Yes, sir. 

19 Q. And how long have you 1 ived there? 

20 A. Eighteen years. 

21 Q. And where is your house in relation to 7103 

22 Mumford Court? 

23 A. The house is just - - the house next to me is 

24 right across the street, so caddy-corner. 

25 a. Are you personally aware of the activities 
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going on at 7103 Mumford by the Congregation? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you have any personal complaints about the 

activities that have been occurring there since the 

Congregation moved in? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Could you explain to the Court what those are? 

A. Well, the traffic that comes into the 

cul-de-sac starts anywhere from 5:45 in the morning. 

10 I have two Labrador Retrievers. What it 

11 does, they start barking. It triggers my neighbor's 

14 

12 dogs: they start barking, which wakes up my twins, which 

13 are 17 years old. 

14 Just this Sunday, when I was trying to turn 

15 into the Court after going on a hunting trip, there was 

16 a young lady trying to push a baby carriage across the 

17 street that I had to stop and let her go. 

18 There's a lot of people walking down the 

19 alley, which, you know, is not safe, as far as going to 

20 and from. 

21 You know, there's just -- there's a lot of 

22 traffic there. There's a gentleman that just stepped 

23 into the courthouse that - - who is blind. I think it 

24 was before daylight savings time, he was crossing the 

25 street from across the street, and I was turning in and 
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a young man was sitting there putting his hands up to 

stop me because he was just crossing the street. 

There's just there's a lot of activity. 

It's tough to park on the Court sometimes. 

I've got twins. Cars, you know, their friends and 

everything else. 

Q. We' re here today to ask the Court to issue a 

temporary restraint on activities at 7103 Mumford. 

Is that something you would request as a 

10 personal homeowner? 

11 A. Oh, absolutely. 

12 Q. In your personal opinion, do the activities at 

13 7103 Mumford affect your personal enjoyment of your 

14 home? 

15 A. Absolutely. 

16 Q. Were you aware of any previous similar 

17 activities by the prior owners of 7103 Mumford? 

18 A. No. Rocky and Charlotte were great. 

15 

19 Q. Have you experienced any problems with parking? 

20 You al 1 uded to that a minute ago. 

21 A. Yes, sir. 

22 Q. Explain to the Court what you have personally 

23 experienced. 

24 A. Well, when you have -- you know, we have a 

25 total of five cars. We've got an extra car if one's in 

10 
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the shop. And we have to -- you know, we can get three 

cars in front. 

But if the kids have any friends and 

they' re having a meeting, sometimes they have to park 

further down in the cul-de-sac, you know, 

the witness. 

MR. SURRATT: No further questions. Pass 

MR. TANCABEL: No questions, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you. You may step down. 

MR. SURRATT: I'd like to call Marilyn 

11 Frey. 

12 (Witness sworn.) 

MARILYN FREY, 13 

14 having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

15 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR. SURRATT: 

17 Q. Ms. Frey, where do you live? 

18 

19 

A. I live at 7116 Mumford Court. 

Q. Where is that in relationship to 7103 Mumford 

20 Court? 

21 A. About three houses down on the other side. 

22 Q. How long have you lived in your residence? 

23 A. Twenty-five years this June. 

24 Q. Are you, personally, aware of the activities 

25 occurring at 7103 Mumford by the Congregation? 
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A. Yes, I am. 

Q. Do you have any personal complaints or 

objections to any of the activities that are occurring 

at 7103 Mumford? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Could you explain to the Court what those are? 

A. One of the issues is the parking. There are a 

lot of cars on the street, both morning and night. 

17 

I have family that likes to come visit at 

10 night. And both of my boys have a pickup, and sometimes 

11 it's very difficult for them to get down through the 

12 street, down to my house on the cul-de-sac. 

13 Q. We' re here today to ask the Court to issue a 

14 temporary order to have the activities at 7103 Mumford 

15 stopped until a final decision can be made in the 

16 lawsuit. 

17 Is that something you support? 

18 A. Yes, it is. 

19 a. Anything in particular you would want 

20 restrained or stopped at 7103 Mumford? 

21 A. Could you repeat that? I'm sorry. 

22 Q. Other than the items you mentioned that you 

23 have experienced that you feel are a problem for you, is 

24 there anything else you would want stopped at 7103 

25 Mumford on a temporary basis until the Court can make a 
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final ruling in the case? 

A. Well, I just think that we're -- in our deed 

restrictions, we're a single-family home. 

Q. In your opinion, do the activities at 7103 

Mumford interfere with your enjoyment of your property? 

A. Yes, it does. 

MR. SURRATT: No further questions. Pass 

the witness. 

MR. TANCABEL: No questions, Your Honor. 

10 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

11 MR. SCHNEIDER: Your Honor, I have a couple 

12 of questions for the witness. 

13 THE COURT: Oh, ma'am. I'm sorry. If you 

14 can stay there for just a moment. 

15 MR. SCHNEIDER: I have an item I would like 

16 to introduce into evidence. 

17 

18 

19 

THE COURT: Okay. And you can mark it P-1. 

MR. SCHNEIDER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MARILYN FREY 

20 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 

21 a. Ms. Frey, this is an article related to a TV 

22 news broadcast on Fox 

23 particular broadcast? 

A. Yes, sir, I am. 

News. Are you aware of this 

24 

25 Q. And in the broadcast, it mentions that there 
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are services at the house every day, twice a day. 

Is this consistent with what you observed 

si nee they've been on Mumford? 

A. Yes. 

Q. It says that the synagogue is home to about 25 

members. Does that sound approximately right as to the 

approximate number of people you might see coming and 

going? 

A. Approximately. 

10 Q. That would -- if there is two services per day 

11 seven days a week, that's 14 services a week, 10, 20 

12 people coming and going. 

13 

14 

15 

That's a lot of people, isn't it? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Okay. Is that more than you would expect to 

16 see from other houses on your street? 

17 A. Yes, it is, definitely. 

MR. SCHNEIDER: That's all, Your Honor. 

MR. TANCABEL: No questions. 

19 

18 

19 

20 

21 

MR. SURRATT: I'd like to call Dawn Coates. 

THE COURT: And just so you' 11 know, I do 

22 stop the clock in between unti 1 the witnesses actually 

23 begin speaking. You have five minutes and 28 seconds 

24 remaining. 

25 (Witness sworn.) 
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DAWN COATES, 

20 

having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. SURRATT: 

Q. Ms. Coates, where do you 1 i ve? 

A. 7112 Mumford Court. 

Q. Where is that in relation to 7103 Mumford? 

A. It's in the same cul-de-sac, but 7103 is on the 

end. I'm 1 i ke three houses down on the other side. 

10 Q. Okay. How 1 ong have you 1 i ved in your 

11 residence? 

12 A. Twenty years and a few months. 

13 Q. Have you personal 1y experienced any of the 

14 activities going on at 7103 Mumford? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

have, yes, sir. 

Do you have any complaints about any of those 

17 acti vi ti es? 

18 

19 

A. Yes, sir, I do. 

Q. Can you explain to the Court what those are? 

20 A. Well, there's a couple of things: There's the 

21 additional traffic, both automobiles and foot traffic 

22 going in and out of the house, on the street, as well as 

23 in the alley. Cars parking on the street. Sometimes 

24 there's a lot of cars; sometimes there's a few cars. 

25 And there is services both morning and 
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evening, but the services in the morning, there's like 

three different meetings. 

So it's not just one meeting with people 

coming the whole time. There's people -- they start at 

six and they leave and then another two or three people 

come or four people come. A lot of in-and-out. 

Q. Have you experienced anything 1 i ke that prior 

to the Congregation using 7103 Mumford? 

A. No, sir. 

10 Q. We' re here today to ask the Court to issue a 

11 temporary restraint on some of the activities at 7103 

12 Mumford until the Judge can have an opportunity to make 

13 a final ruling in this case. 

14 

15 

16 

Is that so met hi ng you support? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. In your opinion, do you feel the activities at 

17 7103 Mumford interfere with your enjoyment of your 

18 property? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A. Yes, sir. 

MR. SURRATT: No further questions. 

MR. TANCABEL: No questions, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

MR. SURRATT: Just a second. I may be 

24 done. Let me check. 

25 (Pause in proceedings.) 
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21 

22 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

MR. SURRATT: We call Mike Donahue. 

(Witness sworn.) 

MIKE DONOHUE, 

having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. SURRATT: 

Q. Mr. Donohue, do you live in the Highlands of 

McKamy IV and V community? 

A. I do. 

Q. Are you currently on the homeowner's 

association board of directors? 

A. I am. 

Q. Do you happen to live on Mumford Court? 

A. I live on Mumford Street on the other side of 

15 Meandering, just down from 7103 Mumford Court, yes. 

16 Q. We have a time limitation, so I want to focus 

17 here on just a few key questions. 

18 When did you become a member of the board 

19 of di rectors? 

20 A. January 31st of this year. 

21 Q. In your capacity as a member of the board of 

22 directors, can you explain to the Court whether or not 

23 other homeowners have expressed concerns or interest in 

24 seeing that the activities at 7103 Mumford Court stop? 

25 A. Yes, they have, a number have. 
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23 

Q. And am I correct that the board of di rectors on 

behalf of the HOA is pursuing and has decided to 

intervene in this lawsuit to represent the interests of 

the community; is that correct? 

A. Correct. 

MR. SURRATT: No further questions. 

MR. TANCABEL: No questions, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

MR. SURRATT: Your Honor, that concludes 

10 the Intervening Pl ai nti ff' s part. 

THE COURT: And the Plaintiff? 

MR. SCHNEIDER: Nothing further for me. 

11 

12 

13 THE COURT: Okay. Defendants may cal 1 your 

14 first witness. 

15 MR. TAN CAB EL: Your Honor, may I approach 

16 the witness stand? 

17 

18 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, John Tancabel, 

19 representing the Congregation, of Haynes and Boone. 

20 I'd just like point out, Your Honor, first 

21 that some members of the Congregation are here, Rabbi 

22 Rich and his family. 

23 Your Honor, the stakes are very high for 

24 this temporary i nj unction. The proposed temporary 

25 injunction for the Intervenor would probably kill the 
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average draws 10 to 12 people. Seven of them drive; 

they come in six cars. 

27 

Three cars are to be parked in the backyard 

driveway; three in front of the house. And so the 

normal course of events is that there is no extra burden 

of parking on the other neighbors. 

Now, this parking plan has only been in 

place two months, and so there may have been some stray 

cars in front of other homes before that. But that is 

10 what is the norm now. 

11 Your Honor, I would 1 i ke to cal 1 Rabbi Rich 

12 at this time. 

13 

14 

(Witness sworn.) 

YAAKOV (JORDAN) RICH, 

15 having been duly sworn, testified under oath as follows: 

16 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

17 BY MR. TANCABEL: 

18 Q. Rabbi Rich, can you state your name? 

19 A. My legal, English name is Jordan. My Hebrew 

20 name that I go by is Yaakov, Y-A-A-K-O~V. 

21 Rich. 

22 Q. And what is your employment? 

Last name is 

23 A. I'm employed by Congregation Toras Chaim as the 

24 Rabbi, spi ritual 1 eader. 

25 Q. And how long has the Congregation been in 
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existence? 

A. Si nee about May 2007. 

Q. How long has the Congregation had its principal 

activities within the Highlands of McKamy? 

A. Within the Highlands of McKamy, we -- the 

Congregation moved into my home February of 2011. 

Q. And how long were those activities at your 

home? 

A. 

10 years. 

For -- between two and a half, close to three 

11 Q. When did you move to -- your principal 

12 activities to the 7103 Mumford Court property? 

13 A. Most of our activities moved to the 7103 

14 Mumford address in August of 2013. 

15 Q. Are the activities that take place at 7103 

16 Mumford Court, are those the same activities that took 

17 place at your home? 

18 A. Exactly the same. Very little difference in 

19 terms of the activity. 

20 Q. And in terms of the size of the congregation 

21 when you started in 2011, how does that compare to the 

22 size of the congregation now? 

23 A. The congregation has been very consistent over 

24 those years. We serve the people who live within the 

25 Highlands of McKamy, within walking di stance, and the 
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size of the congregation is really determined by the 

people in the neighborhood. 

a. And on non-Sabbath days, what are the events 

that draw the most people to the Congregation? 

A. On the non-Sabbath days, we would have a 

morning service that begins at :40 a.m. We have a 

study group that begins at 6 a.m. A study group 

typically has two to three people. Of the two to three 

that are there, two of those people walk; one person 

10 drives. 

11 And then we have a prayer service at 6:40, 

12 as I mentioned. We have 10 to 12 people at that prayer 

13 service. Five of those people walk and then the rest 

14 will drive to the synagogue. 

15 

16 

a. And in the afternoon and evening? 

A. In the evening, we have the -- a couple of 

17 nights a week beginning at 7:15 p.m., we would have a 

18 marriage class on Monday nights for men, a marriage 

19 cl ass on Tuesday nights for the 1 adi es. And those 

20 classes typically average five or six people. 

21 Eight o'clock, we have a Talmud study 

22 class, and that averages two people, sometimes three on 

23 a good night. 

24 And then the evening prayer service is at 

29 

25 nine o'clock. That's between 10 and 12 people. Five of 
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those people walk, and then the rest will drive. 

0. Could you explain to the Court the plan you 

have for parking on non-Sabbath days? 

A. Correct. In response to the comrnuni ty - - and 

we were trying to be very responsive and sensitive to 

the needs of the community. 

30 

So I sent out to all the members of the 

Congregation through text message list and in person 

that we request that people only park on the three spots 

10 directly in front of the house on the north side of 

11 Mumford Court and in our driveway in the back of the 

12 house, which also has room for three cars. 

13 Any overflow is directed to park at the 

14 local Orthodox Jewish elementary school called Torah Day 

15 School of Dallas, approximately 300 feet away. 

16 And so when we have a large gathering, 

17 that's where all of the members participating will park. 

18 a. So in the normal course of events, would there 

19 be cars of members parked in front of homes other than 

20 7103 Mumford Court? 

21 A. We make every effort humanly possible to make 

22 sure that that does not happen. If it does happen 

23 because somebody might come from outside the community 

24 or who has not received the message yet, then we make 

25 sure to tell that person that the next time, please 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

don't park in front of other people's homes. But, in 

general, people are not parking in front of other 

people's homes. 

31 

Q. Do you understand what the Intervenor is - - the 

10 

proposed injunction that the Intervenor is requesting in 

this case? 

A. He's asking that the activity in the synagogue 

stop immediately until the decision is reached about the 

ability of the synagogue to function at 7103 Mumford. 

Q. And what would be the effect of that injunction 

11 on the Congregation and its members? 

12 A. Asking the activities to stop would be similar 

13 to asking a person to stop eating. Let me explain what 

14 I mean. 

15 You see, we believe that there are physical 

16 needs and there are spiritual needs. And just like our 

17 bodies need nourishment every day, our souls need 

18 nourishment every day. That's our prayer and that is 

19 our Torah study. 

20 And if our members were asked for a period 

21 of six months or one year that they could not 

22 participate actively in Torah study or prayer, it would 

23 individually be a terrible disaster for those 

24 individuals, force people to have to relocate and 

25 i mmedi a tel y shut down the Congregation, without 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 75



question. 

Q. In the years before you moved to 7103 Mumford 

Court, did the Congregation study possible alternative 

locations of where you might be able to conduct your 

activities? 

A. For years, we were looking at many locations. 

We looked, for instance, north of Frankford. North of 

Frankford was not a viable option for us. There are 

gated communities over there. There are commercial 

10 places, but nothing for lease. And there are also some 

11 restrictions as to the types of activities that are 

12 allowed within those commercial establishments. 

13 We looked south of Mccallum to the east. 

14 South of McCallum is a very rough neighborhood and is 

15 not suitable for mothers and children to come to the 

16 synagogue. 

32 

17 And directly south of Mccallum, it's within 

18 very, very close proximity to another synagogue in the 

19 neighborhood that is of a different emphasis and a 

20 different outlook than what our synagogue is. 

21 And even though -- we may differ in outlook 

22 and emphasis, but we are of the same community, very 

23 friendly, and it would be a terrible affront and 

24 disrespect to relocate in their backyard, so to speak. 

25 As well, when the Congregation started in 
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2007, I sought the counsel of a very great Torah sage in 

New York, somebody who everybody in the Jewish community 

in Dallas greatly respects, and I was told we could only 

open if we were far enough away that it didn't seem as 

if we were competing with the other synagogue. 

Q, If this temporary injunction is put in place, 

would the Congregation have anywhere else to go? 

A. We don't believe that there are other places. 

The only other option would be coming back to our home, 

10 Were that to be legal, and right now in my 

11 we have ten children. 

thank God, 

12 And we have five 1 i vi ng at home, five who 

13 are away who come back frequently with their fami 1 ies 

14 and their children. And to have the Congregation in our 

15 home again would be a very, very great burden on my wife 

16 and the family. 

17 And, as wel 1, the membership was al ready 

18 starting to feel that it was too difficult to come to 

19 our home because of the invasion in our private space. 

20 Q, Rabbi Rich, how do you know that the 

21 homeowner's association -- or let me put it differently. 

22 Do you -- was the homeowner's association 

23 aware of the activities of the Congregation at your home 

24 when it was at 7119 Bremerton Court? 

25 A. They were absolutely aware. 
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Q. How do you know that? 

A. I had a conversation with Carolyn "Cookie" 

Peaden, who spoke to me about the activities in our home 

and asked me if we were going to be relocating at some 

time in the future. 

I said the intent was that we were going to 

be relocating at some time in the future, all things 

being equal -- financially, demographically, 

et cetera -- but in the meantime, we were going to be in 

10 our home until that could happen, and I did not know 

11 when that was going to be. 

12 Q. Who is 

13 A. Cookie Peaden was the HOA president for many 

14 years, until early February of this year. 

15 MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, I have no 

16 further questions. 

17 MR. SURRATT: Your Honor, I have a few 

18 questions, and Mr. Schneider may. Is it okay if we both 

19 ask? 

20 THE COURT: Yes' 

21 MR. SURRATT: I'll go first, if that's 

22 okay. 

23 CROSS-EXAMINATION OF YAAKOV (JORDAN) RICH 

24 BY MR. SURRA TT: 

25 Q. Rabbi, your deposition was taken yesterday, and 
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I believe you stated that when you purchased your 

property, you were not aware of the deed restrictions on 

your property at Bremerton; is that correct? 

10 

11 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And I understood from your testimony that you 

were not aware of any deed restrictions for Highlands of 

McKamy until you received one of the demand letters or 

ceaseMand-desist letters that preceded this lawsuit; is 

that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And prior to moving the Congregation's 

12 activities to 7103 Mumford, you also did not meet with 

13 or confer with the HOA board of directors on the plans 

14 and use of the property; is that correct? 

15 

16 

A. That is correct. 

Q. When you were conducting activities at your 

17 home on Bremerton, did you receive any complaints from 

18 neighbors? 

19 A. The only complaint that I received -- not 

20 directly to us, but through other people -M was that 

21 there was one neighbor who, when any of our friends 

22 might park in front of their home, they requested not to 

23 park in front of their home. 

24 Q. As you just stated, you did communicate to the 

25 HOA president at that time, Carolyn ncookien Peaden, 
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that there were plans at that time, which was several 

years ago, for the Congregation to perhaps bui 1 d a new 

facility, the property on Hillcrest Road; is that 

correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And you have, as we've established here, 

received complaints from neighboring property owners on 

Mumford Court for the activities that are occurring 

there now, correct? 

10 A. Yes, and that's why we put that parking policy 

11 in place, because we want to be responsive to our 

12 neighbors and make sure that everybody is able to live 

13 the way they want to. 

14 Q. Now, the City of Dallas has required that the 

15 Congregation obtain a certificate of occupancy for use 

16 of the property by the Congregation, correct? 

17 A. That is correct. 

18 Q. And that's because the City of Dallas views it 

19 as a church or commercial-type activity, correct? 

36 

20 A. Because of the frequency of our activity there, 

21 so the City of Dallas is asking us to receive -- to 

22 acquire a CO for commercial use. 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: You have 30 seconds remaining. 

MR. SURRATT: Pardon me? 

THE COURT: Thirty seconds. 
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Q. (By Mr. Surratt) Has that CO been obtained? 

A. We are in the process right now in active 

negotiation and discussion with the city, and they are 

aware of everything that we are doing. 

MR. SURRATT: I'll defer to Mr. Schneider 

at this time, Your Honor. 

MR. SCHNEIDER: Your Honor, do I have a 

minute for a question or two? 

THE COURT: You have 30 seconds. 

10 CROSS-EXAMINATION OF YAAKOV (JORDAN) RICH 

11 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 

12 Q. Rabbi, you had indicated that when you were 

13 looking at alternative space, one of the spots you 

37 

14 looked at was a commercial place, and why did did you 

15 indicate that they didn't allow certain types of 

16 activities there? 

17 A. The place that did not allow certain activities 

18 was the school. We looked at going to the Torah Day 

19 School of Dallas. 

20 Q. And the first time that you heard about the 

21 deed restrictions, as I understand it, was in October 

22 of 2013? 

23 A. Correct. 

24 Q. Is that accurate? 

25 A. That is correct. 
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Q. After - - if the parking is moved, wi 11 there 

still be the same number of people coming and going to 

the house at 7103 Mumford as today? 

A. 

Q. 

I'm sorry. Can you clarify the question? 

If the parking is improved -- situation is 

improved so that there were no cars parking in front of 

7103 Mumford, would there still be the same number of 

people coming and going to that house? 

A. don't -- I'm not sure I understand the 

10 question. If the parking is imp roved? 

11 Q. Does the parking mitigate anything else other 

12 than the parking? 

13 A. No. 

14 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. It's time. 

38 

15 MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, how much time do 

16 I have 1 eft? 

17 THE COURT: Five minutes, 31 seconds. 

18 REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF YAAKOV (JORDAN) RICH 

19 BY MR. TANCABEL: 

20 Q. Rabbi Rich, you testified earlier that you had 

21 told Cookie Peaden about the activities at the home. 

22 Did Cookie or anyone else on the board of the HOA take 

23 any actions against the Congregation? 

24 

25 

A. Not once, never. 

Q. Rabbi Rich, is 7103 -- 7103 Mumford Court, is 
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that used as a residence? 
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A. It is used as a primary residence. My son, who 

is 22 years old, his name is Abraham Losha (phonetic) 

Rich, lives there and uses it as his primary residence. 

Q. And can you explain some of the things that he 

does there using it as his residence? 

A. Well, he's a teenager, 22 - - more than a 

teenager. He's a young man, 22 years old, who uses it 

for entertaining with his friends. He is responsible 

10 for the upkeep of the house, for the security of the 

11 house, for maintaining things that go wrong in the home. 

12 And he uses the entire top floor of the house plus the 

13 bottom kitchen area and then the backyard and the 

14 driveway area. 

15 Q. Rabbi Rich, are you aware of other 

16 nonresidential uses of homes within the Highlands of 

17 McKamy? 

18 A. I am personally aware of two other 

19 nonresidential uses in the Highlands of McKamy. One of 

20 them is our next door neighbor on Bremerton Court. The 

21 family operates a swimming school for toddlers and 

22 infants. And during the spring, summer, and fall 

23 months, there can be three, four or five cars coming and 

24 going at a time. 

25 I just want to say that I am not at all 

Shawn R. Gant, CSR 7316 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 77



40 

affected or I am not complaining about that, but just 

stating a fact that that school has been there for many 

years and operating freely. And I think that the amount 

of the traffic from that school is greater than the 

traffic from our synagogue. 

And there are other -- two hospice homes --

I'm not sure about the street. I don't know about that 

personally, but I know of these homes from other members 

in the community. 

10 MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, no further 

11 questions. 

12 THE COURT: Thank you. You may step down. 

13 You may call your next witness. 

14 MR. TANCABEL: Your Honor, we have no other 

15 witnesses. 

16 THE COURT: A 11 right. Then I' 11 let you 

17 proceed with your five minutes of closing. And let me 

18 ask if the Plaintiff will address the issue of when 

19 Intervenor's counsel asked the Plaintiff what he wanted 

20 the Court to do, I wasn't cl ear other than you wanted 

21 the Defendants to act like the other residents. 

22 So I need something more specific in your 

23 argument. The testimony is what it is, so you can't 

24 change that. But I would like for you to address what 

25 specifically you're asking the Court to do. 
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ORAL DEPOSITION OF RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH, 
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3 PLAINTIFF, Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community 
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5 the above-styled and numbered cause on April 9, 2014, 

6 from 1 :26 p.m. to 4:36 p.m., before Lisa M. Durham, CSR 

7 in and for the State of Texas, reported by machine 

8 shorthand, at the offices of Haynes and Boone, LLP, 

9 located at 2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700, City of 

10 Dallas, County of Dallas, State of Texas, pursuant to 

11 the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure and the provisions 
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Notice of Deposition 72 72 

(April 9, 2014, 1:26 p.m.) 

RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH, 

having been first duly affirmed, testified as follows: 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. SURRATT: 

Q. Rabbi Rich, my name is David Surratt, and I'm 

an attorney, and I represent the Highlands ofMcKamy 

Community Improvement Association. Do you understand 

that? Do you understand who I represent? 

A. Highlands ofMcKamy Community Improvement? 

Q. Yeah, Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community 

Improvement Association. 

A. (Moving head affirmatively). 

Q. Is that a yes? 

A. Yes, I understand that. 

Q. Okay. And that's a good point. Have you ever 

given a deposition prior to today? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay. What the court reporter will do is she's 

talcing down everything we say, and here's -- just you 

can glance from here, an example of a prior deposition. 

You see that there's a question and an answer. 

So if you'll actually answer instead of 

nodding, it'll be clearer in the written record. So 

that will be extremely helpful. 

4 

5 
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6 8 

I A. Uh-huh. I protecting privacy. 

2 Q. If at any point today you don't understand a 2 A. Okay. Can I give you a different document 
3 question that I'm asking, please let me know and I'll do 3 instead of my driver's license? 
4 my best to rephrase it. Please state your full name for 4 Q. Well, 1 would like to see your Texas driver's 

5 the record. 5 license, please. 

6 A. Jordan, J-o-r-d-a-n, Rich, R-i-c-h. I am using 6 A. Okay. It happens to be expired, so I have to 

7 my Hebrew name, which is Yaakov, Y-a-a-k-o-v. 7 renew it. 

8 Q. And that's your first name, Y aakov Rich, 8 MR. SURRA TT: Let the record reflect that 

9 correct? 9 the Rabbi did provide a copy of his driver's license, 

IO A. Yes. IO and I am taking down by hand certain information. 

II Q. Do you have a middle initial that you go by II Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) And while I'm doing this, 

12 with Jordan Rich? 12 sir, would you mind writing down your social security 

13 A. No. 13 number again so we don't get it into the record, and 

14 MR. SURRATT: Okay. And for the purposes 14 I'll just make a handwritten note of that? 

15 of the attorneys, we're continuing with the same 15 MR. SURRATT: Doyouhaveapen? Ifhe 

16 agreements that we had with the previous deposition of 16 could borrow one of the --

17 Mark Gothelf. ls that correct? 17 MR. TANCABEL: Yeah. 

18 MR. T ANCABEL: That is correct. 18 A. (Witness complies.) 

19 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Do you mind ifl call you 19 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Sir, I notice that it has an 

20 Rabbi Rich for our purposes today? 20 address on here, 11824 Jam es town Road --

21 A. Please. 21 A. That's a previous address. 

22 Q. There may be some pauses during the time period 22 Q. Okay. And that's a good example, too. 1 

23 today, Rabbi, and that's so that I can look at my notes 23 anticipated that that was the answer, but let me finish 

24 and not take up any more time than we have to. So bear 24 my question, and that way we're not talking over each 

25 with me, and hopefully that'll help us expedite and get 25 other --

7 9 

1 through the process. What is your age, sir? I A. Uh-huh. 
2 A. Fifty-three. 2 Q. -- and it will be clearer for the court 

3 Q. Do you have a Texas driver's license? 3 reporter. What is your current residence, sir? 

4 A. ldo. 4 A. 7119 Bremerton Court, 75252. 
5 Q. Do you have it with you? 5 Q. And is that in the city of Dallas? 

6 A. Yes. 6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. May I see it, please? 7 Q. And that is located within the Highlands of 

8 MR. TANCABEL: Why do you need to see his 8 McKamy IV and V community, correct? 

9 driver's license? 9 A. Correct. 
10 MR. SURRA TT: It's to obtain information 10 Q. How long have you lived at that address, sir, 

11 off the driver's license. Now, we can put it in the 11 approximately? 

12 record, but rather than ask for his driver's license 12 A. Seven years. 
13 number, date of birth and that kind of thing, just to 13 Q. And was the Jamestown Road address -- that you 
14 protect his privacy, I'll just make a note of it. If 14 moved from there to Bremerton? 
15 you'd like, I can ask him those questions. It's just a 15 A. Yes. 
16 matter of protecting his privacy since sometimes the 16 Q. And I understand that you are married. ls that 

17 transcript is attached as exhibits to court documents. 17 correct? 
18 MR. T ANCABEL: Okay. Sure. 18 A. Yes. 
19 MR. SURRATT: ls that acceptable? 19 Q. Yourwife'sname? 
20 MR. TANCABEL: That is. 20 A. Susan L. Rich. 
21 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) That's the purpose, Rabbi. 21 Q. And as 1 understand it, you do have children, 
22 That way 1 can take down the information, and it's not 22 correct? 
23 typed out. And, then, if this is attached -- 23 A. Yes. 
24 MR. T ANCABEL: Sure. That's fine. 24 Q. How many, sir? 
25 Q. (BY MR. SURRA TT) It's just a matter of 25 A. Ten. 
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10 12 

I Q. All by the same marriage? I you been in the employment of the congregation, 
2 A. Yes. 2 approximately? 

3 Q. Now, you have a son who is residing at 3 A. Seven years. 
4 7103 Mumford Court, and I may not pronounce the name 4 Q. Do you have any other employment? 

5 correctly, but Avrohom. Is that close? 5 A. Currently, no. 
6 MR. T ANCABEL: Objection, form. 6 Q. All right. The way you stated that, are you 

7 A. Avrohom (pronunciation). 7 anticipating something in the future? 

8 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Avrohom? 8 A. No. 
9 A. Moshe. 9 Q. Was there some other employment that you had 

IO Q. What would be his first name if! refer to him 10 previously? 

II by his first name? II A. Yes. 

12 A. Avrohom. 12 Q. If you could explain. 

13 Q. Avrohom? 13 A. Yeah. I used to teach in a - very part-time 
14 A. Uh-huh. 14 in a local school. 

15 Q. Now, where is Avrohom within the age range of 15 Q. Okay. And which local school was that? 

16 your children, oldest, youngest, middle, somewhere like 16 A. Mesorah. 

17 that? 17 Q. And would that have been teaching Jewish 

18 A. Fourth oldest. 18 religious studies or something like that? 

19 Q. Okay. And what is Avrohom's current residence 19 A. Correct. 

20 address? 20 Q. Okay. Now, is the congregation your sole 

21 A. His current -- can you clarify the question? 21 source of income? 

22 Q. If Avrohom were filling out an application for 22 A. When you say my sole source, me personally? 

23 something, say a loan, a school application, what would 23 Q. Well, let's start --

24 he list as his residence address? 24 A. My family or --

25 MR. T ANCABEL: Objection, form. 25 Q. Let's start with you personally. 

11 13 

1 A. 7103 Mumford Court. 1 A. Yes. 
2 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Am I correct that you grew up 2 Q. Okay. And that's another good point. If 
3 in Canada? 3 there's something about a question you don't understand, 
4 A. Yes. 4 ask me, and I will do my best to clarify. 
5 Q. Are you a U.S. citizen? 5 A. Uh-huh. 
6 A. No. 6 Q. So let's restate. Is there any other source of 
7 Q. Okay. Still retain your Canadian citizenship? 7 income that you personally have? 
8 A. Yes. 8 A. No. 
9 Q. Approximately how long have you been here in 9 Q. Okay. Any other source of income for your 

10 the United States full-time? 10 family? 
11 A. Thirty-plus years. 11 A. Yes. 
12 Q. Are you currently employed in any capacity? 12 Q. And what would that be? 

13 A. Yes. 13 A. Mesorah. 
14 Q. And who was your employer? 14 Q. And is that the same school where you used to 

15 A. Congregation Toras, T-o-r-a-s, Chaim, 15 teach part-time? 

16 C-h-a-i-m. 16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. And how long have you been in the employment of 17 Q. And would that be through your wife or another 

18 the congregation? 18 family member? 

19 And for purposes of today's discussion, 19 A. My wife. 

20 will it be acceptable to you if I just use the phrase 20 Q. And is she employed there full-time? 

21 "congregation" to refer to the Toras Chaim? 21 A. She's the vice principal. 

22 A. Uh-huh. 22 Q. And where is the Mesorah located? 

23 Q. Okay. Is that a yes? 23 A. Park Central Drive. 

24 A. Yes. 24 Q. And is that in the city of Dallas or in close 

25 Q. And let me restate my question. How long have 25 proximity to where you reside? 
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A. No. It's near Medical City of Dallas. 
2 Q. With your employment with the congregation, are 

3 you paid on a flat salary basis, or are you paid based 

4 on contributions from the congregation? 

5 A. I don't understand the difference. 
6 Q. Okay. Do you receive a flat salary payment 

7 each month, quarterly or on some basis, or does your 

8 income relate to what donations or contributions that 

14 

9 the congregation members might make to the congregation? 

10 By analogy -- and I'm not Jewish, but let's 

11 say in the Baptist church, for example, there are some 

12 ministers where an offering is taken up each weekend, 

13 Sunday services or at other times, and part of their 

14 income may be based on the amount of income generated 

15 from those offerings. Does that help clarify? 

16 MR. TANCABEL: Objection, form. 

17 

18 

MR. SURRATT: Basis for objection? 

MR. TANCABEL: That was a long narration. 

19 It wasn't really a question. 

20 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Well, let me rephrase the 

21 question, then, Rabbi. Explain to me how you receive 

22 income from the congregation. 

23 A. They write me a check once a month based on a 

24 contract. 
25 Q. Okay. And that was going to be the next 

1 question, whether or not you had any form of written 

2 contract or employment contract with them. So I take it 

3 that you do. Is that correct? 

4 A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. And is that check once a month the same 

6 dollar amount? 

7 A. Yes. 
Q. And you are the only rabbi for the 

9 congregation, correct? 

IO A. Yes. 
II Q. Have you been a rabbi for any previous 

12 congregations? 

13 A. No. 

14 Q. I believe you stated you've been in the 

15 employment of the congregation approximately seven 

16 years. Would that also have been about the time frame 

17 that the congregation was formed or created? 

18 A. Correct. 

19 Q. Could you explain to the court how the 

20 congregation was created? And what I mean by that is 

21 did a group of people get together? Did you talk with 

22 potential members of the congregation? How did it get 

23 started? 

24 A. I had a friend who knew some members of the 

15 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

16 

I spiritual source of growth and learning, and he made a 

2 match between me and them. 
3 Q. When the congregation first started -- let's 

4 say the first year or two -- approximately how many 

5 members did it have? 

6 A. Ten. 
7 Q. And currently, what would be the number of 

8 members of the congregation? 

9 A. Thirty-plus. 

10 Q. Does the congregation have a membership roster, 

11 names of the members? 

12 A. A loose roster. 
13 Q. And by loose roster, meaning that it may not be 

14 a hundred percent accurate. Would that be a fair 

15 statement? 

16 A. It's probably 95 percent accurate, and just to 

17 explain why it's about 95 percent accurate, these things 

18 can change from one week to another week. 

19 

20 

21 

Q. And I appreciate the clarification. 

A. Yeah. 
Q. Does the congregation have a board of directors 

22 or a board that goes by some other name? 

23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. Okay. And what would that be? 

25 A. The board of directors. 

I Q. Okay. Do they have --

2 A. Well, the executive board. 
3 Q. Do they also have what's called an advisory 

4 board? 

A. Yes. 
6 Q. Let me start with the advisory board. What is 

7 the role of the advisory board? 

A. To facilitate the needs of programming and 

9 functioning within the congregation. 
10 Q. Now, are the members of the advisory board --

II A. I will also add one more, to implement 

12 programming. 
13 Q. Are the members of the advisory board also the 

14 same members as the executive board? 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

A. No. 
Q. Currently, who's on the advisory board? 

A. You want names? 
Q. Yes, please. 

A. Okay. Ehoud Wilson, E-h-o-u-d, last name 

17 

20 Wilson; Shoshana Chana, C-h-a-n-a, Jacobs. Currently, 

21 those are the only two people on the advisory board. 
22 Q. Are those individuals also members of the 

23 congregation? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 community in the area who were looking for a certain 25 Q. The executive board, how many members? 
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1 

2 

A. Oh, let's see, five. 
Q. And who are the current members of the 

3 executive board? 

4 A. Okay. President, Ben Nise. Treasurer, Josh 

18 

5 Rothstein. I guess just general member, Wes Sutkin. 
6 Past president, Avi, A-v-i, Bloomenstiel, 
7 B-1-o-o-m-e-n-s-t-i-e-I. And, then, we have one 
8 position that is currently being filled. So we have 
9 technically four right now that are active members. 

10 Q. Now, as the rabbi, would you serve on the board 

11 of directors? 

12 A. Without a vote. That should be, yes, without 
13 a vote. 
14 Q. How old is your son Avrohom, approximately? 

15 A. Yeah, 22. 
16 Q. Is Avrohom employed in any capacity by the 

17 congregation? 

18 A. No. 
19 Q. ls Avrohom a member of the congregation? 

20 A. No. 
21 

22 

Q. Is Avrohom a member of another congregation? 

A. No. I should add, nor does he participate in 
23 congregational functions. 
24 Q. And let me follow up, and bear with me today, 

25 Rabbi, again, my lack of familiarity with the Jewish 

1 faith. 

2 A. That's okay. 
3 Q. And there may be others, the court, we don't 

4 know, who might be reading this. 

5 Now, for Avrohom, is this by choice, or is 

6 there something where there's some age limitation? Is 

7 there something within the Jewish practice that would 

8 prohibit him from being in the congregation? 

9 A. (Moving head negatively). 
IO Q. Is that no? 

11 A. No. 
12 Q. So this is just a personal choice of his own, 

13 correct? 

14 A. Yes. Ifl'm pausing, it's because I'm 

19 

15 carefully considering your questions before I give you 
16 an answer. 
17 Q. And there's nothing wrong with that, and I 

18 appreciate that. That's -- I'm not here to trick you 

19 today. 

20 A. Yeah. 
21 Q. I'm just here to get information. So, yeah. 

22 And if you'll notice, I'll trying to allow you to think 

23 through an answer --

24 A. Yeah. I just --
25 Q. -- so I don't step on your answers. So no 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

1 apology necessary, sir. 

2 Now, is Avrohom currently employed 

3 anywhere? 

4 A. No. 

5 Q. Does he go to school either full-time or 

6 part-time? And what I mean by that, some institution of 

7 higher learning. 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. Is he enrolled in any type of Jewish religious 

IO studies program? 

11 A. No. Can I refer back to the previous question? 

20 

12 You said is he employed anywhere. His employment ended 

13 two weeks ago. 

14 Q. And what was that employment, sir? 

15 A. He was a manager in a Jewish bookstore. 

16 Q. Is -- well, strike that. I'm not certain if 

17 "understudy" or "apprentice" is an appropriate term, but 

18 I think you understand --

19 A. Uh-huh. 

20 Q. -- those terms. Is Avrohom by chance an 

21 understudy of you or an apprentice to become a rabbi? 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. He would snicker at that. No. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I can't wait to tell my wife that question. 

Q. Based on your testimony a few minutes ago about 

21 

1 how the congregation came to be, would it be fair to say 

2 that you helped create the congregation, Congregation 

3 Toras Chaim? 

4 A. Yes. 
Q. Is there an imposed limit on the size of the 

6 congregation, or is it such to where, as long as people 

7 are interested, the congregation is available to grow 

s based upon the needs of the community? 

9 A. The congregation can grow and serve as many 
10 people as are desirous of our services within the 
11 Highlands of McKamy and surrounding area. 
12 Q. And in that area, I've learned that there's 

13 what's called an eruv, if I'm pronouncing that 

14 correctly? 

15 A. Eruv. 
16 Q. E-r-u-v? 

17 A. Uh-huh. 
18 Q. Is that a yes? 

19 A. Yes. 
20 Q. So the Congregation's geographic limits, 

21 though, were only imposed by the eruv? 

22 A. Correct. 
23 Q. Going back to my questions to you about your 

24 compensation through your employment, is your 

25 compensation reviewed periodically with the board of 
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I directors, say, for example, every year, every two I congregation to have as a -- to have their prayer 

2 years? 2 services and functions, et cetera. 

3 A. Do you mean by a formal review? 3 Q. Did you approach the sellers of the property to 

4 Q. Formal or informal. Good point. Let me phrase 4 connect them to Gothelf? 

5 it this way. 5 A. No. 

6 And there's going to be some introductory 6 Q. Were you involved in any of the negotiations 

7 statements here, so bear with me. If I confuse you, let 7 between Mark Gothelfand the sellers of7103 Mumford 

8 me know. 8 Court? 

9 In some employment, an employee feels that 9 A. Not to my knowledge. 
10 perhaps -- and it may be one of the lawyers. You know, 10 Q. Can you describe the difference in size of 

II we feel that perhaps -- you know, maybe it's time for a 11 7103 Mumford Court to the size of your residence on 

12 review and we would like an increase. 12 Bremerton? 

13 Under what circumstances, whether formal, 13 A. Our house on Bremerton is about 3100 square 
14 if there are such, or informal, would you then have the 14 feet. The house on Mumford is about 3400 square feet. 
15 option to talk with the board about increase in salary? 15 But more importantly, my house on Bremerton has two 
16 A. The relationship between the board and the 16 parents with five children residing there and five older 
17 rabbi is extremely open, and we could have that 17 children that come back on a regular basis that make 
18 discussion at any time. 18 having the congregation in our house difficult at best. 
19 Q. Is the basis of the compensation affected by 19 Q. Mark Gothelfhad testified that there was a 

20 the size of the congregation? 20 coded lock on the main door, the front door, of7103 

21 A. No. 21 Mumford Court. Is that correct? 

22 Q. Is there any particular criteria that's been 22 A. I don't know. 
23 expressed to you by the board or -- as you understand 23 Q. Do you gain access to the property --
24 it, that affects your compensation? 24 A. Oh, you mean now? 
25 A. No. 25 Q. Yes, sir. Yes, sir. 

23 25 

I Q. Does your son, Avrohom, receive any form of I A. Oh, I thought you were talking about --
2 financial compensation from the congregation? 2 Q. No. Let me rephrase that, then. 
3 A. No. 3 A. Yeah. I didn't--
4 Q. Does he pay any form ofrent or compensation to 4 Q. Currently, to gain access --
5 the congregation to reside at 7103 Mumford Court? 5 A. Because you said there was a coded lock. 
6 A. He pays rent in kind, which means that he 6 Q. I apologize, so -- appreciate you asking for 
7 services the house, takes care of things, provides a 7 clarification. 
8 level of security by living there, does maintenance, as 8 In talking to Mark Gothelf during his 
9 he's very handy, things like that. 9 deposition, we were discussing how someone, himself 

10 Q. I'd like to focus a little bit now on the 10 specifically, as the owner, could gain access to the 

11 property at 7103 Mumford Court. As everyone here is 11 property, and we asked ifhe had a key. He said, no, 

12 familiar, the Gothelfs, Mark and Judith Gothelf, 12 that there was a coded lock on the front door. 

13 purchased the property. 13 A. Uh-huh. 

14 What role, if any, did you play in 14 Q. Is that correct? 

15 connecting the Gothelfs to the purchase of7103 Mumford 15 A. Correct. 

16 Court? Do you understand my question? 16 Q. Is there a particular reason why there's a 

17 A. It was really the opposite. 17 coded lock on the front door as opposed to a keyed lock? 

18 Q. Okay. 18 A. Yes. 

19 A. They connected us with the property. 19 Q. And what would that be? 

20 Q. All right. Could you explain for the court 20 A. To allow the members to have access as it's a 

21 what you mean by that? 21 little bit burdensome to make a key for every single 

22 A. Mark was looking to move into the area, saw the 22 person. 

23 house, liked it very much, was considering buying it for 23 Q. So the members have the code and can come and 

24 his family. In the end, thought wouldn't work out for 24 go as they need to the property of 7103 Mumford? 

25 his family, but that it would be a great place for the 25 A. Some members have the code. 
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1 Q. Approximately how many out of the approximate 

2 30 families that you indicated were members? 

3 A. About ten. 
4 Q. Mark Gothelfhad stated in his deposition that 

5 the congregation provided a $75,000 deposit for the use 

6 of the property. Is that your understanding? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. The source of that $75,000, did any of those 

9 funds come from the sale of the property that the 

10 congregation had owned on Hillcrest? 

11 A. Yes. 
12 Q. For the benefit of the court, how would you 

13 define or explain what a synagogue is? 

14 A. A synagogue, or shul in Yiddish, is a 
15 membership of families who have similar spiritual 

16 religious goals and outlooks and pray together, study 
17 together and celebrate life events together. 
18 Q. Would the Congregation Toras Chaim be 

19 considered a synagogue? 

20 A. Yes. 
21 (Deposition Exhibit 1 was marked.) 

22 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Sir, the court reporter has 

26 

23 just handed you what's been marked as Deposition Exhibit 

24 Number 1, if you'll take a minute to look at that. 

25 Am I correct the congregation does have a 

1 website, yes? 

2 A. Yes. 
3 Q. Are you familiar with that website? 

4 A. I'm the web designer. 
5 Q. Okay. What I've handed you as Deposition 

6 Exhibit Number 1 is a hard copy printout, Rabbi, from 

7 the website taken April 7th, and it lists activities 

8 for, I assume, the week of April 7. Would that be 

9 correct, or maybe starting April 6th, Sunday? I 

10 apologize. I don't have my calendar here in front of 

11 me. Let me withdraw that. 

12 A. Some of this is incorrect. Some of this is 
13 correct. 
14 Q. Okay. Let me rephrase and maybe assist things 

15 here a little bit. If you'll take a minute and look at 

16 this schedule, is this a schedule that is weekly on an 

17 ongoing basis? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. You just stated that some of it is inaccurate. 

20 Could you point out for me where any inaccuracies might 

21 be? And take the time that you need to to look at it. 

22 A. Sunday morning, 8:45 a.m. to 9:45 does not 

27 

23 occur anymore. Sunday night, 7:15 to 8 p.m. is on break 
24 for a month. Just for the record, Sunday morning, 
25 6:30 a.m. takes place in my house. 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

I 

2 
3 

Q. And that's the 7119 Bremerton Court, correct? 

A. Uh-huh. 
Q. Is that yes? 

4 A. Yes, uh-huh, yes. Wednesday, 7 to 8 p.m. takes 
5 place in Rabbi Bodenheimer's house. Shabbos, ten 
6 minutes before -- the first item on Shabbos afternoon, 

7 ten minutes before the Chumash Shiur, says Shabbos 

28 

8 Chassidus Chaburah with Rabbi Avi Bloomenstiel. That's 
9 at the Bloomenstiel home. 

10 Okay. One hour after Shabbos ends, Avos 
11 U'Banirn does not occur anymore. That's only during the 

12 winter months. 
13 Q. What is Shabbos? 

14 A. The seventh day of the week, Saturday, day of 

15 rest. 
16 Q. Is that what would be commonly referred to as 

17 the Jewish Sabbath? 

18 A. Correct. 
19 Q. And is the Jewish Sabbath or Shabbos where the 

20 congregation comes together as a group for any type of 

21 prayer or studies? 

22 A. Yes to both. 
23 Q. Okay. Approximately how long does that type of 

24 service, for sake of a better term, last? 

25 A. You have a service Friday night about one hour. 

29 

1 You have a service Saturday morning, two hours. Then 
2 you have one Saturday late afternoon, 15 minutes, and 
3 then a break and then about 15 minutes after that. 
4 Q. Which of the activities on this schedule on 

5 Exhibit Number 1 --

6 A. I gave you the -- those are the prayer 
7 services, what I just told you. 
8 Q. And when you say prayer services, is that where 

9 people come together as a group and pray as a 

10 congregational group? 

11 A. That's correct. 
12 Q. I'll get the hang of this before this is all 

13 over, Rabbi. 

14 A. That's okay. 
15 Q. Of these events on this schedule on Exhibit 1, 

16 which one would draw the most number of congregation 

17 members on an average basis? 

18 A. It's not on here. It would be Saturday morning 
19 from 8:30 until 11:00. 

20 

21 
22 

Q. And what --

A. That's the Shabbos morning prayer service. 
Q. Are there any other events that are occurring 

23 now that would be occurring through the upcoming summer 

24 months that are not on here? 

25 Let me rephrase that. I realize things are 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 87



9 (Pages 30-33) 

Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 

1 fluid, and there may be special events. Let me rephrase 

2 that. 

3 Is there any type of recurring event that 

4 will be upcoming that will go through the next several 

5 months? 

6 A. No. This is pretty accurate. 
7 Q. Am I correct that starting approximately next 

8 week would get into what's called a high holiday? 

9 A. Yes, Passover. 
10 Q. Right. What are the activities of the 

I I congregation members during Passover with regard to the 

12 congregation? 

13 A. Just prayer service. 
14 Q. Daily or just on the Saturday? 

15 A. It's going to be on the day of the festival, 

30 

16 which is not tied to the Sabbath. So people would walk 
I 7 to the synagogue. Because it's a holy day, they're not 
18 allowed to drive. They would walk. We'll spend some 
19 time praying, and then everybody will leave. 
20 Q. So for the high holidays, the congregation 

21 members are not supposed to drive, correct? 

22 A. Correct. 
23 Q. And is that also true for Shabbos? 

24 

25 

A. That's correct. 
Q. The other activities during the weekday, these 

31 

1 other related activities, they can drive if needed? 

2 A. If they - yes, if they take place during the 
3 week, uh-huh. But any activities that take place during 
4 Shabbos precludes driving. 
5 Q. Are there any activities on Sundays? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. Are any of those activities conducted at 

8 7103 Mumford Court? 

9 A. Yes. It's right on -- it's the first item on 
10 Page 1. 
11 Q. I apologize. Yes, Rabbi, I see it there. I 

12 was looking back at the end of the calendar. 

13 A. Sunday is the first day of the week for us. In 
14 Israel, they say the Monday morning blues begin on 
15 Sunday. 
16 (Deposition Exhibit 2 was marked.) 

I7 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Sir, the court reporter has 

18 just handed you what's been marked as Deposition Exhibit 

19 Number2. 

20 A. Uh-huh, yes. 
2I Q. If you'll take a minute to look at that, again, 

22 that's a hard copy printout of the Congregation's 

23 website approximately back in around the 26th of June of 

24 last year. 

25 Now, you indicated that you were the 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 
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1 website designer. Is this part of the design you would 

2 have done back around the time frame ofJune of2013? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. Now, the photo there where it says the banner 

5 "sold," is that a photo of7103 Mumford Court? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. I want to go down through some of the bullet 

8 points underneath the photo. The one in bold print that 

9 says "building dedication, $100,000," that the structure 

10 would be named "Beis," a blank line, "Kehillas Toras 

11 Chaim," what would that blank be? Would that be the 

12 name of somebody who gave the contribution? 

I3 A. Correct. 
14 Q. Okay. That same bullet point, the last 

15 sentence, it says, "All learning and shiurim" --

16 A. Shiurim (pronunciation). 
I7 Q. -- "shiurim," what is shiurim? 

I8 A. Classes. 
I9 Q. It also lists renovations. Have any 

20 renovations been done to the house? 

21 A. None. 
22 Q. Another bullet point, it says, "Sanctuary, 

23 25,000." Where would the sanctuary be located within 

24 the house? 

25 A. Where it currently is when you walk in the 

33 

I door, to the left. 
2 Q. Okay. And would that be a large room that 

3 maybe was a former dining room or something like that? 

4 A. I think more a family room. 
5 Q. And does this website page accurately reflect 

6 the plans for the house as of June of 2013? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. Another web page listing for the 

9 congregation refers to Tefillah, Tefillah 

IO (pronunciation), T-e-f-i-1-1-a-h. What is that? 

II A. Tefillah, prayer. 
12 Q. Okay. 

I3 (Deposition Exhibit 3 was marked.) 

I4 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) The court reporter has handed 

I5 you what's been marked Deposition Exhibit Number 3, 

I6 which is another paper printout of a segment of the 

I 7 Congregation's website. It addresses advertising, and 

I8 it lists some rates for sizes of ads, and to the right 

19 is an example of an ad. 

20 So the congregation does take 

2I advertisements to post ads on the website. Is that 

22 correct? 

23 A. Yes. 
24 (Deposition Exhibit 4 was marked.) 

25 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) The court reporter has just 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 88



10 (Pages 34-37) 

Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

34 36 

1 handed you what's been marked as Deposition Exhibit 1 contributions? 

2 Number 4. I'll represent to you again that this is 2 A. Yes. 

3 another paper printout of part of the website for the 3 Q. And what would that number be? 

4 congregation. Do you recognize that? 4 A. Zero. 

5 A. Yes. 5 Q. How long has this -- l call it a web banner, 

6 Q. Okay. Can you explain for the court what the 6 but this posting been on the web page? 

7 Toras Chaim Defense Fund is? 7 A. Today we are -- as it is right now, it's been 

8 A. It is a fund to help us to defend ourselves 8 up since last Thursday or Friday. 

9 against the lawsuit from David Schneider and the 9 MR. SURRATT: Off the record a second. 

10 Highlands ofMcKamy. 10 (Off-the-record discussion) 

11 Q. And you're referring to the current lawsuit 11 MR. SURRATT: Back on the record. 

12 that -- the purpose for which we're taking your 12 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) If funds are by chance 

13 deposition today, correct? 13 received through the defense fund and they are not 

14 A. Correct. 14 needed to cover any cost, any additional cost, what 

15 Q. Now, is it your understanding that the HOA is 15 would happen to any excess funds? 

16 suing the shul or the synagogue? 16 A. We would speak to the donors, and we would ask 

17 A. That is my understanding. 17 them what they would like us -- or allow us to do with 

18 Q. For your benefit, the HOA -- the defendants 18 that money. 

19 named by the HOA at this time are just Mark and Judith 19 Q. So through the website and their 

20 Gothelfas the owners of the property. lfwe needed to 20 contribution --

21 request to have the HOA removed from this segment, would 21 A. Not a problem right now, though. 

22 that be something you, as the website designer, could 22 Q. Through the link, though, you would be able to 

23 take care of? 23 track who gave a contribution. Then you could go back 

24 A. Yes. 24 to that specific person or entity and say, hey, we need 

25 Q. Now, on this defense fund, is the congregation 25 to do X with this? 
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1 currently paying any legal fees to attorneys in defense I A. Absolutely. 

2 of this lawsuit? 2 MR. SURRA TT: I have one of these, but 

3 A. No. 3 since it's marked --

4 Q. Is the congregation potentially obligated to 4 MR. T ANCABEL: Yeah. 

5 pay legal fees to either of your attorneys in the future 5 MR. SURRA TT: If you'll pass it to the 

6 for the purposes of this lawsuit? What I mean by that 6 court reporter so she can mark it. 

7 is, is there some agreement whereby you're not paying 7 (Deposition Exhibit 5 was marked.) 

8 anything now, the congregation, but after X event or at 8 A. Okay. 
9 X point in time, yes, you will pay legal fees? Do you 9 Q. (BY MR. SURRA TT) Sir, the court reporter has 

10 understand the question? JO marked a document Deposition Exhibit Number 5, and I'll 

11 A. Yes. I think it depends on the outcome. 11 represent to you again it's a printout from part of the 

12 Q. That's your understanding or is that the 12 Congregation's website. Do you recognize that? 

13 agreement you have with either the law firm of Haynes & 13 A. Yes. 
14 Boone or the Liberty Institute? And when I say "you," I 14 Q. And does that give a description of the 
15 mean the congregation. 15 geographic location of the eruv? 
16 A. There are potential fees, depending on what 16 A. It's old, and it's about 95 percent accurate. 
17 might happen. There are ancillary costs, even though 17 Q. Well, good. That's why I want to kind of 

18 right now I'm not paying any fees - I say "I," 18 address that with you. I have -- I'm going to have it 
19 representing the congregation -- to the lawyers, but as 19 marked as a deposition exhibit -- is an enlargement. It 
20 a congregation, we have incurred fees, marketing, public 20 doesn't cover everything, but maybe we can go through 
21 relations, loss of donations. So these all together, 21 and you can help us correct what the boundary lines 
22 being that we are a very small congregation, can be very 22 would be. 
23 hurtful to us. 23 (Deposition Exhibit 6 was marked.) 
24 Q. Do you personally know approximately how much 24 Q. (BY MR. SURRA TT) I'll represent to you, sir, 
25 has been received through the defense fund 25 this was an attempt of an enlargement of the small photo 
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I map on Exhibit Number 5. It didn't capture the very J within the eruv technically? 

2 bottom portion. 

But this portion that is depicted on 

4 Exhibit Number 6, you indicated there may be some 

5 changes. Could you, using Exhibit Number 6, point out 

6 or explain where the changes currently are in the eruv 

7 location? 

8 A. You see Texas Torah Institute? 

9 Q. Yes, sir. 

JO A. That's currently in the eruv. 

11 Q. So if you extend that upper top left-hand 

12 comer out, would it go all the way over to -- I guess 

13 that's Preston Road/289? 

14 A. No, no. Just take it straight up and then 

15 straight over. 

16 Q. It would encompass the Texas Torah Institute? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Any other changes that you see other than the 

19 fact that the bottom part just didn't capture? 

20 A. No. 

21 Q. Okay. Now, within this North Dallas eruv, are 

22 there -- how many congregations are there? 

23 MR. TANCABEL: Objection, form. 

2 A. Technically, theoretically, but you're limited 

3 because the Sabbath prohibits driving. So it's only 

4 going to be within walking distance. 

5 Q. If you will retrieve, sir, the Deposition 

6 Exhibit -- I believe it was Number I, with the calendar 

7 of events. 

8 A. Uh-huh. 

9 Q. Prior to the congregation starting to use 

JO 7103 Mumford Court, which of the activities listed on 

11 Exhibit Number 1 were conducted at your home on 

12 Bremerton Court? 

13 A. All of them. 

14 Q. On the same frequency and schedule as listed 

15 here? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. And what was the approximate size of the 

18 congregation prior to moving to 7103 Mumford? 

19 MR. T ANCABEL: Objection, form. 

20 MR. SURRATT: Basis? 

21 MR. T ANCABEL: It's confusing. What time 

22 frame are you talking about? "Before" could mean 2007, 

23 could mean 2011. 
24 A. There's four. One of them 's not listed. 24 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Let me rephrase the question. 
25 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) 1 see the Congregation Ohev 

39 

I Shalom, Congregation Toras Chaim. The Chabad of Dallas, 

2 is that a congregation? 

3 A. Chabad (pronunciation). 

4 

5 

Q. Chabad. Is that a congregation, sir? 

A. Yes. 

6 Q. And what would be the fourth one that's not 

7 listed? 

A. I'm trying to think of the name. It's fairly 

9 new. If I can just give you the rabbi's name, Rabbi 

JO Sionit, S-i-o-n-i-t. 

11 Q. What would be considered the location of that 

12 new congregation within the eruv area? 

13 A. Start from Cha bad of Dallas and move north 

14 about a half an inch. 

15 Q. Now, within the diagram here that we have as 

16 Deposition Exhibit Number 6, is there any geographic 

17 boundary within the eruv for Congregation Toras Chaim? 

18 

19 

A. I don't understand the question. 

Q. Okay. Is there any agreement or reason, under 

25 We talked previously about the size of the congregation 

I in the past. Around 2012 into early 2013, before the 

2 congregation started having services at 7103 Mumford 

3 Court, what was the approximate size of the congregation 

4 at that time? 

5 A. Hard to remember exactly. Probably very 

6 similar in size to what we are right now. It's a 

7 community issue. In other words, it's -- the people who 

8 are living there are living there. You know what I 

9 mean? 

JO Q. Not quite. When you say "the people living 

11 there are living there" --

12 A. The Congregation doesn't change because we may 

13 be in one location or another location. It's the people 

14 who are living within the neighborhood. 

15 Q. If the court were to order the congregation to 

16 temporarily halt activities at 7103 Mumford, would the 

17 congregation be able to meet with one of the other 

18 congregation groups within the eruv? 

19 A. No. 
20 the Jewish faith or otherwise, whereby your congregation 20 Q. And why not? 
21 could not for some reason draw from any members who may 21 A. Within Orthodox Judaism, there are different 
22 live within the eruv? Do you understand my question? 

23 A. Why we -- why we could not draw from members 

24 within the eruv? 

22 streams of thought, outlooks, emphasis, and the --

23 including cultural differences. So the congregation 

24 that we would be closest to culturally would be 

41 

25 Q. Right. Can you draw from anyone that lives 25 Congregation Ohev Shalom, but the emphasis between our 
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I congregation and their congregation is vastly different. I Hillcrest, and they met with tremendous opposition. For 

2 And, so, it wouldn't service the spiritual needs of our 2 us to be able to build on that property, we would have 

3 members. 3 had to replat because they were two smaller pieces of 

4 We focus on Torah study and quiet, 4 property, and replatting meant that we opened ourselves 

5 respectful prayer and put a great emphasis on that. 5 up to community opposition. We did not feel confident 

6 That was the reason why the congregation started to 6 that we would be able to get that passed. 

7 begin with. 7 Q. Where was the opposition coming from? 

8 Q. I want to refer back now to the legal 8 A. I don't know. 

9 representation. Correspondence received from 9 Q. Was it people who lived in the area? 

JO Mr. Butterfield in the past indicated that the IO A. I don't know. 

II congregation had also retained the law firm of Haynes & II Q. Was it from the City? 

12 Boone to represent the congregation in addition to the 12 A. No. 

13 Liberty Institute. Do you know personally why the 13 Q. Who would know where the opposition was coming 

14 decision to have two Jaw firms? 14 from within the congregation? 

15 A. No. 15 A. When you say where the opposition was coming 

16 Q. Who would have made that decision, yourself or 16 from --

17 the executive board or board of advisers? 17 Q. Yeah. Let me --

18 THE WITNESS: Would that be your decision, 18 A. I mean, I can tell you that it was the 

19 Justin? 19 neighborhood, but I can't be more specific. 

20 Q. (BY MR. SURRA TT) And the attorneys aren't 20 Q. Okay. I don't need to know specific names, but 

21 being questioned today. If you don't know, then -- 21 obviously the congregation or at least you and other 

22 A. I'll say I don't know. 22 members knew that you -- enough to where you changed 

23 Q. Am I correct that at one point, the 23 your plans on building. I don't need to know specific 

24 congregation was meeting, in years past, at a house on 24 names of homeowners or businesspeople, but was it from 

25 Hillcrest? 25 the residential community, business community, city 
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I A. Correct. 1 zoning? Where was that opposition coming from? 

2 Q. What was the purpose for leaving that location? 2 A. Residential community. 

3 A. We outgrew it. 3 Q. Okay. Were those vacant Jots located within a 

4 Q. Was parking an issue at the Hillcrest location? 4 property owner's association? 

5 Let me correct -- let me withdraw that. 5 A. They -- they are. 

6 Due to outgrowing the location, did parking 6 Q. Do you recall the name of that particular 

7 become part of that issue at the Hillcrest location? 7 association? 

8 A. No. It was the physical space inside the 8 A. I don't. 

9 house. 9 Q. Do you recall if those lots had deed 

10 Q. At one time, did the congregation have plans to 10 restrictions or restrictive covenants on how the 

II construct its own facility on vacant property on 11 property would be used? 

12 Hillcrest? 12 A. That was not something I was aware of until 

13 A. Yes. 13 very recently. 

14 Q. Approximately what time frame was that when it 14 Q. And we're talking about the Hillcrest property? 

15 was part of the plan? 15 A. Right. Deed restrictions, right. 

16 A. From within the first year that the 16 Q. Now, when you purchased your home on Bremerton, 

17 congregation formed in the house on Hillcrest. 17 were you aware that it was located in a community with 

18 Q. How long did the congregation own the vacant 18 deed restrictions? 

19 land on Hillcrest approximately? 19 A. Honestly, no. I was aware that there was a 

20 A. From 2007 through the early part of 2013, I 20 homeowner's association. 

21 guess, through the first quarter. 21 Q. Approximately when did you first learn that 

22 Q. What were the reasons for not proceeding with 22 there were restrictions or what are commonly referred to 

23 building a specific facility on Hillcrest? 23 as deed restrictions on the properties within Highlands 

24 A. Another Jewish group tried to build a dormitory 24 ofMcKamy? 

25 structure within that area on the west side of 25 A. When we were served with the cease and desist 
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1 letter from Mr. Schneider. 1 today. I'm going to be asking you a series of questions 

2 MR. SURRATT: Off the record a second. 2 as well, and as with Mr. Surratt, I'll be jumping around 

3 (Off-the-record discussion) 3 a little bit trying not to cover ground that we've 

4 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Did you have any discussions 4 already covered as best as I can. 

5 at any time with any members of the HOA board of 5 Let's get started. Can you give me a 

6 directors in the past regarding the services being 6 little background on your education after high school? 

7 conducted at your home on Bremerton, if you recall? 7 A. I have a BA in economics from York University 

8 A. I don't recall. 8 in Toronto. I have a rabbinic ordination from Torah 

9 Q. Do you recall having any conversations with any 9 V'das, T-o-r-a-h, second word is V, apostrophe, d-a-s. 

10 members of the board of directors about the 10 Q. Thank you. 

11 congregation's plans to -- strike that. 11 A. And I have a -- I guess you would call it a --

12 Going back to the time period when the 12 I'm a professional graphic designer as well. 

13 congregation was thinking about possibly constructing on 13 Q. Your contract with the congregation, is it a 

14 the vacant lots on Hillcrest, do you recall having any 14 written document? 

15 conversations with any members of the board of directors 15 A. Yes. 

16 indicating to them that that was the plan for the 16 Q. Can you describe some of your responsibilities 

17 congregation? 17 as rabbi for the congregation, just some of the -- maybe 

18 A. Yes. 18 some of the top ones, so I can understand? 

19 Q. Do you know who it was you spoke with? 19 A. Top responsibilities would be overseeing 

20 A. Carolyn Peadon. 20 matters of Jewish law, teaching and implementing them, 

21 Q. Could you describe the nature of that 21 teaching Torah classes for purposes of knowledge and 

22 conversation as best as you recall it? I mean, was she 22 inspiration, counseling. That's it. 

23 expressing any concerns about what was going on? Were 23 Q. Thank you. Would you consider the congregation 

24 you sharing the plans for the future? Just basically, 24 to be the day-to-day possessor of the house at 7103 

25 why did that come up in the discussion? 25 Mumford? Does the congregation --
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1 A. Cookie wanted to know if the congregation was 1 A. No, I wouldn't. 
2 planning on building on those properties, and I said 2 Q. Who would you say controls what goes on there? 
3 that was the plan. Cookie, Carolyn. 3 MR. T ANCABEL: Objection, form. 

4 Q. Correct. 4 MR. SCHNEIDER: Basis for objection? 

5 MR. SURRA TT: And for the record, that's 5 MR. TANCABEL: It's a confusing term. You 
6 Carolyn "Cookie" Peadon, P-e-a-d-o-n. 6 can control in so many different respects. 

7 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Before the Gothelfs purchased 7 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) As rabbi, do you decide 

8 7103 Mumford, to your knowledge, did the congregation 8 what services are to be held for the congregation? 

9 request any type oflegal opinion as to whether or not 9 A. Yes. 
10 there would be any problems with the congregation using 10 Q. Do you decide where they're to be held? 

11 7103 Mumford? 11 A. Where? 

12 A. Not to my knowledge. 12 Q. Where they are to be held, where the -- where 

13 Q. Does the congregation at this time have any 13 the location of the service is. 

14 interest in possibly purchasing 7103 Mumford from the 14 A. Yes. 

15 Gothelfs? 15 Q. Would it be fair to say that you determine the 

16 A. It's so not a possibility financially that it 16 time that the services are to occur as well? 

17 doesn't enter anybody's mind, quite honestly. 17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. If the finances were to allow, would that be 18 Q. I've got an item here that I'd like to 

19 something that the board might entertain an interest on? 19 introduce as an exhibit. 

20 A. I don't know. 20 (Deposition Exhibit 7 was marked.) 

21 MR. SURRA TT: Off the record. 21 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) And with a little luck, 

22 (Off-the-record discussion) 22 you'll recognize this, I hope, as something from the 

23 EXAMINATION 23 Congregation Facebook page. Is that an accurate 

24 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 24 depiction as of September 2013? 

25 Q. Good afternoon, Rabbi. Thank you for your time 25 A. I'm not -- I'm not active with the Facebook 
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I page. 
2 Q. I see. It depicts --

3 A. I know it exists, but one of the members is --
4 Q. I see. It depicts a map that shows 

5 approximately 7103 as the home of the congregation as of 

6 September of2013 and has the address of that as well. 

7 Would you say that's an accurate description of the home 

8 of the congregation as of September of2013? 

9 A. Yes. 
10 (Deposition Exhibit 8 was marked.) 
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11 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Perhaps you recognize that 

12 item as a --

13 MR. SCHNEIDER: In fact, John, can I get 

14 that back? 

15 MR. TANCABEL: Oh, yeah. 

16 MR. SCHNEIDER: I don't think I have an 

17 extra copy. I apologize. 

18 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) -- a website posting that --

19 on the Congregation Toras Chaim website as of August 

20 2013 that purports to have been posted by yourself. Do 

21 you recall having posted this? 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. This particular post is marked as being 

24 presented and written by Avi Bloomenstiel, then 

25 president of the congregation. Is that correct? 

1 A. Yes. 
2 Q. He states, "After tremendous effort from the 

3 rabbi, board and several very involved members and, of 

4 course, amazing" --

5 A. Heavenly help. 
6 Q. Yeah. Ineedhelp. 

7 A. That's what that means. 
8 Q. Say it again. 

9 A. Siyata d'shemaya is Aramaic for heavenly help. 
10 Q. Thank you very much -- "our growing shul made a 
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11 big step forward this summer in acquiring our own home." 

12 Do you see that quote there? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. Would you say that's an accurate statement, 

15 that the -- our own home is representing the house at 

16 7103 Mumford? 

17 A. Yes. 
18 Q. Thank you. 

19 (Deposition Exhibit 9 was marked.) 

20 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) I pulled from the 

21 congregation's website, as of September of2013, a list 

22 of activities that were scheduled on the calendar for a 

23 period of about 90 days, and these are services that 

24 were marked as being August of2013. So I wanted to ask 

25 you about these different services. 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

1 A. Uh-huh. 
2 Q. I see that on Thursday, August !st, there's one 

3 marked -- and I'm sorry -- at 6 a.m. I can't say it 

4 correctly? 

5 A. Gemara. It's Talmud study, Talmud study. 
6 Q. Thank you. 

7 A. And then Makkos is the name of the track tape. 
8 Q. Okay. There's another one marked as being at 

9 6:40, directly below it. And, again, I apologize. I 

10 won't attempt --

11 A. Shacharis, morning prayer service. 
12 Q. Thank you. The next day, there's one marked as 

13 being the same two as we just said, and then there's one 

14 at 7:00 in the evening. Again, I do not want to --

15 A. That's okay. That's the beginning of the 
16 Sabbath or the Shabbos. 
17 Q. Thank you. 

18 A. That's the late afternoon/evening prayer 
19 service. 
20 Q. And, then, at 8:08 is what is called candle 

21 lighting? 

22 A. Candle lighting is how we bring in, in 
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23 quotation marks, the Sabbath, generally done within 18 
24 minutes of sunset. 
25 Q. I promise I'm not going to go through every one 

53 

1 of these. I just wanted to get the --

2 A. Happy to teach. 
3 Q. I'm happy to learn. There is one at 9:07 in 

4 the evening on Saturday, August 3rd? 

5 A. Havdalah marks the end of the Sabbath. 
6 Q. Thank you, Rabbi. There's one on Sunday, 

7 August 4th, that again I may mispronounce that. 

8 A. Okay. 6:30 a.m.? 
9 Q. Yes, please. 

10 A. Hilchos Taaruvos, the laws of forbidden 
11 mixtures. It's a class -- small group class that I give 
12 in my house on Sunday morning. 
13 Q. As best as you recall, in August of2013, was 

14 that service held at your house on Bremerton? 

15 A. Yes. It's a class. It's not a service. 
16 Q. I see. Thank you. Looking through these 

17 various entries, when I got them, I didn't see any 

18 distinguishing factor as to which ones might have been 

19 held at 7103 Mumford or at some other location. Except 

20 for the Sunday morning class during the month of August, 

21 were all these held at 7103 Mumford, to the best of your 

22 recollection? 

23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. Thank you. Do you recall an interview that you 

25 held with Brandon Todd recently of Fox 4 news? 
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A. Yes. 
2 Q. During that interview, you made a series of 

3 statements that were later broadcast on television. Do 

4 you recall that? 

5 A. Don't know what you're referring to. 
6 Q. Did you see the -- did you ever see the 

7 broadcast? 

8 A. Sure. 
9 Q. Okay. Either internet version or whatever. 

10 And I don't mean to put words in your mouth, so please 

11 correct me if I'm wrong in trying to paraphrase. But I 

12 believe you stated to the effect that, generally, 

13 services were held at 7103 Mumford two times per day, 

14 seven days per week. Did I get --

15 A. That's correct. 
16 Q. -- the paraphrasing approximately correct? 

17 Thank you. 

18 The decision to -- as we mentioned before, 

19 to have those services at 7103 Mumford is a decision 
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20 that you would normally make. You might perhaps make it 

21 to be at another location another time. That would be 

22 up to you? 

23 A. In theory, I could say we would -- we would 
24 meet somewhere else, but --
25 Q. And I didn't mean to imply --

l 

2 

A. Yeah. 
Q. -- that that would be something that would be a 

3 decision you'd make, but you would be typically the 

4 person making that decision? 

5 A. If there was a need to meet somewhere else, 
6 yes, I would be the person. 
7 Q. Did you have a service this morning at 7103 

8 Mumford? 

9 A. Yes. 
10 Q. Did you have a service last night at 

11 7103 Mumford? 

12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. Thank you. I had heard reference to several 

14 different comments about the size of the congregation, 

15 and I wanted to clarify a point. 

16 A. Uh-huh. 
17 Q. In a filing made by your attorneys, they 

18 indicated that the congregation had approximately 30 

19 families as members, and when we were discussing it 

20 earlier, I heard the term 30 members. And I want to 

21 distinguish, would you say that there are 30 people 
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22 including -- I'm guessing many of your congregation may 

23 be married so that there's a husband and wife. 

24 A. Right, member families. 
25 Q. Member families, approximately 30? 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 
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A. And some could be single, and some could be 
2 married. 
3 Q. Right. Ifwe were to say, including the 

4 husband and the wife, where the wife is also a member, 

5 would we say the total membership is closer to 60? 

6 Would we say it was closer to 30, 45? Again, I'm not 

7 trying to put a number in your mouth, just whatever --

8 A. We value memberships as a family unit, so 
9 that's how we measure our membership. 

10 Q. So it's 30 families would be how you would 

11 count it? 

12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. Thank you. You mentioned Rabbi -- and I may 

14 get his name wrong -- Bodenheimer? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. At his house, that there was an occasion when 

17 at least one service was held at his house? 

18 A. Class. 
19 Q. Class. Thank you. Where does -- is that a he 

20 or a she? 

21 A. He. 
22 Q. He. Again, sorry. 

23 A. No problem. 
24 Q. Where does he live? 

25 A. In the Willow Green Condominiums. 

l 

2 

Q. I know where those are. Thank you. 

And I believe it would be fair to say 

3 that's within the eruv? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And you also mentioned that there was an 

6 occasion where either a class may be held at A vi 
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7 Bloomenstiel's home. May I ask where Avi Bloomenstiel 

8 lives? 

9 A. On Kirkham. 
10 Q. Can you spell that, if you know the spelling? 

11 A. K-i-r-k-h-a-m. 
12 Q. Thank you. And is that a house or an apartment 

13 or a condo? 

14 A. House. 
15 Q. Thank you. Would it be fair to say that is 

16 also within the eruv? 

17 A. Yes, uh-huh. 
18 Q. Did you know Mark Gothelfpersonally before the 

19 purchase of the house at 7103 Mumford Court? 

20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. How long had you known him? 

22 A. Several years. 
23 Q. As best you know, during that time, did he live 

24 in New York? 

25 A. Yes. 
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I Q. Can you describe the circumstances by which you I finance any portion of the purchase of the house? 
2 came to discuss the transaction on the house at 7103? 2 A. Yes. 
3 A. Mark and I, our relationship is based on him 3 Q. And how was that accomplished? 
4 leading the services for the high holidays for the 4 A. Through fundraising. 
5 congregation the past few years, and he wanted -- he 5 Q. Uh-huh. 
6 grew up in Dallas, wanted to move back, very much likes 6 A. That's the answer. 
7 the congregation, the spiritual outlook, wanted to 7 Q. I've heard the figure --
8 purchase a home for his family in the neighborhood, saw 8 A. And the -- I should add to that. 
9 one that he initially liked. We considered and thought 9 Q. Yeah. 

10 it would be good for the congregation. He told me about 10 A. And the sale of the property. 
II it and asked me to take a look. II Q. That's what I was going to ask. 

12 Q. Thank you. What's the nature of the agreement 12 A. Yeah. 

13 between the congregation and Mr. Gothelfwhereby the 13 Q. I heard the figure that -- an amount, 

14 congregation is able to operate from there? 14 approximately $75,000, was provided to assist in the 

15 A. Mr. Gothelfpurchased the house. We were not 15 purchase of the house, and some portion came from 

16 able to get financing as the congregation, but we pay 16 fundraising. Is that accurate? 

17 the mortgage. We made the -- reimbursed him for the 17 A. Yes. 

18 down payment and take care of the maintenance and 18 Q. And some portion came from the proceeds of the 

19 utilities as pertaining to the bottom level of the 19 sale of the lot on Hillcrest? 

20 house. 20 A. Yes, lots. 

21 Q. And when you say the bottom level, you mean the 21 Q. Lots. There were two lots? 

22 lower floor? 22 A. Uh-huh. 

23 A. Correct. 23 Q. Because you were considering the idea that you 

24 Q. ls he responsible for the upper floor? 24 would make one big lot from the two small ones? 

25 A. He who? 25 A. Right. 
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I Q. Mr. Gothelf. I Q. Did the congregation ever purchase -- I'm 
2 A. No. That would be my son. 2 sorry. Strike that. 
3 Q. Oh, okay. I understand. Does the congregation 3 Did the congregation or yourself ever 
4 use any of the upper floor for storage or other? 4 personally get involved in negotiations with the 
5 A. No. No one ever goes up there actually, except 5 seller's agent or the seller regarding 7103 Mumford 
6 his father. 6 Court? 
7 MR. SCHNEIDER: Off the record for just a 7 A. I don't know. 
8 second. 8 Q. Were Mr. Gothelfto lose this case and be 
9 (Off-the-record discussion) 9 assessed any damages that would need to be paid, would 

10 MR. SCHNEIDER: Back on the record. 10 the congregation reimburse him for any portion of those 
II Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Do you have a written -- is 11 damages? 
12 there a written agreement between the congregation and 12 A. I need a clarification. 
13 the Gothelfs? 13 Q. Okay. 
14 A. No. 14 A. If Mr. Gothelfwere to lose this case -- my 
15 Q. Have you yourself ever resided at 7103 Mumford 15 understanding is that you're suing the congregation 
16 Court? 16 and Mr. Gothelf. 
17 A. No. 17 Q. I am. I am. That's correct. 
18 Q. Did Mr. Gothelf ever express why he agreed to 18 A. Okay. So --
19 assist the congregation in this manner to you? 19 Q. That's correct. If he was assessed damages 
20 A. Doing acts of kindness when somebody is in need 20 himself and perhaps the congregation was not assessed 
21 or when one person can help and -- is considered a very 21 any for whatever reason --
22 praiseworthy thing, and we try to do it to the best of 22 A. Right. 
23 our abilities. He likes us, he trusts us, and -- and we 23 Q. -- and ifhe were to be assessed any damages 
24 like and trust him as well. 24 and was out-of-pocket, is there any agreement between 
25 Q. Thank you. Did the congregation help to 25 the congregation and Mr. Gothelfto reimburse him? 
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A. Most definitely. 

Q. Thank you. And would it be accurate to say 

3 that the agreement is, as best possible for the 

4 congregation, to reimburse him a hundred percent of 

5 anything that he would be out in that scenario? 

6 A. That would be the hope. 

7 Q. Imagining a time in the future at which the 

8 house at 7103 might be sold and it's a favorable market 

9 and the house were to reap a substantial profit, does 

lo the congregation -- would the congregation expect to 

11 benefit from such sale in that case? 

12 

13 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Prior to operating from 7103 Mumford Court, 

14 where did the congregation operate from? 
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15 A. Primarily my home, 7119 Bremerton Court. I say 

16 primarily because we do have functions, classes --

17 Q. Right. 

18 A. -- at various members' homes throughout the 

19 community. 

20 Q. And it would be fair to say that at that time, 

21 as Rabbi, you would have also made the decisions about 

22 where the services and classes, similar, were to be 

23 held? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. Much as you do currently? 

I 

2 

A. Correct. 

Q. Approximately when did the congregation start 

3 using your house on Bremerton as its primary base of 

4 operations? 

5 A. February 2011. 

6 Q. What was the address of where you had-- where 

7 the congregation's base of operations was prior to that 

8 time? 

9 

10 

II 

A. The address? 

Q. Do you recall? 

A. Sure, 17912 Hillcrest. 

12 Q. Just to make sure I got that right, that's 

13 17912 Hillcrest? 

14 A. Uh-huh. 

15 Q. And approximately how long was that used as a 

16 location for basic services for the congregation? 

17 A. Three and a half years. 

18 Q. I wanted to clarify a comment you made earlier 

19 regarding the issue of usage, deed restrictions and 
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20 Highlands ofMcKamy. At what time did you become aware 

21 that there were usage restrictions in Highlands of 

22 McKamy? 

23 A. I mentioned when you sent the cease and desist 

24 letter. 

25 Q. Would it be fair to say the congregation had 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

1 not consulted legal counsel to determine if there might 

2 be any impediments to operating at 7103 Mumford Court? 

A. The extent of our consultation was with respect 

4 to city zoning laws. 

5 Q. Given that your house in Bremerton is covered 

6 by the same deed restrictions as exist on 7103 Mumford, 

7 would it be fair to say that you did not read the 

8 entirety of the deed restrictions at the time you 

9 purchased your house on Bremerton? 

10 A. Probably fair to say. 

11 Q. Have you ever heard the phrase "ignorance of 

12 the law is no defense"? 

13 A. I have heard that. Just for the record, I 

14 believe that this conversation is about what is the law. 

15 Q. I fully understand that point. 

16 A. Okay. 

17 Q. Excellent point. On or about August 18th of 

18 2013, you appeared at a homeowner's meeting at Cookie's 

19 house. I was present and had the opportunity to meet 

20 you at that time. 

21 Paraphrasing comments that you made on that 

22 date, you indicated that you would be seeking a 

23 certificate of occupancy for the congregation at 
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24 7103 Mumford Court. Do you recall that, those comments? 

25 A. I recall those comments as a response to 
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I Cookie Peadon saying that the concern of the homeowner's 

2 association was that the synagogue should be in 

3 compliance with city code. 

4 Q. Did you ever seek a certificate of occupancy 

5 for the congregation at 7103 Mumford Court as a church? 

6 A. We are in the process of doing that. 

7 Q. Can you describe to me where in the process you 

8 are? 

9 A. We are in the process of trying to get parking 

10 agreements in order to facilitate the -- the CO. 

11 Q. The certificate of occupancy that you're 

12 requesting, would that allow someone to live at the 

13 house as well? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Were that to be granted, would it be necessary 

J 6 to make any changes to the interior of the house to 

17 comply with the City of Dallas rules? 

18 A. To be determined. 

19 Q. And the reason that you are seeking the 

20 certificate of occupancy? 

21 A. The City has asked us to. 

22 Q. Under what basis is it saying that you need to 

23 get a certificate of occupancy? 

24 A. Because they view our usage in the house as 

25 being commercial. 
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Q. Thank you. Within the eruv, are there any 

2 other places where the congregation could operate from 

3 in which it would not be coming up against residential 

4 usage restrictions? 

5 A. The congregation studied long and hard where we 

6 could locate if it would not be in my home. We 

7 considered the west side of Hillcrest. Demographically, 

8 all of our members had moved to the east side within 
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9 Highlands of McKamy IV and V and Highlands of McKamy II 

10 and III. So it didn't make sense to move to that side. 

11 That was one of the reasons why, even though I didn't 

12 mention it before, we also abandoned the building on the 

13 land. 

14 We looked at south of McCallum. South of 

15 McCallum has two issues. Toward the east, it's mostly 

16 apartments and a very rough neighborhood, not suitable 

17 for mothers and children to be walking. 

18 Going directly south of McCallum on 

19 Meandering Way is in very close proximity to 

20 Congregation Ohev Shalom, and when the congregation 

21 started, I consulted with a major rabbinic authority in 

22 New York whether or not we could have a congregation in 

23 close proximity to Ohev Shalom, how close, et cetera. I 

24 was told that we needed to be - that the closest we 

25 could be would be where that Hillcrest house was 

I originally. 

2 And in Judaism, we have a sort of -- it's a 

3 written law by which we govern our lives, V'ahavta 

4 L'reicha K'mocha, love your neighbor as you love 

5 yourself and don't do something to somebody else that 

6 you wouldn't want done to you. 

7 So because of those two reasons, the rabbi 

8 telling me we can't be right in his backyard and I 

9 wouldn't want somebody to be across the street from me, 

10 so that neighborhood directly across McCallum is 

II likewise not suitable. 

12 Q. Thank you. 

13 A. If you go across Frankford, you have some 

14 commercial space there. Everything's rented, nothing 

15 available. There's a gated community, which is not 

16 accessible. 

17 And, so, this was -- the house and the 

18 location, also being that it's bordering two major 

19 streets, Frankford and Meandering Way, and at the edge 

20 of the homeowner's association, feeling that it would 
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21 create the most minimum impact on the neighborhood was 

22 why we chose that location. 

23 Q. Thank you. The authority that you consulted, 

24 did he indicate that there was a specific minimum 

25 distance from Ohev Shalom that you should not get closer 
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I than, or was it more open-ended? 

2 A. It's not a specific distance. It's a how does 

3 this look and how does this feel and will this create a 

4 sanctification or desecration of God's name. 

5 Q. Thank you. Were the congregation to have a 

6 permanent injunction against operating within the 

7 Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V, has any discussion 

8 occurred about an alternative location? 

9 

10 

A. No. 

MR. SCHNEIDER: Rabbi, that's the end of my 

11 questions at this time. 

12 FURTHER EXAMINATION 

13 BY MR. SURRATT: 

14 Q. Just a few more, Rabbi. You were discussing 

15 with Mr. Schneider the parking agreements that were 

J 6 being pursued for purposes of the City's certificate of 

17 occupancy. Can you explain what type of parking 

18 agreements you're referring to? 

19 A. If you -- in order to have a certificate of 
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20 occupancy, you need a minimum amount of parking spaces 

21 not on city streets, and sometimes that can be through 

22 shared parking agreements with other institutions, 

23 organizations. So that's what we are pursuing right 

24 now. 

25 Q. Have they told you what the minimum number of 
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I spaces are that would be needed for your particular 

2 operation? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. What are they? 

5 A. Eleven. 

6 Q. Back with regard to the purchase of 

7 7103 Mumford Court, ifthe congregation had been in 

8 a position financially, through its own funds or to 

9 qualify for funding, would it have purchased 

10 7103 Mumford in its own name? 

II A. Yes. 

12 Q. If good fortune were to arise and financially 

13 be in a position to purchase in the future 7103 Mumford, 

14 would the congregation still be interested at some time 

15 to possibly purchase from Mr. Gothelf and his mother? 

16 A. I can't answer that question because it's based 

17 on demographics. It's based on many variables. 

18 Q. Have you seen a copy of the lawsuit petition 

19 filed by either Mr. Schneider or on behalf of the 

20 homeowner's association? 

21 A. I have not. 

22 Q. To your knowledge, has the congregation 

23 submitted any claim to an insurance carrier as a result 

24 of the claims in the lawsuit? 

25 A. No. 
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1 Q. And I take it, then, to your knowledge, an 

2 insurance carrier is not paying for any of the legal 

3 fees in this matter at this time? 

4 

5 

A. No. 
Q. Other than the meeting in August in 2013 at 

6 Ms. Peadon's house, the meeting of the homeowner's 

7 association members, were there any other times where 

8 you personally discussed with any board members of the 

9 HOA, prior to the purchase of 7103 Mumford, about the 

10 anticipated plans and would there be any issues? 
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11 A. I did not personally discuss with any member of 

12 the board the plans to purchase or to -- for the 

13 congregation to move to 7103 Mumford. 

14 Q. Do you know if any members of the congregation 

15 board of executives did? 

16 A. I don't know. 

17 Q. In Mark Gothelfs deposition, he stated that 

18 you had told him that in order to have any type of 

19 synagogue within the neighborhood, that it had to be 

20 considered a home church. Could you explain what you 

21 meant by that? 

22 A. Has nothing to do with the neighborhood, 

23 per se, but in order to be able to have a synagogue, my 

24 understanding was, vis-a-vis city codes, without having 

25 to get a certificate of occupancy if it was a residence 
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I that also served -- it was a residence where classes and 

2 services took place. 

3 Q. What is your current salary as the rabbi for 

4 the congregation? 

5 A. Sixty thousand per year. 

6 Q. I asked you at the beginning of the deposition 

7 whether or not you've ever provided deposition testimony 

8 previously. Have you ever testified in court before? 

9 A. No. 

10 Q. Prior to living in the Highlands ofMcKamy IV 

11 and V, have you ever lived in a property owner's 

12 association community? 

13 A. No. 

14 Q. The exhibits that we've marked as deposition 

15 exhibits which were printouts from the website, do those 

16 appear to be accurate printouts of the congregation's 

17 website? If you'll take a minute to look at the --

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. You don't have any reason to doubt the 

20 authenticity of those? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. Some additional background information, have 

23 you personally ever had to sue anyone in the past? 

24 A. No. 

25 Q. Have you previously been sued personally in 
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1 the past? 

2 A. No. 

Q. Have you ever filed a discrimination complaint 

4 against -- under any federal or state law on your own 

5 behalf? 

6 A. No. 
7 Q. Have you ever filed a religious freedom 

s complaint under federal or state law? 

9 A. No. 

10 

II 

12 

Q. And I need to ask, have you ever been arrested? 

A. No. 

MR. SURRA TT: Just an administrative 

13 matter, let me have the copy of the deposition notice 

I 4 just marked and attached to the --

15 THE REPORTER: Okay. 

16 (Deposition Exhibit 10 was marked.) 

17 THE REPORTER: It'll be 10. 
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18 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Sir, have you understood my 

19 questions today before answering, or if not, have you 

20 asked me to clarify them for you? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. This sounds like a trick question. It's not, 

23 but we've gone through a lot of questions. But as 

24 you're sitting here right at this minute, is there any 

25 one question that I've asked you where you're thinking, 

I I need to go back and change that or correct that? 

2 A. No. 

3 MR. SURRATT: Okay. Pass the witness. 

4 MR. SCHNEIDER: And I apologize. I just 

5 have one more question. 

6 MR. TANCABEL: That's fine. Go ahead. 

7 FURTHER EXAMINATION 

8 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 

9 Q. Regarding insurance coverage of7103 Mumford, 
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10 do you know how much insurance you're carrying there? 

II A. I personally don't know. We do have a policy, 

12 but I don't know what that -

13 Q. ls it in the congregation's name? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Who would -- I'm sorry. Who would know the 

16 terms of that policy? 

17 A. Treasurer, Josh Rothstein. 

18 MR. SCHNEIDER: Okay. That's all my 

19 questions. 

20 MR. TANCABEL: Why don't we take a break. 

21 I do have some cleanup points, and I don't think it'll 

22 take too long, but it might --

23 MR. SURRA TT: Sure. I'm fine. Whatever 

24 time you need, yeah. 

25 (A recess was taken.) 
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I EXAMINATION 1 thing is you have to go to the city wherein the eruv is 
2 BY MR. TANCABEL: 2 going to be and get a lease agreement from the mayor of 
3 Q. Rabbi Rich, were you a member of a shul before 3 that city. Currently, there is a lease agreement for 

4 starting the Congregation Toras Chaim? 4 the three eruvs that we have in Dallas. 

5 A. Yes. I was a member of Congregation Ohr 5 Then you have to spend countless 

6 Hatorah, spelled 0-h-r, second word H-a-t-o-r-a-h. 6 reconnaissance hours scouting out where would be the 

7 Q. And is there any relationship or affinity 7 best boundary for Jewish legal reasons and financial 

8 between the congregation and Ohr Hatorah? 8 reasons. And then you have to pay Oncor to attach PVC 

9 A. The spiritual outlook, the emphasis on quiet, 9 piping to the telephone or electric poles, and that's a 

10 respectful prayer and Torah study as being primary is 10 per-hour payment that you have to make to them. 

11 what is in common between Congregation Toras Chaim and 11 Q. Who created the eruv in which 7103 Mumford 

12 Ohr Hatorah. 12 Court is situated? 

13 Q. Does the congregation share that with any other 13 A. That was created by Rabbi Aryeh Rodin, who's 

14 shul in the Dallas/Fort Worth area? 14 the current rabbi in Ohev Shalom, and that was done in 

15 A. No, it doesn't. 15 consultation with Rabbi Nota, N-o-t-a, Greenblatt of 

16 Q. Could members --your initial members in 2007, 16 Memphis, Tennessee, who is one of the foremost experts 

17 could they participate fully in prayer life and prayer 17 in the country at creating eruvs. 

18 activities at Ohr Hatorah? 18 Q. Rabbi Rich, you mentioned that you first --

19 A. They could participate theoretically, but 19 that when the congregation first began in 2007, the 

20 geographically, it would be impossible. 20 activities of the congregation were primarily located in 

21 Q. Why is that? 21 a house on Hillcrest Road. Is that right? 

22 A. Because Ohr Hatorah is in the sooth eruv. 22 A. Correct. 

23 Dallas currently has three eruvs. The south eruv is 23 Q. Approximately how large was that home in terms 

24 about a 15-minute drive from the Highlands ofMcKamy. 24 of square feet? 

25 And, so, on Sabbath, when one is not allowed to drive, 25 A. It was about 2200 square feet, and we were 
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1 it would preclude any participation in that I holding services for the 10-plus members that we had in 

2 congregation, and that's really the focus of the whole 2 the garage. 

3 week. 3 Q. When you first began, where did -- in terms of 

4 Q. You mentioned that the 7103 Mumford Court 4 the location of the first members, was there any shift 

5 property is situated within an eruv. Can you explain 5 over time? 

6 what an eruv is? 6 A. Yeah. When we began, the membership was evenly 

7 A. On the Sabbath, one is prohibited from carrying 7 spaced on the east side and on the west side of 

8 any objects outside a private domain. The definition of 8 Hillcrest, and over time, the membership migrated to the 

9 a private domain is not only one's home where they live, 9 east side of Hillcrest, both in Highlands of McKamy IV 

10 but it would be any domain which is surrounded by a 10 and V and Highlands of McKamy II and III, which would be 

II series of vertical and horizontal poles, wires creating 11 on the east side of the bicycle path. 

12 what's called a tzuras hapesach in Hebrew, or the form 12 Q. You testified earlier that you began hosting 

13 of a door, and you connect these together. 13 the main activities of the congregation at your home, 

14 When you create that boundary, all of the 14 the Bremerton property, beginning in February of 2011 

15 homes within -- the Jewish homes within that boundary 15 and that you operated there until August of 2013. Was 

16 then have to join together as if they live in one place, 16 the homeowner's association aware of the activities that 

17 thus creating one large private domain facilitating the 17 were taking place at your home during those two and a 

18 ability to carry within that domain. Were there not to 18 half years? 

19 be an eruv, only men would be able to attend services, 19 A. Yes, they were. 

20 classes on the Sabbath, but women, children, et cetera, 20 Q. And how do you know that? 

21 would be totally precluded, thus greatly burdening the 21 A. I had a conversation with Cookie Peadon where 

22 congregation and the families' ability to grow. 22 she spoke to me about the congregation being in our home 

23 Q. How do you set up an eruv? 23 and if the plans were to stay there or if the plans were 

24 A. There is tremendous expense, tens of thousands 24 to build somewhere else, i.e., the property that we 

25 of dollars of expense in setting up an eruv. The first 25 owned on Hillcrest. I indicated that the plans were 
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I ultimately to build on the properties on Hillcrest. I I list, were those same activities taking place at your 

2 said I did not know when, and there were, you know, too 2 home before August of2013? 

3 many issues to discuss. 3 A. Absolutely. Very little has changed, as a 

4 Q. And when the congregations were primarily at 4 matter of fact, in terms of the activities taking place 

5 your home during that time span, that two and a half 5 at Mumford. 

6 years, did any member of the HOA ever raise the issue of 6 Q. And the size of the community, in terms of 

7 restrictive covenants? 7 where it is today versus 2011, 2013, how would you 

8 A. Notonce. 8 describe the difference? 

9 Q. Did the HOA ever seek to prevent you from 9 A. Fairly consistent. The size of the community, 

10 hosting these activities in your home? 10 again, is based on -- the community is not going to 

11 A. No. II increase because we have more space necessarily. It's 

12 Q. I think you've testified a bit about some of 12 going to be based on how many people are living within 

13 the challenges on having activities in your home. Can 13 walking distance of the shul, the synagogue. 

I4 you explain what those challenges -- what challenges 14 And, so, it's been pretty consistent. Some 

I5 might be, if any, that were there? 15 people move in. Some people move out. But we've been 

16 A. Sometimes it's helpful to understand based on a I6 hovering around 30 for quite some time. 

17 different circumstance. So if we understand that in 17 Q. I want to ask you specifically about some of 

18 7103 Mumford there is the entire bottom floor 18 the activities that -- regular activities that take 

19 available -- well, in our home, my wife - and we had I9 place at 7103 Mumford Court. I understand there's a 

20 currently somebody living on the bottom floor, and a lot 20 difference between Sabbath and non-Sabbath days. So for 

21 of the living space was taken up by the family. So it 21 non-Sabbath days, what are the main prayer events that 

22 was very burdensome for my family to have the 22 take place? 

23 congregation in our home. 23 A. The main prayer events are Shacharis, which is 

24 Q. How did the members of the congregation feel 24 the morning prayer service at 6:40 a.m., but because we 

25 about attending events at your home? 25 put such an emphasis on Torah study, so we have a study 
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1 A. So that was another issue, and that is that 1 group that takes place at 6 a.m. beforehand. So the 

2 people are reluctant to walk into somebody else's home 2 study group would have two to three people, and then the 

3 or, I would say, somebody else's space when they feel 3 prayer service in the morning would have 10 to 12 people 

4 they're walking into somebody's private space. So in my 4 attending that. 

5 home, it was much more of a private setting, and people 5 And then nothing for the rest of the day 

6 would feel that they were intruding and, as a result, 6 until the evening, when we would have a class a couple 

7 would rather not come. 7 of days a week at 7:15. I do a marriage class for the 

8 Q. Who lives currently at 7103 Mumford Court? 8 men, my wife does a marriage class for the ladies, and 

9 A. My son, Avrohom Moshe Rich. 9 approximately six people attend those classes. 

IO Q. And how long has he been living there? 10 Then there's a Talmud study class on a 

Il A. Since September 16, 2013. 11 nightly basis at 8:00. Three people come to that class. 

12 Q. And how do you know that this is his residence? 12 And then we have the evening service, again, at which 10 
13 A. He has internet access. He gets his bills 13 to 12 people attend. 
14 there. He lives there. He entertains his friends on a 14 Q. How many of those 10 to 12 people drive to 

15 nightly basis until all hours of the night and morning. I5 7103 Mumford Court to attend those events? 

16 He maintains the home, takes out the garbage, things 16 A. So of those 10 to 12 who come -- and it's 
I7 like that. 17 generally -- it's usually more 10 than 12, but -- and 
18 Q. When did the congregation move the bulk of its IS the reason why we stress ten, just by the way, is 
19 activities to the 7103 Mumford Court property? 19 because you need a quorum for a prayer service. In 
20 A. In August 2013. 20 Jewish law, you need ten. It's called a minyan. So 
21 Q. Was it any -- I mean, do you remember 21 that's why we're talking about we always want to have 
22 specifically when in August, or do you not recall that? 22 ten people there. So of those ten, five walk and five 
23 A. Middle of August, I think. 23 drive. 
24 Q. The activities that the counsel for the HOA and 24 Q. And has the congregation come up with a plan 
25 Plaintiff David Schneider went through on that long 25 for parking for these daily events? 
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1 A. Yes. When it became clear that there -- I 1 Q. And for all of those Sabbath activities that 

2 would say as a response to the neighborhood difficulties 2 you've just described, do any of your members drive to 

3 with the parking situation at the shul, so I sent out on 3 that, drive to the 7103 Mumford Court property? 

4 our text message list that we are currently only 4 A. No. Nobody drives, and from the very 

5 allowing parking on three spots directly in front of the 5 beginning -- nobody drives because on the Sabbath 

6 shul on the north side of Mumford, three spots on the 6 driving is prohibited. But one might think, well, I 

7 driveway in the back, and any overflow should be at 7 can't drive, but let me drive my car to the synagogue on 

8 Torah Day School, which is the major school on 8 Friday afternoon and leave it there. 

9 Frankford -- the corner of Frankford and Hillcrest at 9 So from the very beginning, it was a rule 

10 the northeast corner. It's approximately 300 feet away. 10 that nobody was allowed to park on the streets from 

11 Q. Let's talk about events on the Sabbath, and I 11 Friday through Saturday. And, so, if anybody comes, 

12 know the Sabbath begins on Friday evening. So what are 12 they either walk or get dropped off at the synagogue by 

13 the main events for the Friday evening through Saturday, 13 a spouse or friend. 

14 through the Sabbath on -- 14 Q. Would you describe your prayer services as 

15 A. Okay. Beginning on Friday night, we have a 15 noisy events? 

16 prayer service. It starts at approximately sundown. 16 A. No, very-- as a matter of fact, the major part 

17 It's an hour and a quarter, one hour devoted to prayer, 17 of the prayer service is what we call a silent devotion, 

18 15 minutes devoted to Torah study in the middle of that 18 and people's breathing is the loudest that you'll hear. 

19 prayer service. 19 Q. I wanted to ask you a few questions about your 

20 Then Shabbos morning, S-h-a-b-b-o-s, we 20 search for alternative locations. I know you've 

21 have a prayer service that begins at 8:30. Part of that 21 testified a bit about this already, and I'm going to try 

22 prayer service is a mommy and me program that takes 22 not to overlap. 

23 place in our home. There's a junior congregation that 23 But approximately how long had you explored 

24 takes place in the home of the Krycers. That's a family 24 alternative locations when you were -- after starting in 

25 that lives in the neighborhood. 25 2007? 
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1 And, then, for the men and women, the 1 A. We spent -- once we realized that Hillcrest -

2 prayer service is from 8:30 until 11 :00. And at 11:00, 2 the Hillcrest home, that we were going to outgrow that 

3 we have what's called a kiddush, k-i-d-d-u-s-h, and that 3 and that the land that we owned across the street was 

4 is in reference to a special blessing said over a cup of 4 looking less and less like a viable situation for us, 

5 wine to sanctify the day, and a table laden with food 5 which is probably three years into the existence of the 

6 and drink for the people who've been praying and haven't 6 congregation, so we spent then years looking at other 

7 eaten all morning. 7 possible places for the congregation, could we be in 

8 Q. And, then, in the evening of that day? 8 Torah Day School, could we be in some commercial space, 

9 A. And, then, in the evening, we come back towards 9 could we be in a gated community, could we be -- you 

10 sundown. There's a class in the afternoon that I give 10 know, all of these other places, and everything just 

11 to about five, six, seven people. Then there's a prayer 11 kept saying no. 

12 service around sundown, a small meal. About ten people 12 We couldn't be south ofMcCallum because it 

13 attend that. And then a concluding prayer service 13 was too close to Ohev Shalom. We couldn't be in the 

14 called Maariv in the evening. That is SO minutes after 14 apartment areas, A, because it was apartments and, B, 

15 sundown. 15 because it was a rough neighborhood. And, so, we were 

16 Q. And how many people approximately attend that? 16 really at a loss. 

17 A. About 10 to 12 people likewise, so - okay. So 17 Q. So what did you conclude? What properties were 

18 let me give you the numbers because I didn't give you 18 viable after that search? 

19 the numbers on all of those. 19 A. And, so, this was taking place while we were in 

20 Q. Yeah. 20 our home. 

21 A. You'll have about 20 people attending Friday 21 Q. Uh-huh. 

22 night. You'll have about 30, 35 people attending 22 A. And the only time that we ever really saw a 

23 Shabbos morning. And, then, in the afternoon, it does 23 good solution was when Mark Gothelf called me and he 

24 dwindle. You could have 20. Most times, you'll have 24 said, I saw a home, it's at the edge of the Highlands of 

25 less than that. 25 McKamy; we were very strongly considering it for our 
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1 family, the Gothelf family, and I think that you should l A. So there are other synagogues that would be 

2 take a look at it as a possible solution for the 2 culturally unacceptable. For instance, you may have 

3 synagogue. 3 Sephardic versus Ashkenazik, and that means people from 

4 Q. What is the significance of the Torah Day 4 maybe north Africa, Syrian, Turkish, Greek communities, 

5 School with respect to the congregation and its 5 different culture, different rules. So that would not 

6 location? 6 be acceptable for somebody who is of an Ashkenazik 

7 A. The Torah Day School is the only school in 7 cultural descent. That would be sort of the more 

8 Dallas where the members of Congregation Toras Chaim, 8 European descent, different rules, different cultures 

9 Ohev Shalom, Ohr Hatorah and a number of other new 9 completely. 

10 burgeoning congregations send their children. So the 10 Then there's Ohev Shalom, which is a 

11 attractiveness of this area is Torah Day School. It 11 wonderful, warm, fantastic synagogue, yet the emphasis 

12 allows our children to walk to school, to be very close 12 there is not as strong on Torah study and very quiet 

13 to their social and celebratory events, and it's really 13 prayer service like that we have, and the members would 

14 an anchor to the community. 14 not feel comfortable there. 

15 Q. If congregation activities are prevented from 15 Q. I'm just about done here. Are you aware of any 

16 taking place within the Highlands of McKamy by court 16 nonresidential uses of property that are going on within 

17 order, what would be the effect of that on the 17 the Highlands ofMcKamy? 

18 congregation? 18 A. I'm aware of two that are going on. One I'm 

19 A. It would probably kill the congregation. 19 aware of sort of on a secondary basis, and one I'm 

20 Q. And why is that? 20 personally very close to. 

21 A. We could not -- we could not comfortably, 21 Of the two nonresidential uses, one is a 

22 without tremendous burden, go back into our home. Even 22 swimming -- swimming school for infants and toddlers, to 

23 if it would be considered legal, A, it would be a 23 teach them emergency swim instruction. It's my next 

24 tremendous burden to my wife, my family; B, the members 24 door neighbor. We happen to love her very much and her 

25 of the synagogue were uncomfortable being in such close 25 school. It creates -- and I'm not at all complaining. 

87 89 

1 proximity to our privacy. 1 This is just factual -- creates probably more traffic 

2 We are bound by the eruv carrying. We 2 during the summer -- spring, summer, fall months from 

3 can't get into our cars on the Sabbath. And, therefore, 3 the swim instruction than we have from the synagogue. 

4 since we can't go south ofMcCallum, we can't go north 4 Q. And how long has that swimming school been in 

5 of Frankford. Most of the areas north of Frankford are 5 existence? 

6 outside of the eruv. 6 A. Over four years for sure. And she'll have 

7 Q. Let me clarify. The order that may be entered 7 instruction two times a day on a regular basis during 

8 is a temporary injunction, so it would not be -- it 8 all of that time, and cars will come park in front of my 

9 would not be permanent, at least at first. But would a 9 house, in front of her house. You'll have three, four, 

10 temporary injunction for six months, a year -- what 10 five, six cars coming, pulling out, three more, four, 

11 would be the effect of that on the congregation? 11 five, six cars coming until the several hours have 

12 A. So we understand the importance of prayer and 12 passed and the instruction is finished. That's one. 

13 study, and this is something that takes place on a daily 13 And the other one is there are two homes 

14 basis. In Judaism, consistency in daily prayer and 14 for hospice care in the neighborhood. I don't 

15 study is of utmost importance, and just like we have to 15 personally know very much about it, but I have heard 

16 eat daily, we have to feed our souls daily. 16 about that. 

17 And if people were restricted from doing 17 Q. Did you take any action in reliance on the 

18 that for six months, it would decimate individuals, 18 homeowner's association's failure to raise the 

19 families. They would be forced to relocate, and it 19 restrictive covenant issue? 

20 would, in effect, end the congregation. 20 A. I'll tell you like this. I never knew about 

21 Q. Do members of the congregation have other shuls 21 restrictive covenants. They never talked about 

22 to which they could move within walking distance? 22 restrictive covenants, so I never felt that I needed to 

23 A. No, they don't. 23 do something pro or con because of restrictive 

24 Q. And why is that? Aren't there other orthodox 24 covenants. 

25 synagogues in the area? 25 The only issue that was ever raised to me 
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1 from Cookie Peadon, I guess, as the president and 

2 representative of the homeowner's association, was their 

3 concern that the residence at 7103 Mumford was not 

4 within city code. And, so, from our perspective, that 

5 was the issue that we needed to take care of. 

6 Before that, she never spoke to me or 

7 anybody spoke to me about the concept of restrictive 

8 covenants, and that was when the synagogue was in our 

9 home. And, therefore, we had no knowledge or indication 

10 from the homeowner's association that it was an issue 

11 with them. 

12 Q. Would the congregation have invested the money 

13 it did in the Mumford Court property if it had known 

14 that the HOA was going to take a position against it? 

15 A. For sure not. 

16 Q. Have members of the congregation relied on the 

17 fact that there was not going to be opposition from the 

18 HOA? 

19 A. Members of the congregation have moved to the 

20 neighborhood, selling their home where they used to 

21 live, buying a home in the neighborhood because they 

22 felt that, as the shul was continuing in my home without 

23 opposition, that would certainly be the case when we 

24 moved to 7103 Mumford. 

25 MR. TANCABEL: I'm done. 
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I 

2 

3 

MR. SCHNEIDER: I have a number of items. 

MR. TANCABEL: All right. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

4 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 

Q. You indicated that the boundary of an eruv is a 

6 spot which one cannot carry items across, ifl 

7 understood what you were saying, and you specifically 

8 indicated that women and children would be affected. 

9 How so? 

10 A. Pushing a stroller is called carrying. 
11 Q. Okay. If a woman were to walk across it 

12 without a stroller, by herself, she would be able to 

13 cross that? 

14 A. As long as she wasn't carrying anything like a 
15 handbag or --
16 Q. Okay. A handbag? 

17 A. Uh-huh. 
18 Q. What about men? Are men allowed to carry a 

19 wallet? 

20 A. No. 
21 Q. Okay. 

22 A. No. My specific reference was with respect to 
23 mothers and children, yeah. 
24 Q. I understand completely. Ifl understand it 

25 correctly, there is land on the west side of Hillcrest 
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1 which is not in deed restricted areas. Would it not be 

2 possible to lease a house over there and conduct 

3 services from such a house? 

4 A. I'm not familiar with it, and I don't know 

5 where that is, and I don't know where that is within 

6 proximity to our membership. 

7 Q. I thought you used to live on Hillcrest. 

8 A. Oh, you're talking about the strip of houses 

9 there? 

10 Q. On the west side. 

II A. Okay. 

12 Q. The opposite side of Hillcrest from where 

13 Mumford is. 

14 A. Right, so -- the opposite side of Hillcrest. 

15 Okay. Where we used to -- where the congregation used 

16 to be was in a house, 17912 Hillcrest, which is on the 

17 east side. 

18 Q. Uh-huh. 

19 A. Okay. There's a strip of houses there that are 

20 all very, very small, approximately the same size, 2200 

21 square feet. So the reason why we moved out of that 

22 originally is because the congregation outgrew those 

23 homes. 

24 Q. I understand, and at the same time, I know the 

25 area, having driven through it a bit. There's a number 

I of fairly good size houses over close to Texas Torah 

2 Institute. Any number of them -- in fact, there are 

3 several churches over there. 

4 

5 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Would not leasing one of those locations be a 

6 perfect solution for you to need to relocate? 

7 A. That's very, very far from where our membership 

8 is. 

9 Q. So it would be an inconvenience to your --

10 A. It would be a real burden. 

11 Q. It would be an inconvenience? 

12 A. Yeah. No, it would not be an inconvenience. 

13 It would be a burden. It would be very difficult. 

14 Texas Torah Institute is on Davenport. Yeah, I don't 

15 think that any of the mothers pushing strollers would be 

16 able to make that. That's very, very far. 

17 It's important to realize that just because 
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18 the eruv extends to a certain boundary doesn't mean that 

19 it's convenient to locate anywhere within the eruv. The 

20 decision to make the eruv this wide or this long very 

21 often is done for financial reasons or for technical 

22 reasons --

23 Q. Uh-huh. 

24 A. -- not because we expect the community to be 

25 living there. 
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Q. Uh-huh. You indicated it would be a burden, if 

2 you were unable to practice at 7103, if you moved back 

3 housing services at your location on Bremerton. Is that 

4 correct? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. What makes you think that the location at 

7 7119 Bremerton is exempt from the deed restrictions? 

8 A. I believe I answered the question before, were 

9 it to be legal. So I included that in my statement. 

10 Q. If it were not possible because you were given 

11 a permanent injunction to operate from 7103, is there 

12 anything that makes you think that you'd be able to 

13 preferably operate from 7119 Bremerton? 

14 MR. TANCABEL: Objection, form. 

15 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Okay. 

16 THE REPORTER: Was there an answer? 

17 THE WITNESS: Was there a question? 

18 MR. SCHNEIDER: I'll withdraw the question. 

19 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) You indicated that you had 

20 asked your congregation to limit parking to three spaces 

21 on the north side of Mumford. Would it surprise you to 

22 learn that at the services this morning, there was 

23 somebody parking on the south side of Mumford? 

24 A. It would not surprise me. We do our absolute 

25 best to communicate to the membership. So from time to 
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I time, we may have people who either forget or come from 

2 outside the membership to pray with us, and we do our 

3 best, when we see somebody parking in a place where they 

4 shouldn't be, to let them know that next time, please 

5 don't do that. 

6 Q. Did you have anybody attend this morning that 

7 was from outside of your normal membership? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 

10 

Q. Did that person drive? 

A. Theydid. 

11 Q. You indicated that your son moved into 

12 7103 Mumford on September 16th of2013. Why did he move 

13 in then? 

14 

15 

A. I need clarification on the question. 

Q. Was there any particular reason? Did he need a 

16 place to stay? Was he doing it so that there would 

17 be -- it would be occupied as a residence? What was the 

18 driving factor there? 

19 A. There were many reasons why. A, it was good 

20 for my son, who was living at home, needed to spread his 

21 wings -- it was a great opportunity for him to learn 

22 responsibility. 

23 The shul felt that legally, based on 

24 consultation, that it was better to have somebody living 

25 as their primary residence in the house and the shul 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

I operating within somebody else using the house as a 

2 primary residence. So it was better legally for us 

3 based on the city codes, and those are the two reasons 

4 why. 

5 Q. When you say legal reasons, am I to understand 

6 that the driving legal reason would have been something 

7 from the City of Dallas? 

8 

9 

A. Correct. 
Q. It was my understanding that the City of Dallas 

10 was looking at that spot as being a church and that 

11 residential usage there is not really a factor one way 

12 or the other for the City of Dallas. Am I 
13 misunderstanding that? 

14 A. Yes, you're misunderstanding that. 
15 Q. You're saying that the City of Dallas is 

16 requiring somebody to live there and has always been 

17 requiring somebody to live there? 

18 A. No. The City of Dallas is only communicating 
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19 with the congregation as far as the congregational use, 

20 and that's it. The City of Dallas is not talking about 

21 the person who's living there, and they're saying the 

22 fact that the congregation was using the house with the 

23 frequency with which it uses it wants us to get a CO, 

24 and that's it. 
25 Q. So why would the City of Dallas be asking you 

1 to put somebody in there as a resident? 

2 A. They never asked us to do that. That was what 

3 we did on our own. 

4 Q. So what was the legal purpose of doing that? 

5 If the City of Dallas is not asking you to do it, why 

6 would you do it? 

7 A. Because there is a law called a home church, 

8 that if a home is being used as a residence, that one 

9 would be able to have services or classes taking place 

10 within that home without having a certificate of 

97 

11 occupancy. And, so, that was what we were hoping for 

12 initially. The City of Dallas never asked us. 
13 Q. And I understood that the City of Dallas had 

14 already indicated that you needed to get a certificate 

15 of occupancy. So what would be the purpose of putting 

16 somebody there? 

17 A. They indicated that after Avrohom Moshe was 

1 s already living there. 

19 Q. They did? That was the first time that you had 

20 heard that you needed a certificate of occupancy, was 

21 after he moved in? 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. And yet you indicated on August 18th that you 

24 were planning to get a certificate of occupancy that day 

25 or within days of that, which was a month earlier. 
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2 

3 

4 

A. Uh-huh. 
Q. Can you reconcile that? 

A. Okay. Can you repeat the question again? 
Q. On August 18th, you told me and a number of 

5 other people that you --

6 A. Right, at the board meeting. 
7 Q. -- were inunediately getting a certificate of 

8 occupancy because it was necessary. If it was necessary 

9 to get a certificate of occupancy as a church, there 

10 would be no reason to have anybody residing there. So 

11 my question again is: What was the legal motivation? 

12 A. It's not -- it's not true what you're saying. 
13 We could have -- we could try to get a certificate of 
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14 occupancy but also have somebody living there because -
15 you know, you want to try to do things in the best way 
16 possible. The best way possible would be to get the 

1 7 certificate of occupancy, based on information that we 
18 were getting, but in the event that that doesn't or 
19 isn't able to be acquired, then we want to have a home 
20 church situation. 
21 Q. You indicated that there is a swimming school 

22 next door to your house on Bremerton. Have you ever 

23 reported that to the homeowner's association? 

24 A. No. 

25 Q. As far as you know, did anybody ever report 

1 your operation from Bremerton to the homeowner's 

2 association? 

3 A. Can you define "report"? 
4 Q. Say to them --

5 A. That it's taking place? 
6 Q. -- that it's taking place and needs to stop or 
7 some variation, or is there a rule or anything like 

8 that? 

9 A. I can't tell you what residents did. I can 
10 just tell you that the homeowner's association never 
11 told me that it has to stop. 
12 Q. The swim school, you indicated it's been there 

13 over four years. Is that correct? 

14 A. That's the information that the -- the owner 
15 tells me. 
16 Q. Were you aware there was a statute of 

17 limitations in the state of Texas of four years for 

18 violations of restrictive covenants? 

19 A. (No audible response). 
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20 MR. SCHNEIDER: I think that's good for me. 

21 Thank you. 
22 MR. SURRA TT: I don't have any questions. 
23 MR. TANCABEL: I'm done, too. That's it. 

24 THE REPORTER: Off the record. 

25 (End of proceedings at 4:36 p.m.) 

Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

100 

1 CHANGES AND SIGNATURE 
2 WITNESS NAME: RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH DA TE: 4/09/14 
3 PAGE LINE CHANGE REASON 
4 

5 --------------------
6 

7 --------------------
8 --------------------

9 --------------------
10 --------------------
11 
12 I, RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH, have read the 

foregoing deposition and hereby affix my signature that 
I 3 same is true and correct, except as noted above. 
14 

15 RABBI "JORDAN" YAAKOV RICH 
16 THESTATEOF ) 

COUNTY OF ) 
17 

Before me, on this day 
18 personally appeared RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH, known to 

me (or proved to me under oath or through 
I 9 ) (description of identity 

card or other document)) lo be the person whose name is 
20 subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 

to me that they executed the same for the purposes and 
21 consideration therein expressed. 
22 Given under my hand and seal of office this 

23 
24 

25 

____ day of ____________ _ 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF ______ _ 

COMMISSION EXPIRES:-----

1 NO. 429-04998-2013 
2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, ) IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

Plaintiff ) 
3 ) 

vs. ) 
4 ) 

WDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. ) 
5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION ) 

TORAS CHAIM, INC., ) 
6 Defendants ) 

) 
7 and ) 429!h WDICIAL DISTRICT 

) 
8 HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY IV AND ) 

V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT ) 
9 ASSOCIATION, ) 

Intervening Plaintiff ) 
JO ) 

v. ) 
11 ) 

WDITH D. GOTHELF AND MARK ) 
12 B. GOTHELF, ) 

13 
14 

Defendants ) COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 
I 5 DEPOSITION OF RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH 

APRIL 9, 2014 
16 
17 I, Lisa M. Durham, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 
18 and for !he State of Texas, hereby certify to the 
I 9 following: 
20 That !he witness, RABBI "JORDAN" Y AAKOV RICH, was 
21 duly affirmed by the officer and !hat !he transcript of 
22 the oral deposition is a true record of !he testimony 
23 given by the witness; 
24 That !he deposition transcript was submitted on 
25 to the witness or to the attorney 

101 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 105



27 (Pages 102-104) 

Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

102 104 

1 for the witness for examination, signature and return to 1 FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER RULE 203 TRCP 
2 me by 2 The original deposition was/was not returned to the 
3 That the amount of time used by each party at the 3 deposition officer on ; 
4 deposition is as follows: 4 If returned, the attached Changes and Signature 
5 Mr. David R. Schneider - 59 minutes 

5 page contains any changes and the reasons therefor; 
Mr. David A. Surratt - I hour, 25 minutes 

6 If returned, the original deposition was delivered 
6 Mr. John Tancabel - 30 minutes 

7 to Mr. David A. Surratt, Custodial Attorney; 
Mr. Justin Butterfield - 0 minutes 

8 That is the deposition officer's 
7 

9 charges to the Intervening Plaintiff for preparing the 
8 That pursuant to information given to the 

10 original deposition transcript and any copies of 
9 deposition officer at the time said testimony was taken, exhibits; II 

IO the following includes counsel for all parties of 
That the deposition was delivered in accordance 12 

11 record: 

12 Mr. David R. Schneider, Plaintiff Appearing Pro Se 
13 with Rule 203.3, and that a copy of this certificate was 

13 Mr. Justin Butterfield, Attorney for Defendants 
14 served on all parties shown herein on and filed with the 
15 Clerk. 

WDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF AND CONGREGATION 
16 Certified to by me this day of 

14 TORAS CHAIM, INC. 

15 Mr. John Tancabel, Attorney for Defendant, 
17 2014. 

CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, INC. 18 

16 19 . fl~v(f\ ~-.).Jx;.lfl 

Mr. David A. Surratt, Attorney for the Intervening 20 

17 Plaintiff, HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY N AND V COMMUNITY Lisa M. Durham, Texas CSR #6651 

IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION 21 Expiration Date: 12/31/15 

18 Firm Registration No. #298 

19 I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 22 Alpha Depo 

20 related to, nor employed by any of the parties or 13140 Coit Road, Suite 216 

21 attorneys in the action in which this proceeding was 23 Dallas, Texas 75240 

22 taken, and further that I am not financially or (214) 321-5599 Phone 

23 otherwise interested in the outcome of the action. 24 (214) 321-1922 Fax 

24 www.alphadepo.com 

25 25 

103 

1 Further certification requirements pursuant to 
2 Rule 203 ofTRCP will be certified to after they have 
3 occurred. 
4 Certified to by me this day of 
5 , 2014. 01gitallysignedbylisaDurham 

Date: 2014.04.23 07:44:24 -

6 : ,,' ;)_ ..,\ 1 ·) - -"'"""'• h..V.fL 
07:00 
Reason:lamtheauthorofthis 
document 

7 Location: Dallas, TX 

8 

Lisa M. Durham, Texas CSR #6651 
9 Expiration Date: 12/31/15 

Firm Registration No. #298 
IO AlphaDepo 

13140 Coit Road, Suite 216 
11 Dallas, Texas 75240 

(214) 321-5599 Phone 
12 (214) 321-1922 Fax 

www.alphadepo.com 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 106



Filed: 5/15/2014 3:42:17 PM 
, f Andrea S. Thompson Schneider vs. Gothel , et alElistrictClerk 

4/9/2014 Rabbi 11 J01::Qi~tsunf:l.aei<ksov Rich 
B LeAnne Brazeal Deputy 
Envelope ID: 1278395 

101 

1 NO. 429-04998-2013 

2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 
Plaintiff 

3 
vs. 

4 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. 

5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION 
TORAS CHAIM, INC., 

6 Defendants 

7 and 

8 HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY IV AND 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 

9 ASSOCIATION, 
Intervening Plaintiff 

10 
v. 

11 

) IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 429th JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND MARK 
12 B. GOTHELF, 

) 
) 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Defendants ) COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 
DEPOSITION OF RABBI 11 JORDAN 11 YAAKOV RICH 

APRIL 9, 2014 

I, Lisa M. Durham, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 

and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the 

following: 

That the witness, RABBI "JORDAN" YAAKOV RICH, was 

duly affirmed by the officer and that the transcript of 

the oral deposition is a true record of the testimony 

given by the witness; 

That the deposition transcript was submitted on 

Lf j:) 3/J LI- to the witness or to the attorney 

ALPHA DEPO 
(888) 667-DEPO 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 107



Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 Rabbi 11 Jordan 11 Yaakov Rich 

102 

1 

2 

for the witne1s ~or examination, signature and return to 

me by 5/Jb// 4- ; 
3 

4 

That the amount of time used by each party at the 

deposition is as follows: 

5 Mr. David R. Schneider - 59 minutes 
Mr. David A. Surratt - 1 hour, 25 minutes 

6 Mr. John Tancabel - 30 minutes 
Mr. Justin Butterfield - O minutes 

7 

8 That pursuant to information given to the 

9 deposition officer at the time said testimony was taken, 

10 the following includes counsel for all parties of 

11 record: 

12 Mr. David R. Schneider, Plaintiff Appearing Pro Se 

13 Mr. Justin Butterfield, Attorney for Defendants 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF AND CONGREGATION 

14 TORAS CHAIM, INC. 

15 Mr. John Tancabel, Attorney for Defendant, 
CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, INC. 

16 
Mr. David A. Surratt, Attorney for the Intervening 

17 Plaintiff, HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY IV AND v COMMUNITY 
IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION 

18 

19 I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 

20 related to, nor employed by any of the parties or 

21 attorneys in the action in which this proceeding was 

22 taken, and further that I am not financially or 

23 otherwise interested in the outcome of the action. 

24 

25 

ALPHA DEPO 
(888) 667-DEPO 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 108



Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 Rabbi "Jordan" Yaakov Rich 

103 

1 Further certification requirements pursuant to 

2 Rule 203 of TRCP will be certified to after they have 

3 occurred. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Certified to by me this day of 

O:pLLQ, I 2014 • 

OlgitaUy signed by Lisa Durllam 
• " '· \ Date: 2014.04.23 07:44:23 ..07:00 · ·· -, ,..1\ I · ,,. ·\_ · v ·1 ,..,,..., Reason: lam lhe author or this document 

l •... t>.. •· ...... ~···,.,1., ..... -1l' Locet1on:Oanas.TX 

Lisa M. Durham, Texas CSR #6651 
Expiration Date: 12/31/15 
Firm Registration No. #298 
Alpha Depo 
13140 Coit Road, Suite 216 
Dallas, Texas 75240 
(214) 321-5599 Phone 
(214) 321-1922 Fax 
www.alphadepo.com 

ALPHA DEPO 
{888) 667-DEPO 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 109



Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
4/9/2014 Rabbi 11 Jordan 11 Yaakov Rich 

104 

1 

2 

FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER RULE 203 TRCP 

The original deposition wa~~returned to the 

3 deposition officer on t:?{l'o ~- ; 
4 If returned, the attached Changes and Signature 

5 page contains any changes and the reasons therefor; 

6 If returned, the original deposition was delivered 

7 to Mr. David A. Surratt, Custodial Attorney; 

8 That$ C)o0.0D is the deposition officer 1 s 

9 charges to the Intervening Plaintiff for preparing the 

10 original deposition transcript and any copies of 

11 exhibits; 

12 That the deposition was delivered in accordance 

13 with Rule 203.3, and that a copy of this certificate was 

14 served on all parties shown herein on and filed with the 

15 Clerk. 

16 Certified to by me this /51h day of mcu.r 
17 2014. 

18 

19 
f ! ··" ... · 

, ·.ii::{\._ v1\ ) \ i-_ __ .0J\.J·,o-rf~ . 
20 

21 
Lisa M. Durham, Texas CSR #6651 
Expiration Date: 12/31/15 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Firm Registration No. #298 
Alpha Depo 
13140 Coit Road, Suite 216 
Dallas, Texas 75240 
(214) 321-5599 Phone 
(214) 321-1922 Fax 
www.alphadepo.com 

ALPHA DEPO 
(888) 667-DEPO 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 110



EXHIBITE 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 111



f a:r N o:rth 1oar1 as Eruv Bou ndriies 

COiNGRl&ln-DH 
0111.V DIAlOM 

...... 
·5 
0 

-
' 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 112



EXHIBIT F 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 113



Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
3/18/2014 Mark B. Gothelf 

CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 

Plaintiff, 

) IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
) 

vs. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK 
B. GOTHELF, AND 
CONGREGATION TORAS 
CHAIM I INC. I 

Defendants, 

and 

HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY IV 
AND V COMMUNITY 
IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION, 

Intervening Plaintiff, 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

ORAL DEPOSITION OF 

MARK B. GOTHELF 

MARCH 18, 2014 

ALPHA DEPO 
(888) 667-DEPO 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 114



2 (Pages 2-5) 

Schneider vs. Gothelf, et al. 
3/18/2014 

2 

1 ORAL DEPOSITION OF MARK B. GOTHELF, produced as 

2 a witness at the instance of the Plaintiff, and duly 

3 sworn, was taken in the above-styled and numbered 

4 cause on March 18, 2014, from 2:03 p.m. to 4:16 p.m., 
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6 Texas, reported by stenographic method, at the offices 

7 of Haynes and Boone, LLP, located at 2323 Victory 

8 A venue, Suite 700, in the City of Dallas, County of 

9 Dallas, and State of Texas, pursuant to the Texas 

I 0 Rules of Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on 

11 the record or attached hereto. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I APPEARANCES 
2 APPEARING FOR THE PLAINTIFF PRO SE: 
3 Mr. David R. Schneider 

7035 Mumford 
4 Dallas, Texas 75252 

(214) 315-5531 
5 davidrayschneider@gmail.com 
6 APPEARING FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 
7 Mr. Justin Butterfield 

LIBERTY INSTITUTE 
8 200 l Plano Parkway 

Suite 1600 
9 Plano, Texas 75075 

(972) 941-445 I 
1 0 jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
11 APPEARING FOR THE DEFENDANT, CONGREGATION TORAS 

CHAIM, INC.: 
12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Mr. John T ancabel 
HA YNES AND BOONE, LLP 
2323 Victory A venue 
Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
(214) 651-5597 
john.tancabel@haynesboone.com 

APPEARING FOR THE INTERVENING PLAINTIFF: 

Mr. David A. Surratt 
18 RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, PC 

3710 Rawlins Street 
19 Suite 1400 

Dallas, Texas 75219 
20 (214) 760-6766 

dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 
21 

22 

23 
24 
25 

ALSO PRESENT: 

Mr. Mike Donohue, Homeowners Association of 
Highland McKarny IV and V 

3 

Mark B. Gothelf 

1 INDEX 
PAGE 

2 
Appearances ...................................... 3 

3 Stipulations ..................................... 5 
Proceedings ...................................... 5 

4 
MARK B. GOTHELF 

5 
Examination by Mr. David R. Schneider............ 7 

6 Examination by Mr. David A. Surratt... ........... 31 
Re-Examination by Mr. David R. Schneider ......... 63 

7 Re-Examination by Mr. David A. Surratt .......... 66 
Re-Examination by Mr. David R. Schneider ........ 71 

8 Examination by Mr. Justin Butterfield ............ 71 

9 
10 

Signature and Changes ............................ 75 
Reporter's Certificate ........................... 76 

11 NO. 
EXHIBITS 

DESCRJPTION PAGE 
12 Exhibit 1 Power of Attorney ..................... 48 

Exhibit 2 l 0/4/2013 Letter from Mr. Schneider... 54 
13 Exhibit 3 10/14/2013 Letter from Mr. Surratt.. .. 55 

Exhibit 4 1117/2013 Letter from Mr. Surratt.. ... 56 
14 Exhibit 5 Notice of Deposition .................. 69 

15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Exhibit 6 3/13/2014 Letter from Mr. Surratt ..... 69 

1 

2 

3 

PROCEEDINGS 
(MARCH 18, 2014, 2:03 p.m.) 

MARK B. GOTHELF, 
4 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 
s MR. BUTTERFIELD: And -- but before we 
6 get started, we -- we wanted to have some preliminary 
7 matters on the record. Are you okay with having an 
8 agreement that if one person objects, that that 
9 objection is for both parties? Otherwise, then if I 

10 object, then he has to keep joining in. So it just 
11 simplifies it --
12 MR. SCHNEIDER: Sure. 
13 MR. BUTTERFIELD: -- that when --
14 MR. SURRATT: Agreed. 
15 MR. TANCABEL: And-- and it will go 
16 both ways --
17 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yeah. 
18 MR. TANCABEL: -- so that if--
19 MR. BUTTERFIELD: If one of you 
20 objects --
21 MR. TANCABEL: -- David Surratt 
22 objects --
23 MR. BUTTERFIELD: -- it will -- it will 
24 be good for both. 
25 MR. TAN CAB EL: -- it will be good as to 

4 

5 
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I you and -- I Q. Congratulations. 

2 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Right. 2 A. (Moving head up and down.) 

3 MR. SCHNEIDER: Sounds good. 3 Q. What line of business are you in? 

4 MR. TAN CAB EL: So you don't -- it just 4 A. Investments. 

5 prevents less (inaudible). 5 Q. Investments. Any particular kind? 

6 MR. SURRATT: Yeah. So one objection 6 A. No. 
7 for either side stands -- 7 Q. Are you self-employed? 

8 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Right. 8 A. Yes. 
9 MR. TANCABEL: Yeah. 9 Q. How long have you been in this line of 

10 MR. SURRA TT: -- for all the parties for 10 business? 

II that side. II A. About nine years. 
12 MR. TANCABEL: Yeah. Yeah. 12 Q. Thank you. Before that, may I ask what you 

13 MR. SCHNEIDER: Sounds good. 13 did? 

14 MR. TANCABEL: And -- and -- and that 14 A. A variety of things. Real estate broker. 
15 will apply to later depositions, as well. And you're 15 Q. Real estate broker. Are -- your investments, 

16 fine with that? 16 do any of them include real estate? 

17 MR. SURRATT: Yeah, I'm fine. 17 A. Yes. 
18 MR. SCHNEIDER: Sure. 18 Q. Would you say that's a substantial area of 

19 MR. TAN CAB EL: Great. 19 your investments? 

20 THE REPORTER: Okay. 20 A. You'd have to define substantial. 
21 MR. SURRA TT: Unsigned copy -- can an 21 Q. Fifty percent or more. 

22 unsigned copy be used if the signed copy is not 22 A. No. 
23 available yet? 23 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

24 MR. BUTTERFIELD: (Moving head up and 24 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Where do you currently 

25 down.) 25 reside? 

7 9 

I MR. SURRATT: And I assume Mr. Gothelf I A. In Dallas. 
2 does want to read and sign the deposition? 2 Q. Can you give me your address, please? 

3 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yeah, I -- I would 3 A. 6406 Dykes Way. 
4 think so. 4 Q. What was your previous address -- residence 

5 MR. SURRATT: Okay. 5 address before you lived at 6406 Dykes? 

6 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yes. 6 A. I Wilder Road, Monsey, New York. 
7 MR. TANCABEL: Yeah. 7 Q. How long did you reside there? 

8 EXAMINATION 8 A. Fifteen years. 
9 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 9 Q. Is that a house or an apartment? 

10 Q. Can you tell me your name, please. 10 A. House. 
II A. Mark Gothelf. II Q. Do you own it? 

12 Q. What is your middle name, please? 12 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

13 A. Benyamin. 13 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Do you own the house 

14 Q. Could you say that again? 14 at --

15 A. Benyamin. 15 A. It's not in my name. 
16 Q. Okay. How old are you? 16 Q. Okay. May -- ifit is not too intrusive, may 

17 A. Forty-three. 17 I ask your religious affiliation, if any? 

18 Q. Are you married? 18 A. Jewish. 
19 A. Yes. 19 Q. Do you understand you're here today as a 

20 Q. Do you or your wife have any children? 20 defendant in a lawsuit I've initiated, Cause 

21 A. Yes. 21 429-04998-2013 in the 429th District Court of the 
22 Q. How many? 22 State of Texas? 
23 A. Three. 23 A. I'm unfamiliar with the cause number, but I'm 
24 Q. Three. What ages, may I ask? 24 aware that --
25 A. Four, two, and nine months. 25 Q. Okay. 
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A. -- I'm here as a defendant. 
2 Q. In that case, have you read the original 

3 petition that has been filed? 

4 A. Part of it. 
5 Q. Are you generally familiar with its contents? 
6 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

7 A. I'm familiar with some of the contents. 
8 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Okay. Are you owner or 
9 co-owner ofa house at 7103 Mumford in Dallas, Collin 

10 County, Texas, zip code 75252? 

11 A. Yes-
12 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) When did you purchase 

15 that house? 

16 A. May or June of2013. 

17 Q. How much did you pay for that house? 

18 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

19 A. I believe it was 310. 
20 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) What is your percentage 
21 ofownership in 7103 Mumford? 
22 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

23 A. I don't know that I can define that. 
24 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Okay. Are there any 

25 co-owners of that house? 

11 

1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Who are those, please? 

3 A. My mother. 

4 Q. And her name, please? 

5 A. Judith. 

6 Q. Is that Judith --

7 A. Gothelf. 

8 Q. -- Gothelf? Thank you. Would you say that 

9 the two of you own it jointly? 

10 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, fonn. 

11 A. It's hard to define. 

12 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Okay. Does your wife 

13 have an interest in the house at 7103 Mumford, an 

14 ownership interest? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. Okay. Would you say it's reasonable to think 

17 of it as your separate property and not your -- part 

18 of your marital estate? 

19 A. I haven't really defined it. 

20 Q. Okay. 

21 MR. T ANCABEL: If we could pause here 

22 for a minute. I -- the gentleman from the HOA is 

23 here. 

24 MR. SCHNEIDER: Okay. Great. 

25 MR. TANCABEL: I'm going to go bring him 

Mark B. Gothelf 

12 

1 m. 
2 MR. SCHNEIDER: Sure. 
3 (Break taken from 2:10 p.m. to 2:12 p.m.) 
4 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) You currently live in 

5 Texas. And before that, lived in the state of New 
6 York. Had you ever resided in Texas before that? 

7 A. Yes. 
s Q. How long had you spent in Texas approximately 

9 before that? 
10 A. Twenty-eight years. 
11 Q. Did you grow up here? So you grew up in --

12 did you grow up in the Dallas area? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. May I ask where you went to high school? 

15 A. Torah High School of Texas. 
16 Q. Okay. When you grew up, was it at the house 

17 at 6406 Dykes Way? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. Okay. Okay. In addition to yourself and 
20 your mother who are listed on the deed records in 
21 Collin County, is there anybody else that has an 
22 ownership or other equity interest in 7103 Mumford of 

23 any type? 
24 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

25 A. Not quite sure how to answer that. 

13 

1 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Interesting. Does 

2 Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. have any owner interest 

3 or other equity interest in that house? 

4 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 

5 A. Not at this time. 

6 Q. (BY MR. SCHNEIDER) Have you ever personally 

7 resided at 7103 Mumford, Dallas? 

8 A. No. 
9 Q. To your knowledge, has your mother ever 

10 resided there? 

11 A. No. 
12 Q. What was the purpose of the purchase of the 

13 house? 
14 A. Can you say that again? 

15 Q. Why did you buy the house at 7103 Mumford? 

16 A. To provide a place for Toras Chaim to have 

17 services. 
18 Q. Did you ever plan to live in the house at the 

19 time you purchased it? 

20 A. No. 
21 Q. The purchase -- purchase itself, did you 

22 finance any portion of it? 

23 A. A portion of it, yes. 

24 Q. Can you tell me the percentage in approximate 

25 terms? You paid cash versus finance? Can you --
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1 A. Occasionally, I do. 1 Wilder Road address. Around October 2013, based on 
2 Q. What would be some examples of that type of a 2 your previous testimony, am I correct that no one was 
3 contribution or donation? 3 occupying the Wilder Road address? 
4 A. Writing them a check. 4 A. You are correct. 
5 Q. Fair -- fair enough. I mean, would there be 5 Q. Okay. And as of October 2013, was the 
6 a special Jewish holiday or just on an as-need basis? 6 rabbi's son living at Mumford Court? 
7 Could you explain to the Court when that might arise 7 A. I believe so. 
8 or when you have done that? 8 Q. Okay. 
9 A. Just when I feel like donating to the 9 A. I'm not certain when he moved in exactly. 

10 synagogue. 10 (Exhibit No. 4 marked.) 
11 Q. Has it been in -- in response to a request 11 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) If you'll look at what's 
12 from them that they needed money? 12 been marked as Deposition Exhibit No. 4, attached is a 
13 A. No. 13 copy of the letter that we were previously 
14 Q. So it was gratuitous on your part, just as a 14 discussion -- discussing as Exhibit No. 3 with a cover 
15 normal donation? 15 letter addressed to the occupants at 7103 Mumford 
16 A. Yes. 16 Court because we had received no response or 
17 Q. Okay. 17 verification of delivery of the previous letter. Do 
18 (Exhibit No. 2 marked.) 18 you recall whether or not this November 7 version with 
19 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 19 the cover letter is the one that you found at Mumford 
20 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Mr. Gothclf, I'm handing to 20 Court? 
21 you what has been marked as Deposition Exhibit No. 2. 21 A. I think this might be the one that I 
22 Mr. Schneider was asking you questions about a letter 22 received --
23 that was addressed to you and several other persons 23 Q. Okay. 
24 and entities regarding his concerns and objection 24 A. -- because the occupant rings a bell. 
25 about the use of the property. This is the letter 25 Q. Okay. I'll represent to you, Mr. Gothelf, 

55 57 

I dated October 4, 2013. Do you recall receiving this I that also on November 7 and November 19, other letters 

2 letter? 2 were sent to the 6406 Dykes Way address. One was 

3 A. Either I received it or my mother did. 3 certified mail, came back unclaimed. The other by 

4 Q. You have seen a copy of it prior to today? 4 priority mail. Do you know why perhaps that the 

5 A. I believe so. 5 certified mail was not received or accepted at Dykes 

6 (Exhibit No. 3 marked.) 6 Way? 

7 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Mr. Gothelf, the court 7 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, form. 
8 reporter has handed you what's been marked as 8 A. I have no idea. 
9 Deposition Exhibit No. 3. I'll represent to you that 9 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Okay. Did you receive any 

IO this is a copy of a letter dated October 14, 2013 that JO notice letter on my law firm's letterhead, Riddle & 
11 was addressed to you and your mother at two different II Williams, from the HOA at Dykes Way -- at the Dykes 
12 addresses -- one at the 1 Wilder Road, New York 12 Way address? 
13 address, the other one at 7103 Mumford Court -- on 13 A. I don't recall. 
14 behalf of the association expressing concerns about 14 Q. After receiving either of those letters from 
15 the use of the property and asking that those 15 the association through their attorney, did you 
16 activities by the congregation cease and offering you 16 request a hearing with the association board of 
17 the opportunity to request a hearing with the 17 directors? 
18 association board of directors. As you look at it 18 A. No, I did not. 
19 today, do you recall ever receiving that letter? 19 Q. Why did you not? 
20 A. I think this might be the letter that I found 20 A. I believe that my attorney, Justin 
21 over at Mumford Court quite sometime after it was 21 Butterfield, was already involved in the case, and I 
22 sent. 22 probably just forwarded it to him. 
23 Q. Okay. And for the record, this letter was 23 Q. Without going into detail, do you recall 
24 returned as unclaimed from at least the Mumford Court 24 discussing with Mr. Butterfield whether or not to meet 
25 address -- or excuse me, correction -- at least the 25 with the board of directors of the association? 
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1 THE REPORTER: No. 5 is the notice and 1 BY MR. BUTTERFIELD: 

2 No. 6 is the letter. 2 Q. So Mark, why did you buy the house at 7103 

3 THE WITNESS: Has this been sent to me? 3 Mumford Court? 

4 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yeah, he sent it to 4 A. To provide a new location for the 

5 us. 5 congregation to meet in because my wife and I were 

6 THE WITNESS: He sent it to you? Okay. 6 considering moving to that neighborhood. 

7 Have you sent it to me? 7 Q. And why did you look there? 

8 MR. BUTTERFIELD: I don't think -- it 8 A. Why did I look --

9 was just the notice that they were -- 9 Q. So you -- you mentioned earlier that you 

10 THE WITNESS: Okay. 10 looked in the area of Highlands of-- ofMcKamy. Why 

11 MR. BUTTERFIELD: -- going to be here. 11 did you look in that -- in that region? 

12 MR. SURRATT: Off the record. 12 A. Orthodox Jews walk on the Sabbath. So it had 

13 (Off the record.) 13 to be within walking distance of the members of the 

14 MR. SURRA TT: Counsel have agreed that 14 congregation. 

15 the copy of the first revised declaration of 15 Q. So could -- could the house be anywhere in 

16 restrictions for the HOA that's been attached to the 16 the city? 

17 congregation's no evidence motion for summary judgment 17 A. It would have to be walking distance of the 

18 and excerpts have been attached to the HOA's petition 18 congregants. 

19 intervention is a true and correct copy and 19 Q. But potentially could you walk 10 miles or 

20 stipulating to the admissibility for evidence purposes 20 100 miles? 

21 of that document. Does that sound correct, gentlemen? 21 A. There's a limit to how far you can walk. 

22 MR. TANCABEL: Yes. 22 Q. Are there any other unique features about 

23 MR. BUTTERFIELD: (Moving head up and 23 this area that -- that --

24 down.) 24 A. The --

25 Q. (BY MR. SURRATT) Mr. Gothelf, I believe that 25 Q. -- were relevant to your decision? 

71 73 

l wraps it up for me. Is there anything as you're I A. This neighborhood is within what's known as 

2 sitting here right now -- I know a lot of questions 2 the far north Dallas eruv, E-R-U-V. And this allows 

3 have been asked. I'm not trying to trick you. But as 3 people to carry things on the Sabbath and -- as well 

4 you're sitting here right this minute, is there 4 as push strollers. 

5 anything that comes to mind you think to yourself I 5 Q. You mentioned earlier that there had been --

6 need to go back and change or correct that answer? 6 been discussions about -- about modifying the house. 

7 A. Not that I can think of. 7 Were you privy to what those discussions were? 

8 Q. Okay. 8 A. There are discussions about in the future 

9 MR. SURRATT: I pass the witness. 9 possibly removing one wall in the house inside. 

10 RE-EXAMINATION 10 Q. And would that -- would that still leave the 

11 BY MR. SCHNEIDER: 11 normal accoutrements of a house, like, a kitchen, 

12 Q. The $75,000 deposit -- 12 dining room, bathrooms, those sorts of thing? 

13 A. Uh-huh. 13 A. It --

14 Q. -- that the congregation provided to you, 14 MR. SURRA TT: Objection, form. 

15 was -- were those funds themselves used as part of the 15 A. It would still allow for there to be three 

16 payment for the house? 16 bedrooms upstairs. The kitchen would be untouched. 

17 A. They can't be. 17 Q. (BY MR. BUTTERFIELD) Were you aware when you 

18 Q. Okay. 18 purchased the house that somebody would be living at 

19 MR. SURRA TT: All right. You finished? 19 the house? 

20 MR. SCHNEIDER: That's every -- that's -- 20 A. Yes. 

21 MR. SURRA TT: Pass the witness. 21 Q. How were you aware of that? 

22 MR. SCHNEIDER: -- everything for me. 22 A. Rabbi Rich informed me. 

23 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Okay. 23 Q. And what -- what did he tell you about that? 

24 MR. SCHNEIDER: Thank you for your time. 24 A. He told me that in order to have any type of 
25 EXAMINATION 25 synagogue within the neighborhood, that it had to be 
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3 Q. And is your understanding that somebody lives 
4 there today? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. And that person lives there full-time? 
7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. You --you mentioned a minute ago that you 
9 were considering moving to the neighborhood and 

10 attending Congregation Toras Chaim? 
II A. Yes. 
12 Q. Why did you not? 
13 A. At this time, my wife is having questions if 
14 she wants to live in that neighborhood anymore. 
15 Q. Why is she questioning that? 
16 A. Because of everything that's been going on 
17 with the synagogue in terms of the legal fights and 
18 the neighbor signs. 
19 Q. And --
20 MR. BUTTERFIELD: I have no other 
21 questions. 
22 MR. SURRA TT: I guess we're concluded. 
23 MR. T ANCABEL: That's it. 
24 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yeah. 
25 (End of Proceedings at 4:16 p.m.) 
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~LIBERTY I INSTITUTE 
Restoring Religious Liberty in America 

October 10, 2014 

Via E-Mail and 
CM,RRR 70092820000207848801 
David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street, Suite 1400 
Dallas, TX 75219 

Re: Scltneider v. Gotllelf, et al., Civil Action No. 429-04998-2013 

Dear David: 

Please see the attached deposition notice to your client. We intend to depose the 
individual(s) you designate as to all information that is known or reasonably available to 
the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association related to the 
topics listed in Exhibit A to the deposition notice. In accordance with Rule 199 .2(b )(I), 
please let us know a reasonable time before the deposition which individual(s) will testify 
as to each topic. 

We have noticed the deposition for Tuesday, November 4. We are willing to 
work with you on the date if November 4 poses a conflict for you or the individual(s) 
who will testify. However, we need to complete the deposition no later than Friday, 
November 7 to ensure that there will be sufficient time before the close of discovery 
should the deposition reveal the need for any additional discovery. 

Encl. 

Sincerely, 

/),~ 
~~utterfield 

Senior Counsel 

Cc: David R. Schneider 
Matthew A. Mcgee 

Via Email and CM,RRR 70100780000125255274 
Via Email mtd Regular Mail 

2001 West Plano Parkway, Suite 1600 •Plano, Texas 75075 •Phone: 972.941.4444 • Libertylnstitute.org 
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CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

IN THE MATTER OF 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF, 
AND CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, 
INC. 

Defendants, 

and 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV and 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 
ASSOCIATION, 

lnte.-Vening Plaintiff, 

vs. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF and 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 

§ IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 429th JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

DEFENDANTS' NOTICE OF INTENT TO TAKE ORAL AND VIDEO DEPOSITION 
OF INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 

IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION 
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, pursuant to Rule 199.2 of the Texas Rules of Civil 

Procedure, Defendants Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. (the "Congregation"), Judith D. Gothelf, 

and Mark B. Gothelf will take the oral deposition of the person(s) designated as the 

representative(s) of Intervening Plaintiff Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community 

Improvement Association, beginning at 9:30 a.m. on Tuesday, November 4, 2014, at the offices 

of Haynes and Boone, LLP, 2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700, Dallas, Texas 75219, and 

continuing from day to day until completed, or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by the parties. 

The deposition will be taken before a Certified Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public, or other 

officer duly authorized to administer the oath and will be stenographically recorded and may be 

videotaped. The representative(s) will be required to testify about the information known or 

reasonably available to Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association 

as to each of the topics set forth in the attached Exhibit "A." 

DEPOSITION NOTICE TO INTERVENING PLAINTIFF Page2 
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Dated: October 10, 2014 

DEPOSITION NOTICE TO INTERVENING PLAINTIFF 

Respectfully Submitted, 

HA YNES AND BOONE, LLP 

By: ls/Matthew A. McGee 
2323 Victory A venue, Suite 700 
Dallas, TX 75219 
JEREMY D. KERNODLE 
Tex. Bar No.: 24032618 
T: (214) 651-5159 
F: (214) 200-0693 
Jeremy.Kernodle@haynesboone.com 
MATTHEW A. MCGEE 
Tex. Bar No.: 24062527 
T: (214) 651-5103 
F: (214) 200-0585 
matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 

ATTORNEYS FOR CONGREGATION 
TORAS CHAIM, INC. 

THE LIBERTY INSTITUTE 

By: Isl Justin Butterfield 
KELLY J. SHACKELFORD 
Tex. Bar No. 18070950 
kshackelford@libertyinstitute.org 
JEFFREY C. MA TEER 
Tex. Bar No. 13185320 
jmateer@libertyinstitute.org 
JUSTIN BUTTERFIELD 
Tex. Bar No. 24062642 
jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
2001 West Plano Parkway, Suite 1600 
Plano, TX 75075 
T: (972) 941-4444 
F: (972) 941-4457 

ATTORNEYS FOR CONGREGATION 
TORAS CHAIM, INC., JUDITH D. 
GOTHELF, AND MARK B. GOTHELF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby ce11ify that a true and conect copy of the foregoing instrument has been served 
in accordance with the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, on this 10th day of October 2014, upon 
the following: 

David R. Schneider, Pro Se 
7035 Mumford St. 
Dallas, TX 75252 
Cell: (214) 315-5531 
Email: DavidRaySchneider@Gmail.com 

David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street, Suite 1400 
Dallas, TX 75219 
T: (214) 760-6766 
Email:dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 
Attorney for Intervenor Highlands of McKamy 
IV and V Community Improvement Association 

/s/ Justin Butterfield 
Justin Butterfield 
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EXHIBIT A 

I. 
Definitions 

1. "HOA" means Intervening Plaintiff Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community 

Improvement Association, including its respective directors, current and former board members, 

officers, agents, representatives, attorneys, and any other person acting on their behalf. 

2. "Congregation" means the Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. 

3. The term "Highlands of McKamy" means the approximately 24 7 homes over which 

the HOA has authority. 

4. The term "restrictive covenants" refers to the deed covenants burdening the land in 

the Highlands of McKamy. 

5. The term "enforcement" includes any attempt by the HOA, by legal means or 

otherwise, to prevent or stop a perceived or real violation of the restrictive covenants. 

6. The term "property" means real property. 

7. The term "non-residential use" includes any use of property other than solely as 

single-family residence, including, but not limited to, religious uses, commercial uses, and home-

based businesses. 

II. 
Deposition Topics 

1. The timing regarding when any individual who was an HOA board member at the 

time of acquiring such knowledge first became aware that the Congregation was holding prayer 

and religious study meetings at 7119 Bremerton Court. 

DEPOSITION NOTICE TO INTERVENING PLAINTIFF Page5 
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2. The timing regarding when any individual who was an HOA board member at the 

time of acquiring such knowledge first became aware that the Congregation was holding prayer 

and religious study meetings at 7103 Mumford Court. 

3. All litigation to which the HOA has been a party since 1979. 

4. All instances since 1979 of the HOA' s enforcement or contemplated enforcement of 

the residential use restriction in the restrictive covenants. 

5. All instances since 1979 of the HOA's enforcement or contemplated enforcement of 

the nuisance prohibition in the restrictive covenants. 

6. Non-residential uses of property in the Highlands ofMcKamy since 1979. 
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McGee, Matt 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Justin I Matt: 

David A. Surratt <DSurratt@riddleandwilliams.com> 
Wednesday, October 15, 2014 10:37 AM 
jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org; McGee, Matt 
DavidRaySchneider@gmail.com 
Schneider v. Congregation Taras Chaim 

The HOA will tender former HOA President Carolyn ("Cookie11
) Peadon in response to your deposition notice. The 

morning of November 4 at 9:30 a.m. will work for Mrs. Peadon and me. However, she will have to leave by 12:00 to 
12:30 due to business travel. I might have a few questions for Mrs. Peadon during the depo, and I anticipate that David 
Schneider may have some questions. Let me know if you believe 9:30 to noon will be sufficient time to conduct her 
deposition. If so, let's plan on November 4 starting at 9:30 a.m. 

David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 - Regency Plaza 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
T: 214-760-6766 
F: 214-760-6765 
dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 
www.riddleandwilliams.com 

RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. -- E-MAIL NOTICE 

This transmission may be: (1) subject to the Attorney-Client Privilege, (2) an attorney work product, or (3) strictly confidential. If you 
are not the intended recipient of this message, you may not disclose, print, copy or disseminate this information. If you have 
received this in error, please reply and notify the sender (only) and delete the message. Unauthorized interception of this e-mail is a 
violation of federal criminal law. 

From: JoElia Kelly fmailto:jkelly@libertyinstitute.org] 
Sent: Friday, October 10, 2014 4:43 PM 
To: David A. Surratt 
Cc: DavidRaySchneider@qmail.com; McGee, Matt; Justin Butterfield; Cleve Doty 
Subject: Schneider v. Congregation Taras Chaim-Correspondence 

Dear Mr. Surratt, 

Please see attached correspondence I am sending on behalf of Justin Butterfield. 

JoElia Kelly 
Legal Assistant 

~LIBERTY f~.tf~ttil$f{ 

1 
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Restoring Religious Liberty in America 

0. 972.94i.4444 
d: 972.941.4452 
f. 972.941.4457 
jkelly@libertyinstitute.org 
www.Libertylnstitute.org 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE 
This electronic mail message and any accompanying documents contain information belonging to the sender which is confidential and legally 
privileged. This information is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to whom it was sent as indicated above. If you are not the 
intended recipient, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or action taken in reliance on the contents of the information contained in this 
electronic mail message is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please delete it immediately, and call (972-941-4444) to 
advise me that you received it. Thank you. PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL - ATTORNEY CLIENT COMMUNICATION/ ATTORNEY 
WORK PRODUCT 
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CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 

CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 
DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 

Plaintiff 

v. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, 
MARK B. GOTHELF, AND 
CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, 
INC. I 

Defendants 

and 

* IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

* 
HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND * 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 
ASSOCIATION 

* 
* 

Intervening Plaintiff * 
* 

v. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF and 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

Page 1 

********************************************************* 
14 

15 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF CAROLYN PEADON 
Taken for the Defendants 

November 4, 2014 
********************************************************* 

16 ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF CAROLYN PEADON, 
17 produced as a witness at the instance of the Defendants, 
18 and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and 
19 numbered cause on November 4, 2014, from 9:33 a.m. to 
20 10:24 a.m., before Pennie Futrell, CSR in and for the 
21 State of Texas, reported by machine shorthand, at the 
22 office of HAYNES & BOONE, LLP, 2323 Victory Avenue, 
23 Suite 700, Dallas, Texas 75219, pursuant to the Texas 
24 Rules of Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on 
25 the record or attached hereto. 
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1 APPEARANCES 
2 FOR THE INTERVENING PLAINTIFF: 
3 Mr. David Surratt 

RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. 
4 3 710 Rawlins Street 

Suite 1400 
5 Dallas, Texas 75219 

Telephone: 214.760.6766 
6 Facsimile: 214.760.6785 

E-mail: dsurratt@riddleandwilliams 
7 
8 FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 
9 Mr. Matt McGee 

HA YNES & BOONE, LLP 
10 2323 Victory Avenue 

Suite 700 
11 Dallas, Texas 75219 

Telephone: 214.651.5584 
12 Facsinrile: 214.200.0373 

E-mail: matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 
13 
14 FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 
15 Mr. Justin Butterfield 

Liberty Institute - Senior Counsel and Director 
16 of Research and Education 

200 I Plano Parkway 
17 Suite 1600 

Plano, Texas 75075 
18 Telephone: 972.941.4444 

Facsimile: 972.941.4457 
19 E-mail: jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
20 ALSO PRESENT: 
21 Ms. Alexis Anderson - Videographer 

Mr. Phong Tran 
22 
23 
24 
25 

1 INDEX 
2 APPEARANCES .......................................... 2 
3 EXAMINATION OF CAROLYN PEADON 

Direct Examination by Mr. Butterfield............ 4 
Cross-Examination by Mr. McGee ................... 25 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Surratt ................. 29 
Recross-Examination by Mr. McGee ................. 32 

CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 
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Page3 
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25 

Page 4 j 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Good morning. Going on 
the record in the videotaped deposition of Carolyn 
Peadon. 

Today's date, November 4th, 2014. Time, 
9:33 a.m. Start of tape one. 

For the record, counsel will state their 
appearances and then the court reporter will swear in 
the witness. 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: My name is Justin 
Butterfield. I'm here for the Congregation Toras Chaim 
and for Mark and Judith Gothelf. 

MR. McGEE: I'm Matt McGee, I -- I also 
represent Congregation Toras Chaim. And also here with 
me is Phong Tran. He's a recent law school graduate 
who's waiting on his bar results. 

MR SURRA TT: David Surratt here for 
Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement 
Association. 

CAROLYNPEADON, 
having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 
BY MR BUTTERFIELD: 

Q. Ms. Peadon, thank you for coming. 
Have you ever done a deposition before? 

A. Yes. 

Page 5 

1 Q. Okay. So this will be a little bit of a review 
2 foryou. 
3 We -- we are videotaping this, but we're 
4 also making a transcript. So any time I ask you a 
5 question, if you could please respond orally. Because 
6 if you shake your head or nod --

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

SIGNATURE AND CORRECTION PAGE ........................ 36 
7 A. Okay. 
8 Q. -- it's -- it's hard to -- to appear in the 

10 
11 
12 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

CERTIFICA1E .......................................... 38 
EXHIBITS 

NO. DESCRIPTION PAGE 
Exhibit 1 Intervening Plaintiffs Designation of 29 

Witness and Objections to Defendants' 
Notice of Deposition 

9 transcript. 
10 And if I ask you a question that you don't 
11 understand or you want further clarification, please 
12 feel free to -- to ask for that. I'm happy --
13 A. Okay. 
14 Q. -- I -- I want to get the true answer, so I 
15 want you to fully understand what I'm asking. 
16 And if I ever say HOA or homeowners 
17 association, by that I'm going to be referring to the 
18 Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement 
19 Association. And if I ever say congregation or CTC, by 
20 that I'm referring to Congregation Toras Chaim. 
21 Is that -- is that all right? 
22 A. That's great. 
23 Q. Could you please state your full name? 
24 A. Carolyn Smith Peadon. 
25 Q. And what is your address? 

2 (Pages 2 to 5) 
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CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 

Page6 Page 8 

A. 7111 Debbe Drive, spelled D-E-B-B-E, Dallas, 1 Q. So let's -- let's look at the first topic, 
Texas 75252. 2 which says, The timing regarding when any individual who 

Q. And do you understand that you're here today as 3 was an HOA board member at the time of acquiring such 
a representative of the homeowners association? 4 knowledge first became aware that the congregation was 

A. That's fine. 5 holding prayer and religious study meetings at 7119 
Q. What is your connection with the homeowners 6 Bremerton Court. 

association? 7 Have you prepared to discuss or been 
A. I was president of the homeowners association 8 provided with any information regarding this topic? 

for several years. 9 MR. SURRATT: Excuse me just a second, 
Q. Are you still in that position? 10 Justin. 
A. No, I'm not. 11 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yeah. 
Q. Why? 12 MR. SURRATT: The -- the deposition notice 
A. Couple ofreasons. We had an election, and I 13 is attached. And if you'll flip over, there's a list of 

had agreed that I would only stay on if reelected in 14 items. 
a -- in a continuation type of capacity so that I could 15 THE WITNESS: I'm not on the right page, 
be providing con- -- continuity. English. 16 David. Oh, thank you. 

My husband had been ill and I didn't feel 17 MR. SURRATT: And you're referring to 
like I could shoulder that additional responsibility any 18 number l? 
longer. 19 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Number 1. 

Q. Do you recall the -- the exact dates you were a 20 THE WITNESS: Okay. 
member of the homeowners association? 21 THE REPORTER: Hang on. One at a time, 

A. I was nominated in 2009. I -- 22 please. 
MR. SURRA TT: Let me interrupt just -- 23 Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) Number 1. 

member of the association or -- 24 A. Okay. Okay. 
THE WITNESS: Oh, member of the 25 Q. So have you prepared to discuss or been 

Page 7 Page9 

association? 1 provided with any information regarding that topic? 
MR. SURRATT: -- member of board? 2 A. No, I haven't been provided any information. 

Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) Member of the board? 3 Q. Are you aware that the congregation met within 
A. Member of board, I'm sorry. Thank you. 4 the homeowners association at 7119 Bremerton Court prior 

I was nominated in 2009, I think the 5 to its movement to 7103 Mumford Court? 
actual election was February 2010, and I served until 6 A. Yes. 
2013. 7 Q. And how -- how -- how were you aware of that? 

Q. Do you remember when in 2013? 8 A. I received a complaint from some neighbors 
A. February-- early February. I don't remember 9 regarding parking there. 

the exact date. 10 Q. And when -- when was that complaint? 
Q. Okay. Did you do anything to prepare for this 11 A. It was in March or April, I think, 2011. I 

deposition? 12 don't recall the specific date, but it was in that time 
A. Not really. 13 frame. 
Q. Okay. Did you review any documents in 14 Q. March or April 2011. 

preparation for this deposition? 15 Are -- are you aware if that -- if that 
A. No. 16 was the first time that any board member first learned 
Q. Did you speak to anyone other than Mr. Surratt 17 that the congregation was holding prayer or religious 

in preparation for this deposition? 18 meetings 7119 Bremerton Court? 
A. No. 19 A. That's the first time I became aware of it. 
Q. Have you been provided with a list of topics 20 Q. What was done at that time? 

over which this deposition will -- will cover? 21 A. I contacted the neighbors who complained and 
A. If you're talking about the -- 22 went by to investigate how severe the parking was, did a 
Q. Yes. 23 follow-up call with Rabbi Rich's wife Susan and talked 
A. -- designation? 24 with her. 

Yes, I did receive that. 25 Q. Were there -- did you have any discussions 

~' 

; 

Ir 

!' 

' 
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CAROLYN PEADON 
November4, 2014 

Page 10 Page 12 

about that with other board members? 1 covenants? 
A. I alerted the board. 2 A. It was the opinion of the board that that was 
Q. And what was the nature of that discussion? 3 in violation of the restrictive covenants. 
A. I'm sorry, Justin, I don't -- that's kind of 4 Q. And was that opinion expressed to anybody from 

vague. 5 the congregation? 
Q. Oh, what did you tell them? Do you remember 6 A. I do recall trying to contact the owner of 

specifically the sort of information you gave to them? 7 record. 
A. Oh, I just advised that I had had a 8 Q. Were you successful in that? 

conversation with Susan, and I discussed with her and 9 A. Took me quite a while to get in touch with Mark 
had been informed it was a temporary thing because they IO Goth el£ 
were planning to build on some lots they had across 11 Q. But you eventually did? 
Hillcrest from our location. 12 A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And did -- do you recall how the other board 13 Q. Okay. We can look at the third topic: All 
members responded? Did they express any sort of opinion 14 litigation to which the HOA has been a party since 1979. 
about that or ... 15 Have you prepared to discuss or been 

A. There was no real opposition as long as it was 16 provided with any information regarding this topic? 
a temporary thing, and we were looking at relocating, 17 A. No, I haven't. 
that it was just a temporary thing, but nobody had 18 Q. So you have not been provided with any court 
expressed a time frame. 19 records or anything --

Q. Did you discuss the restrictive covenants with 20 A. No. 
anybody from the congregation at that time? 21 Q. -- regarding -- okay. 

A. I don't recall. 22 Do you know what litigation the HOA has 
Q. Okay. Let's look at the second topic on your 23 been a party to since 1979? 

list there, which says, The timing regarding when any 24 A. I am aware that there was litigation that was 
individual who is an HOA board member at the time of 25 filed and it dealt with the HUD office planning to build 

Page II Page 13 

acquiring such knowledge first became aware that the 1 on a vacant comer south of our location. 
congregation was holding prayer and religious study 2 Q. And what was the specific nature of that 
meetings at 7103 Mumford Court. 3 litigation? 

Have you prepared to discuss or been 4 A. I can't address that. I was working full-time 
provided with any information regarding this topic? 5 at the time and was not on the board or any -- in any 

A. I'm prepared to discuss it, but I haven't been 6 capacity where I was intimately aware of it. 
provided any additional information from anyone. 7 Q. So this was prior to your joining the board of 

Q. Okay. Do you know when any board member first 8 the --
learned that the congregation was holding prayer and 9 A. Oh, yeah. 
religious meetings at 7103 Mumford Court? IO Q. -- homeowners association? 

A. Sometime in the May time frame probably. 11 Do you know if the -- the property 
Q. Mayofwhen? 12 involved in that litigation was within the homeowners 
A. It was probably 2012. It may have been May or 13 association? 

early June. 14 A. No, it was not. 
Q. And was anything done at that time regarding 15 Q. Is there any other litigation that the 

their meeting at 7103 Mumford Court? 16 homeowners association has been a party to that you're 
A. We discussed it at the board meeting. 17 aware of? 
Q. And do you remember the nature of those 18 A. Not that I'm aware of. 

discussions? 19 Q. Since then, is the intervening action in this 
A. We reviewed the deed restrictions and covenants 20 present case the only litigation that the homeowners 

and discussed the concerns that the neighbors had 21 association has been aware of -- or been involved in? 
voiced. 22 A. To the best of my knowledge, Justin. 

Q. And in -- in reviewing the -- the restrictive 23 Q. All right. Let's look at the fourth topic. 
covenants, did -- was there a consensus as to whether 24 A. Okay. 
they were conforming with the -- with the restrictive 25 Q. All instances since 1979 of the HO A's 

"A>'0''' ,,,, .. ,,.,, ·~•,·· .~.>:A,,_,.·;, ,,,,,,, 

' 
' 
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Page 14 Page 16 

enforcement or contemplated enforcement of the 1 within the homeowners association? 
residential use restrictions in the restrictive 2 A. No, we have tried to avoid litigation whenever 
covenants. 3 possible. 

Have you prepared to discuss or been 4 Q. Prior to the litigation against the 
provided with any information regarding this topic? 5 congregation, has the homeowners association ever been 

A. I'm prepared to discuss, but I've had no 6 involved in an enforcement action, by which I mean more 
information provided. 7 than an -- just an investigation, but an actual sending 

Q. Okay. Did you do anything to prepare to 8 of a demand letter or institution oflitigation because 
discuss this? 9 of a nonresidential use? 

A. No. 10 A. I would have to defer to the people that had 
Q. No? 11 previously served on the architecture committee. That 

What enforcement actions of the 12 has normally been a function of that entity. 
residential use restriction has the homeowners 13 Q. So you would say that members of the 
association instituted since 1979? 14 architecture committee are best able to answer this 

A. The only thing I'm aware of is when we had a 15 question? 
group home purchase land within our community and I 16 A. Yes. 
initiated research to find out what was going on. 17 Q. And you have not been provided with any 

Q. And when was that? 18 information that would assist you in answering this 
A. That was in -- I believe it was sometime in 19 question? 

2010. 20 A. No. 
Q. And did that lead to an enforcement action? 21 Q. When was the decision made to litigate against 
A. No, it was an investigatory action because we 22 the congregation? 

learned that the City of Dallas did allow group homes 23 A. I don't know. 
within residential neighborhoods. And we did confer 24 Q. Did you agree with the decision to litigate 
with Sandy Greyson, who was the newly elected 25 against the congregation? 

Page 15 Page 17 

representative for our district, city council 1 MR. SURRATT: In what capacity are you 
representative for our district. 2 referring, as a homeowner or ... 

Q. So the Dallas city zoning ordinance directed 3 Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) In however -- yes, as a 
your decision whether to enforce in that case? 4 homeowner in -- in the community, did you agree with the 

A. Yes. 5 decision to -- to litigate against the congregation? 
Q. Did the homeowners association contemplate 6 A. That's a difficult question to answer. I would 

enforcement of the residential use provision against the 7 have preferred not to resort to litigation. I would 
congregation when they met on Bremerton Court? 8 have preferred to resolve it amicably with all sides. 

A. We discussed the fact that because it was 9 Q. Since instituting its action against the 
temporary, we chose to be nice neighbors and give them 10 congregation, has the homeowners association enforced 
time to get their funds accrued and build at their two 11 the residential use provision of the restrictive 
sites they had west of Hillcrest. 12 covenants against anyone else? 

Q. Did you inform anyone from the congregation 13 A. I'm not aware. I'm no longer an officer. 
that enforcement was an option? 14 Q. And you were not informed of any subsequent 

A. Define what you mean by enforcement. 15 actions by the homeowners association? 
Q. Did -- did you -- did you tell anybody from the 16 A. No. 

congregation that the homeowners association could bring 17 Q. Has the homeowners association ever been 
a lawsuit against them under the restricted -- under the 18 involved in any enforcement actions because of a 
residential use restriction within the restrictive 19 nonresidential use other than against the congregation? 
covenants if they continued to meet on Bremerton? 20 A. Not that I'm aware 0£ 

A. I did discuss, I think it was with Susan, that 21 Q. Okay. Let's look at the fifth topic now. 
we were single family residence and that hopefully this 22 Which says, All instances since 1979 of 
would be a short-term solution. 23 the homeowners association's enforcement or contemplated 

Q. Was there any expression in that conversation 24 enforcement of the nuisance prohibition in the 
that litigation could result from -- from remaining 25 restrictive covenants. 
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1 Have you prepared to discuss or been 1 corporate represent of the homeowners association, so I 
2 provided with information regarding this topic? 2 had anticipated that she would be prepared to discuss ,c 

3 A. I'm prepared to discuss, but I have not been 3 the topics in depth. 
4 provided information. 4 MR. SURRATT: To the extent of her 
5 Q. What enforcement actions of the nuisance 5 involvement on -- as a member of the board of directors, 
6 restriction has the homeowners association instituted 6 but this is after her tenure, so ... 
7 since 1979? 7 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yes, but the deposition 
8 A. The only action I'm aware of is I received a 8 notice was not for Ms. Peadon, it was for a corporate 

l 9 complaint that someone was teaching classes. I think it 9 representative of the homeowners association. , 
10 was swimming classes. And I did investigate, went by 10 MR. SURRATT: I understand. I'm just 
11 because there were complaints of parking violations and 11 clarifying the scope of your question. 
12 noise, and went by on multiple occasions and never found 12 MR. BUTTERFIELD: I -- I understand. I'm 
13 any basis for those claims. 13 just -- I'm asking her as though she is the corporate 
14 Q. Did you speak with the homeowner of the home 14 representative of the homeowners association, which is, 
15 that was -- had the complaint filed against it? 15 my understanding, the reason you produced her. 
16 A. Briefly. 16 Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) Okay. Let's look at the ,, 
17 Q. And what -- what was the content of that 17 sixth topic, which says, Nonresidential uses of property 
18 discussion? 18 in the Highlands ofMcKamy since 1979. 
19 A. That it was a public service and that the 19 Have you prepared to discuss or been 
20 person would work on trying to reduce the noise and any 20 provided with information regarding this topic? 
21 parking that occurred. 21 A. No, I haven't been -- I haven't been provided 
22 Q. So that homeowner's promise to -- to reduce 22 information but I'm prepared to discuss it. 
23 parking problems and avoid nuisance to the neighbors was 23 Q. Has the homeowners association been aware of 
24 sufficient to avoid an enforcement action in that 24 any nonresidential uses within the homeowners , 
25 incident? 25 association since 1979? 

Page 19 Page 21 ; 

1 A. The board chose no additional action. 
2 Q. Do you know the board's reason for deciding not 
3 to proceed in that --
4 A. No, I don't. 
5 Q. -- incident? 
6 And prior to the litigation against the 
7 congregation, has the homeowners association ever been 
8 involved in an enforcement action because of a nuisance? 
9 A. I don't know what happened prior to my tenure. 

10 Q. Okay. Since instituting its action against the 
11 congregation, has the homeowners association enforced 
12 the nuisance portion of the restrictive covenants 
13 against anyone else? 
14 A. I do not know the answer to that. 
15 Q. David Schneider filed a lawsuit against a 
16 homeowner recently within the homeowners association for 
17 having a sukkah or a booth required for the Feast of 
18 Tabernacles Jewish religious celebration. 
19 Has the homeowners association discussed 
20 joining that lawsuit? 
21 A. I have no knowledge of that. 
22 MR. SURRA TT: Again, are you asking in her 
23 capacity as a homeowner since she's no longer on the 
24 board? 
25 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Well, she's the 

1 A. The one that I mentioned earlier, the lady who 
2 was teaching swim classes. 
3 Q. Was the homeowners association aware of a court 
4 reporting service that was operated on Mumford? 
5 A. No. 
6 Q. Was--
7 A. Not to my knowledge, Justin. 
8 Q. Okay. Was the homeowners association aware of 
9 a hospice or elder care facility within the homeowners 

10 association? 
11 A. That's what we objected to. The first one we 
12 didn't know about. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Okay. Was the homeowners association aware of 
a children's clothing business operated within the 
homeowners association? 

A. No, not to my knowledge. 
MR. BUTTERFIELD: And I have no further 

questions. 
MR. McGEE: Well, let's -- let's go off 

the record and then we -- we may have a few additional 
questions if that's okay. 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off the record, time 
9:51. 

(Break from 9:51 a.m. to 10:04 a.m.) 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on record, 10:04. 

I' 

I' 
I~ 
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1 Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) Ms. Peadon, you mentioned 
2 earlier that after you got a complaint in March or April 
3 of 2011 about parking at 7119 Bremerton Court that you 
4 notified the board of that complaint. 
5 When did you notify the board? 
6 A. It would have been the next board meeting. I 
7 don't have the date. 
8 Q. How frequent were board meetings? 
9 A. Normally approximately once a month, but in 

10 summer we sometimes decreased the number. 
11 Q. But most likely within the next four months, 
12 you had notified the board? 
13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. And at the next available opportunity you 
15 notified the board? 
16 A. Right. 
17 Q. After they moved to 7103 Mumford Court, you --
18 you testified that you notified -- you contacted Mark 
19 Gothelf? 
20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. How did you contact him? 
22 A. I had left him voice mail messages at his -- I 
23 believe it was his cell phone number. 
24 Q. Okay. When was that? 
25 A. It was sometime during the summer, probably 
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1 July or August time frame. 
2 Q. Of which year? 
3 A. Would have been -- okay. Probably 2013. 
4 Q. Okay. As the corporate representative of the 
5 homeowners association, do you agree with this 
6 litigation? 
7 MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 
8 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry, I don't 
9 understand what you're discussing in terms of objection 

10 and form. 
11 MR. SURRATT: The attorneys assert 
12 objections. Don't worry about that. That's something 
13 between the attorneys. So I'm merely asserting an 
14 objection. 
15 THE WITNESS: Oh, okay. 
16 MR. McGEE: But you can still answer the 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

question. 
THE WITNESS: I would have preferred to 

resolve things through mediation and alternative means, 
but that's my personal preference, not as a 
representative of the board. 

Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) As a representative of -­
of the board, do you have an opinion about this 
litigation? 

MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 

Page24 1 

I. 

1 THE WITNESS: I personally object to any 
2 litigation if there are alternative means of resolving 
3 the issue, but that is a personal thing, not as a 
4 representative of the board. 
5 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, 
6 nonresponsive. 
7 Q. (By Mr. Butterfield) As a corporate 
8 representative of the homeowners association, has any 
9 nuisance provision of the restrictive covenants ever 

10 been enforced through either demand letter or 
11 litigation? 
12 A. I would have to say yes. 
13 Q. And what are those enforcement actions? 
14 A. I had sent personal letters -- I can only 
15 address the time when I was an officer of the board. 
16 I had sent personal letters to people 
17 stating that they were in violation of certain codes and 
18 restrictions and asking that they bring their property 
19 into compliance. 
20 Q. And that's under the nuisance provision of the 
21 restrictive covenants? 
22 A. I guess you would call it nuisance. 
23 Q. Do you recall the letters that you sent, who 
24 you sent them to and what were the circumstances? 
25 A I do not recall specifically who they were sent 

Page25 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

to. It was things like air conditioning causing noises 
where it was supposed to be screened to provide a noise 
barrier, lawns not being mowed, property falling into 
disrepair or causing risk to other people, like falling 
branches and things like that. And I'm not sure if 
that's how you define nuisance. 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: I have no further 
questions. 

9 CROSS-EXAMINATION 
10 BY MR. McGEE: 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Yeah, just -- just a couple of questions, Ms. 
Peadon. 

A. Uh-huh. 
Q. Assuming that you -- assuming that you could 

speak for the board, what is your view about this 
litigation? 

MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 
THE WITNESS: I'm trying to find a 

succinct answer. 
I think it's driving a lot of cost for the 

homeowners association. As a member of the board, I 
would be concerned about fiduciary responsibility. 
Excuse me. 

I would have preferred that Toras Chaim 
built on the property they had already acquired, which 

; 

·. 

.. 

I 
I 

I! 

,. 
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1 to me would have been a logical thing to do. 
2 Litigation? I'm at a loss to why people 
3 can't work together to resolve things amicably. 
4 So I don't really have a recommendation 
5 for the current -- current board. Litigation was 
6 instituted after I left office. So for me to express 
7 a -- an opinion is, in my thought, outside my current 
8 participation as simply a member of the HOA. 
9 Q. (By Mr. McGee) Do -- do you under- --

10 A. You asked for a hypothetical answer. I don't 
11 have a hypothetical answer because I'm not in that 
12 situation any longer. 
13 Q. Do you understand that Mr. Surratt designated 
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14 you to represent the HOA in speaking about these topics 
15 today? 
16 MR. SURRA IT: Subject to the objections 

asserted, go ahead. 17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

THE WITNESS: I didn't see anything in the 
information that I received that indicated I was the 
spokesperson for the HOA. So I can't address that. 

Q. (By Mr. McGee) So Mr. Surratt did not inform 
you that you would testify on behalf of the HOA? 

MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 
THE WITNESS: Am I allowed to answer it? 
MR. SURRATT: Yes. 
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1 THE WITNESS: I was simply told that I was 
2 being asked to testify based on the knowledge I had of 
3 what occurred during my tenure as an officer of the HOA. 
4 Q. (By Mr. McGee) But you -- but you were not 
5 asked to testify as to all information that was 
6 reasonably available to the HOA? 
7 MR. SURRA IT: Objection, form. 
8 THE WITNESS: That would have been limited 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

to what I knew up front and personal when I was an 
officer of the HOA. I can't speculate on what other 
people have done since I left office. 

And maybe I'm misunderstanding, but to me 
that would be irresponsible on my part to assume that I 
knew what was going on for other people. I can't do 
that. 

Q. (By Mr. McGee) And no -- and no one asked you 
to, you know, become educated about matters that 
happened when you were not on the board --

A. No. 
Q. -- so that you could be more prepared to -- to 

testify for the HOA here today? 
A. No. 

THE WITNESS: David, could we go off 
record for just a moment? Can I ask for that? 

MR. SURRA IT: If you like, yes, we'll take 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

a break. 

10:12. 

MR. McGEE: That's fine with us. 
THE WITNESS: Okay. 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off record. 

6 (Break from 10:12 a.m. to 10:13 a.m.) 
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Time 

7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on record, 10: 13. 
8 Q. (By Mr. McGee) Ms. Peadon, you mentioned a few 
9 minutes ago about your -- your concerns about the 

10 board's fiduciary duties. Are you concerned that the 
11 current board may be violating its fiduciary duties by 
12 spending, you know, so much money on this litigation? 
13 MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 
14 THE WITNESS: I think everyone who pays 
15 their dues is concerned about expenditures for the HOA. 
16 Q. (By Mr. McGee) And their-- do you think that 
17 the current board is violating its fiduciary duties? 
18 MR. SURRATT: Objection, form. 
19 THE WITNESS: I have no opinion on that at 
20 this time. 
21 Q. (By Mr. McGee) You have no opinion as to 
22 whether they are or are not? 
23 A. In the past year, I have not had time to 
24 participate actively in any board meetings, so I can't 
25 answer that question. I have not been a participant, I 

1 have not been involved in discussions. 
2 Q. But you would be -- you would have a general 
3 concern that in a neighborhood of -- of your size that 
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4 spending large amounts of money on litigation may -- may 
5 not be appropriate? 
6 A. Well, I think everybody has that concern. 
7 MR. McGEE: Thank you. I have no further 
8 questions. 
9 MR. SURRA IT: Just a couple formalities. 

10 I assume we're operating this deposition like we do in 
11 the past, same agreements, procedures? 
12 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Yes. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

MR. McGEE: Yes. 
(Exhibit 1 marked.) 
MR. SURRA IT: Justin, may-- what I had 

the reporter mark as Exhibit Number 1 is just a copy of 
our response and objections with the designation for 
Ms. Peadon's appearance today. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 
BY MR. SURRA IT: 

Q. Ms. Peadon, you testified earlier in response 
to Mr. Butterfield's question, and I'm paraphrasing 
here, I believe the question was approximately when did 
you first learn of the prayer services at 7103 Mumford 
Court. 
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1 I believe your testimony was May of2012. 
2 Is that the correct year? 
3 A. No, I think it was last spring. 
4 Q. 2013? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. Am I correct you served on the board from 2009 
7 until February of2014? 
8 A. May need to correct that because I think I was 
9 nominated in 2009, actually elected in 2010. 

10 Q. During your tenure on the board, how many of 
11 those years did you serve as the association's 
12 president? 
13 A. I served from 2010 until 2013. 
14 Q. 2013ortheelectionof20---
15 A. The election in 2014. Sorry, I don't have my 
16 calendar in front of me. 
17 Q. When the board learned of the activities by 
18 Congregation Toras Chaim at 7103 Mumford, at some point 
19 did they contact the association's legal counsel for 
20 guidance? 
21 A. Yes. 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Did the board contact the city attorney's 
office regarding any zoning or code issues? 

A. Yes. 
Q. When services were being conducted at 7119 

Page 31 

l 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

Bremerton Court, did anyone from the congregation -­
what I mean by that, a member of the congregation board 
of directors or board of trustees, executive board -­
contact you or any other member of the board to discuss 
the activities at Bremerton Court? 

10 

A. They did not contact me. I don't believe they 
contacted anyone else. 

Q. Did Rabbi Rich himself contact you to discuss 
the activities of Bremerton Court? 

A. No. 
11 Q. Were your discussions primarily with Rabbi 
12 Rich's wife? 
13 A. Yes. And I did send -- I believe I sent an 
14 e-mail to Rabbi Rich expressing a concern about the 
15 parking situation on one occasion. 
16 Q. During your tenure on the board of directors, 
17 were you ever aware of any other similar activities in 
18 any other residence in the Highlands ofMcKamy in which 
19 religious activities were being conducted on a regular 
20 basis? 
21 A. Not on a regular basis. 
22 Q. As a resident of Highlands ofMcKamy during the 
23 time period you've lived there, are you aware of any 
24 other similar activities? 
25 A. No. 

1 Q. Based on your tenure on the board and your 
2 familiarity with board operations and the HOA, in the 
3 past, from 1979 to present, if any of the boards had 
4 taken any sort of enforcement action or discussed 
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5 enforcement action on a matter, would it be reflected in 
6 the association's meeting minutes for the board of 
7 directors? 
8 A. It should have been. 
9 Q. In your capacity as a former board member and 

10 officer, do you have an opinion whether the activities 
11 currently at 7103 Mumford violate the single family 
12 residential use restriction? 
13 A. I do think they violate the single family use. 
14 Q. Am I correct that earlier this year you had an 
15 opportunity to be interviewed by telephone by 
16 Mr. Butterfield and Mr. McGee's predecessor, 
17 Mr. Tancabel? 
18 A. Yes. 
19 MR. SURRATT: No further questions. 
20 Reserve ours until time of trial. 
21 MR. McGEE: Yeah, just -- just a couple 
22 follow-ups. 
23 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 
24 BY MR. McGEE: 
25 Q. The -- you -- you just testified in response to 

1 Mr. Surratt's question that it's your opinion that the 
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2 activities at 7103 Mumford violate the single family use 
3 restriction --
4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. -- is that right? 
6 And which activities are you referring to? 
7 A. An ongoing conduct of religious service on --
8 services on a regular basis is more like a church 
9 conducting full-time activities there. 

10 Q. And what do you -- what do you know about how 
11 the property at 7103 Mumford is used other than for the 
12 religious activities? 
13 A. I have heard that there's somebody residing on 
14 the second floor, but I have never seen an individual 
15 come or go from that residence. 
16 Q. So you don't -- you don't know much about --
17 A. It's hearsay, no. 
18 Q. And -- and you don't -- do you know anything 
19 about, you know, how much time the house is used as a 
20 residence as compared to how much time it's used for 
21 religious purposes? 
22 A. No. 
23 
24 
25 

Q. So you don't know which one of those two uses 
would be the predominant use of the property? 

A. No. 

I: 
I; 

" 
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MR. McGEE: That's all I have. 1 CHANGES AND SIGNATURE 

And I -- I'd just like to -- I'd like to 2 WITNESSNAME: CAROLYNPEADON 

make a brief statement on the record since Mr. Surratt 3 DATE OF DEPOSITION: NOVEMBER 4, 2014 

introduced his objections just so our -- our view as to 4 PAGE LINE CHANGE REASON 

those would be reflected on the record. 5 
First, we're -- we're not aware of any 6 

rule in the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure that 7 

authorizes objections to a -- a corporate rep deposition 8 

notice. 9 
But that aside, on -- on the merits, we -- 10 

we disagree with the objections. We do not think it's 11 

proper to restrict the scope of a corporate rep 12 
deposition by saying here's the person I'm going to put 13 

forward, but this person is only going to testify as to 14 

her personal knowledge. 15 
And I'm not saying that against you 16 

individually, Ms. Peadon. 17 
THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. 18 

MR. McGEE: That the proper, you know, 19 

procedure under the text of the rule is for the 20 
representative to testify as to all information that is 21 

reasonably available to the entity. 22 
And if that -- if that requires getting a 23 

person educated with additional information beyond what 24 

the person already knows personally, then that's the 25 
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proper procedure. 1 I, CAROLYN PEADON, have read the foregoing 
So we -- I just wanted to state that on 2 deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is 

the record so that our views of the objections are -- 3 true and correct, except as noted above. 

are in the record along with the objections. 4 

MR. SURRA TT: So noted. 5 

MR. McGEE: That's all I have. 
6 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: No further questions. 
7 

CAROLYN PEADON 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: All right. This 8 

concludes the deposition of Carolyn Peadon. End of tape 9 STATE OF ) 

one. Offrecord, 10:24. 10 COUNTY OF ) 

(Whereupon the deposition was concluded.) 11 Before me, , on this day 
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12 personally appeared CAROLYN PEADON, known to me (or 
13 proved to me under oath or through 
14 ) to be the person whose name is 
15 subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 
16 to me that they executed the same for the purposes and 
17 consideration therein expressed. 
18 Given under my hand and seal of office this 
19 day of 

' 20 
21 
22 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
23 THE STATE OF 
24 
25 
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1 CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 
2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, * IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

Plaintiff * 

v. 
4 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, 
5 MARK B. GOTHELF, AND 

CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, * 
6 INC., * 

Defendants * 
7 

and * COLUN COUNTY, TEXAS 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND* 
9 V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT * 

ASSOCIATION 
10 Intervening Plaintiff * 

• 
11 v. 

12 JUDITH D. GOTHELF and 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

13 Defendants * 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
14 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 

DEPOSITION OF CAROLYN PEADON 
15 NOVEMBER4, 2014 
16 I, Pennie Futrell, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 
17 and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the 
18 following: 
19 That the witness, CAROLYN PEADON, was duly sworn by 
20 the officer and that the transcript of the oral 
21 deposition is a true record of the testimony given by 
22 the witness; 
23 That the deposition transcript was submitted on 
24 , 2014 to the witness or to the 
25 attorney for the witness for examination, signature and 

I return to me by , 2014; 
2 That the amount of time used by each party at the 
3 deposition is as follows: 
4 Justin Butterfield 0 hours 25 minutes 

Matt McGee 0 hours 08 minutes 
5 David Surratt 0 hours 06 minutes 
6 That pursuant to information given to the deposition 
7 officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 
8 following includes counsel for all parties of record: 
9 FOR THE INTERVENING PLAINTIFF: 

I 0 Mr. David Surratt 
RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. 

11 3 710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 

12 Dallas, Texas 75219 
Telephone: 214.760.6766 

13 Facsimile: 214.760.6785 
E-mail: dsurratt@riddleandwilliams 

14 
15 FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 
16 Mr. Matt McGee 

HAYNES & BOONE, LLP 
17 2323 Victory Avenue 

Suite 700 
18 Dallas, Texas 75219 

Telephone: 214.651.5584 
19 Facsimile: 214.200.0373 

E-mail: matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 
20 
21 FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 
22 Mr. Justin Butterfield 

Liberty Institute - Senior Counsel and Director 
23 of Research and Education 

200 I Plano Parkway 
24 Suite 1600 

Plano, Texas 75075 
25 Telephone: 972.941.4444 

CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 
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I E-mail: jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
2 I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 
3 related to, nor employed by any of the parties or 
4 attorneys in the action in which this proceeding was 
5 taken, and further that I am not financially or 
6 otherwise interested in the outcome of the action. 
7 Further certification requirements pursuant to Rule 
8 203 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure will be 
9 certified to after they have occurred. 

10 Certified to by me this 12th day of November, 2014. 
11 
12 
13 
14 

PENNIE FUTRELL, CSR No. 4108 
15 Expiration Date: 12/31/15 

Firm Registration No. 526 
16 Corporate Plaza I, Suite 152 

4950 N. O'Connor Road 
17 Irving, Texas 75062 

972.719.5000 
18 972.717.3985 (fax) 
19 
20 FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER RULE 203 TRCP 
21 The original deposition was/was not returned to the 
22 deposition officer on 
23 If returned, the attached Changes and Signature page 
24 contains any changes and the reasons therefor. 
25 Ifreturned, the original deposition was delivered 
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1 to Mr. Matt McGee, Custodial Attorney; 
2 TI at is the deposition officer's 
3 ch to the Defendants for preparing the original 
4 d transcript and any copies of exhibits; 
5 That osition was delivered in accordance with 
6 R~03. , that a copy of this certificate was 
7 s ~n all shown herein and filed with the 
8 Clerk.~ 
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Filed: 12/10/2014 3:22:49 PM 
Andrea S. Thompson 
District Clerk 
Collin County, Texas 
By Barbara McMillan Deputy 
Envelope ID: 3445149 

1 

2 

CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 
Plaintiff 

v. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, 
MARK B. GOTHELF, AND 
CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, 
INC., 

Defendants 

and 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND * 
9 V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT * 

ASSOCIATION * 
10 Intervening Plaintiff * 

11 v . 

12 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

13 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF and 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants * 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

14 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 
DEPOSITION OF CAROLYN PEADON 

15 NOVEMBER 4, 2014 

16 I, Pennie Futrell, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 

17 and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the 

18 following: 

38 

19 That the witness, CAROLYN PEADON, was duly sworn by 

20 the officer and that the transcript of the oral 

21 deposition is a true record of the testimony given by 

22 the witness; 

23 That the deposition transcript was submitted on 

24 

25 

-~----~~IY\-"-b"'--ll.J(e... ___ ~l~""Z-.~~~' 2014 to the witness or to the 

attorney for the witness for examination, signature and 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
e-filed by production@cc9lii>e119e5088om 000001 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 149



CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 

return to me by '"U..e cero b..e..e 8" , 2014; 

That the amount of time used by each party at the 

deposition is as follows: 

Justin Butterfield 
Matt McGee 
David Surratt 

0 hours 
0 hours 
0 hours 

25 minutes 
08 minutes 
06 minutes 
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That pursuant to information given to the deposition 

officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 

following includes counsel for all parties of record: 

FOR THE INTERVENING PLAINTIFF: 

Mr. David Surratt 
RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 
Telephone: 
Facsimile: 
E-mail: 

75219 
214.760.6766 
214.760.6785 
dsurratt@riddleandwilliams 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 

Mr. Matt McGee 
HAYNES & BOONE, LLP 
2323 Victory Avenue 
Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 
Telephone: 
Facsimile: 
E-mail: 

75219 
214.651.5584 
214.200.0373 
matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 

Mr. Justin Butterfield 
Liberty Institute - Senior Counsel and Director 
of Research and Education 
2001 Plano Parkway 
Suite 1600 
Plano, Texas 75075 
Telephone: 972.941.4444 
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E-mail: 

CAROLYN PEADON 
November 4, 2014 

jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 

I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 

related to, nor employed by any of the parties or 

attorneys in the action in which this proceeding was 

taken, and further that I am not financially or 

otherwise interested in the outcome of the action. 

Further certification requirements pursuant to Rule 

203 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure will be 

certified to after they have occurred. 

Certified to by me this 12th day of November, 2014. 

FUTRELL, 
Expiration Date: 12/31/15 
Firm Registration No. 526 
Corporate Plaza I, Suite 152 
4950 N. O'Connor Road 
Irving, Texas 75062 
972.719.5000 
972.717.3985 (fax) 

FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER RULE 203 TRCP 

The original deposition was/was not returned to the 

deposition officer on 

If returned, the attached Changes and Signature page 

contains any changes and the reasons therefor. 

If returned, the original deposition was delivered 
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CAROLYN PEADON 
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to Mr. Matt McGee, Custodial Attorney; 
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That -~-\..\ ....... 9"-'e ........... _,..O;;...;;O::;,.__ __ is the deposition officer's 

charges to the Defendants for preparing the original 

deposition transcript and any copies of exhibits; 

That the deposition was delivered in accordance with 

Rule 203.3, and that a copy of this certificate was 

served on all parties shown herein and filed with the 

Clerk. 

Certified to by me this _1_..D...__ day of U c. . 
2014. 

h++·•~·" PENNIE FUTRELL, CSR No. 4108 
Expiration Date: 12/31/15 
Firm Registration No. 526 
Corporate Plaza I, Suite 152 
4950 N. O'Connor Road 
Irving, Texas 75062 
972.719.5000 
972.717.3985 (fax) 
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CAROLYNPEADON 
November 4, 2014 

I, CAROLYN PEADON, have read the foregoing 

deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is 

true and correct, except as noted above. 

CAROLYN PEADON 

STATE OF 

COUNTY OF 

Before me, 

personally appeared CAROLYN PEADON, known to me (or 

proved to me under oath or through 

--------~~-
) to be the person whose name is 

subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 

to me that they executed the same for the purposes and 

consideration therein expressed. 

Given under my hand and seal of office this 

day of 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

1 CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

Page 1 

2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

3 

v. 
4 

Plaintiff, § 

§ 

§ 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B.§ 
5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION § 

6 

7 

TORAS CHAIM, INC., 
Defendants. 

and 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

8 HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND§ 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 

ASSOCIATION, § 

Intervening Plaintiff,§ 
§ 

v. § 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND § 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 
§ 

§ OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF 
DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 

AUGUST 5, 2014 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF DAVID R. 

i 
,C 

24 SCHNEIDER, produced as a witness at the instance of the 
25 Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim and duly sworn, was } 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

Page2 

1 taken in the above-styled and numbered cause on August 5, 
2 2014, from 10:05 a.m. to 1:07 p.m., before Jamie Prince 
3 Hess, Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the State of 
4 Texas, reported by computerized stenotype machine at 
5 Haynes and Boone, LLP, 2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700, 
6 Dallas, Texas 75219, pursuant to the Texas Rules of Civil 
7 Procedure and the provisions stated on the record or 
8 attached hereto. 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

1 APPEARANCES 
2 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

Mr. David R Schneider (Pro Se) 
4 7035 Mumford 

Dallas, Texas 75252 
5 214.315.5531 

davidrayschneider@gmail.com 

FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM: 

Mr. Matt McGee 
8 Haynes and Boone, LLP 

2323 Victory A venue 
9 Suite700 

Dallas, Texas 75219 
IO 214.651.5000 

matt.mcgee(@haynesboone.com 
11 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM. JUDITH D. 
12 GOTHELF ANDMARKB. GOTHELF: 
13 Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 

Liberty Institute 
14 2001 Plano Parkway 

Suite 1600 
15 Plano, Texas 75075 

972.941.4444 
16 Jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
17 FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUN!1Y 

IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 
18 

Mr. David A. Surratt 
19 Riddle & Williams, PC 

3710 Rawlins Street 
20 Suite 1400 

Dallas, Texas 75219 
21 214.760.6766 

22 

23 

24 
25 

dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 

ALSO PRESENT: 

Mr. Randy Johnson, thevideographer 

Page 3 
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12 
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14 Deposition of Plaintiff David Schneider 15 
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16 Exhibit 5 Color photograph. . . . . . . . . . . . 23 

Exhibit 6 Color photograph. . . . . . . . . . . . 23 
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18 Exhibit 9 The Word of Man: A Brief History of 

the Bible by David R Schneider 
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20 Exhibit 11 10/21/13 Email correspondence 

(HOA000177through000179) ...... 42 
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Page4 

Page 5 

1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are now on the record 
2 for the video deposition of David Schneider. The time is 
3 10:05 a.m. The date is August 5th, 2014. 
4 Would the court reporter please administer the 
5 oath. 
6 (Witness sworn.) 
7 MR. McGEE: And just for the record, I'm 
8 Matt McGee, and I represent the Defendant Congregation 
9 Toras Chaim, Inc. 

10 MR. BUTTERFIELD: I'm Justin Butterfield. 
11 I represent Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. and Mark and 
12 Judith Gothelf. 
13 MR. SURRA TT: And David Surratt. I 
14 represent the Intervening Plaintiff, the Highlands of 
15 McKamy HOA. 
16 MR. McGEE: Good morning, Mr. Schneider. 
17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Are you wearing your 
18 microphone? 
19 DA V1D R SCHNEIDER, 
20 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 
21 EXAMINATION 
22 BY MR. McGEE: 
23 Q. My name is Matt McGee. And we just met this 
24 morning--
25 A. Yes. 

1· 

2 (Pages 2 to 5) 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

Page6 Page8 

Q. -- is that right? 1 Q. And what did you contend was wrong with the 
A. Yes. 2 fence that he put up? 
Q. And do you understand that the oath you just 3 A. It blocked my view of the golf course that was 

took is made under a penalty of perjury? 4 behind our house, or a portion of it. 
A. Yes. 5 Q. And were you represented in that suit? 
Q. And that it requires you to answer my questions 6 A. By pro se, as in this. 

truthfully and completely -- 7 Q. Was Mr. Vann represented? 
A. Yes. 8 A. He was. 
Q. -- to the best of your ability? 9 Q. And do you remember who his attorney was? 

And do you agree to do that? 10 A. I do not. 
A. Yes. 11 Q. What did Mr. Vann contend in the suit? 
Q. And, Mr. Schneider, have you ever been deposed 12 A. Nothing, really. I mean, his defense didn't 

before? 13 really contend anything. 
A. I believe I have. It's been a long time, so I 14 Q. So did he admit that the fence violated the 

can't remember for sure, but... 15 covenants? 
Q. Okay. And what -- was there a particular case 16 A. The suit was ultimately dismissed and he took 

that you're thinking you may have been deposed in? 17 the fence down, so that was the resolution, so ... 
A. When I was divorced from my then-wife Karen 18 Q. Was that like pursuant to a settlement where, 

Schneider, we went through several motions to modify and I 19 like, you agreed --
think there was a deposition in there somewhere. As far 20 A. No. 
as I recall that's the only deposition I've had 21 Q. -- to drop it if he --
previously. 22 A. No. 

Q. And have you ever given testimony in court 23 Q. -- took the fence down? 
before other than the hearing in this case? 24 A. No. But I can't say exactly the sequence. All 

A. No. 25 I know is the suit was dismissed on a -- for a technical 

Page 7 Page9 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Do you mind moving that 1 reason and that same day the fence came down, presumably 
glass? I'm sorry. 2 because I was going to refile it, but I'm speculating as 

THE WITNESS: Sure. 3 to motive at this point. 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Thank you. 4 Q. Have you ever been involved in litigation with 

Q. So you mentioned the divorce with Karen 5 the Village of Glen Eagles Homeowners Association? 
Schneider. Other than that suit and this suit, have you 6 A. No. 
been involved in other litigation before? 7 Q. What about litigation with Miller & Miller, DDS? 

A. Yes. 8 A. That was my dentist. I'm not sure. We had a 
Q. And what -- if you could, please give me a list 9 dispute over a bill and it's possible that there was some 

of other cases you've been involved in. 10 litigation, but I don't recall anything on it. 
A. Sometime around 2002 I was the plaintiff in a 11 Q. Okay. And what about litigation with Legacy 

lawsuit against a neighbor of mine named John Vann, and it 12 Executive Suites, Incorporated? 
was in Collin County. 13 A. Same thing. There was a dispute over a bill, 

Q. And first, let's go through and just get a list 14 and I'm not sure ifthere was any litigation on either of 
and then I may go back and follow up on some of the 15 those things. It was settled, and I don't remember the 
individual items. 16 terms of settlement. It's been a while. 

Are there any other cases where you were either 17 Q. And you mentioned the divorce proceeding with 
a plaintiff or a defendant? 18 Karen Schneider. Are there any other divorces that you've 

A. Not that I recall. 19 been a party to? 
Q. And what is the -- what was the nature of the 20 A. Yes. I was divorced from Cynthia Schneider, and 

I> 

!> 

> 
1, 

r; 
:; 

:> 

i 

;; 

ft 

i 

lawsuit with Mr. Vann? 21 also from Claudia Schneider. That was their names when we 0 

A. It was a lawsuit to enforce deed restrictions. 22 were married. 
Q. And what were the allegations in that suit? 23 Q. And other than the proceedings you mentioned 
A. He put up a fence that was prohibited under the 24 with Karen Schneider that may have involved a deposition, 

deed restrictions, and I sued to get him to pull it down. 25 was there any real litigation involved in the others or ,, 
; 

~ " 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

Page 10 Page 12 ' 

were they just kind of standard divorces? 1 understanding my questions? ri 
A What I would refer to as a standard divorce, 2 A No. 

uncontested. 3 Q. And anything about your physical, mental or 
Q. Have you ever been in litigation with the Plano 4 emotional condition that would prevent you from giving 

ISD? 5 truthful and complete answers to my questions? 
A No. 6 A No. 
Q. Have you ever filed for bankruptcy? 7 Q. Are you currently on any medications that would 
A Yes. 8 prevent you from understanding my questions --
Q. And what were the circumstances around that? 9 A No. 
A The usual type things, creditors that couldn't 10 Q. -- or giving truthful answers? 

satisfy and ... 11 And, if you could, please just wait for me to 
Q. Was -- did -- were there any court hearings, 12 the finish the question before you answer so that it's 

court proceedings in connection with that? 13 easier for the court reporter. 
A You know, there must have been because it was 14 A Sure. 

ultimately discharged. This was back in 1997 was the 15 Q. I'm going to show you what we'll mark as 
discharge date, and I'm sure there was a court proceeding 16 Exhibit 1. 
at the time. 17 (Exhibit 1 marked.) 

Q. And before I go further, I just want to state on 18 Q. And I'd just ask you to look over the document, 
the record -- and you've been doing a good job so far of 19 and once you've had a chance to look at it, let me know. 
this, but that our court reporter here is taking down 20 A All right. 

i 

; 

everything that we say -- 21 Q. So this -- I'll represent to you that this is 
;; 

A Yes. 22 a -- just from a search run on Collin County's website i.i 

Q. -- and so I just will request that you answer my 23 that -- just on the name David Schneider that lists Ii 

questions out loud, like not with -- 24 several lawsuits. And so I'd just like to -- and I asked 1; 
A. Okay. 25 you about each of these earlier, but I'd like to just walk 

ri 

I: 
Page 11 Page 13 

Q. -- nods or head shakes. 1 through it and if you could let me know for each one !i 

A Sure. 2 whether it is you or isn't you, and then I may have 
;; 
[i 

Q. And ifl ask you a question you don't 3 follow-ups from there. 
§ 

understand, then just please ask me to restate it or 4 A Every one of these looks like me. 
rephrase it and I'll try to do that. 5 Q. And some of these are -- for example, the Plano i 

A Certainly. 6 ISD, the Village -- and the Village of Glen Eagles 
Q. And is it fair for me to assume that if you 7 Homeowners Association and the Legacy Executive Suites I 

don't ask me to rephrase or tell me that you don't 8 believe are ones that you testified earlier that you were 
understand then I'll assume that you do understand the 9 not involved in litigation with those entities? 
question? 10 A As far as I know, I wasn't. I can see that 

A That would be correct. 11 they're listed here. I did live at the Village of Glen 
Q. If you need a break at any time, just let me 12 Eagles, so I -- and I am David R Schneider. So I don't 

know and we'll -- if there's a question pending, I might 13 recall any litigation or any suit filed in that case, and 
ask you to answer it first, but then we'll be happy to 14 the same thing with the Plano ISD. 
take a break if you need one. 15 Q. Okay. So for each of these three, Legacy 

A Thank you. 16 Executive Suites, Plano ISD, and Village of Glen Eagles, 
Q. And sometimes during the deposition Mr. Surratt 17 you don't have any knowledge about the circumstances of 

; 

might state objections for the record. And I'm sure 18 the --
you've heard that in the previous depositions here. 19 A The Legacy --
That's a legal issue that the judge may need to decide 20 Q. -- disputes? i 

down the road, but in general, if -- even ifhe makes an 21 A I'm sorry. I interrupted your -- ;; 

objection, you can still answer the question. 22 Q. That's okay. Go ahead. 
A All right. 23 A For the Legacy Executive Suites, we did have a 
Q. Is there anything about your physical, mental or 24 dispute over a bill and I know I settled that. I wasn't 

emotional condition that would prevent you from 25 actually aware that there was litigation filed in that, I< 

.... ·~· 

4 (Pages 10 to 13) 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 

Electronically signed by Jamie Prince Hess (301-161-209-7027) 
Electronically signed by Jamie Prince Hess (301-161-209-7027) 2120bd43-a88e-4b92-bc50-819f79fff71 c DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 159



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

"" 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

Page 14 Page 16 

but it was 15 years ago. I don't recall the exact I prepare for this deposition, was that in your capacity as 
circumstances, so that there's litigation here isn't 2 a former board member or --
completely surprising to me, but we never went to court or 3 A. Yes. 
anything like that. 4 Q. -- or in your capacity -- just wait for me to 

Q. And, Mr. Schneider, have you ever been arrested? 5 finish, please. 
A. Yes. 6 Was that in your capacity as a former board 
Q. And how many times? 7 member or your capacity as a pro se plaintiff? 
A. Once. 8 A. Capacity as former board member. 
Q. And what were the circumstances? 9 Q. What damages are you seeking to recover in this 
A. When I was 18, 1971, I was arrested for 10 lawsuit? 

possession of marijuana. 11 A. $50,000 damages to my house property value as 
Q. And what was the ultimate outcome of that 12 well as any other statutory or -- statutory damages I may 

arrest? 13 be entitled to. 
A. Received deferred adjudication and served my 14 Q. What do you mean when you refer to statutory 

probationary period and it was expunged from my record. 15 damages you may be entitled to? 
Q. And so, as you know, we're here today with a -- 16 A. I believe that there's a $200 per day violation 

here on a case that you filed involving the Congregation 17 per -- for violation of restrictive covenants that's 
Toras Chaim, Inc. And as we proceed through this 18 provided by Texas statutory law. 
deposition, I'll often refer to "the congregation," and 19 Q. So other than the $50,000 alleged damages to 
when I say that, I'm referring to the defendant in this 20 your home's value and the $200 per day statutory damages, 
action, Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. And when I mention 21 are you seeking any other damages? 
the HOA, I'm referring to the Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V 22 A. No. 
Community Improvement Association. 23 And ifthe $50,000 damages was determined later 

A. That makes sense to me. 24 to be higher or lower, that is certainly possible. The 
Q. And I may also refer to your neighborhood as 25 $50,000 number is an estimate. 

Page 15 Page 17 

Highlands ofMcKamy for short. 1 Q. I'd like to walk through with you the 
A. That makes sense as well. 2 circumstances that just led to you becoming a resident in 
Q. I'll show you what I'm going to mark as 3 the Highlands of McKamy. So maybe you -- if you could, 

Exhibit 2. 4 just like tell me the story of how did you come to live 
(Exhibit 2 marked.) 5 there, what led up to it and just give me the back story. 

Q. If you could, look at it and let me know when 6 A. Sure. At the time I had become engaged to my 
you're ready. 7 now-wife, Laura Schneider, and we made the decision to buy 

A. Yes. 8 a house prior to getting married, and we decided this in 
Q. Again, what is this document? 9 December of2012. And we began looking at houses, and one 
A. Notice of intent to take videotaped deposition 10 of the houses we looked at was 7035 Mumford; and after 

of myself. II looking at it a couple of times, we fell in love with the 
Q. And is this the notice of deposition pursuant to 12 house and decided to make an offer on it. And that was at 

which you're appearing here today? 13 the end of December of2012. We did strike an agreement 
A. Yes. 14 with the owner and proceeded to execute the purchase. 
Q. What did you do to prepare for this deposition 15 MR. SURRA TT: Excuse me just a second. 

today? 16 He's speaking softly. Are you picking this up okay? 
A. Not a lot. Brought this pad and had a brief 17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Yes. 

conversation with Mr. Surratt. 18 MR. SURRATT: Okay. 
Q. Did you review any documents to prepare for the 19 THE WITNESS: If you have any trouble 

deposition? 20 hearing me, let me know. I can speak louder. 
A. No, I did not. 21 Q. And what is your understanding of when the 
Q. And ifl understand it, you're a former board 22 congregation first began meeting in the Highlands of 

member in the -- of the HOA; is that correct? 23 McKamy? 
A. Yes, I am. 24 A. Sometime in July of2013. 
Q. And was your conversation with Mr. Surratt to 25 Q. And do you have any understanding about where 

... .. 
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k 

the congregation was meeting prior to July 2013? 1 purchased? le 

A. It has been said that the congregation was 2 A. Certainly it was a beautiful neighborhood and it i; 

meeting at another house in the Highlands ofMcKamy, that 3 was actually a neighborhood that I was somewhat familiar 
I> 

of Rabbi Rich. 4 with already because the best man at my wedding had 
Q. When you say "it has been said," what-- who are 5 previously lived in the Highlands ofMcKamy, so I knew it 

you-- 6 to be a very pretty place. 
A. I don't recall. 7 Q. And how much did you and Ms. Schneider pay for 
Q. -- referring to? 8 the home? 
A. I do not recall who said it first. I've heard 9 A. $295,000, give or take a few hundred. 

it from a number of different people. Rabbi Rich himself 10 Q. And would you be willing to sell the home today 
spoke of it at one point. 11 for $295,000? 

Q. And do you know how long the congregation was 12 A. No. 
meeting at Rabbi Rich's home prior to July of2013? 13 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 3. And I'll just ask 

A. Again, from what other people have said, the 14 you to look over it and then let me know when you're 
congregation was meeting there for about two years prior 15 ready. 
to moving to 7103 Mumford. 16 (Exhibit 3 marked.) 

Q. And you mentioned Rabbi Rich and maybe some 17 A. I've looked it over. 
i 

other people. Who are the other people that you have 18 Q. And what is Exhibit 3? 
heard say the congregation was meeting there? 19 A. It's my response to Defendant's Request for 

A. Let's see. I think Ben Nise mentioned that 20 Disclosure. I~ 
early on. I believe Hershel Krycer said much the same. 21 Q. And what is the general substance of this 

Q. And what was his last name again? 22 document? 
A. Krycer, spelled K-r-y-c-e-r, I believe. 23 A. It's to request to disclose the method of 
Q. And who is Mr. Krycer? 24 calculating $50,000 in damages for loss to my home value. 
A. He is a member of the congregation. Sadly, he's 25 Q. And what is the substance of your response? 

Page 19 Page 21 

no longer with us. 1 What was the method that you disclosed here? 
Q. Did anyone else mention this other than Rabbi 2 A. It's to attempt as best as possible to determine 

' 
Rich, Ben Nise, and Hershel Krycer? 3 the difference between what the value of the house would 

A. Probably, but honestly, I can't remember 4 be were it to be offered for sale comparing it with there 
specifics. And over time it's been repeated many number 5 being a synagogue across the street from me versus there 
of times, but that's -- that's where I first heard it was 6 not being a synagogue across the street from me. 
from these individuals. 7 Q. And the -- I see here as part of your response 

Q. So do you have any reason to -- do you have any 8 you state that the method was for Plaintiff Homeowner ; 

i 
reason to disagree with the proposition that the 9 David R. Schneider to estimate the fair market value of le 

congregation has been meeting in the Highlands ofMcKamy 10 his house at 7035 Mumford, Dallas, were it to be offered 
since 2011? 11 for sale, with residential only usage at nearby houses, as 

A. Not particularly. 12 most potential buyers would expect, less the fair market 
Q. Getting back to your home purchase. What-- 13 value of same house having Defendant Congregation Toras 

your wife's name is -- 14 Chaim operating an Orthodox Jewish synagogue directly 
A. Laura. 15 across the street. 

I> 

Q. -- Ms. -- and I'll refer to her as Ms. Schneider 16 What is the basis for the estimate that you 
if that's okay. 17 refer to in that response? 

What did you and Ms. Schneider do to investigate 18 A. I don't believe I can state it any differently 
the neighborhood before you purchased? 19 than how it's stated here. I can read through this if you 

A. We drove around the neighborhood. We reviewed 20 would like. 
the restrictive deed covenants that were provided to us in 21 Q. Well, let me ask it this way: Do you have any 

; 

advance of our purchase by the title company. That's all 22 basis for the $50,000 number other than what is in this 
I can recall at this point. 23 document, Exhibit 3? i 

Q. Do you recall anything from your drive or -- 24 A. No. 
; 
,; 

drive or drives around the neighborhood before you 25 Q. If you -- I'll direct your attention to the '; 
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1 first full paragraph on Page 2. You -- there, do you --
2 you acknowledge that there would be some buyers that would 
3 be willing to pay more for the house because of the 
4 synagogue's presence? 
5 A. No. I would not agree that there would be 
6 buyers that would pay more, but there would be buyers that 
7 would be interested in the house because of its location. 
8 Q. And you also contend that there are, and I 
9 quote, a great many more who would not be interested in 

10 the home because of the synagogue's presence? 
11 A. I believe that, yes. 
12 Q. And what is your basis for contending that some 
13 buyers would not be interested because of the synagogue? 
14 A. I believe that the reason that people buy in 
15 deed restricted communities is because they expect those 
16 deed restrictions to be enforced and complied with, and 
17 there's a house across the street from mine which is not 
18 complying with those deed restrictions. I believe that 
19 generally would be considered something that people would 
20 want to shy away from were they to know about it. 
21 Q. Have you talked to any potential buyers that 
22 have said they're not interested because of the 
23 congregation? 
24 A. Since my house is not for sale, no. 
25 Q. Do you have any formal training in real estate 

1 
2 

valuation? 
A. I do not. 

3 Q. Do you claim any expertise in real estate 
4 valuation? 
5 A. No, I do not. 
6 Q. Other than your estimate as noted in this 

Page23 

7 document, have you done anything to investigate what the 
8 current value of your home might be? 
9 A. No. 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. So prior to filing this lawsuit, did you do 
anything to investigate the value of your home? 

A. I did not. 
Q. Did you make any --
A. I take that back. We had an appraisal done on 

our house at the time we purchased it. 
Q. And what was the value in that appraisal? 
A. To the best of my knowledge, it was 298,000, 

give or take. 
Q. Would you sell your house today for $298,000? 
A. No, I would not. 
Q. I'm going to mark Exhibits 4, 5 and 6, which are 

three photos, and I'll just hand them to you, ask you to 
look at them and let me know when you're ready. 

(Exhibits 4, 5 and 6 marked.) 
A. I'm ready. 

1 Q. Okay. I'll hand you all three at once. And do 
2 you recognize Exhibits 4, 5 and 6? 
3 A. I do. 
4 Q. And what are they? 
5 A. This is the back yard of my house. 
6 Q. And do you recognize these particular 
7 photographs? 
8 A. No. 

Q. Do you know when they were taken? 
A. I would say that they were taken before I 

purchased the house. 
Q. And do you know who took them? 
A. I do not. 

Page24 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Do these three photographs in Exhibits 4, 5 and 
6, do they reflect an accurate depiction of what your back 
yard looks like today? 

A. It does. 
Q. Is there anything in any of these photographs 

that has changed or is not accurate currently? 
A. Well, there are a couple of very minor details; 

but in substance, no. 
Q. And what are the minor details? 
A. Well, there's -- in Exhibit 5 there's a picture 

that shows what looks to be some kind of a chest or 
container which is not there at this time. 

1 Q. And are you -- are you referring to the -- like 
2 the tan-looking chest that's to the right of the green 
3 door on Exhibit 5? 
4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And anything else that is not accurate? 

Page25 

6 A. Well, as of today, we've made some changes to 
7 the back yard. We've planted some trees, we've put up 
8 some decorations, and those are not reflected in these 
9 pictures. 

10 Q. Is the shed that's present in all three of these 
11 pictures, most prominently in Exhibit 6, is that shed 
12 there today? 
13 A. Yes, it is. 
14 Q. And you mentioned that other than the appraisal 
15 that at the time of your home purchase you did not conduct 
16 any inquiry into the alleged $50,000 in damages. Now 
17 moving to the same issue with the statutory damages that 
18 you're seeking. Did -- prior to when you filed your suit, 
19 did you conduct any kind of inquiry into statutory 
20 damages? 
21 A. I'm not sure I understand the question. 
22 Q. At the time you filed your suit -- I'll rephrase 
23 it. At the time you filed your suit, what was the basis 
24 for seeking the statutory damages that you mentioned 
25 earlier? 

I' 
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1 A. Texas statutory law. I can't quote the exact 1 this litigation? ; 

2 section, but I believe it was somewhere in 209. 2 A. It is. 
3 Q. So you read the statute before you -- 3 Q. And this appears to be an e-mail chain between 
4 A. I did. 4 you and Mr. Hervey Levin; is that correct? 
5 Q. -- included that in your petition? 5 A. Yes. 
6 And did you do anything other than read the 6 Q. And then I'll direct your attention to the next j. 

7 statute before you filed your petition seeking statutory 7 to the last paragraph of Mr. Levin's e-mail that is at the 
8 damages? 8 top of the chain on the first page. And there he says 
9 A. Again, I'm not entirely sure I understand your 9 that "The opinion you heard yesterday that said had they 

10 question. 10 known about this fight they would not have bought in H of 
11 Q. I'll rephrase it. 11 M will be replicated and affect the value of all homes in ; 

12 So other than reading the statute that you quote 12 H ofM adversely." 
13 in your petition, prior to the time when you filed your 13 Do you remember reading that -- I·' 

14 petition, did you do anything to make an inquiry into 14 A. Yes. 
15 whether you would or would not be entitled to those 15 Q. -- at the time Mr. Levin sent it to you? 
16 damages? 16 A. I'm sorry. Yes. The answer is yes. 
17 A. I don't recall specifically. 17 Q. And what is your understanding of what he meant I~ 

18 Q. So would it be fair to say that the only thing 18 by that? 
19 you do recall doing is to read the statute? 19 A. His opinion was that the fight over the lawsuit 
20 A. That's correct. 20 would affect the value of all homes in Highlands ofMcKamy 
21 Q. Do you have an opinion as to what impact the 21 adversely. k 

22 existence of this litigation might have on your home's 22 Q. So Mr. Levin is at least one person who believes ,, 

23 value? 23 that the existence of this litigation negatively impacts 
24 A. I'm sorry. I don't have any idea. 24 home values? 
25 Q. Do you think this litigation makes your home 25 A. That is true. 

Page27 Page29 : 

1 worth more? 
2 A. I'm not sure I could answer that one way or the 
3 other. 
4 Q. And why is it that you think you cannot answer 
5 that? 
6 A. I don't think the litigation is the factor that 
7 primarily drives my home value; however, I do believe the 
8 existence of the synagogue across the street in violation 
9 of our restrictive deed covenants is the cause. 

10 Therefore, I don't see the litigation as being a part of 
11 that. 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Do you think some buyer -- some potential buyers 
in your neighborhood may be scared off from purchasing if 
they see neighbors suing each other? 

A. I couldn't say. 
Q. Would it be reasonable to think that there would 

be people out there that wouldn't want to live in a 
neighborhood where neighbors are suing each other? 

A. I can't say. I wouldn't -- I wouldn't want to 
characterize it one way or the other. 

Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 7, and please look 
over it and let me know once you've done so. 

(Exhibit 7 marked.) 
A. Yes, I recognize this. 
Q. And is Exhibit 7 a document that you produced in 

1 Q. And what is he referring to when he mentions the 
2 opinion you heard yesterday? Is he referring to some kind 
3 of meeting that occurred on February 16th? 
4 A. He is. And I'm not certain whose opinion he's 
5 referring to and I don't recall that particular opinion. 
6 Q. Sodoyou--
7 A. But that wouldn't surprise me because there was 
8 a great many opinions expressed at that meeting. 
9 Q. So do you recall opinions being expressed at 

10 that meeting about this litigation's negative impact on 
11 home values in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
12 A. I don't, but I do recall comments to the effect 
13 that people, if they knew that the congregation was 
14 practicing at 7103 Mumford, that they would not have 
15 purchased in the neighborhood. 
16 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 8. Please let me know 
17 once you've had a chance to look at it. 
18 (Exhibit 8 marked.) 
19 A. Yes. 
20 Q. And do you recognize this e-mail chain in 
21 Exhibit 8? 
22 A. I do. 
23 Q. And did you produce this in this litigation? 
24 A. I did. 
25 Q. And it appears to be an e-mail chain between Ted 

; 

I: 

. 

I 

I· 
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Day and Stan and Marilyn Rothstein; is that correct? 1 property. Who would want to purchase in our neighborhood 
A. Yes. 2 with all of this increased dissection and possible large 
Q. And who are those people? 3 assessments to the homeowners. We have lived in this 
A. I don't know them. 4 neighborhood for over 29 years and we have never seen a 
Q. Well, let's take them one by one. Who is Ted 5 homeowner starting such an action against his own 

Day? 6 neighbors." 
A. Ted Day is a member of the board of directors of 7 Would it be fair to characterize that statement 

Highlands of McKamy HOA and someone who was on -- served 8 as expressing an opinion that this litigation has a 
on the board with me while I was on the board and he is 9 negative impact on the value of homes in the Highlands of 
the vice president of the HOA. 10 McKamy? 

Q. And how -- if you look at the To and From lines 11 A. Yes. 
at the top, how -- how is it that you came to receive this 12 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 9, and please let me 
e-mail? Are you a member of, like, one of the groups on 13 know once you've had a chance to look it over. 
the To line here? 14 (Exhibit 9 marked.) 

A. Yes. 15 A. I have, and a fine document it is. 
Q. And who's a member of that e-mail group? Is it 16 Q. And what is Exhibit 9? 

board members only or is it more widespread? 17 A. This is a document that I wrote a number of 
A. No. It's board members plus officers, and in 18 years ago regarding a brief history of the Bible. 

this particular case, that means Aaron Orshalick also 19 Q. And have you produced this document in this 
received this e-mail. He's not a board member, but is an 20 litigation? 
officer. 21 A. Yes. 

Q. So other than yourself, Aaron Orshalick and Ted 22 Q. And I -- I can see the abstract here, but if I 
Day, who else would have received this e-mail? 23 could just ask you to -- in your own words, could you 

A. Doug Galbraith, who's a board member; Marilyn 24 state for the record a brief summary of what this document 
Frey, who's a board member; and Michael Donohue, who is a 25 says and your -- the views that you express in it? 

' 

,, 

Ii 

i) 

I 

I 

Page 31 Page 33 I~ 

board member. 1 A. This is a summary of information that I've read 
Q. Are you still a member of this e-mail group? 2 regarding how the various books of the Bible came to I• 

A. lam. 3 appear in the form that they appear to us today; basically I 

Q. And in what capacity do you currently receive 4 how the New Testament and the Old Testament came to be in 1; 

e-mails as -- under the -- that are sent to the Highlands 5 the form that we read it in English today. k• 

ofMcKamy IV and V group? 6 Q. And this is a 56-page mostly single-spaced 1: 

A. I'm in control of the HOA president account 7 document with some tables and interspersed. Is that a 
until somebody is ready to take it over from me, which 8 fair characterization of the length --
could be done sooner rather than later, as far as I'm 9 A. Yes. 
concerned. 10 Q. -- of the document? 

Q. And who are Stan and Marilyn Rothstein? 11 A. It's actually a draft and is not complete, ... 

A. I do not know them. 12 although I did publish it in substantially identical form 
Q. Do you know if they reside in the Highlands of 13 on my website and that is why I produced it. 

McKamy? 14 Q. Do you know what the Torah is? 
A. I don't know. 15 A. I do. 
Q. Is it fair to say that it appears from their 16 Q. And what -- what's your understanding of what 

e-mail that they likely reside in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 17 the Torah is? 
A. Absolutely. That's my assumption. It's 18 A. It's the first books of the Old Testament. 

possible I've met one or both of them and don't recall 19 Q. And how many books are in the Torah? 
because I've met a lot of homeowners in the past year. So 20 A. Five. 
my apologizes to Stan and Marilyn ifl don't recall them 21 Q. And are those the books of Genesis, Exodus, 
from their name alone. 22 Leviticus, Numbers, and Deuteronomy? 

; 

Q. And under No. 3 of their e-mail -- this is close 23 A. Yes. 
to the bottom of the first page -- they say, "We believe 24 Q. Do you have any knowledge about the 
that a lawsuit severely decreases the value of our 25 congregation's views of the authorship of the Torah? 
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A. I do not. 1 about them separately and keep them separate. Can you --
Q. And what are your views on the authorship of the 2 will you do that? 

Torah? 3 A. I will. 
A. I follow what is generally called the 4 Q. Thank you. 

documentary hypothesis. 5 Why did you want to be on the board in the 
11 

Q. What is the documentary hypothesis? 6 Highlands ofMcKamy? 
A. It essentially says that there were several 7 A. I felt it was important that the deed 11 

different authors of the Torah and that their works were 8 restrictions be enforced by the board of directors and 
placed together in such a fashion as to form the Torah as 9 that I did not feel that the board that was previously in 
we know it today. 10 place would ultimately decide to enforce those deed 

Q. According to the documentary hypothesis, would 11 restrictions. 
Moses be one of the authors of the Torah? 12 Q. And were there other reasons you wanted to be on 

A. No. 13 the board besides your view of the deed restrictions? 111 

Q. In your opinion, was Moses one of the authors of 14 A. That would be the primary reason. Although I I' 
the Torah? 15 should add that there were certainly other things that I 

A. No. 16 thought were important that should be handled differently, 
Q. In your opinion, did the events that are 17 but that was the prime motivator. But just by way of 

recorded -- let me rephrase that. 18 example is I felt that the board had ceased to operate in ii 

In your opinion, did the events that are 19 an open manner and that that was problematic to me. 
recorded in the Torah actually occur? 20 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit IO. Please let me 

A. I'm sure some did and some did not. I'm not 21 know once you've had a chance to look it over. 
sure I'm in a position to go down a list item by item 22 (Exhibit 10 marked.) '; 

of -- to say which did or did not occur. 23 A. I've looked it over. 
' 

Q. Your -- the title of this document is The Word 24 Q. And do you recognize Exhibit 1 O? 
! 

of Man: A Brief History of the Bible. What do you mean 25 A. I do. I: 
11 

Page 35 Page 37 

by the phrase "the word of man"? 1 Q. And what is it? 
A. In my opinion, the Bible was brought to us and 2 A. It is a flier that was passed out to homes in 11 

all the words in it by human beings. 3 the Highlands ofMcKamy. I 
Q. In your opinion, is the Torah inspired by God? 4 Q. And did you produce Exhibit IO in this 
A. I'm not able to answer that one way or the 5 litigation? 

[1 

other. 6 A. I did. 
Q. So you have no opinion on whether the -- on 7 Q. And you say this is a flier that was passed out, 

whether God inspired the Torah? 8 so who passed it out? 
; 

A. I don't really have an opinion on it, no. 9 A. I don't remember the specific individuals, but I 
MR. McGEE: How long have we been going? IO was one of them. I' 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: 55 minutes. 11 Q. Do you remember any of the other -- and I 
Q. Do you need a break? Are you okay to continue? 12 understand you don't remember the full list, but are there 
A. No, thank you. I don't need a break. 13 others that you do remember that passed this out? 
Q. And I'd like to ask a few questions next about 14 A. My wife passed it out with me. ! 

the board in the Highlands ofMcKamy. 15 Q. Do you remember anyone other than yourself and I~ 
A. Certainly. And in -- as we move forward in 16 your wife? i!; 

this, if there are questions that you are more clearly 17 A. No, I don't. ,, 
asking for me to answer as a former board member versus as 18 Q. So there's a bulleted list here at the top of il 

plaintiff or occupant of 7035 Mumford, if there's a 19 the first page of Exhibit IO. Would it be fair to say ~ 

distinction between those roles, could you help me to 20 that each of these bullets are some of the other reasons 
understand that so I can give you a proper answer? 21 that you wanted to be on the board? ! 

Q. Yes. I'll try to do that. And I'll also ask 22 A. That's true. 
you for any question for the remainder of the deposition, 23 Q. So is it -- prior to the time that you were on 
if your response would be different in those two roles, 24 the board, is it your view that the HOA was not enforcing 
then please try to let me know that so we can -- can talk 25 the deed restrictions? 

IO (Pages 34 to 3 7) 
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A. I'm not sure that would be an accurate statement 1 A. Yes. 
of my view. I would say that -- that it did not look like 2 Q. And did this flier play a role in that election? 
the board was planning to enforce the deed restrictions. 3 A. I believe it did. 

Q. What about what I said would not be an accurate 4 Q. And how did it? 
statement of your view? 5 A. Because there were some people that signed the 

A. That anytime you have a situation where there is 6 second page which had a proxy form on it allowing me to 
a deed violation, it's fairly common for there to be a 7 vote in their stead at the annual meeting. 
period of time a group of people might make an assessment 8 Q. And are the -- were the votes that were cast 
of whether the deed restrictions warranted enforcement, 9 through this proxy form on Page 2, were those votes 
whether they were in fact in breach, et cetera, and for 10 necessary for the election of these five individuals? 
any number of reasons it could take a period of time to 11 A. I believe so. 
make a judgment about that. As a result, I can't say for 12 Q. So I'm looking now at the third bullet down from 
fact that the board wasn't -- actively was not enforcing 13 the top of the first page, and I'll just read it and then 
the deed restrictions so much as they were determining 14 ask a question about it. It says, "The board of directors 
whether or not in the future that the deed restrictions 15 has not acted while a variety of nonresidential 
should be enforced. 16 organizations moved into homes on Rocky Top and Mumford. 

Q. Prior to this lawsuit, are you aware of the HOA 17 These are not allowed by our deed restrictions, which 
ever bringing an enforcement action in court -- 18 limit usage to single family dwellings. We will act to 

A. No. 19 reverse this trend and keep us residential only. Ifwe 
Q. -- to enforce deed restrictions? 20 don't, you can expect more traffic and parking issues." 
A. Not to my knowledge. But I would also point out 21 So this bullet seems to suggest that a trend had 

that I wouldn't expect it to be within my knowledge either 22 developed in the neighborhood of not enforcing the 
as a new resident of Highlands ofMcKamy. 23 residential-only deed restriction. Is that accurate? 

Q. While you were on the board, did you gain 24 A. I don't believe I would use the word "trend," so 
knowledge about what had happened in the neighborhood in 25 I would disagree. 

h 

1~ 

·~ 

' ) 

» 

)• 

I•· 
I 

Page 39 
1; 

Page 41 If 

the past before you moved into the Highlands ofMcKamy? 1 Q. And why did you use the word "trend" on this I> 
A. I think I gained a good bit of knowledge, yes. 2 flier? IZ 

Q. And how long has the HOA existed? 3 A. I believe that in the future if we do not I: 
A. Approximately 30 years in homeowner control and 4 enforce the deed restrictions that there will be other 

perhaps five years in developer control prior to that. 5 violations of the residential-only deed restrictions in IT 

And I'm not certain of the date where it switched over, 6 the future. Ii 
but my understanding, it was perhaps sometime around 1984. 7 Q. So at the time you distributed this flier, do 

Q. So looking back at Exhibit 10, was there -- who 8 you think that a trend had developed of not enforcing the 
was the leader in this effort to present this slate of 9 residential-only deed restriction at that time? 1•. 

candidates? 10 A. I'm concerned that there would be a trend in the 
A. I think most people would say it was me, and I 11 future. I'm not sure if two is enough to qualify as a ~ 

wouldn't disagree with that. 12 trend one way or the other, but I certainly foresaw a 
Q. And is that why the second page has a box for 13 situation where this could be repeated in the future. 

. 
0 

homeowners that choose to do so could designate you as a 14 Q. So what did you mean by the phrase "reverse this 
proxy? 15 trend"? 

A. Yes. 16 A. To draw a line in the sand and say that we want 
Q. And so on the first page, these -- the names at 17 to enforce the deed restrictions. 

the bottom of the page, David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn 18 Q. That, in your view, had not been enforced to 
Frey, Doug Galbraith, Michael Donohue, that it's fair to 19 that point? 
say that this is a slate of candidates that you were in 20 A. I'm not sure ifI would use the word "not been ' 
favor of having -- of being elected to serve as the new 21 enforced." With both of these -- the house on Mumford had 
board? 22 just shown up, so the discussion was very active and .;, 

A. Yes. Slate of candidates would be a good way to 23 current as to whether or not there should be litigation to 
describe it. 24 enforce the deed restrictions. So my objective was to 

Q. And were -- was this entire slate elected? 25 make sure that they were in that particular case. 

11(Pages38 to 41) 
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The situation on Rocky Top is quite complicated 1 conscientious devotion to suppressing information transfer 
in terms of whether or not the deed restrictions can in 2 to the association membership." What do you mean by that? 
fact be enforced at that particular location, and at this 3 A. Honestly, I don't recall. Clearly a bit of ; 

time I had come to understand from Ted Day that he 4 humor on my part, or perhaps a poor attempt at humor, 
" believed that the Rocky Top location was exempt under 5 so ... 

Texas statute from residential deed restriction 6 Q. Do you think Mr. Surratt was suppressing 
enforcement. On the other hand, in my review of the 7 information to the HOA members? 
related law, it appeared to me that they were not exempt. 8 A. Not really. 
But it is a somewhat complicated issue and a complicated 9 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 12. 
situation, and my understanding in effect is, is that the 10 (Exhibit 12 marked.) 
board would have enforced it or certainly would have at 11 A. I recognize this. 
least considered enforcing the deed restrictions at Rocky 12 Q. And this, I'll represent that the HOA has 
Top were it not for their belief, whether correct or 13 produced this document in this litigation. And what is 
incorrect, that there was a statutory exemption for that 14 Exhibit 12? I; 

location. 15 A. It's the minutes of the HOA board meeting. I 
Q. I'm marking Exhibit 11. 16 believe the date is not quite correct. It says the date 

(Exhibit 11 marked.) 17 meeting was held was on February 3rd. I actually believe 1; 
Q. And please let me know when you're ready for me 18 it was held on the 2nd. 

to ask a question. 19 Q. Okay. So I see at the top, it says 
A. Yes. 20 February 3rd, but then the subject line --
Q. And I'll represent to you that this is a 21 A. Yeah. I 

document that the HOA has produced in this litigation. 22 Q. -- mentions 2nd. So February 2nd is the --
And you may have also produced the same e-mail. I don't 23 A. Yes. 
recall either way. But do you recognize this document? 24 Q. -- correct date? 

A. I do. 25 A. Yes. 

Page43 Page 45 

Q. And what is Exhibit 11? 1 Q. Okay. And who would have drafted these minutes? 
A. It's an e-mail from me to the then-president of 2 A. Michael Donohue, the secretary of the HOA. 

the HOA and the board answering some questions, I believe, 3 Q. And how long has he been the secretary? 
that Cookie or somebody had had about a meeting at my 4 A. Since that date. 
house. 5 Q. And is he still the secretary today? 

Q. And what was the meeting at your house? 6 A. He is. 
Ir A. It was a meeting to try to find support amongst 7 Q. So during -- during the time when you were on 

homeowners in the Highlands ofMcKamy to deal with the 8 the board, what was the normal process for the creation of 
synagogue across the street. 9 minutes? Like after a meeting, how did -- how were the !. 

Q. And what happened -- what happened at that 10 minutes generated? 
!• 

meeting? 11 A. Typically Michael prepares the minutes pretty 
A. I discussed the facts as I understood them with 12 quickly after a board meeting and distributes it to the 

the people that came to the meeting and explained to them 13 other board members for review. 
my understanding of the law such as it was and tried to 14 Q. And so he will send around a draft and other !: 

see who there was more or less of the same opinion as I. 15 board members have a chance to give input? !? 

Q. And now looking at Item 4 in your e-mail to 16 A. That's correct. '• !• 
Cookie on the first page of Exhibit 11. This is Bates HOA 17 Q. And then does Mr. Donohue then take that input 
000177. You mention homes on Rocky Top and Lattimore and 18 and finalize the minutes? 
that, as you understand it, the HOA had chosen not to 19 A. He does. 
enforce the deed re- -- the deed usage requirements there. 20 Q. And then he will redistribute the final version? 
Is that accurate? 21 A. That's correct. 

A. Yes. 22 Q. And is this the final version of the minutes 
Q. Looking at the second page of the exhibit, on 23 from that meeting? .. 

HOA 000178, after your signature there you tell 24 A. As best as I can tell, yes. I don't have any i 

Mr. Surratt that you -- you say, "I applaud your 25 reason to think it's not the final version. Everything 

12 (Pages 42 to 45) 
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looks exactly right. 1 individuals assisted me at that time, but I believe 
Q. So near the bottom of Page 1 there is a header 2 Marilyn Frey assisted in this, distributing the flier. 

that says Official Policy of HOA Board to Enforce Deed Use 3 Q. In the -- kind of the first full paragraph there 
Restriction of Residential Only, and then the document 4 in the middle of Page 1, is it fair to say that you were 
reads that Ted Day made a motion that it be the policy of 5 expressing the view there that the board at the time was 1: 

the board to enforce the deed use restrictions of 6 not enforcing the residential-only deed restrictions? ~. 
residential only, and then it says that you, 7 A. I don't know ifl would use the phrase the way I: 

Mr. Schneider, second the motion and the motion passed. 8 that you used it, that they were not enforcing the deed 11 

Is that an accurate description of what happened at that 9 restrictions. They had not taken any action at that point ll 
meeting? 10 in time that I considered appropriate for the situation, 

1£ 
A. Yes, it is. 11 and I felt more action needed to be taken. I: 
Q. Why did the board feel the need to adopt a 12 Q. What's the first time that you're aware of any Ii 

policy of enforcing residential-only restrictions? 13 action being taken against the congregation? 
r~ A. I think it needed to be made clear to any future 14 A. The first time any action that I knew of was ... 

persons that might consider violating the deed restriction 15 when I sent a cease and desist letter to the congregation. 
that we were a determined board and would do the things it 16 Q. And when was that? :: 
would take to enforce those deed restrictions. 17 A. On or about October 4th, 2013. ¥ 

Q. Prior to February 2nd, 2014, did the HOA have a 18 (Exhibit 14 marked.) 
policy of enforcing residential-only deed restrictions? 19 Q. Mr. Schneider, this is Exhibit 14. : 

A. I don't think that it would be fair to 20 A. Yes. 
characterize it one way or the other, in all honesty. The 21 Q. And did -- did you produce this document in this . 
situation really had not occurred in such a manner as to 22 litigation? " 
be able to say that there was a policy one way or the 23 A. I did. 
other. 24 Q. What is Exhibit 14? 

Q. But on February 2nd of this year, you and the 25 A. It's a proxy signed by James Morrison on Blue 1: 

Page47 Page4 9 I: 

other board members thought there was a need to adopt a 1 Mesa. 
I: 
1: 

new policy of enforcing residential-only deed 2 Q. And you produced a number of very similar 1: 
restrictions? 3 completed forms from other residents; is that correct? 

A. Absolutely. Certainly we wanted to make sure 4 A. I did. I 

that we were in a position to send a message to anybody 5 Q. And I just chose this one as an example. But is I! 

who might move into the neighborhood as to the intent. 6 this a good -- like a representative example of the proxy I~ 
(Exhibit 13 marked.) 7 forms that you collected? 

Q. This is -- what I'll hand you, this is 8 A. It is. !1 

Exhibit 13. Have you seen Exhibit 13 before? 9 Q. And these are the proxy forms that you mentioned 
A. Yes. 10 earlier that were used to get yourself and the other 
Q. And what is Exhibit 13? 11 members of the slate of candidates elected to the board? 
A. It's a flier that I passed out to houses in the 12 A. It is. 

i 
Highlands ofMcKamy. 13 Q. And am -- am I correct that there is nowhere on 

Q. And did you produce this in this litigation? 14 this form for a notary's signature? 
A. I did. 15 A. There's not. 
Q. And so this flier appears to be kind of a 16 Q. And what -- what's the process by which you 

promotional piece for the meeting we talked about earlier 17 collected these? How did they come -- from the time when 
that occurred in October 2013. Is that fair? 18 you distributed the forms, just walk me through from that 

A. Yes. 19 time to the time that you collected the completed forms. 
Q. If you look in kind of the smallest font on 20 Like how did that happen? 

Page 1 just above the picture at the bottom, it says, 21 A. The individuals such as this would have either I• 

"Prepared and distributed by David Schneider and concerned 22 dropped the proxy in a container that was on my front n 
neighbors of Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V." Who are the 23 porch or they would have knocked and handed it to me 

11 concerned neighbors of Highlands ofMcKamy? 24 personally. 1: 

A. I don't remember specifically what group of 25 Q. And do you -- do you have an estimate as to the 

13 (Pages 46 to 49) 
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number on each of those categories? Like -- let me break 1 Q. Now, the group that was circulating a petition 
that up. 2 to tty to recall the board, what did they contend in that 

How many people personally handed a proxy form 3 petition? 
to you? 4 A. They contended that the board should be 

A Perhaps one in three. 5 recalled. I don't know that they had a specific set of 
Q. And do you know about how many total proxies you 6 concerns or allegations, honestly. I'm not really sure 

collected? 7 what they said or did not say or what the substance of 
A Approximately 45. 8 their representations were to people. 
Q. So it would be fair to say that approximately 30 9 Q. At the July 20th meeting, was there any 

just left it in a container and approximately 15 handed it 10 discussion prior to the recall vote? 
to you? 11 A Yes, there was. 

A That's correct. 12 Q. What was discussed? It 

Q. Were any steps taken to guard against the 13 A There were people speaking for recall and there 
possibility of forgeries or fraud on these forms? 14 were people speaking against recall. Each had some time 

Ii 
A No, not on my part. 15 to give their respective arguments. 
Q. Are you aware of anyone else that did anything 16 Q. And of the people who spoke for recall, what do I! 

to guard against forgeries or fraud on the forms? 17 you remember about what they said? 
A Not that I'm aware of 18 A. They were unhappy with the cost of the lawsuit. ~ 
Q. So not to cast aspersions on Mr. Morrison here. 19 They were unhappy with the communications that they had Ii 

Just to use him purely as an example, that if we -- if we 20 received from myself They had a number of grievances. IY 

assume that he were one of the people -- or if we assume 21 I'm not sure I can recall them all, but basically a lot of 
it 

that this is one of the forms that was just left on your 22 the grievances were that I was a bad person or other It 

porch, do I understand you correctly that if someone -- if 23 members of the board were bad people. 
someone who's not Mr. Morrison had just filled out this 24 Q. And what was the outcome of the vote? I 

form and wrote down his name and his address and signed 25 A Four of the directors were not recalled and I 

Page 51 Page 53 7 

his signature and left it on your porch, then that form 1 was the lone director that was recalled. 
still would have been used as a proxy to cast a vote at 2 Q. And do you remember the breakdown of the vote or 
the meeting? 3 an estimate of it? 

' A Certainly. 4 A Yes. I believe there were 128 votes to recall 
Q. What is the current composition of the board? 5 myself and somewhere around 113 to recall the other 
A There are four members of the board of directors 6 directors. 

out of a possible five positions, and those members are 7 Q. And how many votes were there to not recall ' 

Ted Day, Marilyn Frey, Doug Galbraith, and Michael 8 yourself and the others? 
Donohue. 9 A That, I honestly don't recall. 

Q. And what are the circumstances that led to you 10 Q. So at what point did you stop being a member of 
no longer being with the board? 11 the board? Was it immediately after that vote? ' 

A. I was recalled on July 20th of this year as a 12 A Yes. 
director. 13 Q. And since that time when you -- since the time 

Q. And what happened that led up to you being 14 that you rotated or came off the board, who all have you 
recalled? 15 talked about either the congregation or this lawsuit with? 

A There was a petition by a group of homeowners 16 A I'm not sure I understand your question. 
that asked for a recall vote, and that vote was held. A 17 Q. I'd just like to get a list of the people that I> 
meeting was called, that vote was held, and I was recalled 18 you have, you know, discussed this lawsuit or the 

I 
and the other four board members were not. 19 congregation with since July 20th. 

Q. And were you replaced on the board? 20 A Do you mean board members? Ii 
A I have not been as of this time. 21 Q. No. Any person. Ii 
Q. Are you aware of any plans to fill the vacancy 22 A Any person. r; 

from your former seat? 23 Q. Yeah. 
A Not that I know of, but I'm not sure I would be 24 A I've spoken about it with my mom and dad, my Ii 

in a position to know. 25 sister and her boyfriend, my son, my daughter, and there le 

14 (Pages 50 to 53) 
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1 might be a couple of other people that I can't think of in 
2 particular. 
3 Q. Have you spoken about it with Mrs. Schneider? 
4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And what about Mr. Surratt? 
6 A. I'm not sure we've spoken about it since then. 
7 Q. And what about the current members of the board? 
8 Have you talked to them since July 20th? 
9 A. I've talked to them, but we don't really talk 

10 about the lawsuit because we have kind of erected what I 
11 refer to as a Chinese wall between myself and the HOA and 
12 the lawsuit in order to keep a degree of separation 
13 between myself as an individual plaintiff and the HOA as 
14 an intervening plaintiff. 
15 Q. What about other residents of the neighborhood? 
16 Have you talked to any of them about the congregation or 
17 about this suit? 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

A. I've spoken to Ken and Suzie Alterman, who are 
residents of the Highlands ofMcKamy. 

Q. Anyone else? 
A. Not that I can recall. 
Q. Have you talked to any members of the 

congregation? 
A. I don't believe I have. And, again, we're 

talking about since July 20th? 

1 Q. Yeah. For now, just since July 20th. 
2 A. As best as I can recall, no. 

Page 55 

3 Q. And tell me about your conversation with Ken and 
4 Suzie Alterman. 
5 A. I went over to their house after the recall to 
6 let them know that although I'd been recalled, the other 
7 members of the board had not. And they were happy to hear 
8 that news. They feel strongly, as I do, that the 
9 synagogue should not be in the neighborhood. And so I 

10 indicated to them that although I was no longer on the 
11 board, I would be continuing my lawsuit. 
12 Q. And did you -- did you say anything else about 
13 the congregation in that conversation? 
14 A. No, I don't believe so. 
15 Q. And did you say anything about what was 
16 happening in the lawsuit? 
17 A. Not in particular. Just that I was planning to 
18 continue it. 
19 Q. And you also mentioned your wife, your parents, 
20 your son, your daughter, and your sister and her 
21 boyfriend. What -- what's the general nature of those 
22 conversations about the --
23 A. Letting them --
24 Q. -- congregation or the suit? 
25 A. It was letting them know that I'd been recalled; 
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1 however, as far as I could imagine, I would expect that 
2 the lawsuit would continue forward in its current form. 
3 Q. Any -- any meaningful difference in those 
4 conversations with your various family members? 
5 A. No. 
6 
7 
8 
9 

Q. How often do you discuss this lawsuit with 
Mrs. Schneider? 

A. Maybe once every week or two. 
Q. Again, we've covered a little of this, but I'd 

like to just make a complete list if we can. Would you 
please let me know about any -- any nonresidential uses 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

that you know about in the Highlands ofMcKamy other than 
what you've alleged in this suit. 1

' 

A. The only three I know about are the two group 
homes and--

(Interruption.) I ~ 

Q. I'm sorry. You mentioned the two group -- 1: 

A. The two group homes, the synagogue operating at 
7103 Mumford, and the synagogue at the period of time that i 

it was being operated out of Rabbi Rich's house. " 
Q. And on the two group homes, is one of those the 

Wellington Residential Care at 6806 Rocky Top? 
A. The address is right. I didn't know it was 

called Wellington. But yes, that's -- that's the Rocky 
Top location. What was that address? 6806? 
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1 Q. In my notes, 6806, yeah. Not -- probably 
2 accurate, but no guarantee that I got the number accurate 
3 in my notes. 
4 And then is the other on the Weismer House at 
5 7038 Lattimore Drive? 
6 A. Yes. And again, didn't know it was called 
7 Weismore, but... 
8 Q. That's Weismer, W-e-i-s-m-e-r. 
9 A. Okay. Thank you. 

10 Q. And what do you know about those two? Or let's 
11 take them one by one. What do you know about 6806 Rocky 
12 Top? 
13 A. Very little, actually. Several people had 
14 pointed out to me that there was a group home on Rocky 
15 Top, and at some point I was able to determine which 
16 specific house it was. I actually know it more by its 
17 location on Rocky Top than the address. I'm guessing that 
18 address is about right. 
19 Q. And how long has that group home been in the 
20 Highlands ofMcKamy? 
21 A. I'm not actually sure of the length of time that 
22 it's been there. My understanding from looking at deed 
23 records at the Collin County website is that they had 
24 moved there or acquired the possession of the house 
25 perhaps two years ago. 
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Q. And to your knowledge, has the HOA ever taken 1 and payments of expenses. ;; 

any enforcement action against that -- against 6806 Rocky 2 Q. Do they provide any services other than dues 
Top? 3 issues and recordkeeping? 

A. According to Ted Day, the decision was made not 4 A. Minimal above that. 
to take any enforcement action because it was believed 5 Q. And what would those minimal services be? 
that there was a statutory exception for group homes in 6 A. I'm not sure of specific things. I'm sorry. I 
Texas. 7 can think of a couple of things. They assist -- when a 

Q. And was any enforcement action taken by the HOA 8 home is sold, there's some documentation that needs to be 
during the time that you were on the board? 9 provided by the HOA, and they handle making sure that 

A. No. 10 that's provided to title companies. 
Q. And what do you know about 7038 Lattimore? 11 Q. To the extent you've reviewed the documents that 
A. To my understanding, also from Ted Day, that 12 the HOA has produced, do you have any reason to think that 

home has been there for a number of years. I don't really 13 they would be inaccurate? 
have a good idea of how long it's been there, but let's 14 A. No. '; 

say five or more years. And that house was of -- when it 15 Q. So you've mentioned the synagogue, 6806 Rocky 
moved in was of grave concern to a number of residents, 16 Top, and 7038 Lattimore as nonresidential uses that you're 

I including what was then a board member of the HOA whose 17 aware of. Are there any other than those three? 1; 
house backed up to the house, as I understood it. And I'm 18 A. No. 
sorry. I don't know his name or his exact address, but he 19 Q. Are you aware of any home-based businesses in lo 

is no longer alive, to my understanding, according to Ted. 20 the neighborhood? I' 

And it was determined at that time that there was a 21 A. I've heard people mention that there's some 
statutory exception for a group home of that type and that 22 home-based businesses in the neighborhood. 
it would not be possible to enforce the residential-only 23 Q. Which ones have you heard mentioned? 
deed restrictions due to that statutory exception. 24 A. I've heard that Hervey Levin maintains a law 

Q. When you say it was determined, who are you 25 practice at his house, and I've heard from Rabbi Rich that 
" 
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talking about that made that determination? 1 there is a swim instructor who operates some kind of a 
A. Ted said that it had been looked into, and I got 2 swimming school near his house on Bremerton. 

the impression that perhaps legal counsel had been 3 Q. During the time you were on the board, did the i 
consulted, but honestly, I'm not sure I understood that 4 board take any steps to look into either of these two you 
either correctly or that that, in fact, was done. I don't 5 just mentioned? 
know. 6 A. No, although I will say that one of the board 

Q. And have you received a copy of all the 7 members, Marilyn Frey, was the one that had discovered 
documents that Mr. Surratt has produced in this litigation 8 that Hervey was operating a home-based business. 
on behalf of the HOA? 9 Q. And prior to the time that you were on the ? 

A. I believe so. 10 board, are you aware of any -- any action the board took 
Q. And did you -- have you reviewed those 11 against either of these two? ; 

documents? 12 A. No. 
A. Not all of them, no. 13 Q. And I can't remember if I asked you this, so if ;; 

Q. And then, to your knowledge, who keeps the HOA's 14 I'm repeating, I apologize, but on 7038 Lattimore, are you 
documents? Like what's -- is there a particular person 15 aware of any action that has ever been taken? 

I' 
that's the repository of the HO A's records? 16 A. I'm not. 

A. I believe most of those records are at the -- 17 Q. So other than the swim instructor and the law 
;; 

under the control of our management company. 18 practice that you mentioned, are you aware of any other ;; 

Q. And who is that? 19 home-based businesses in the neighborhood? I' 

A. It's Principal Management Group. And Principal 20 A. I'm not. 
I' 

is spelled with an A-Lat the end. 21 Q. And have you heard anyone mention home-based 
Q. What does Principal Management Group do? 22 businesses other than those two? 
A. They're a management company for homeowners 23 A. Not that I recall. ; 

associations, and for the Highlands ofMcKamy they 24 Q. And where are you employed, Mr. Schneider? 
primarily are involved in handling the collections of dues 25 A. I work for Hallmark Financial Services out of 
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I• 

their Addison office. 1 mean other than these that you listed? 
Q. And what do you do for -- I'll refer to them as 2 A Well, I would point out that the only one that 

Ii 
Hallmark if that's okay. 3 actually is enforceable is the congregation's use of ii 

A Sure. 4 7103 Mumford and perhaps the usage, had the board known 
Q. What do you do for Hallmark? 5 about it, that there was a synagogue operating out of ~. 
A I'm an IT director. I'm sorry. IT manager. I 6 Rabbi Rich's home. 

don't want to give myself a promotion. 7 Q. And what's your basis for concluding that the 
Q. Well, I think IT manager sounds like a higher 8 others are not enforceable? 

; 

position than IT director, but what -- so what do you do 9 A Because there's statutory exemptions for group 
as an IT manager? 10 homes, and Texas law generally provides that there are . 

A Mostly I do a lot of computer programming, and I 11 certain types of things that are -- activities that are 
also manage projects and sometimes manage one of the other 12 normal within a home, and in my opinion, as best I 

.; 

developers. 13 understand and as best as I think most other people '; 

Q. And where is your office? 14 understand, those cannot be enforced as nonresidential ; 

A It's at Addison at the comer of Addison Road 15 uses. . 
and Arapaho. And the specific division I work for is 16 Q. And what's your basis for thinking that the HOA 
called Aerospace Insurance Managers. 17 could not enforce Mr. Levin's law practice? 

Q. And is that a division or subsidiary of Hallmark 18 A I mean, at this point we're getting into some 
Financial Services? 19 issues of law that certainly there would be different 

A It is. 20 interpretations by different people, perhaps yourself, but 
Q. And what kind of insurance do they provide? 21 the short version would be that Texas courts have ruled 
A Aviation insurance mostly for small airplanes 22 any number of times regarding certain types of usage as 

that are privately owned and some very small airports. 23 being consistent with residential usage and certain other I• 

Q. And what hours are you regularly at the office 24 type of uses as being inconsistent with residential uses. 
there at Addison and Arapaho? 25 So I would state categorically that Mr. Levin's use of his 

It 
I•• 
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A 8:30 to 5:30. 1 house to practice law from would be considered consistent 
Q. And that's Monday through Friday? 2 with residential use. 
A Yes. 3 Q. And what about the swim instruction business? ii 

Q. Do you have an office at your house? 4 A I would say that, as best as I know from the 
A I don't. 5 facts that are available to me, it would be consistent 
Q. Did you do any work from home? 6 with residential use. ; 

A I don't. 7 Q. So you've named the nonresidential uses that you 
Q. We've talked about businesses. What about 8 are aware of, and to the extent that the documents that 

other -- are you aware of other nonresidential gatherings 9 the HOA has produced reflect other nonresidential uses • 
.; 

in the neighborhood of any kind, whether they're 10 prior to when you moved into the neighborhood, do you have 
commercial or not? 11 any reason to question the accuracy of those documents? 

A. I'm not aware of any such. 12 A I don't -- not aware of any of these and 
Q. Any kind of Bible studies? 13 couldn't make a statement either way. I; 

A I'm not aware of any such. 14 Q. But you have no reason to think those documents 
; 

Q. While you were on the board, did the board do -- 15 would be inaccurate? 
take any enforcement steps against anyone other than the 16 A There's nothing that would lead me to think that i 

I> 

congregation regarding nonresidential usage? 17 they're inaccurate. Certainly not. I· A No. 18 Q. What harms do you contend result from the 
Q. And other than the congregation, are you aware 19 congregation's activity in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 

Ii' 

of any enforcement efforts about nonresidential usage that 20 A It's inherently nonresidential and that, in my 
the board has ever done? 21 opinion, is the beginning and the end of it. 

F· 
I• 

A Since there's never been a case previous to this 22 Q. And what harms result from an inherently -- from 
that I'm aware of where there was a nonresidential use, 23 in your view an inherently nonresidential presence in the !f 

the answer would be no. 24 neighborhood? .. 
Q. And when you say there's never been a case, you 25 A It's nonresidential and it's a residential 
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1 neighborhood. 
2 Q. And I'm trying to get at specifically like 
3 what -- other than it being allegedly nonresidential, what 
4 harms does that cause the neighborhood? 
5 A. Well, I guess --
6 Q. Harms or what negative effects come from --
7 A. Different individuals would cite different 
8 things. Certainly there are people that object to 
9 parking. There are people that object to the traffic and 

10 so forth. I object to every aspect of there being a 
11 church in a residential neighborhood, and I don't know how 
12 I can make it any other -- any more clear than that. 
13 Q. And why do you object to that? 
14 A. Because it's a residential neighborhood and I 
15 want to have residents across the street from me and not a 
16 church. 
17 Q. And what negative effects come from the 
18 congregation being across the street? 
19 A. It's a church in a residential neighborhood and 
20 everything that flows from that. 
21 Q. And what flows from that? 
22 A. Anything that might flow from that that's a 
23 derivative of the fact that there's a church there instead 
24 of a residence. 
25 Q. And what are those things that flow from that? 

1 
2 

A. I don't think I can be any more specific than 
that. I think I've --

3 Q. You've mentioned-- the two things you've 
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4 mentioned are parking and traffic. Are there any harms 
5 other than those two? 
6 A. I said there are other people who objected to 
7 parking and traffic. 
8 Q. And other than those two things, what harms come 
9 from the congregation's presence? 

10 A. Well, there's noise and disturbance to others in 
11 the neighborhood. It's a -- what I would consider, 
12 according to my neighbors, is a general nuisance. 
13 Q. So parking, traffic, noise, disturbance, general 
14 nuisance. Any -- anything other than those? 
15 A. Well, sure. I mean, there are other -- people 
16 have objections to a variety things. For me, in addition, 
17 I feel it's caused damages to the value of my house. But 
18 in terms of-- yeah. So that's a negative consequence. 
19 Q. You mentioned other people may have other 
20 issues. Have you heard of any of those? 
21 A. Yes. The ones that -- items that I mentioned 
22 
23 
24 
25 

are all items that have been mentioned by a number of 
neighbors. 

Q. So any -- my list now is parking, traffic, 
noise, disturbance, general nuisance, and home values. 

1 A. Uh-huh. 
2 Q. Anything else? 
3 A. And as I said, for myself the No. 1 thing is 
4 it's a church and not a residence, and I don't believe 
5 that I need to elaborate further for there to be -- to 
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6 provide a list of things. Certainly there are times when 
7 parking is an issue to me. Certainly there are times when 
8 traffic is a little bit of an issue to me. But as it's on 
9 the other side of the street from me, it's relatively 

10 limited from the inconvenience to myself However, it's a 
11 church across the street from me. I don't want a church. 
12 I expected there to be a house there that's being lived in 
13 by a single family, and it's my intention that that will 
14 be the finalresult. 
15 Q. And I understand that you don't believe you need 
16 to elaborate further, but I'm just trying to get a full 
17 picture of what are the alleged harms that come from 
18 having a church in a residential neighborhood. And so I 
19 want to get a full list of every harm that you contend 
20 flows from having a church in a residential neighborhood. 
21 A. Well, I think having a church in a 
22 neighborhood -- residential neighborhood is harm enough. 
23 Q. And what harms --what harms are caused by 
24 having a church in a residential neighborhood that you 
25 have not already mentioned? 

1 A. Other than it being a church in a residential 
2 neighborhood and all the things associated with that --
3 Q. When you say "all the things associated with 
4 that," what is included in that phrase? 
5 A. Well, all the things that a church could do now 
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6 and in the future are things that I might have to concern 
7 myself with. I don't know if one day the front of the 
8 house, for example, might be changed to a different 
9 exterior. I don't know if the size of the building might 

10 one day be expanded. Perhaps a parking lot would be put 
11 on the lot. Anything else that would be things that a 
12 church might do. Maybe the number of services per week 
13 would increase or maybe the size of the church would 
14 increase. I can't say what might happen in the future, 
15 but all of those are things that -- are things that would 
16 be ongoing and continuing harm to me. 
17 Q. Anything else? 
18 A. I think that covers it pretty well. 
19 Q. I'm marking Exhibit 15. 
20 (Exhibit 15 marked.) 
21 Q. Mr. Schneider, have you had a chance to look at 
22 Exhibit 15? 
23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. And what is Exhibit 15? 
25 A. It's an e-mail from myself to Ben Nise. 

I: 

I 
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1 Q. And did you produce this e-mail --
2 A I did. 
3 Q. -- in this litigation? 
4 And who is Ben Nise? 
5 A He is a member of the congregation and I believe 
6 is involved in the management or direction of the 
7 congregation. 
8 Q. And in the paragraph about the fourth or fifth 
9 one down that starts "with please be assured," would you 

10 please read that paragraph for the record? 
11 A "Please be assured that generally I see the 
12 congregation as a positive for our neighborhood, yet at 
13 the same time I would prefer not to reside by something 
14 which would be operated under City of Dallas guidelines as 
15 a church. Membership parking on the street is not as much 
16 of an issue for our family. My primary concern is that it 
17 would lose the exterior character as a residence. I 
18 wouldn't want a physician's clinic there either, something 
19 that serves a good community purpose as well." 
20 Q. So you say here that your primary concern is 
21 with the home losing its exterior character as a 
22 residence? 
23 A That was one of my concerns at that particular 
24 time and at that time it probably was more my concern. 
25 Q. And there -- has your primary concern been 
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1 realized? Has there been any change to the house that 
2 would, you know, modify its exterior character as a 
3 residence? 
4 A. Perhaps a small amount, but not substantial 
5 enough to be of concern. On the other hand, I would say 
6 that that paragraph is no longer reflective of my position 
7 on the matter. 
8 Q. What caused your position to change? 
9 A As the true facts of the situation came to 

10 light. 
11 And let me say that -- on the record that I 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

believe that a number of members of the congregation said 
in various ways things to mislead myself and other 
individuals as to the true nature of the activities that 
were going on there. 

Q. Which members of the congregation said things 
that you contend are misleading? 

A The rabbi, Rabbi Rich; Ben Nise; Hershel Krycer. 
Q. Is that all? Anyone else? 
A Well, that was as of the time that this was 

written. In other words, I had relied upon statements 
that were being made by members of the congregation which 
I subsequently found out were not accurate. 

Q. And I'm asking a broader question, like any -- I 
want to know for any member of the congregation that you 
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1 contend has ever said anything to you that you think is 
2 misleading. 
3 A Well, subsequent to that point in time I've 
4 received e-mails that I was not privy to at the time that 
5 this was written on August 19th that support that are 
6 exactly the same, and that was from -- I think his name is 
7 A vi Bloomenstiel. I may be not be pronouncing it 
8 correctly, but he was at the time the president of the Ii 
9 congregation. And it had substantially similar commentary 

10 as to what Hershel, Ben, and the rabbi himself had 
11 indicated to myself and other individuals at homeowner 
12 meetings. 
13 Q. So there's the rabbi, Ben Nise, Hershel Krycer, 
14 and A vi Bloomenstiel. Is there any other congregation 
15 member that has said something that you contend is 
16 misleading? 
17 A Not that I recall. 
18 Q. What has Rabbi Rich said that you contend is 
19 misleading? 
20 A The substance of all of the commentary was the 
21 same, was that an individual from New York was relocating 

I 

22 to 7103 Mumford and was planning to host some meetings at 1: 

23 7103 that were of a religious nature. 
24 Q. And what about that do you contend is 
25 misleading? 
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1 A There was never a plan for the gentleman from 
2 New York, Mark Gothelf, to actually live at that location. 
3 Q. And what has Ben Nise said that you contend is 
4 misleading? 
5 A Substantially the same thing. 
6 Q. And for Hershel Krycer and Avi Bloomenstiel, 
7 would it be the same thing? 
8 A Substantially the same words to the effect. 
9 Q. Has any member of the congregation said anything 

10 that you contend is misleading that you have not 
11 mentioned? 
12 A Not that I can recall at this time, although I 
13 do want to point out another person I talked to, and 
14 unfortunately I do not know his name, but sometime 
15 approximately the end of June of 2013 a gentleman and his 
16 son got out of a car parked in front of 7103 Mumford and 
17 began mowing the lawn, and I walked over and introduced 
18 myself under the thinking that he was the person that was 
19 moving in there. He indicated to me that he was not, that 
20 he was simply mowing the yard as a favor, that the 
21 congregation was doing a favor for the gentleman that was 
22 moving down from New York to live in the house. 
23 Q. Do you know ifthat person you talked to in 
24 June 2013 is a member of the congregation? 
25 A He said he was. 

ll 

I'. 
I' 

I' 

I; 
I 
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Q. But you don't know his name? 1 A. I've interchanged e-mails with a number of 
A. He said at the time -- and please understand 2 individuals. I've provided some comments to some 

that I'm not sure I understood it to be a congregation. 3 reporters and TV -- members of TV stations regarding my 
Hearing people talk about a congregation was not something 4 position on the lawsuit. And I can't remember their 
that happened until later. I had been led to believe that 5 names, but one was with the Dallas Observer. One was with 
it was just a group of individuals that were planning to 6 The Dallas Morning News. One was with Fox 4 News. I ; 

meet at this -- what I thought to be an elderly gentleman 7 believe there was one with NBC 5, and maybe a couple more. 
that was relocating from New York and had purchased this 8 Q. Any of your friends that don't reside in the 
house and that they would be meeting at his house. 9 Highlands ofMcKamy that you've talked to? 

Q. So have you now told me everything that any 10 A. Yes. The best man at my wedding, Grant 
member of the congregation has said to you that you 11 Sandground. / 

contend is misleading or untrue? 12 Q. Okay. And could you spell his name, please? ' 
A. As best as I can recall, yes. 13 A. G-r-a-n-t. Last name Sandground, 
Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 16 and hand it to you, 14 S-a-n-d-g-r-o-u-n-d. He resides in the San Diego area and 

Mr. Schneider. 15 he used to live in the neighborhood. 
(Exhibit 16 marked.) 16 Got an e-mail, I think, from a gentleman up in I 

A. I've had a chance to review it. 17 New York that follows religious land use cases. And I'm 
Q. And do you recognize Exhibit 16? 18 sorry. I don't recall his name, but I suspect that that 
A. I do. 19 correspondence should have been included in the production 
Q. And have you produced this in this litigation? 20 that I provided. 

I' 

A. I believe I did. 21 There's been a few of my friends and 
Q. Well, I'll represent to you that this was an 22 acquaintances that I've spoken to about the litigation. tc, 

attachment to one of the e-mails that you produced. Do 23 Q. And who are they? 
you have any reason to question that? 24 A. Let's see. Kurt Webb. K-u-r-t, W-e-b-b. 

A. Not at all. Very likely. 25 Q. Where does he live? 
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Q. And what is Exhibit 16? 1 A. He lives in Plano. 
A. This is a letter from the Liberty Institute to 2 Glenn Breyerscheker. And I can't give you a 

Mr. Surratt regarding activities of the congregation at 3 very good--
7103 Mumford. 4 Q. You said Breyerscheker is the last name? 

Q. And when did you first see this? 5 A. It's B-r-e-y-e-r-s-c-h-e-k-e-r. Something very 
A. On February 2nd, 2014. 6 similar to that. I'm sorry. 
Q. If you see here the last full paragraph on the 7 Q. Is that a hyphenated name or --

first page, kind of close to the end of that there's a 8 A. It's one name. Glenn is his first name, and 
sentence. It says, "The Gothelfs have no intention of 9 it's spelled G-1-e-n-n. 
modifying the structure of the house, which is and will 10 Q. And the last name is Breyerscheker? I'm 
remain a single family dwelling." Do you agree with the 11 probably not pronouncing that right. And where does he [; 

part of that sentence -- well, let me rephrase that. 12 live? 
In that sentence Mr. Butterfield represented 13 A. He lives in Murphy, I believe. Ii 

that the Gothelfs had no intention of modifying the home 14 Let's see. I've mentioned it to my boss at Ii 

structure. Have you -- have there been any changes to the 15 Hallmark Financial. 
home structure since the time of this letter? 16 Q. What is his name? > 

A. No. 17 A. Gregg, G-r-e-g-g, Birdsall, B-i-r-d-s-a-1-1. 
Q. And earlier we went through a list of people 18 And also my other boss there is named James 

that you've talked about this litigation with since 19 Damonte, D-a-m-o-n-t-e. 
July 20th. I'd just like to back up a little and get a 20 Q. Is that everyone? ,, 
different list that would overlap, but just individuals 21 A. You know, it seems like I've spoken about it to 

' that you've talked about just at any time the litigation. 22 a number of people besides that group, but I can't recall 
And let's start with if there are people that are not 23 any specific individuals at this time. I take that back. ' 
congregation members and not Highlands ofMcKamy residents 24 I've spoken with my brother and sister-in-law, which is 
that you may have talked to. 25 Garron, G-a-r-r-o-n, and Lynn, L-y-n-n, Ross, R-o-s-s, who 
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I live in Baton Rouge. 
2 I've spoken about it with my stepdaughter and 
3 her husband, which is Emily and Kevin Riche, spelled 
4 R-i-c-h-e. And they live in Metairie, Louisiana. And if 
5 you don't know how to spell Metairie, it's 
6 M-e-t-a-i-r-i-e. 
7 Q. Is there anyone else that you can remember right 
8 now? 
9 A. I can't recall anybody else. I'm sure there 

10 must have been others, but I'm sorry, I can't remember any 
11 specific examples. 
12 Q. And then as far as residents of the Highlands of 
13 McKamy, I assume that both in your capacity as a board 
14 member and just as a resident of the neighborhood that 
15 this has probably come up with lots of people. 
16 A. Many people, sure. 
17 Q. Are there -- you know, are there any individuals 
18 that would stand out to you as people that you've had, 
19 like, more lengthy discussions with in the neighborhood, 
20 like more than just a minute or two just updating? 
21 A. The -- certainly the other board members. 
22 Please keep in mind that early on we made a decision to 
23 keep my involvement with the lawsuit segregated between 
24 two different hats that I wear, a member of the board of 
25 directors and when I was -- when I was a member of the 
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1 conversation you had with Mr. Frederick? 
2 A. Certainly. He asked me why I filed the lawsuit, 
3 and I gave him the explanation and made sure he had an 
4 understanding of some of the relevant law that was 
5 involved. And he also had, separately, questions for me 
6 as president of the HOA that he asked me about. I can't 
7 recall any specific ones, but just trying to understand a 
8 little of the recent history and so forth. He's a 
9 longtime resident of the Highlands ofMcKamy, but I had 

10 not spent much time with him before he came over. 
11 Q. And what about Mr. Sandground, what have you and 
12 he discussed? 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

A. Just that I've filed a lawsuit and my reasons 
for the lawsuit. 

Q. AndMr. Webb? 
A. Same thing. 
Q. And Mr. Breyerscheker? 
A. Yeah, same thing. 
Q. And how about your bosses at Hallmark, 

Mr. Birdsall and Mr. Damonte? 
A. The same thing, just that I'd filed a lawsuit, 

basic reasoning for the lawsuit and overview of the law 
involved. 

Q. And they're fine with you missing work to attend 
to the lawsuit? 

[• 

!> 
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1 board of directors and when I was president. We made a 1 A. I'm sure they would be -- would be happy if I 
2 decision for me not to be involved in the lawsuit itself 2 was there any time of the day. No. They know that I'll 
3 I recused myself from involvement in it, and they made 3 be called away from time to time. 
4 sure not to bring anything to me or have any discussions 4 Q. Do you use vacation days, like, for example, 
5 with me about the lawsuit as board member, me being a 5 when you have to come to a deposition like today? 
6 board member. On the other hand, I was in a position to 6 A. I either -- ifl don't make it up, then I use 

' 7 be able to talk freely with them as the plaintiff in this 7 vacation time. So it sort of depends on how long it goes. I• 

8 suit as I so desired. So I'm sure there's been many 8 Depending on how long it goes today depends on -- you're ' 
9 occasions where I've mentioned to them my intentions and 9 controlling my PTO balance. k 

10 my goals for the lawsuit. 10 Q. What do you do to make it up when you mentioned I' 

11 Q. So other than the four board members, are there 11 making it up? [• 

12 other residents of the neighborhood that you've had, you 12 A. Sometimes I'll come in on a Saturday, work extra 
13 know, significant discussions with about the lawsuit? 13 on a Saturday. Sometimes come in early, sometimes stay 

[?. 

14 A. There's a gentleman named Gordon Frederick who 14 late. I> 

15 came over to my house one time and wanted to ask me a 15 Q. And earlier you mentioned -- and I'm not sure if I> 

16 bunch of questions about it, which he came over to my 16 I'm getting your testimony right, so if I'm not, please 
17 house and I did answer them. And again, that was in my 17 correct me, but that you generally have discussed this 

I 
18 role as plaintiff in the lawsuit. 18 suit and/or the congregation with your wife every week or 
19 Q. And I'm sorry. I didn't hear you. Did you say 19 two. 
20 you did answer them? 20 A. Sure. 
21 A. I answered his questions to the best of my 21 Q. And what's generally included in those 
22 ability. 22 discussions? 

'.> 

i 
23 Q. Is there anyone else? 23 A. Well, I like to give her an update on what's 
24 A. I don't believe so. 24 going on with motions, documentation, any trends or 
25 Q. What -- could you just maybe walk me through the 25 whatever in the suit. 
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1 Q. Is she interested in the suit? 
2 A. Oh, yes. Absolutely. 
3 Q. And I assume her views are the same as yours? 
4 A. If not more so in terms of being very unhappy 
5 with the presence of the congregation across the street. 
6 Q. And has she mentioned anything to you about why 
7 she's unhappy with the congregation? 
8 A. Yes. She's unhappy with the foot traffic. 
9 She's unhappy with the car traffic. There have been a 

10 couple of incidences where members of the congregation 
11 have exited the front of the building what I would call 
12 something en masse, I guess, for lack of a better term, 
13 and have grouped across the street under the lamp in a 
14 rather unusual grouping. I really don't have any 
15 counterpart for describing except to say that there's a 
16 group of men kind of going around in a circle across the 
17 street from the congregation, and that kind of surprised 
18 us one evening when we were leaving the house to go out 
19 for dinner. It seemed very odd and very unusual. 
20 Q. And how many times you have seen that happen? 
21 A. Twice. 
22 Q. And how many people were involved? 
23 A. Maybe a dozen. 
24 Q. Does your wife have any documents that would be 
25 related to the congregation or to this litigation? 
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1 A. I can't imagine -- as far as I know, no, and I 
2 can't imagine her possibly having any document. 
3 Q. What about e-mails? 
4 A. I don't think so. I just tell her. 
5 Q. How is the title to your home held? 
6 A. It's in our names jointly. And because of the 
7 fact that we were not married at the time, it's marked as 
8 being in her maiden name. I take that back. It's not her 
9 maiden name. It was her name before we got married, which 

10 is not her maiden name. 
11 Q. And what was that name? 
12 A. Laura Strohmeyer, S-t-r-o-h-m-e-y-e-r. 
13 Q. And is your wife employed? 
14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Where is she employed? 
16 A. She's employed at a company called Amsurg, 
17 A-m-s-u-r-g. 
18 Q. And is that some kind of medical business? 
19 A. It is. They're based out of Nashville, 
20 Tennessee, and her office is quite near mine. It probably 
21 is in the city of Addison, but it might be in the city of 
22 Dallas, but it's the comer of Keller Springs and the 
23 Dallas Parkway. 
24 Q. And what does she do at Amsurg? 
25 A. She is senior clinical director. And the short 
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1 version of what she does is she oversees nursing staff and 
2 practices at about 15 or so surgical centers around Texas 
3 and Oklahoma primarily. 
4 Q. Did she ever consider joining you as a plaintiff 
5 in the suit? 
6 A. We never discussed it. 
7 Q. Did you discuss -- prior to when you first filed 
8 your suit, did you discuss with her that you were going to 
9 be doing this? 

10 A. Yes, I did. 
11 Q. In the Highlands ofMcKamy, when there is -- I 
12 when voting occurs for board members or just any vote of 1 

13 the membership, how does -- what entitles an individual to :, 
14 be able to vote? 
15 A. They should be one of the homeowners listed in 
16 the property records. 

I" 
17 Q. And does each homeowner get a vote or does each 
18 home get one vote collectively? 

1 

19 A. One vote per home or one vote perlot. f; 

20 Q. So just to make sure I have that right, like if 12 

21 I had a home in the Highlands ofMcKamy and I jointly hold 
22 title with nine other people, we would just get -- we get 
23 one vote, not -- we would not get 10 votes? 
24 A. That's correct, one vote. 
25 Q. And when a home is titled to more than one 
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1 person, how is it determined how the vote is cast? 
2 A. The normal rule is that whatever the latest 
3 presented for that house is considered the one that 
4 controls. So if a person of two -- two people attempted 
5 to vote, I'm not sure if they were both present at a --
6 physically at a -- how you would tell one from the other, 
7 pick one over the other if they were different votes, 
8 although that would seem rather hard to imagine, but I 
9 guess it could happen. But generally what happens is it's 

10 set up in such a way that the most recent one is presented 
11 and the case where there's, let's say, a proxy and a 
12 person showing up. So one vote per house, whatever the 
13 most recent is. 
14 Q. And how do you and Mrs. Schneider determine 
15 who's going to be casting a vote? 
16 A. Oh, I'm going to be casting that vote. 
17 Q. Why is that? 
18 A. Because I'm going to be there at whatever it is 
19 without any question. Sometimes she may come and 
20 sometimes she may not, but I'm going to be there. 
21 MR. McGEE: I'd just like to state for the 
22 record, Mr. Schneider and Mr. Surratt, that we've -- today 
23 Mr. Schneider has identified several people that we have 
24 not heard about previously that, you know, we see as 
25 potential witnesses and we're going to be looking into 

Ii 

I 

I! 
i' 

[ii 

I'' 
Ii 

I' 

i' 

I' 

;.i 
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possibly deposing some of them between now and 1 the amount of work that was involved for another party 
December 18th. 2 that was tagging along. On the other hand, it is clear 

And I don't have a whole lot left, so I think we 3 once Mr. Surratt got involved and I saw the nature of the 
can wrap up pretty quickly. Just a few more things. rm 4 work that he was doing that that was wildly untenable as a 
going to mark Exhibit 17. 5 concept. 

(Exhibit 17 marked.) 6 Q. So do you view yourself as lead counsel for the 
Q. This is a longer e-mail chain, so take your time 7 HOA? 

if you want to look through it. 8 A. No. Of course not. Absolutely I'm not -- don't 
A. Okay. 9 have anything to do with the HO A's side of the lawsuit. 
Q. And do you recognize this document? 10 Q. Do you view yourself as lead counsel for your 
A. Ido. 11 own side of --
Q. And what is it? 12 A. Oh, sure. 
A. It's an e-mail to Andy Jacobs, who at the time 13 Q. -- the lawsuit? 

was a member of the board of directors of the HOA, from 14 A. Absolutely. 
myself. 15 Q. What have you done that has helped keep HOA 

Q. And have you produced this in this litigation? 16 legal costs to a minimum? 
A. Yes. 17 A. At this point I'm not sure I could point to 
Q. And I see at the top it looks like there's a cc 18 anything that have kept legal costs to a minimum. First 

to HOM president and HOA board. So who else would have -- 19 of all, I'm not privy to what legal costs are being 
who would have received under those addresses? 20 incurred on the part of the HOA; but, honestly, in 

A. That would have been Carolyn -- she goes by 21 retrospect, I don't see that there's anything in 
Cookie -- Peadon, P-e-a-d-o-n. And the other members of 22 particular that I've done that has reduced HOA legal 
the HO board -- HOA board at that time was Viva Hershberg, 23 costs. 
I believe is her last name, and Jim McQuagge, spelled 24 Q. Do you think the HOA was relying on your 
M-c-Q-u-a-g-g-e. And I believe that's everybody who 25 representations here when they decided to intervene in the 

; 

i' .. . 

I' 

Ir 
p 

~ 

I~ 
':. 

.. 

. 
• 
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received this. 1 suit? 
IC 

Q. And so this e-mail was sent at a time after the 2 A. Not in the least, no. I• 

time when you filed your original suit but before the HOA 3 Q. And what do you base that on? 
had intervened; is that right? 4 A. Well, for one thing, the members of the board 

I• 
A. That's correct. 5 did not include Andy Jacobs or any of the previous members 
Q. And you tell Mr. Jacobs here in the second 6 of the board, which were the people that received this j( 

paragraph "The HOA can join my suit and I can continue as 7 document. I never provided anything like this, as far as 
lead counsel. I will do the majority of the work, 8 I can recall, to the other members of the board that were 

Ii 

including discovery, depositions, interrogatories, 9 in place at the time the HOA made the decision to move 
et cetera. That will keep HOA legal costs to a minimum." 10 forward with the lawsuit. Instead, they separately made 

) 

Is that an accurate description of what has happened since 11 the arrangements with Mr. Surratt outside of my purview, 
the HOA joined the suit? 12 and so I didn't have anything to do with -- in leading 

A. No. That never worked like that and, honestly, 13 them to the decision to initiate litigation other than .. 
it never could have. I realize that now but I was being a 14 perhaps that they saw by example that I started a lawsuit 
little bit optimistic and idealistic in my view of how it 15 mysel£ 
would work were there to be different plaintiffs involved. 16 Q. At the time you sent this e-mail to Andy Jacobs 

Q. And why did you tell Mr. Jacobs that you would 17 and the rest of the HOA board, were you hopeful that this 
continue as lead counsel? 18 e-mail would persuade them to join the suit? • 

A. Well, I could never actually be truly lead 19 A. I don't know that I had any hope of that. I was 
counsel when there are different plaintiffs, so that's 20 just trying to find some way to get the HOA more involved. 
just wrong. 21 But beyond that --

Q. And why did you say that to him? 22 Q. By telling them, for example, that it would be 
A. I imagined a scenario where I would be able to 23 in their best interest to be a part of the suit? I• 

do the things that I'm going to do anyway, which I've done 24 A. I definitely tried to indicate to the board 
I 

all along, but imagined in my mind that that would reduce 25 members, Cookie, Andy and so forth, that it was in the 
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best -- HOA's best interest to join the suit, but I -- as 
to the second paragraph, that really probably -- other 
than it appearing in this particular document, I'm not 
sure that I ever repeated that logic to anybody else. 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

Q. Have you received any payments from anyone in 
connection with this suit? 

A. It's not that I don't know the answer. Just 
give me a moment --

Q. That's fine. Take your time. 
A. -- to compose my thoughts here. Yes. The 

11 answer is yes. 
12 Q. And who have you received payments from? 
13 A. Ted Day for $300, Jan Sullivan for $300. 
14 Q. Let's take them one by one. How did you come to 
15 receive $300 from Ted Day? 
16 A. He offered to give me some money to contribute 
17 to the expenses of the lawsuit and he brought by a check 
18 and gave it to me. 
19 Q. And did you accept that check? 
20 A. I did. 
21 Q. What about Ms. Sullivan? 
22 A. Same thing. Same exact. She offered to give me 
23 some money and she gave me a check. 
24 Q. For $300? 
25 A. $300. 
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1 Q. And is it your understanding that that money was 
2 for the legal work that you're doing in the lawsuit? 
3 A. To defray expenses. 
4 Q. So is it your understanding that both of these 
5 individuals, Mr. Day and Ms. Sullivan, that their views 
6 would be generally aligned with your own? 
7 A. That's accurate. 
8 Q. And they were -- they're appreciative of the 
9 legal work that you're doing to try to --

10 A. Yes. And Ms. Sullivan no longer resides in 
11 Highlands ofMcKamy. She has sold her house and left. 
12 Q. And where does she live now? 
13 A. She lives over in the Bonaventure townhomes over 
14 on Keller Springs. 
15 Q. Have you solicited any payments from anyone? 
16 A. No, I have not. 
17 Q. When these were offered to you, did you consider 
18 not accepting the money? 
19 A. No. 
20 Q. And why not? 
21 A. I did not feel there's anything wrong with 
22 somebody contributing to my expenses. 
23 Q. So if additional neighbors were to offer you 
24 money for your legal work, would you accept it? 
25 A. I wouldn't use the word "for legal work," but to 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

help defray expenses. 
Q. I'm marking Exhibit 18. 

(Exhibit 18 marked.) 
Okay. A. 

Q. And what is Exhibit 18? 
A. This is an e-mail from myself to Aaron 

Orshalick, Marilyn Frey, and Jan Sullivan. 
Q. And have you produced this e-mail -­
A. Yes. 

10 Q. -- in this litigation? 

Page92 

11 And kind of what's the substance of your e-mail, 
12 just this top one on the chain? Like what's the back 
13 story to it? 
14 A. Well, there had been some requests from a Dallas 
15 Morning News reporter, Julissa Trevino, to talk to some 
16 people and get some background for a story she was writing 
17 for The Dallas Morning News, and I gave her a couple of 
18 names of some people that I thought might be willing to 
19 talk to her. 
20 Q. And what's -- what do you mean when you tell 
21 them to skip past questions about religious freedom, it's 
22 a property issue, plain and simple? 
23 A. I guess that most of us see this as a property 
24 issue, contract law, and not a question of religious 
25 freedom. I'm sure all the individuals that I'm familiar 
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I with are very much supportive of religious freedom. 
2 Q. So you're advising them about what they should 
3 say to the press about the law? 
4 A. Not really. 
5 Q. And what do you mean by skip past questions 
6 about religious freedom, it's a property issue? 
7 A. It's not -- I mean, it's -- I don't know what 
8 you mean by not telling them what to talk about the law. 
9 There's no discussion of really the law so much as I 

10 really think that the existence of the synagogue at 7103 
11 is an issue that involves -- revolves around 
12 nonresidential use in a residentially restricted area, and 
13 I believe that's the tenor of almost everybody I talked to 
14 that feels in the same general way as I do is that we're 
15 not -- we don't have anything against somebody because of 
16 their religion or anything related to religion. We just 
17 want a residential single family to live in the house at 
18 7103, plain and simple. I don't know any other way to say 
19 it. 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. But are you -- in this e-mail you are 
anticipating that they might get questions from the press 
about religious freedom issues? 

A. Certainly. 
Q. And your advice to them is that they should skip 

past those questions? 

I 

I 

I 
I· 

I; 
I 

•• 

'• 

I' 
h 
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1 A. I guess. I guess it's advice. 
2 Q. Because your understanding of the law is that 
3 this is not a religious freedom issue? 
4 A. Yes. Certainly. And since -- I guess to 
5 clarify your point, there had been a lot of focus in the 
6 articles that had come out about the religious issue. For 
7 example, a number of the television and media coverage 
8 mentioned that -- had a title something to the effect of 
9 neighbor sues rabbi. And, in fact, I did not sue Rabbi 

10 Rich, I sued the congregation of which he is a member of, 
11 and the headline of "neighbor sues rabbi" sounds a lot 
12 more -- I guess it's a better sound bite or whatever. 
13 So there had been a lot of focus on whether or 
14 not my lawsuit somehow violated the first amendment rights 
15 that people have, and so I was trying to -- I believe 
16 today the same thing I would tell everybody that would 
17 listen, that this is a contract issue, it's a property law 
18 issue and has little or nothing to do with religious 
19 freedom. 
20 Q. So essentially you -- you researched the law and 
21 based on that advised -- advised these recipients that 
22 they should skip past questions about religious freedom? 
23 A. I wouldn't say there is anything about, again, 
24 the law side of it. I mean, think of it any way you want 
25 to. I choose to think of it in terms of trying to focus 
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1 anybody who reads anything -- and again, I would say the 
2 same thing to any reporter sitting here or anybody 
3 anywhere that's a member of the HOA, that this is a 
4 contract issue, property issue, and that's what the focus 
5 of all this is and certainly there's no intention to in 
6 any way restrict or abrogate somebody's religious freedom 
7 or their rights to their religion. 
8 Q. And those views are based on your research into 
9 the law? 

10 A. Certainly they're colored by that; but, again, 
11 any way you look at it, I would say the same thing. I 
12 somewhat object to the reference to the legal side of it 
13 because there are more issues there than just pure legal 
14 issues; it's public relations and so forth. 
15 MR. McGEE: I think I may -- I may be 
16 finished. If it's okay, I'd like to take a short break, 
17 look over my notes, and then there will be a chance for 
18 Mr. Butterfield and Mr. Surratt to ask questions if that's 
19 okay. 
20 THE VlDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 

12:55 p.m. 21 
22 
23 
24 

MR. McGEE: I think we can go off the 
record. 

(Recess taken.) 
25 THE VlDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record at 
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1 1:05 p.m. 
2 Q. Mr. Schneider, I've just got a couple more 
3 questions and then I'm done. 
4 Earlier you testified about how you had -- since 
5 July 20th you had discussed the case with your son, your 
6 daughter, your mom and dad and your sister and her 
7 boyfriend, and for those individuals I'd just like to get 
8 their names and where they live. 
9 A. Sure. My sister is Susan White of Boulder, 

10 Colorado. Her boyfriend is Bobby Carlton, C-a-r-1-t-o-n, 
11 of Loveland -- I'm sorry. I think it's Fort Collins, 
12 Colorado. And my parents live in Highland Park, and 
13 that's Hal and Mary Jo, M-a-r-y, separate word, J-o, 
14 Schneider, S-c-h-n-e-i-d-e-r. Well, you know that. 
15 Let's see. My daughter is Amanda Schneider. My 
16 sons are Flint Schneider of -- he lives in Corpus Christi. 
17 Eric Schneider and Steven Strohmeyer. 
18 Q. And where do Amanda, Eric and Steven live? 
19 A. Steven lives with me and Amanda lives in 
20 Grapevine with her mother, and Eric is a student and lives 
21 in Denton. 
22 Q. A student at UNT? 
23 A. He is. 
24 MR. McGEE: That's all I have. Thank you, 
25 Mr. Schneider. 
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1 I'll pass the witness. 
2 MR. BUlTERFIELD: I have no questions. 
3 MR. SURRATT: The intervening plaintiff 
4 will reserve their questions until time of hearing or 
5 trial. 
6 THE VlDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 
7 1:07 p.m. 
8 (Deposition concluded.) 
9 
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21 and that the transcript of the deposition is a true record 
22 of the testimony given by the witness; 
23 That the deposition transcript was submitted on 
24 to the witness or to the attorney for the 
25 witness for examination, signature, and return to me by 
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I, DA YID R. SCHNEIDER, have read the foregoing 1 

deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 2 That the amount of time used by each party at the 
3 time of the deposition is as follows: 

and correct, except as noted above. 4 MR. MATT McGEE- 02:52 
MR JUSTINE. BUTTERFIELD - 00:00 

5 MR. DA YID A. SURRA TT - 00:00 

DA YID R. SCHNEIDER 
6 
7 That pursuant to information given to the deposition 
8 officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 

THE STATE OF ) 9 following includes counsel for all parties of record: 

COUNTY OF ) 10 FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 
11 Mr. David R. Schneider (Pro Se) 

7035 Mumford 
Before me, , on this day 12 Dallas, Texas 75252 

personally appeared DA YID R. SCHNEIDER, known to me or 13 FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM: 
14 Mr. Matt McGee 

proved to me on the oath of or through Haynes and Boone, LLP 
(description of identity card or 15 2323 Victory Avenue 

other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed Suite 700 

to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 
16 Dallas, Texas 75219 
17 FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 

he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 
therein expressed. 18 

Given under my hand and seal of office on this Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
19 Liberty Institute 

day of ' 2001 Plano Parkway 
20 Suite 1600 

Plano, Texas 75075 
21 
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FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 
NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 22 IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 
THE STATE OF 23 Mr. David A. Surratt 

My Commission Expires Riddle & Williams, PC 
24 3710 Rawlins Street 

Suite 1400 
25 Dallas, Texas 75219 
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1 I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 
2 related to, nor employed by any of the parties in the 
3 action in which this proceeding was taken, and further 
4 that I am not financially or otherwise interested in the 
5 outcome of this action. 
6 Further certification requirements pursuant to 
7 Rule 203 of the Texas Code of Civil Procedure will be 
8 complied with after they have occurred. 
9 Certified to by me on this ____ day of 

10 
11 
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21 
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JAMIE PRINCE HESS, TEXAS CSR #6761 
Expiration Date: 12/31/14 
CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
Firm Registration No. 526 
4950N. O'Connor Road, Suite 152 
Irving, Texas 75062-2778 
972.719.5000 
972.650.0225 Fax 

972.719.5000 
972.650.0225 Fax 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

Page 102 

Page 103 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 

Electronically signed by Jamie Prince Hess (301-161-209-7027) 
Electronically signed by Jamie Prince Hess (301-161-209-7027) 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

Filed: 9/9/2014 1 :41 :49 PM 
Andrea S. Thompson 
District Clerk 
Collin County, Texas 
By Ashley Thompson Dep't~O 
Envelope ID: 2429007 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 
Plaintiff, 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

v. 
§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B.§ 
GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION § 
TORAS CHAIM, INC., § 

Defendants. § 

and 
§ 
§ 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
§ 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND§ 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 
ASSOCIATION, § 

Intervening Plaintiff,§ 
§ 

v. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 
ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 

AUGUST 5, 2014 

I, Jamie Prince Hess, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 

and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the 

following: 

That the witness, DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, was duly sworn 

and that the transcript of the deposition is a true record 

of the testimony given by the witness; 

That the deposition transcript was submitted on 

~ l3)2Dflf to the witness or to the attorney for the 

witness for examination, signature, and return to me by 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 

e-filed by: jwyatt@courtroomsciences.com 000001 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

~tR.mbeJ?.. %11P14 · 
That the amount of time used by each party at the 

time of the deposition is as follows: 

MR. MATT McGEE - 02:52 
MR. JUSTIN E. BUTTERFIELD - 00:00 
MR. DAVID A. SURRATT - 00:00 

101 

That pursuant to information given to the deposition 

officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 

following includes counsel for all parties of record: 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

Mr. David R. Schneider (Pro Se) 
7035 Mumford 
Dallas, Texas 75252 

FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM: 

Mr. Matt McGee 
Haynes and Boone, LLP 
2323 Victory Avenue 
Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 75219 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 
GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 

Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
Liberty Institute 
2001 Plano Parkway 
Suite 1600 
Plano, Texas 75075 

FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 
IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 

Mr. David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, PC 
3710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
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972-719-5000 

e-filed by: jwyatt@courtroomsciences.com 000002 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 
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I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 

related to, nor employed by any of the parties in the 

action in which this proceeding was taken, and further 

that I am not financially or otherwise interested in the 

outcome of this action. 

Further certification requirements pursuant to 

Rule 203 of the Texas Code of Civil Procedure will be 

complied with after they have occurred. 

Certified to by me on this \ 3 "('h.. day of 

...J,ke~"'"'u.._sc ___ , '20 c Lf . 

EXAS CS 
Ex iration Date: 12/31/14 
CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
Firm Registration No. 526 
4950 N. O'Connor Road, Suite 152 
Irving, Texas 75062-2778 
972. 719.5000 
972.650.0225 Fax 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER TRCP RULE 203 

The original deposition was/w~ot returned to the 

deposition officer on --"'~~..q-f'::;..;t1--"'=:...' .,,;;?-0..-:..;li..;;Y~--
If returned, the attached Changes and Signature 

page(s) contain(s) any changes and the reasons therefor. 
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If returned, the original deposition was delivered to 

Mr. Matt McGee, Custodial Attorney. 

$ 'C25 'e>_3 is the deposition officer's charges to the 

Defendant Congregation Taras Chaim for preparing the 

original deposition and any copies of exhibits; 

The deposition was delivered in accordance with Rule 

203.3, and a copy of this certificate, served on all 

parties shown herein, was filed with the Clerk. 

Certified to by me on this ~-='-~~- day of 

JAMIE PRINCE HESS, TEXAS CSR #6761 
Expiration Date: 12/31/14 
CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
Firm Registration No. 526 
4950 N. O'Connor Road, Suite 152 
Irving, Texas 75062-2778 
972. 719. 5000 
972.650.0225 Fax 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August 5, 2014 

CHANGES AND SIGNATURE 

WITNESS NAME: DATE OF DEPOSITION: 

PAGE LINE 
-------

CHANGE REASON 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 

e-filed by: jwyatt@courtroomsciences.com 
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DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 
August S, 2014 

I, DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, have read the foregoing 

99 

deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 

and correct, except as noted above. 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER 

THE STATE OF -------

COUNTY OF 
---~-----

Before me, , on this day 

personally appeared DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, known to me or 

proved to me on the oath of or through 

(description of identity card or 

other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed 

to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 

he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 

therein expressed. 

Given under my hand and seal of office on this 

day of 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF 

--.,.--~----My Commission Expires 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 

e-filed by: jwyatt@courtroomsciences.com 000006 
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~LIBERTY I INSTITUTE 

Via E-Mail 

David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, P.C. 
3710 Rawlins Street, Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 

January 31, 2014 

Re: 7103 Mumford Court, Dallas, Texas, in the Highlands ofMcKamy HOA 

Dear Mr. Surratt: 

As you are aware, the Congregation Toras Chaim is a small Jewish congregation 
that holds meetings at several homes in the Dallas area, including at the home owned by 
Mark and Judith Gothelf at 7103 Mumford Court. Although the Gothelfs do not currently 
reside at 7103 Mumford Court, Avrohom Moshe Rich lives there and uses the home as 
his personal residence. Mr. Rich, with the Gothelfs' permission, has made the home 
available for Congregation meetings. On average, only 10 to 25 people attend a meeting. 

In December 2013, a neighbor of the Gothelfs, David Schneider, filed a lawsuit 
against the Gothelfs and the Congregation seeking to enjoin them from using the home 
for Congregation meetings. The lawsuit claims that these meetings violate the restrictive 
covenants that are appurtenant to the home and that were established along with the 
Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association (the "HOA"). 
The Liberty Institute is representing the Congregation and the Gothelfs. The 
Congregation has retained the law firm of Haynes and Boone, LLP to defend itself in this 
action. 

The Gothelfs believe that inviting members of the Congregation to the home for 
small meetings does not violate any restrictive covenant. The Gothelfs and Mr. Rich, 
moreover, have every intention of complying with the covenants and of being good 
neighbors, and have taken steps to remedy many of Mr. Schneider's concerns. For 
example, the pile of dirt that Mr. Schneider noted has been removed. Mr. Schneider 
claims that the Gothelfs have violated the single family dwelling restriction, but that 
concerns the architectural integrity of the home. And the Gothelfs have no intention of 
modifying the structure of the house, which is and will remain a single family dwelling. 
That covenant certainly does not prevent the Gothelfs or Mr. Rich from inviting guests to 
their homes for religious meetings. 

The Gothelfs hope to avoid litigation with the HOA. They understand the 
concerns of the HOA in this matter, and they do not believe it would be constructive for 
the HOA to intervene in this limited dispute with Mr. Schneider. In the first place, the 
issue of whether the Gothelfs' use of the property violates the restrictive covenants will 

r.!!'!llfl!!!~~­
E PO S ITl ON ~ 

ij EXH. IBIT 1..fl 
i . \ lo 2001 West Plano Parkway, Suite 1600 •Plano, Texas 75075 •Phone: 972.941.4444 • Libertylnstitute.o 
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January 31, 2014-Letter to David A. Surratt Page 2 of2 

be resolved in the Schneider lawsuit whether or not the HOA intervenes. We do not, 
however, believe that the court need determine any issue beyond whether Mr. Schneider's 
cited provisions are architectural in nature. There are, however, dozens of properties in 
the community being used for non-residential purposes, and the HOA has made no 
attempt to enjoin these uses. Lastly, based on the HOA's history, status, and its refusal to 
enjoin other non-residential uses in the community, if the HOA decides to intervene, it 
may face liability under the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act, 42 
U.S.C. §§ 2000cc, et seq. See, e.g., Congregation Etz Chaim v. City of Los Angeles, No. 
10-1587 (C.D. Cal., May 15, 2013) (an Orthodox Jewish congregation received $950,000 
in attorneys fees and costs resulting from their RLUIPA lawsuit seeking to use a 
residential property as a synagogue). 

If you would like to discuss further, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

~i,, !. il,Hi~U 
Justin E. But;e;fle}dy-­
Senior Counsel 
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7103 Mumford Ct, Dallas, TX - Google Maps 
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Carrollton, TX 75007 to Frankford Rd & Waterview Pkwy, Richardson, TX 75080 - Goo... Page 2of2 

Carrollton, TX 75007 

1. Head northwest on W Frankford Rd 
About 23 mins 

Frankford Rd & Waterview Pkwy, Richardson, TX 75080 

go 11.4 mi 
total 11 .4 mi 

These directions are for planning purposes only. You may find that construction projects , traffic, weather, or other events may cause 
conditions to differ from the map results , and you should plan your route accordingly . You must obey all signs or notices regarding your 
route. 

Map data ©2014 Google 
I Directions weren't right? Please find your route on maps.google.com and click "Report a problem" at the bottom left. 
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Interstate 635 Service Rd & Meandering Way, Dallas, TX to Meandering Way & Dogwo.. . Page 1of2 
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Interstate 635 Service Rd & Meandering Way, Dallas, TX to Meandering Way & Dogwo... Page 2of2 

Interstate 635 Service Rd & Meandering Way, Dallas, TX 

1. Head north on Meandering Way toward Thistle Ln 
Partial restricted usage road 
About 15 mins 

Meandering Way & Dogwood Creek Ln, Dallas, TX 

go 5.5 mi 
total 5.5 mi 

These directions are for planning purposes only. You may find that construction projects , traffic, weather, or other events may cause 
conditions to differ from the map results , and you should plan your route accordingly. You must obey all signs or notices regarding your 
route . 

Map data ©2014 Google 

I Directions weren't right? Please find your route on maps.google.com and click "Report a problem" at the bottom left. 
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THEODORE E. DAY 
August 8, 2014 

1 CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

Page 1 

2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

3 

v. 
4 

Plaintiff, § 

§ 

§ 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B.§ 
5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION § 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

TORAS CHAIM, INC., 
Defendants. 

and 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 
ASSOCIATION, 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

AND§ 
§ 

§ 

v. 

Intervening Plaintiff,§ 
§ 

§ 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF 
THEODORE E. DAY 

AUGUST 8, 2014 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF THEODORE E. 
23 DAY, produced as a witness at the instance of the 
24 Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim and duly sworn, was ; 
25 taken in the above-styled and numbered cause on August 8, 

CSI GLOBAL DEPOSITION SERVICES 
972-719-5000 
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THEODORE E. DAY 
August 8, 2014 

Page2 Page4 k 

2014, from 10:07 a.m. to 12:29 p.m., before Jamie Prince 
Hess, Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the State of 
Texas, reported by computerized stenotype machine at 
Haynes and Boone, LLP, 2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700, 
Dallas, Texas 75219, pursuant to the Texas Rules of Civil 
Procedure and the provisions stated on the record or 
attached hereto. 
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APPEARANCES 

FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TO RAS CHAIM: 
Mr. Matt McGee 
Haynes and Boone, LLP 
2323 Victoiy Avenue 
Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 752 I 9 
214.651.5000 
matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 
GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 

Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
Liberty Institute 
2001 Plano Parkway 
Suite 1600 
Plano, Texas 75075 
972.941.4444 
jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 

FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY N AND V COMMUNITY 
IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 

Mr. David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, PC 
3710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 
Dallas, Texas 75219 
2 I 4. 760.6766 
dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 

ALSO PRESENT: 
Mr. Randy Johnson, the videographer 
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1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're now on the record 
2 for the video deposition of Ted Day. The time is 
3 10:07 a.m. It is August 8th, 2014. 
4 Will the court reporter please administer the 
5 oath? 
6 (Witness sworn.) 
7 MR McGEE: I'm Matt McGee for the 
8 Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. 
9 MR. BUTTERFIELD: I'm Justin Butterfield 

10 for Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. and for Mark 
11 and Judith Gothelf 
12 MR. SURRA TT: David Surratt for Highlands 
13 ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association. 
14 THEODORE E. DAY, 
15 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 
16 EXAMINATION 
17 BY MR McGEE: 
18 Q. Good morning, Mr. Day. Will --
19 A. Good morning. 
20 Q. -- you please let us know your full name? 
21 A. My full name is Theodore Eugene Day. 
22 Q. And you and I just met for the first time this 
23 morning? 
24 A. That's fair to say. I've seen you in court 
25 before. 
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Q. And do you understand that the oath you just I Q. -- and I'll try to do that. And is it fair for 
took is made under penalty of perjury? 2 me to assume that if you don't tell me that you don't 

A. Yes. 3 understand a question, that you do understand it? 
Q. And that it's the same kind of oath as if you 4 A. I'm not sure that's necessarily true. 

were testifying in court? 5 Q. Well, I'm going to ask you if you -- anytime you 
A. Yes. 6 don't understand a question to let me know that you don't 
Q. And that the oath requires you to answer my 7 understand it. 

questions truthfully and completely to the best of your 8 A. And I'll try to do that, but occasionally there 
ability? 9 will be cases where I think I understand your question and 

A. Yes. 10 you don't think I understand your question. So I'm glad 
Q. And do you agree to do that? 11 to work with you on that. 
A. Yes. 12 Q. Okay. Fair enough. As long as you're -- as 
Q. Have you ever been deposed before? 13 long as you're willing to tell me anytime you think you 
A. Yes. 14 don't understand a question. Will you agree to do that? 
Q. Okay. And what were the circumstances? 15 A. Sure. 
A. On the occasion of my testifying as an expert 16 Q. And if you need a break at any time, let me know 

witness in some lawsuits involving financial damages. 17 and we'll accommodate that at the next available --
Q. About how many times have you had your 18 A. Okay. 

deposition taken, just your best estimate? 19 Q. -- opportunity. And just while we're talking, 
A. My best estimate would be twice. 20 please let's try not to talk over each other. Let me 
Q. Have you ever testified in court before? 21 finish so that the transcript reads smoothly. 
A. Yes. 22 Sometimes Mr. Surratt may state an objection to 
Q. And how many times? 23 one of my questions, and that's an issue between the 
A. Twice in court and once before a special master. 24 lawyers and for the judge to possibly decide later; but 
Q. And what were those circumstances of those -- 25 unless he instructs you not to answer, you can still 

Page 7 Page9 

the testimony in those instances? I answer my question even ifhe objects to it. 
A. All of my testimony involved expert testimony 2 Is there anything about your physical, mental or 

regarding financial damages, or I should really say 3 emotional condition that would prevent you from 
valuations would be probably a more appropriate word for a 4 understanding my questions? 
couple of the cases. 5 A. No. 

Q. And what kinds of cases were these? 6 Q. And if that changes, will you let me know? 
A. One case involved a liquidation precipitated by 7 A. Yes. 

the withdrawal of a line of credit. Another was a divorce 8 Q. And is there anything about your physical, 
proceeding that involved the valuation of a franchise for 9 mental or emotional condition that would prevent you from 
hearing aids. And the other one that I recall was a 10 giving truthful and complete answers? 
personal injury case that involved the value of lost 11 A. No. 
earnings. 12 Q. And if that changes, will you let me know? 

Q. Okay. And we may circle back to some of those 13 A. Yes. 
later, but first I'd just like to go through a few 14 Q. And are you currently on any medications that 
additional ground rules. 15 might prevent you from understanding my questions or --

So the court reporter here is going to be taking 16 A. No. 
down everything we say, and so I'll just request that you 17 Q. -- answering truthfully? 
answer all my questions verbally, not with nods or 18 Please wait for me to finish the questions. 
gestures. 19 So would you repeat your answer? 

A. Sure. Ifl nod or gesture, just ask me to state 20 A. No. 
it and I'll be pleased to do that. 21 Q. And, Mr. Day, what is your address, your home 

Q. Yes. Fair enough. 22 address? 
And if I ever ask you a question that you don't 23 A. 7016 Judi Street. That's spelled J-u-d-i. And 

understand, please ask me to rephrase or repeat it -- 24 that's Dallas, Texas. ZIP code 75252-6210. 
A. Sure. 25 Q. And have you ever sued anyone before? 
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A. No. 1 what's included in that? 
Q. Have you ever been sued? 2 A. Basically homeowners association business of 
A. No. 3 various natures. You know, past budget projections in my 
Q. Have you ever been arrested? 4 role as the treasurer of the association, engagement 
A. Yes. 5 letters concerning audits, various correspondence. You 
Q. And what were the circumstances? 6 know, a great deal of miscellaneous things that really 
A. For shoplifting in my 20s. 7 don't pertain directly to the litigation. 
Q. And is that your only arrest? 8 Q. So are these your -- are these your personal 
A. Yes. No. There was one other time. When I was 9 files or are these files that you just keep on behalf of 

18 I was picked up for drunk and disorderly at the Fair 10 the homeowners association? 
with some of my friends. 11 A. They would be primarily records of the 

Q. And I'm going to -- from time to time I'll be 12 association, such as bids for various projects; personal 
marking exhibits and showing them to you. And so now I'm 13 files of, you know, mine in doing financial analysis about 
going to mark what we're going to call Exhibit 19, and 14 the financial condition of the association over the years. 
I'll just ask you to look at it and then let me know when 15 Q. From time to time during the deposition I may 
you're ready for me to ask a question. 16 refer to the HOA, and when I say that I'm referring to the 

(Exhibit 19 marked.) 17 Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement 
A. Okay. 18 Association. 
Q. And, Mr. Day, what is Exhibit 19? 19 A. Uh-huh. 
A. The notice to take the videotaped deposition of 20 Q. And when I say "congregation," I'm referring to 

Ted Day. 21 the Congregation Toras Chaim, Incorporated. And I may 
Q. And this is the notice of deposition pursuant to 22 also refer to your neighborhood as the Highlands of 

which you are here testifying today; is that right? 23 McKamy. 
A. That's correct. 24 Are you aware that the defendants in this suit 
Q. What did you do to prepare for this deposition 25 have served certain document requests on the HOA during 

Page 11 Page 13 

today? 1 the course of the litigation? 
A. Read over the motions that had been filed. You 2 A. Yes. 

know, I looked at a few of the minutes of past board 3 Q. And the files you mentioned earlier, have you 
meetings. You know, that's quite a bit of material. I 4 made those available to Mr. Surratt for producing 
don't know if there are any other materials that I might 5 documents from them to the extent they're responsive to 
have looked at. I have a great deal of information in my 6 our requests? 
files, but I would say primarily the motion to intervene, 7 A. Yes. 
the motions for summary judgment, and a few selected 8 Q. Did you do anything else to prepare for this 
minutes of the board meetings. 9 deposition that you have not already mentioned? 

Q. Did you meet with anyone to prepare for this 10 A. Nothing that I can think of 
deposition? 11 Q. Would you please list for me what the HOA wants 

A. I met with Mr. Surratt. 12 from this suit, like everything that the HOA would like to 
Q. And did you meet or talk with anyone other than 13 happen as a result of this suit? 

Mr. Surratt about this deposition? 14 A. Well, I think our goal is for all of the 
A. My neighbor Mike Donohue, the secretary of the 15 residents in the neighborhood to be in compliance with the 

association, was present for our discussions. 16 requirement and the deed restrictions that the homes in 
Q. And that's the same discussion that you 17 our neighborhood be used as single-family dwellings and 

mentioned earlier where you met with Mr. Surratt? 18 only as single-family dwellings. 
A. Yes. 19 Q. And what specific relief would you like from the 
Q. Have you talked to -- other than that meeting 20 court to help reach that goal? 

between yourself, Mr. Surratt and Mr. Donohue, have you 21 A. I would like to see the Court, you know, 
talked to anyone about this deposition? 22 basically grant our motion for summary judgment and to 

A. No. 23 prevent the congregation from using the home at 
Q. You mentioned earlier that you had a great deal 24 7103 Mumford Court as a synagogue. 

of information in your files. Could you elaborate on 25 Q. Does the HOA want anything in this suit other 
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than preventing the congregation from using the home as a 1 interesting meeting. We argued for a while and they told 
synagogue? 2 me I was wrong and then knocked it down to something like 

A. Well, I think we'd like our legal fees. That's 3 $308,000. 
been requested in our motion for summary judgment. 4 I thought about that for this year, but it's so 

Q. Anything else other than your legal fees and 5 much harder to get the information off of their website 
preventing the congregation from using the home as a 6 and I was just so very busy, I didn't go in to file a 
synagogue? 7 protest this year, although some of my neighbors did, 

A. I can't think of what else we would want. 8 apparently, and were successful. 
Q. How long have you lived at 7016 Judi Street? 9 Q. And who lives with you at 7016 Judi Street? 
A. Almost 20 years. 10 A. My wife, Laura; my 18-year-old son, Andrew; and 
Q. And where did you live before that? 11 my 15-year-old daughter, Erin. 
A. On Ohio Drive in an apartment complex. 12 Q. And has anyone else lived there in the last 20 
Q. And is that within the Highlands ofMcKamy, the 13 years that doesn't live there currently? 

apartment complex? 14 A. No. 
A. No. 15 Q. And you're currently an HOA board member? 
Q. So when you moved to 7016 Judi Street about 20 16 A. Yes. 

years ago, was that the first time you had ever lived 17 Q. And how long have you been on the board? 
within the Highlands ofMcKamy? 18 A. I served the association as the treasurer from 

A. Yes. 19 2009 until -- I can't tell you the exact date when I quit 
Q. And where is your house in proximity to 20 being the treasurer and I became a board member, but 

7103 Mumford? 21 probably in 2011 I agreed to become a board member rather 
A. It's about five blocks to the south. I'm 22 than being the treasurer. 

approximately in the middle of the neighborhood, I would 23 The tradition in our association is that the 
say. 24 treasurer is an officer of the association but is not a 

Q. How much did you pay for your home when you 25 board member. And so I think I became a board member in 

s 
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\ 

I' 
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bought it? 1 2011. 
A. I believe that the -- you know, the final price 2 Q. And on -- 2011 or approximately 2011 was the !i 

' we agreed on was $209,000. And then, of course, there 3 first time you were on the board? 
would be some closing costs that I wouldn't be able to 4 A. Yes. 
recall. 5 Q. And have you been on the board continuously 

Q. And do you know what your home is worth today? 6 since then? 
A. I believe that it's appraised by the Collin 7 A. I resigned my position on the board during ~ 

County Appraisal District at $328,000. 8 August of2013. I was elected to the board again in 
Q. And how often do they appraise your home? 9 January-- or in February of -- did I say two thousand 
A. Once a year. 10 and -- I resigned in August 2013. I was elected to the 
Q. And is the -- $328,000 is the most recent 11 board in February of2014. 

appraisal? 12 Q. And why did you resign in August 2013? 
A. Yes. 13 A. The use of7103 Mumford Court had created a lot 
Q. And was the appraisal prior to that one higher 14 of controversy in our neighborhood, and I felt that the 

or lower than $328,000? 15 approach that was being followed by the board was going to 
A. $328,000 represented an increase over the prior 16 be ineffective in dealing with the association's 

year's appraisal. 17 interests, and so I resigned. 
Q. And do you remember how much the increase was? 18 Q. And then why did you decide to run for election 
A. It's difficult for me to recall the precise 19 again a few months after that? 

numbers because I have protested my property taxes a 20 A. Because I felt that the group of individuals who 
couple of times. I know that about three years ago they 21 I was seeking to be elected with would propose an 
appraised it at I think $324,000, and based on analysis 22 effective solution to dealing with the synagogue at 
that I was able to do from their appraisal data and 23 7103 Mumford Court. 
collecting data from the Case-Shiller Home Price Indices, 24 Q. Any reasons other than the synagogue that you 
I went in and protested my appraisal. And very 25 wanted to be on the board? !' 

' ,,,, 
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1 A. Just the general interest of serving the 1 
2 neighborhood. I've always had that interest. I've 2 
3 enjoyed being involved with my neighbors, meeting people. 3 
4 Q. You mentioned the group of individuals that you 4 
5 were seeking to be elected to the board with. What 5 
6 happened with that group? What was the outcome of the 6 
7 election? 7 
8 A. Oh. Our slate of directors was elected. 8 
9 Q. And who was the leader of that slate? 9 

10 A. I would say that David Schneider was fundamental 10 
11 in organizing the effort, but all of us did things like 11 
12 going door to door talking with our neighbors about our 12 
13 position on a variety of issues. 13 
14 Q. And was the No. 1 concern of your slate of 14 
15 candidates to address the situation with the synagogue? 15 
16 A. I think I would agree with that, that that was 16 
17 our No. 1 concern. We were also concerned about the 17 
18 decision of the previous board to increase our yearly 18 
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board members from the time during 2001 and 2002, and even 
2003 when I was the treasurer of the association before I 
started keeping copies of the minutes of every meeting as 
a record for the auditors. 

There might be some minutes from years when I 
was not the treasurer of the association but was a board 
member where I did not retain the minutes because I didn't 
feel I would have to use those records to supply to the 
auditor for the association. So it's possible that Bill 
Purdon, who was the secretary during 2001, two thousand -­
well, Bill Purdon was secretary for a long time. It's 
possible that he would have copies of some minutes that I 
don't have. It's possible that Gloria Gilpin, who was 
secretary of the association for a time, would have some 
minutes that I do not have. 

You know, apart from suggesting that there might 
be minutes that I don't have in my files, I couldn't tell 
you exactly what other association records might exist in 
files of my neighbors. 19 homeowner dues to the maximum amount that was permitted 19 

20 under the -- I believe it's the deed restrictions that 20 Q. But is it your understanding that the records 
21 would all just exist with various neighbors and there's 
22 not some kind of central repository of documents? 

21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

specify the maximum amount of dues that are permitted to 
charge the homeowners, and that represented a very -- you 
know, represented a 50 percent increase. So that was also 
somewhat of a concern to us. 

Q. And how many people were in this slate of 

Page 19 

1 candidates? 
2 A. Five. 
3 Q. And other than yourself and Mr. Schneider, who 
4 were they? 
5 A. Doug Galbraith, Marilyn Frey, and Michael 
6 Donohue. 

23 A. To my knowledge, the minutes aren't supplied 
24 directly to Principal. Now, I can't tell you whether the 
25 process of putting minutes online somehow creates a 

Page 21 

repository of files. I don't know enough about the 
information systems and that process to tell you whether 
there's any kind of central repository for records such as 
minutes or other documents. 

. 

. 
5 

7 Q. And of the five of you, how many are Jewish? 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

Q. And who would be the best person for me to talk 
to that might know more about that online system? 

A. I can't tell you exactly who would be the expert I; 
8 A. I don't know that any of those individuals is 
9 Jewish, although oftentimes I don't know who is Jewish and 

10 who is not Jewish. 
11 Q. Are you Jewish yourself? 
12 A. No. At least not to any direct knowledge. I'm 
13 not particularly interested in genealogy. So, you know, 
14 ifl am Jewish, that would go back several generations. 
15 Q. Earlier you mentioned some of your files that 
16 represent HOA records. What else do you know about 
17 records of the HOA beyond your files? Do you know -- are 
18 you aware of any-- are you aware of any records belonging 
19 to the HOA other than the files that you maintain? 
20 A. In my role as the treasurer I kept minutes of 
21 the association because oftentimes an auditor will ask to 
22 
23 
24 
25 

review the minutes of the association. There are minutes 
from -- I can't tell you what minutes exist in the 
personal files of my neighbors from prior to 2001. There 
may be some minutes that would exist in files of other 

on that. Perhaps someone at Principal Management would be I: 
able to comment on how their website works and what is 

10 maintained. 
11 Many of these websites are intended for people 
12 who are not sophisticated users to be able to upload and 
13 download materials, and I think it's not common for the 
14 users to be able to actually sort oflook behind the 
15 curtain and see the file structure of materials. But, you 
16 know, again, I'm speculating. I tend not to go -- I'm not 
17 the person in the association that deals with the website. 
18 Q. And who are the members of the HOA board today? 
19 A. Myself, Mike Donohue, Marilyn Frey, Doug 
20 Galbraith. And the treasurer, who is not a director but 
21 who is an officer appointed by the board is Aaron 
22 Orshalick. 
23 Q. And why is Mr. Schneider not on the board? 
24 A. Mr. Schneider was removed from the board in a 
25 special meeting of the homeowners on July 20th, although 
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1 he had announced that he would be resigning from the board 
2 later that week 
3 Q. And why was Mr. Schneider removed from the 
4 board? 
5 A. There was no cause specified for Mr. Schneider's 
6 removal in the petition from the homeowners seeking to 
7 remove him. So directors are -- as stated in our bylaws, 
8 directors may be removed without cause. 
9 I suspect that each of the individuals who voted 

10 to remove Mr. Schneider had their own reasons, but I can't 
11 tell you specifically why each individual voted to remove 
12 Mr. Schneider. 
13 Q. What reasons have you heard from neighbors as to 
14 why they were unhappy with Mr. Schneider's leadership? 
15 A. A lot of the neighbors who were unhappy with 
16 Mr. Schneider's leadership are unhappy with me, and so 
17 they've not chosen to come talk to me directly about that. 
18 So I can't really specify precisely why any one individual 
19 is unhappy with Mr. Schneider, and anything I would say 
20 about that would be speculation. 
21 Q. At the meeting on July 20th, did anyone speak in 
22 favor of removing Mr. Schneider or any other person from 
23 the board? 
24 A. Yes. Someone -- the way the meeting was 
25 structured in negotiations between Mr. Levine, who was one 
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1 of the leaders of the petition drive to remove the board, 
2 was that there would be with regard to each director a 
3 speaker speaking in favor of removing that director and a 
4 speaker speaking against removing that director. All of 
5 the directors chose to speak for themselves other than 
6 Marilyn Frey, whose husband spoke in favor of retaining 
7 Marilyn. I can only name one of the speakers who spoke in 
8 favor of removing directors. I just don't recall and I 
9 can't tell you which speaker spoke about removing which 

10 director. 
11 Q. What's the one name you do remember? 
12 A. Robin Caldwell. 

Q. And do you remember which director she spoke 
about? 

A. Robin Caldwell is a man. He's one of my 
neighbors on Judi Street. I can't tell you precisely his 
address. And I'm sorry, but I can't tell you exactly 
which director he spoke about removing. And, you know, 
there were stated causes that people stated for removing 
the directors, but, as you can imagine, that was a very 
stressful meeting for those of us who were being discussed 
and I just don't recall specific individuals and exactly 
what each one of them said and I don't think it would be 
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5 
6 
7 
8 
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know, I have an overall feeling of why they were 
dissatisfied, but I can't give you the precise reasons. 

Q. And what is your overall feeling? 
A. Well, there were a lot of people who were -- you 

know, there are a lot of people who believe that the rabbi 
should be allowed to use 7103 Mumford Court as a 
synagogue. There are other people who don't want to spend 
money for legal expenditures; they don't want to spend 
money for community improvements. I think there were some 
people who don't like Mr. Schneider personally for various 
reasons. And I would suspect that there were some 
additional reasons that, you know, might have been given 
during the meeting, but I don't recall those. So that's 
my overall feeling of the -- you know, the general tone of 
the meeting. 

Q. Do you remember who spoke in favor of removing 
you from the board? 

A. No, I don't. She was a lady who lives on Rocky 
Top. Ifl thought long enough about it, I might be able 
to drag her name out of my memory. You know, I remember 
that her comments -- we went in alphabetical order and I 
was the first up, and I think that a lot of her comments 
were really directed more at Mr. Schneider than me 
specifically. In fact, I would say probably that it's 
fair to say that going down the list of the five people 
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who spoke, all of them tended to express some disagreement 
with Mr. Schneider's views on a great many things. But I 
can't remember her name specifically. 

Q. Would it be fair to say that they had a general 
view that Mr. Schneider was the leader of the board's 

6 pursuit of this litigation? 
7 A. I don't think everyone views it that way, but 
8 many of them probably did. 
9 Q. Do you remember anything that was said by the 

10 person that spoke in favor of removing Mr. Schneider? 
11 A. No, I don't. That came -- Mr. Schneider I 
12 believe would have been last in alphabetical order, and so 
13 by that time in the meeting many people had spoken. There 
14 were a few side conversations beginning to erupt, and so I 
15 just don't have any real recollection of precisely what 
16 was said by the individual speaking in favor of removing 
17 Mr. Schneider. 
18 Q. Have there been any discussions about filling 
19 the vacancy for Mr. Schneider's former board seat? 
20 A. There have been some discussions of that. A 
21 great many of the people who would bring expertise to the 
22 board are very, very busy people and travel a lot. And 
23 so, you know, we've had some general discussions about 
24 that, but we have not really been successful in 
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1 expertise and good ideas to the board yet. 
2 Q. And how would the vacancy be filled if you 
3 decided to fill it? 
4 A. The bylaws specify that if the director is 
5 removed that a vacancy would be filled by the remaining 
6 directors or director if there were multiple vacancies 
7 potentially. 
8 Q. So the four remaining board members could 
9 appoint a fifth person to fill that spot? 

10 A. Yes. 
11 Q. Have you had any discussions about filling that 
12 spot with a member of the congregation? 
13 A. No. 
14 Q. I'm marking Exhibit 20 and I'll ask you to look 
15 at it and then let me know once you're ready. 
16 (Exhibit 20 marked.) 
17 A. Okay. I'm ready. 
18 Q. And have you seen this document before? 
19 A. Yes. 
20 Q. And what is this document? 
21 A. It is a -- the minutes of the initial board 
22 meeting of the newly elected board of directors on 
23 February 3rd, 2014. 
24 Q. And I'll direct your attention to close to the 
25 bottom of Page 1. There's a header. It says Official 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
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Policy of HOA Board to Enforce Deed-Use Restriction of 
Residential Only, and it then mentions that you made a 
motion to adopt a policy to enforce deed-use restrictions. 
Is that right? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And why did you make that motion? 
A. Because I believe that if we have deed 

restrictions, that they need to be enforced when a home is 
not being used as a single-family residence. 

Q. And you saw the need to adopt a new policy of 
the board to enforce the deed restrictions? 

12 A. I wouldn't characterize it as a new policy. I 
13 think the board has always been charged with enforcing the 
14 deed restrictions. So it does say that the policy of the 
15 board should be to enforce the deed restrictions. You 
16 know, I think that's a stylistic use oflanguage in the 
17 minutes. My opinion is that we've always had the deed 
18 restrictions and we've always been concerned about 
19 enforcing them. 
20 Q. What was the policy of the board prior to 
21 February 3rd? 
22 A. I think the policy of the board was the same, 
23 but I think that I would say that the approach that they 
24 were using to enforce the deed restrictions was considered 
25 by most ofus to be ineffective in doing that. 

1 Q. So you would characterize this as adopting a 
2 policy that was unchanged from the existing policy? 
3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And what was the purpose of adopting this 
5 policy? 
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6 A. Well, the way I would view the motion is that we 
7 believe that legal action needed to be taken to enforce 
8 the deed restrictions in the case of the usage of the 
9 property at 7103 Mumford Court. 

10 Q. Did you believe legal action needed to be taken 
11 regarding any other property in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
12 A. Not at that time. 
13 Q. At the vety bottom of Page 1 there's a header 
14 that sayings Creation and Appointment of Legal Committee. 
15 A. Yes. 

Q. And then there's more content on Page 2 there. 
What is the legal committee? 

A. The intent, I think, of the creation of the 
legal committee was to review what our legal options were 
in enforcing the deed restrictions. 11 

16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. And who's on the legal committee? I' 

A. Myself and Michael Donohue, and David Schneider !; 
was on the legal committee, but more as an ex officio i' 
member of the committee, more as the president of the 
association to keep in touch with what Mike and I were 
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1 doing. 
2 Q. And does the legal committee still exist? 
3 A. We've done nothing to disband the legal 
4 committee, although it would exist in a different form , 
5 because David Schneider has been removed from the board, " 
6 so he's not an ex officio member of the committee any 
7 longer and it would consist of Mike Schneider and 
8 myself -- or Mike Donohue and myself I'm sorry. 
9 Q. Does the legal committee have its own meetings 

10 that are separate from meetings of the full board? 
11 A. We in the past have had a couple of meetings 
12 that were separate from the full board. Perhaps we've had 
13 only one. So for the most part not, but I suppose that 
14 there would have been a meeting between Mike Donohue, 
15 myself and Mr. Schneider that would be considered an 
16 official meeting of the legal committee. There have been 
17 a couple of in the front yard discussions between myself 
18 and Mr. Donohue that I suppose technically could be 
19 considered a meeting of the legal committee; but apart 
20 from that, not really regularly scheduled meetings. 
21 Q. Has Mr. Surratt been present at any of those 
22 meetings of the legal committee? 
23 A. No. 
24 Q. And what do you -- what all can you remember 
25 that was said at any of those meetings? 

I 

i 
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A. I don't remember precisely what we said. We -- 1 Q. At any time since the creation of the legal le 
MR. SURRATT: Let me -- just maybe frame 2 committee, has the committee considered any enforcement ;; 

your question from the standpoint -- obviously, we're 3 action other than the one against the synagogue? 
getting into if they're discussing potential litigation in 4 A. I can't recollect on any enforcement actions 
matters as board members, that would be confidential 5 that we've discussed. More -- I guess I would say that 
information so -- and privileged info. So maybe kind of 6 we've discussed some code compliance issues that needed to !{ 

proceed but sort of frame your questions accordingly. 7 be addressed, but those are matters for the city really to 
MR. McGEE: Fair enough. We may have a 8 enforce, even though some code compliance issues overlap 

different view of what's privileged, but I think we can 9 with issues that are violations of the deed restrictions, 
defer that beyond today. And feel free to jump in as 10 but those are things we usually rely on the city to 
necessary. 11 enforce when possible. 

Q. So the first meeting that you talked about as an 12 Q. And what are the code compliance issues that you 
official meeting that's maybe at a high level, what topics 13 can remember discussing? 
were discussed at that meeting, without going into the 14 A. I don't remember precisely what those issues 
substance of exactly what was said? 15 would be. You know, sometimes overgrown bushes are an 

A. Well, we believe that the deed restrictions 16 issue and those are something the city will take care of 
needed to be enforced and that legal action was required, 17 for us. I can't remember the precise code compliance 
and so the meeting that I recall discussed Mr. Donohue's 18 issue that came up. 
impressions of our attorney, David Surratt. He discussed 19 Q. At the more informal yard gatherings where you 
the situation and had discussed legal remedies for the 20 mentioned speaking with Mr. Donohue, about how many of 

I~ situation with Mr. Surratt and -- 21 those have there been? 
MR. SURRATT: Let me caution you right 22 A. There might have been -- I might have stopped by 

here. Can I meet with the witness just a few minutes, 23 Mike Donohue's house twice. 
!l 

give him some guidance so he can better respond maybe to 24 Q. And in either of those conversations, was there it 

your questions without getting too detailed? Let's take a 25 anyone present other than yourself and Mr. Donohue? 

Page 31 Page 33 

break and let me visit with him. 1 A. No. Just myself and Mr. Donohue. 
MR. McGEE: Yeah. We can go off the 2 Q. This is Exhibit 21. 

record. 3 (Exhibit 21 marked.) 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 4 Q. Once you've had a chance to look at it and are 

10:59 a.m. 5 ready for me to ask a question about it, please let me 
(Off the record.) 6 know. 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record at 7 A. Sure. Okay. I'm ready. 

11:02 a.m. 8 Q. And have you seen this document before? 
Q. Before the break, Mr. Day, I believe you had 9 A. Yes, I have. / 

mentioned that there's been one more formal meeting of the 10 Q. And what is it? 
legal committee and then several like, you know, informal 11 A. It is the minutes of the homeowners association 
yard-type discussions. Is that accurate? 12 board meeting for March 2nd, 2014. 

12 

A. Yes. 13 Q. And does this document have an accurate ; 

Q. And at this formal meeting, was there anyone 14 description of what happened at that board meeting? 
present that was not a member of the board? 15 A. To the best of my knowledge. ; 

A. No, there was not. 16 Q. Who would have prepared this document? fi Q. And you were -- before the break you were just 17 A. Michael Donohue, the secretary for the 
mentioning some of the topics that were discussed at that 18 association, or the secretary of the board of directors. 
meeting and had mentioned the situation with the 19 Q. And what are the duties of the secretary? 
synagogue. At that meeting were -- was anything that does 20 A. They're listed in the bylaws and there are a 
not pertain -- that does not pertain to the synagogue 21 number of them, but one of them is to keep the minutes of 
discussed? 22 the meetings. 1; 

A. It's possible there could have been something. 23 Q. So looking on Page 4, about halfway down there's 
I don't recall the meeting, all that precisely other than 24 a new header in all caps that says Executive Session? '" 
the general focus. 25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. Why was an executive session called? 
2 A. To discuss the recommendations of the legal 
3 committee and talk about enforcement action. 
4 Q. And why was the decision made to do that in 
5 executive session? 
6 A. Well, because I think that, you know, because 
7 it's an enforcement action, because it would involve legal 
8 action that we felt it was appropriate that that meeting 
9 be conducted in executive session. 

10 Q. And you didn't want other homeowners to be able 
11 to participate in that? 
12 A. Because it's an enforcement action, no. 
13 Q. So is it your view that only the members of the 
14 board should have input into enforcement decisions? 
15 A. The deed restrictions specify that it is the 
16 duty -- or it says that the board may enforce the deed 
17 restrictions, so I take that to mean that's the 
18 responsibility of the board of directors. 
19 Q. I'm going to hand you Exhibit 22. And as with 
20 the previous exhibits, just please let me know once you've 
21 had a chance to look at it. 
22 (Exhibit 22 marked.) 
23 A. Okay. I'm ready. 
24 Q. And what is Exhibit 22? 
25 A. Exhibit 22 represents the minutes of the board 
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1 of directors meeting for May 4th of 2014. 
2 Q. And have you seen these minutes before? 
3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And these also would have been prepared by 
5 Mr. Donohue? 
6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. And at the bottom of Page 4 and top of Page 5 
8 there's a reference to another executive session that 
9 appears to be about the congregation. Is that accurate? 

10 A. Well, I would say it's about the enforcement 
11 action of the deed restrictions. 
12 Q. And you mentioned earlier that you -- that these 
13 meetings are held in executive session without the 
14 participation of other homeowners because it's the board's 
15 responsibility to enforce deed restrictions? 
16 A. Well, the reason they're held in executive 
17 sessions, really, you're talking about confidential 
18 information. So any enforcement action will involve 
19 confidential information; it will involve privileged 
20 information from our attorney. It could involve any 
21 number of things that wouldn't be appropriate for a 
22 general discussion with the homeowners. 
23 Q. Kind of here in the middle of Page 4 is a header 
24 that says Discussion Between Board and Present Homeowners 
25 About May 17th Special Meeting. 

Page 36 

1 A. Yes. 
2 Q. And this reflects that, as president of the 
3 board, Mr. Schneider scheduled a special meeting on the 
4 Jewish Sabbath. Is that accurate? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. And that the board declined to move the special 
7 meeting date to accommodate Jewish homeowners? 
8 A. Well, in choosing between a somewhat limited 
9 number of dates where the police station community room 

10 was available, there was a choice between Saturdays and 
11 Sundays. Mr. Schneider offered the leaders of the 
12 recall -- or excuse me. This was regarding a special 
13 meeting, but Mr. Schneider offered input to those that had 
14 circulated the petition and they didn't participate. He 
15 could have picked the Jewish Sabbath or he could have 
16 picked my Sabbath. He picked Saturday. 
17 Q. Does your religion prohibit you from attending 
18 meetings on a Sunday? 
19 A. Not per se, but, you know, my Sabbath is the day 
20 where we go to church and I may have to work on occasion, 
21 but we prefer that to be more of a family day devoted 
22 towards family activities. So that's important to me too. 
23 So, you know, I don't think Mr. Schneider meant any malice 
24 by picking the Saturday. It was one of the days that was 
25 available in a fairly limited number of days that the 
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1 community room was available. 
2 Q. And on the last page of these minutes -- again, 
3 this is part of the executive session. I'm looking at the 
4 third bullet down. It looks like Mr. Donohue made a 
5 motion to disclose to HOA members at the next board 
6 meeting the amount of attorneys' fees extended to that 
7 point. Did -- is that an accurate statement about what 
8 happened in the executive session? 
9 A. To the best of my recollection. 

10 Q. And it looks like this motion unanimously 
11 passed; is that right? 
12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. And at the next HOA meeting, was this disclosed 
14 to the members? 
15 A. I believe it was, but I can't remember the 
16 specific moment of disclosure. 
17 Q. And what was the amount of attorneys' fees 
18 expended that was disclosed to the full membership? 
19 A. I can't remember the number. I could tell you 
20 if Mr. Schneider would -- or excuse me. I would want 
21 Mr. Surratt to -- what I can tell you is I know the amount 
22 of the legal fees to this point. I can't tell you the 
23 chronology of legal fees over time and I don't remember 
24 the specific announcement or the specific amount that 
25 might have been announced to the homeowners at that time. 
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1 Q. Have the amount of the legal fees to this point 
2 been disclosed to the homeowners? 
3 A. I would anticipate that at our next homeowners 
4 meeting there would be a disclosure, and I believe that 
5 there was a disclosure -- I don't precisely recall the 
6 minutes of the July board meeting, but I believe that the 
7 legal fees to that point were known to the homeowners at 
8 the time of the meeting to recall the board of directors, 
9 because I believe that that information was part of the 

I 0 discussion to remove at least one of the directors. I 
11 can't remember which director or the moment, but I believe 
12 that the amount of the legal fees at that point were 
13 disclosed. 
14 Q. And what was that amount? 
15 A. You know, again, I'll just have to tell you that 
16 I know what they are as of right now approximately, but I 
17 can't tell you precisely what the legal fees had run to at 
18 that point. 
19 Q. Has a litigation budget through trial been 
20 disclosed to the homeowners? 
21 A. No. 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Does the board intend to let the homeowners know 
how much they might need to spend on this litigation? 

A. That's part oflegal strategy, as far as I'm 
concerned, and that's something that I think shouldn't be 

I 
2 

your head. 
THE WITNESS: Wow. 

3 Q. Maybe let's --
4 A. I'm about to give you your list. 
5 MR. SURRATT: And just for formality, I'm 
6 just going to assert an objection just to form, being 
7 overbroad. But go ahead. 
8 A. Okay. I have talked with Kevin Marshall. I 
9 have talked with Bill North. I've talked with Aaron 

10 Orshalick, who of course is an officer but not a board 
11 member. I've talked with Ken Halterman. I've talked with 
12 Don Coats. I've talked with Robert Palmeri. I've talked 
13 with Cookie Peadon. I've talked with Jamie Keeling. 
14 Q. And how does she spell her last name? 
15 A. Jamie Keeling is a male. K-e-e-1-i-n-g. 
16 I've talked with Javier. I can't spell Javier's 
17 last name. It starts with a G. He lives on Rocky Top 
18 Circle. I have communicated by e-mail with Robert Nelson. 
19 I've talked with Mary Kay Adams. I've talked with Bruce 
20 French. And there are more, but I can't remember all of 
21 them. 
22 Q. Are all of these people that you mentioned 
23 residents of the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
24 A. Yes. They're all residents of the Highlands of 
25 McKamy. 

I 
I 

Page 39 Page41 1 

1. 

1 published. 1 
2 Q. Other than your fellow board members, I'd like 2 
3 to just make a list of everyone that you've talked to 3 
4 about the situation with the congregation or this lawsuit. 4 
5 So who have you discussed this suit or the congregation 5 
6 with? 6 
7 A. Gosh. You know, I can't tell you everyone I've 7 
8 discussed that with. I mean, you know, we were in a 8 
9 special meeting to recall the board of directors. I've 9 

I 0 talked with lots of individuals about various aspects of 10 
11 the litigation, both people who agree with me and don't 11 
12 agree with me. 12 
13 So, you know, I can tell you I've talked 13 
14 specifically with the board members. I've had, you know, 14 
15 numerous conversations about this issue with, you know, 15 
16 people who agree with me and people that don't agree with 16 
17 me, but I'm going to decline to list every individual I 17 
18 may have spoken with. 18 
19 Q. I'd like you to list the ones that you remember. 19 
20 THE WITNESS: Do I need to do that, David? 20 
21 MR. SURRATT: If you can recall. We're 21 
22 talking about non-board members of the homeowners. So to 22 
23 the best of your knowledge. I think the records produced 23 
24 substantiate that you probably communicated with a lot of 24 
25 people, so the ones that you can recall off the top of 25 

Q. And have you discussed this with any family 
members? 

A. My wife, who's also a resident of the Highlands 
ofMcKamy. 

Q. What about any non-residents of the Highlands of 
McKamy, like friends or acquaintances? 

A. Yes. I've discussed it with two individuals who 
are not residents of the Highlands ofMcKamy, but I 
decline to give their names because that's privileged 
information. 

Q. Are they attorneys? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And are they-- is one Mr. Surratt? 
A. No. 
Q. And who are these two individuals? 
A. I decline to name them. 
Q. Have you retained them in connection with this 

litigation? 
A. I decline to give that information. 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, nonresponsive. 
Q. What's your basis for claiming that this 

information is privileged? 
A. They're personal discussions. 
Q. What is your basis for claiming that a personal 

discussion is legally privileged? 

,, 
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1 A I don't have any basis. They're just private 
2 conversations with people that I know who happen to be 
3 attorneys. 
4 MR. McGEE: In just a minute I'm going to 
5 ask to take a break and go off the record and I'd just 
6 like to state on the record that during the break I'd 
7 appreciate it, Mr. Surratt, if you would talk to your 
8 client about his obligation to answer the question as to 
9 the identity of these two individuals, and then after the 

10 break I'll ask him the question again and we'll go from 
11 there. 

MR. SURRATT: I'll agree to visit with him. 12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

I'm not agreeing he has an obligation. Let me visit with 
him here at this break or one of the future breaks and we 
can come back. You want to break now or do it later? 

MR. McGEE: Yes. We'll break now. 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 

11:30 a.m. 
(Recess taken.) 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record at 

11:36 a.m. 
Q. Okay. Mr. Day, before the break I asked you who 

you had spoken with and you mentioned you spoke with two 
people that were not residents of the Highlands ofMcKamy. 
Who are those people? 
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1 A I've retained Robert Solomon of Eldridge, 
2 Robertson & Holman I think is the firm's name. 
3 Q. Robert Solomon of Edridge, Roberts & Holman? 
4 A Robertson. 
5 Q. Robertson & Holman? 
6 A I believe that's the third name. 
7 Q. And what do you mean when you say you have 
8 retained him? 
9 A I've sought personal legal advice from him 

10 related to my role on the board of the Highlands of 
11 McKamy. 
12 Q. Did you pay any kind of retainer to Mr. Soloman 
13 or his firm? 
14 A I haven't seen a bill from him. 
15 MR. BUTTERFIELD: Objection, nonresponsive. 
16 Q. Did you pay anything to him? 
17 A I've paid nothing. I may pay something, but I 
18 don't know what amount that might be. 
19 Q. Have you signed an engagement letter with 
20 Eldridge, Robertson & Holman? 
21 A No. 
22 Q. What have you said to Mr. Soloman about this 
23 litigation? 
24 MR. SURRATT: I'm going to object on behalf 
25 of Mr. Soloman since he's not here and present. From my 
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1 understanding from conversation with the witness, it does 
2 go into legal advice. 
3 So, Mr. Day, is that your understanding, that 
4 you sought legal counsel from Mr. Soloman? 
5 THE WITNESS: Yes. 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

MR. SURRATT: And do you understand that 
you have a right to assert privilege not to disclose that 
discussion? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, and I'd like to assert 
that. 

MR. McGEE: Are you instructing the witness 
not to answer my question? 

MR. SURRATT: Yes, on behalf of Mr. Soloman 
I am, and as the witness indicated he wants to assert his 
privilege. 

MR. McGEE: And we may be seeking to depose 
Mr. Soloman. I'd just like to state that on the record. 

Q. Who is the other individual you've spoken to? 
A A friend in Oklahoma named Rusty Brown, who is 

an attorney. 
Q. He is an attorney? 
A Yes, he is an attorney, although he's not an HOA 

attorney. 
Q. Do you--
A I've not received legal advice from Rusty Brown. 

,,, 

' 
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' 

1 Q. And do you claim to have retained Rusty Brown? 
2 A No. 
3 Q. And what--

1 
4 A. He's simply a friend who I might discuss what is , 
5 happening in my life, as he would discuss what's happening " 
6 in his life. 
7 Q. And what have you and Mr. Brown discussed about 
8 this case or the congregation? 
9 A I don't recall precisely. The discussions would 

10 be more what my time is being spent on and what his time 
11 is being spent on. 
12 Q. What do you mean by what your time is being 
13 spent on? 
14 A We discuss various activities that we are 
15 involved in. So by spending time, I mean, what I'm 
16 working at in terms of what activities are using my time. 
17 Q. And what have you told him about the impact of 
18 this case on your time? 
19 A I don't really recall. 
20 Q. Do you recall anything at all about what you've 
21 spoken to Mr. Brown about? 
22 A I don't recall. 
23 Q. So is that no? 
24 A Just very general discussions about things that 
25 are on my mind, things that are on his mind. 

IY 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

Q. And where does he live in Oklahoma? 
A. Tulsa. 
Q. How long have you known Mr. Brown? 
A. 40 years or so. 
Q. Have you shared with Mr. Brown anything that 

Mr. Surratt has said to you? 
A. No. 

8 Q. What harms do you contend come from the 
9 congregation's presence in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 

10 A. I think that there are potential traffic and 
11 parking problems. If I were living next door or on that 
12 street, I would be disturbed by the large number of people 
13 coming and going, the potential growth in the traffic of 
14 people coming and going. There would be a concern to 
15 me -- and it -- even though I live five blocks away, I 
16 think it's of general concern to the neighborhood -- that 
17 people might be less interested in buying a home next to a 
18 facility like a synagogue, or even next to the group homes 
19 that are permitted by the act of the Texas Legislature. I 
20 worry that if there's a synagogue operating at 
21 7103 Mumford Street that there would be other religious 
22 groups that might want to acquire homes in the 
23 neighborhood and I worry about expansion of the use of 
24 homes for things other than single-family residences. I 
25 can't imagine what all those uses might potentially be, 
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1 but, you know, I think there potentially could be an 
2 expansion of the use ofhomes in the neighborhood as 
3 single-family residences if they continue to operate a 
4 synagogue at 7103 Mumford Court. 
5 Q. Are there any harms, you know, that you can --
6 are there any harms that you have not mentioned? 
7 A. There may be. I'm not pretending to list all of 
8 the consequences of having a home used as other than a 
9 single-family residence. 

10 Q. But have you told me every harm that you're 
11 aware of? 
12 A. Every one that I can think of at the present 
13 time. 
14 Q. And I'd like to go into some of those a little 
15 bit and, first, maybe try to -- I want to try to separate 
16 them into a couple of categories to the extent we can. It 
17 seems like several of the ones you mentioned are concerns 
18 about things that could happen in the future. So first, 
19 like what are the harms that you contend have actually 
20 happened or are happening now, like setting aside, you 
21 know, harms that you think could happen later? 
22 A. Well, I really don't know how to phrase it any 
23 better than I already have. I think there have been some 
24 parking issues in the neighborhood. You know, apparently 
25 some of my neighbors are bothered by comings and goings at 

1 early hours of the morning. 
2 I don't really know how to say it any better 
3 than the fact that ifl lived next door, it would bother 
4 me to have a large number of people coming and going from 
5 a neighboring home every day. 
6 Q. So other than parking and the large number of 
7 people coming and going, is there anything that has 
8 actually happened so far that you would contend is a harm? 
9 A. I think that those are the principal things that 

I 0 I can think of, but I think that once that's happening, I 
11 think that when people try to sell those homes, I think 
12 that there's going to be a reluctance to purchase the 
13 homes that are proximitas to the synagogue. 
14 Q. Do you think there might be some people that 
15 would be more interested in a home because it's close to 
16 thesynagogue? 
17 A. It's possible. 
18 Q. Have you personally paid any money in connection 
19 with this litigation? 
20 A. I'm assuming that you're referring to -- could 
21 you rephrase your question for me? 
22 MR. SURRATT: Let me object as to form. I 
23 know what you're asking. Be a little bit more specific. 
24 MR. McGEE: Sure. 
25 MR. SURRA TT: Or try to if you can. Pay 
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I any money could include him driving down here today, that 
2 kind of thing, so it kind oL 
3 Q. Have you paid any money to Mr. Schneider in 
4 connection with this litigation? 
5 A. What do you mean by "this litigation"? 
6 Q. This lawsuit that is pending before Judge Willis 
7 in Collin County. 
8 MR. SURRA TT: I think -- bear with me. We 
9 went through this. I think I know your question. There 

10 was a timing issue as to maybe when the suit was filed, 
11 the HOA intervening, that kind of thing maybe. 
12 Q. Viewing the -- this entire matter as one lawsuit 
13 that began when Mr. Schneider filed his first petition and 
14 in which the HOA later intervened, viewing that entire 
15 matter as one case, have you paid any money to 
16 Mr. Schneider in connection with the litigation? 
17 A. After Mr. Schneider filed his lawsuit, I made a 
18 contribution to him to finance the incidental legal fees 
19 associated with his pro se lawsuit. 
20 Q. And why did you decide to make this payment to 
21 finance the legal fees associated with the pro se lawsuit? 
22 A. Because I believe that the synagogue would have 
23 a detrimental effect to the neighborhood and I supported 
24 my neighbor, Mr. Schneider, and so I felt that it was 
25 unfair for him as an individual homeowner to be forced to 
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bear the burden of enforcing the deed restrictions by 
himself. 

Q. So you were appreciative of the legal work he 
was doing and wanted to contribute to that? 

A. Like I said, I felt that it was unfair for 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

Mr. Schneider to bear the burden of enforcing what was a 
deed restriction on his own behalf when the homeowners 

8 association needed to step in and enforce the deed 
9 restrictions. 

10 Q. And how much did you pay Mr. Schneider? 
11 A. My contribution to his legal effort was $300. 
12 Q. And have you paid anything other than that $300 
13 to Mr. Schneider? 
14 A. No. 

Q. Did you consider joining his suit as a 
plaintiff? 

A. I wasn't invited to join his lawsuit as a 

15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

plaintiff. I don't know what my decision might have been 
had I been invited to join the lawsuit as a plaintiff. 

Q. How did you come up with the $300 amount? 
A. Oh, I don't recall. My budget is tight, like 

everybody else's. You know, that's -- I could spare that. 
I thought that that might help with his legal fees. 
That's about all I know to say about that. 

Q. Do you plan to contribute any additional money 
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1 to Mr. Schneider? 
2 A. Not at this time. 
3 Q. Other than the congregation, what other 
4 nonresidential uses of property are you aware of within 
5 the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
6 A. Primarily the two group homes that are located 
7 in the Highlands ofMcKamy. 
8 Q. And what do you know about those? 
9 A. That there are two group homes located in the 

10 Highlands ofMcKamy, one on the comer of Lattimore and 
11 Meandering Way and another one -- I don't know if it's 
12 Rocky Top or Rocky Top Circle. 
13 Q. So other than the congregation's alleged use and 
14 these two group homes, are you aware of any other 
15 nonresidential uses within the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
16 A. I'm aware of the assertion that somebody has 
17 been giving some swimming lessons, but that's not really a 
18 case where one of the homes in the neighborhood is being 
19 used exclusively for pmposes other than as a family home. 
20 I'm trying to think of other instances. I guess 
21 there was a fella who lived in the neighborhood at one 
22 time who was giving some seminars out of his home. That 
23 was pointed out to me recently. At that time I wasn't all 
24 that aware of what was going on or what was done about 
25 that, but that's about -- that's about all that I can 
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1 think of that's gone on in the neighborhood over the last 
2 15 years. 
3 Q. What about home-based businesses? 
4 A. I don't really know of too many individuals that 
5 are running home-based businesses. I -- you know, people 
6 have said there are some. Mr. Schneider's pointed out 
7 that Mr. Levine purports to have his law offices in his 
8 home, but I'm not really aware of anybody other than that 
9 who might be running a home-based business. There may be 

10 some, but I'm not aware of it. 
11 Q. What about any religious gatherings or Bible 
12 studies other than the congregation? 
13 A. I don't have any knowledge of anybody who's 
14 having Bible studies in their home. 
15 Q. As an HOA board member, are you aware that 
16 Mr. Surratt has produced certain documents to us in the ; 
17 course of this litigation to respond to our document 
18 requests? 
19 A. Yes. ; 
20 Q. And to the extent those documents reflect other 
21 nonresidential uses, do you have any reason to question 
22 the accuracy of the documents that Mr. Surratt has 
23 produced? 
24 A. I don't know that I need to express an opinion 
25 on documents I haven't seen. I can't imagine that he 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

would submit documents that are not accurate; but I 
haven't seen the documents that he has submitted, so I 
can't really express an opinion on them. 

Page 53 r 
k 

10 
11 

Q. I'm marking Exhibit 23. 
(Exhibit 23 marked.) 

Q. Please let me know when you've had a chance to 
look at it. 

A. Okay. 
Q. And what is this document? 
A. These are the minutes from the meeting of the 

board of directors for November 19th of2002. 
12 Q. And it looks like you were present at this 
13 meeting; is that right? 
14 A. Yes. That's what the document states. 
15 Q. And this is a document that the HOA has produced 
16 to us in this litigation. Do you recall this meeting? 
17 A. No, I don't. 
18 Q. And under the president's report bullet, there's 
19 a third sub-bullet down about someone wanting to move into 
20 the neighborhood and operate a daycare. Do you recall 
21 that situation at all? 
22 
23 
24 
25 

A. I do recall, you know, discussions about 
somebody who wanted to have a daycare center, yes. 

Q. And what do you recall about those discussions? 
A. Simply the report that somebody wanted to have a 
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!1 
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daycare center and that that individual was told that we 1 who was -- I don't recall whether Mr. Darby was attending 
had a deed restriction that prohibited that use of the 2 the meeting as a member of the board or whether he had 
property. 3 left the board and was attending as a homeowner, but he 

Q. And do you know if a daycare center was ever 4 had talked to an attorney about it. I don't believe those 
operated in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 5 were legal fees that the association incurred. But he 

A. To my knowledge, no daycare center was ever 6 felt that we had no legal recourse with regard to the 
operated. 7 group homes because of the act of the legislature. 

Q. Are you aware of any enforcement action that the 8 Again, we discussed -- when the second group 
HOA ever brought against any daycare center? 9 home came in, we discussed whether we had any options. We 

A. No, I'm not. 10 were all surprised because we thought that the law 
Q. Are you aware of any enforcement action that the 11 prohibited a second group home within 5,000 feet, but we 

HOA has brought against either of the group homes you 12 then found out that the law had been changed so that they 
mentioned earlier? 13 only had to be 1, 000 feet apart. And we asked for help 

A. No. 14 from our city council person regarding that, but to my 
Q. Are you aware of any enforcement action that has 15 knowledge, no help was other forthcoming. And again, 

been brought in regard to the swimming lessons you 16 because they were exempted by the Texas Legislature, you 
mentioned earlier? 17 know, we didn't feel any legal action would result in 

A. No. 18 preventing them from having the second group home. 
Q. What about for Mr. Levin's law practice? Are 19 Q. What's your understanding of how long the 

you aware of any enforcement action? 20 congregation has been holding meetings at 7103 Mumford? 
A. No. 21 A. My understanding is that they've been having 
Q. And earlier you mentioned someone that was 22 meetings there since early August of 2013. 

conducting business seminars from a home. Are you aware 23 Q. And do you know where they were meeting before 
of any enforcement action that was brought there? 24 that? 

A. I have a recollection about the president of the 25 A. Apparently they were meeting in Rabbi Rich's 
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association contacting that individual to discontinue the 1 home. 
activity in his home. But that was a period where I 2 Q. And where is his home? 
missed a great many board meetings because of obligations 3 A. I don't know. I think he lives on Bremerton, 
with my kids, and since I wasn't a voting member of the 4 but I don't really know where Rabbi Rich lives. I've 
board, I don't think my colleagues would have, you know 5 never driven by his home and I can't recall his precise 
probably informed me as ifl'd have been a board member, 6 address. 
but I'm -- you know, I don't really know what was 7 Q. Does he live in the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
happening with that effort to get him to quit having the 8 A. Yes, he does. 
seminars. 9 Q. And do you know how long they were meeting in 

Q. Do you have any knowledge of any enforcement 10 Rabbi Rich's home? 
action the HOA has ever brought other than against the 11 A. No, I don't. 
congregation? 12 Q. When did you first become aware that the 

A. No. 13 congregation existed? 
Q. During the time that you've been on the board, 14 A. In June of2013. 

either now or in the past, has the board considered 15 Q. And how did you become aware of that? 
bringing an enforcement action against anyone other than 16 A. One of the residents on Mumford Court expressed 
the congregation? 17 concern about the fact that the home had been purchased 

A. We discussed what our options might be with both 18 for use as a synagogue it 7103 Mumford Court. 
of the group homes. 19 Q. This will be Exhibit 24. 

Q. And did you conclude not to bring an enforcement 20 (Exhibit 24 marked.) 
action against them? 21 Q. Please let me know once you've had a chance to 

A. Because -- with the first group home, because it 22 look at it, Mr. Day. 
was exempted from our deed restrictions by the act of the 23 A. Okay. 
Texas Legislature, we didn't feel that there was much we 24 Q. And what is Exhibit 24? 
could do from a legal perspective. I believe Joe Darby, 25 A. Exhibit 22 --
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1 Q. 24. Sony. 
2 A. Oh, I'm sony. Exhibit 24 is an e-mail message 
3 that I sent to Michael and Mary Carrier in response to 
4 their concerns about the establishment of the synagogue at 
5 7103 Mumford Court. Part of the message includes my 
6 communication with another board member regarding, you 
7 know, the way I felt about the particular issue and our 
8 responsibilities as a board of directors. 
9 Q. And do Michael and Mary live in Highlands of 

10 McKamy? 
11 A. Yes, they do, or did. 
12 Q. They don't today? 
13 A. No. They've moved. 
14 Q. So your e-mail address is utdallas.edu. Is that 
15 your employer? 
16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. And what do you do there? 
18 A. I'm a professor in the School of Management. 
19 Q. So does your job consist of, like, teaching 
20 classes and publishing articles? 
21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. And how long have you had that job? 
23 A. Since 1990. 
24 Q. And what hours are you normally at work? 
25 A. It depends on what my obligations are for that 
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1 day. It's not uncommon for me to be working late in the 
2 evening if I've taught a class. I may be there early in 
3 the morning ifl'm teaching a morning class. 
4 Q. So it just kind of varies depending on the 
5 particular day? 
6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. How often do you work from your home? 
8 A. Fairly often. 
9 Q. And when you work from your home, what do you 

10 do? 
11 A. Oftentimes I teach courses online, so it will be 
12 common for me to be on the computer sending e-mail 
13 messages to my students from home. I may be working at my 
14 desk preparing lectures, but -- so I would say that I 
15 work, you know, a little bit from home on a fairly regular 
16 basis, although I prefer to be in my office to be able to 
17 concentrate on things. 
18 Q. And is your wife employed? 
19 A. Yes, she's employed. 
20 Q. And what is her job? 
21 A. My wife is employed by the University of Texas 
22 Southwestern Medical Center, and she also teaches 
23 part-time for the University of Texas at Dallas. 
24 Q. And what is her position at each of those 
25 places? 
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1 A. At UT Dallas I would say that her position would 
2 be that of a part-time lecturer. 
3 Q. In management as well? 
4 A. No. My wife is a certified critical care 
5 dietitian. And so I think her position at UT Southwestern 
6 would be as a part-time lecturer as well, although it's of 
7 greater scope than her position at UT Dallas. 
8 Q. And does she ever work from home? 
9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And how frequently would you say she works from 
11 home? 
12 A. You know, she'll work in the evenings two or 
13 three times a week preparing lectures. 
14 Q. Looking back at Exhibit 24, in the second 
15 paragraph here on the first page. And I'm looking at the 
16 second sentence where you state that "religious freedom 
17 has nothing to do with this issue, although it is possible 
18 that a court may not be willing to grant us relief, 
19 particularly given the erosion in our rights due to the 
20 laws about the establishment of hospices." 
21 Would -- would you please elaborate on what you 
22 mean by the erosion in your rights that had occurred at 
23 the time you wrote this e-mail? 
24 A. Well, I think that the act of the Texas 
25 Legislature, you know, they essentially granted the right 
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1 of people to conduct -- you know, to use the homes in our 
2 neighborhood primarily as a business and, you know, it was 
3 my concern that a court might be willing to use that as a 
4 precedent to extend that right to other organizations. 
5 Q. And then looking at the -- kind of the end of 
6 the first sentence of that same paragraph, so the sentence 
7 before the one we were just looking at, it sounds like you 
8 were talking about the synagogue and you say, "I don't 
9 think that there is an acceptable negotiated solution." 

10 What do you mean by that? 
11 A. I think that either you have a synagogue in the 
12 neighborhood, which to my mind is a violation of the deed 
13 restriction on single-family use, or you don't. I don't 

I' 

I 

; 

14 know how there's a middle ground between those two points. 11 

15 Q. So are you willing to negotiate in good faith at 
16 any mediation that may occur in this case? 
17 A. Oh, absolutely. 
18 Q. So you haven't already concluded that there 
19 could be an acceptable negotiated solution? 
20 A. No, I haven't concluded that at all. What I'm 
21 stating here is I don't see what it is; but I'm certainly 
22 willing to engage in mediation with an open mind about 
23 what a solution might be, although, you know, I think the 
24 position I've stated here is, you know, fairly clear about 
25 what my prior belief might be about that. 
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MR. McGEE: I think I might be done. If we 1 I, THEODORE E. DAY, have read the foregoing 
can just take a short break to let me look over my notes, 2 deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 

and then I'll see if there's anything else. We can go off 3 and correct, except as noted above. 

the record. 4 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 5 THEODORE E. DAY 
12:17 p.m. 6 

(Recess taken.) 7 THE STATE OF ) 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record at 8 COUNTY OF ) 

12:29p.m. 9 
MR. McGEE: Thank you, Dr. Day. I have no 10 Before me, , on this day 

additional questions for you and I'll pass the witness. 11 personally appeared THEODORE E. DAY, known to me or proved 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: I have no questions at 12 to me on the oath of or through 

this time. 13 (description of identity card or 

MR. SURRATT: Intervenor has no questions 
14 other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed 
15 to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 

at this time. 16 he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 17 therein expressed. 

12:29p.m. 18 Given under my hand and seal of office on this 
(Deposition concluded.) 19 day 

20 
21 

22 NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF 

23 My Commission Expires 
24 
25 
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CHANGES AND SIGNATURE I CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 
2 DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

Plaintiff, § 
WITNESS NAME: DATE OF DEPOSITION: 3 § 

PAGE LINE CHANGE REASON 
v. § 

4 § 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B.§ 

5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION § 
TORAS CHAIM, INC., § 

6 Defendants. § 
§ 

7 and § 429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
§ 

8 HIGHLANDS OF McK.AMY N AND§ 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 

9 ASSOCIATION, § 
Inteivening Plaintiff,§ 
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v. § 

II § 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND § 

12 MARK B. GOTHELF, § 
Defendants. § OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

13 
14 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATION 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF THEODORE E. DAY 
15 AUGUST 8, 2014 
16 
17 I, Jamie Prince Hess, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 
18 and for the State of Texas, hereby certify to the 
19 following: 
20 That the witness, THEODORE E. DAY, was duly sworn and 
21 that the transcript of the deposition is a nue record of 
22 the testimony given by the witness; 
23 That the deposition transcript was submitted on 
24 to the witness or to the attorney for the 
25 witness for examination, signature, and return to me by 
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I I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER TRCP RULE 203 
2 That the amount of time used by each party at the 
3 time of the deposition is as follows: 
4 MR. MATT McGEE- 02:01 

5 
6 

MR. JUSTINE. BUTTERFIELD - 00:00 
MR. DAVID A. SURRATT - 00:00 

7 That pursuant to information given to the deposition 
8 officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 
9 following includes counsel for all parties of record: 

10 FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 
11 Mr. David R. Schneider (Pro Se) 

7035 Mumford 
12 Dallas, Texas 75252 
13 FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM: 
14 

15 

Mr.Matt McGee 
Haynes and Boone, LI.P 
2323 Victory Avenue 
Suite 700 

16 Dallas, Texas 75219 
17 FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TO RAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 

GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 
18 

Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
19 liberty Institute 

200 I Plano Parkway 
20 Suite 1600 

Plano, Texas 75075 
21 

FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 
22 IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 
23 Mr. David A. Surratt 

Riddle & Williams, PC 
24 3710 Rawlins Street 

Suite 1400 
25 Dallas, Texas 75219 

1 I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 
2 related to, nor employed by any of the parties in the 
3 action in which this proceeding was taken, and further 
4 that I am not financially or otherwise interested in the 
5 outcome of this action. 
6 Further certification requirements pursuant to 
7 Rule 203 of the Texas Code of Civil Procedure will be 
8 complied with after they have occurred. 
9 Certified to by me on this _____ day of 
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1 s.eer-~ w.r: IS, 'lo/ v. 
2 That the amount of time used by each party at the 

3 time of the deposition is as follows: 

4 MR. MATT McGEE - 02:01 
MR. JUSTIN E. BUTTERFIELD - 00:00 

5 MR. DAVID A. SURRATT - 00:00 

6 

66 

7 That pursuant to information given to the deposition 

8 officer at the time said testimony was taken, the 

9 following includes counsel for all parties of record: 

10 FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

11 Mr. David R. Schneider {Pro Se) 
7035 Mumford 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Dallas, Texas 75252 

FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM: 

Mr. Matt McGee 
Haynes and Boone, LLP 
2323 Victory Avenue 
Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 75219 

17 FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 

Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
Liberty Institute 
2001 Plano Parkway 
Suite 1600 
Plano, Texas 75075 

FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 
22 IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 

23 Mr. David A. Surratt 
Riddle & Williams, PC 

24 3710 Rawlins Street 
Suite 1400 

25 Dallas, Texas 75219 
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I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 

related to, nor employed by any of the parties in the 

action in which this proceeding was taken, and further 

that I am not financially or otherwise interested in the 

outcome of this action. 

Further certification requirements pursuant to 

Rule 203 of the Texas Code of Civil Procedure will be 

complied with after they have occurred. 

Certified to by me on this 620~ day of 

AY0Lt rr Ct!> t lf . 

Firm Registration No. 526 
4950 N. O'Connor Road, Suite 152 
Irving, Texas 75062-2778 
972.719.5000 
972.650.0225 Fax 
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THEODORE E. DAY 
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FURTHER CERTIFICATION UNDER TRCP RULE 203 

The original deposition was/was not returned to the 

deposition officer on ~-f>k \§? 1 '.'1..0\'-\ · 
If returned, the attached Changes and Signature 

page(s) contain(s) any changes and the reasons therefor. 
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If returned, the original deposition was delivered to 

Mr. Matt McGee, Custodial Attorney. 

$ S4=f. S°'O is the deposition officer's charges to the 

Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim for preparing the 

original deposition and any copies of exhibits; 

The deposition was delivered in accordance with Rule 

203.3, and a copy of this certificate, served on all 

parties shown herein, was filed with the Clerk. 

Certified to by me on this __.l_'J+-~- day of 

~t , 4UIL\ 

~~~ 
JAMIE PRINCE HESS, TEXAS CSR #6761 
Expiration Date: 12/31/14 
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I, THEODORE E. DAY, have read the foregoing 

deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 

and correct, except as noted above. 

THEODORE E. DAY 

THE STATE OF -------
COUNTY OF 

~--------

Before me, , on this day 

personally appeared THEODORE E. DAY, known to me or proved 

to me on the oath of or through 

(description of identity card or 

other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed 

to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 

he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 

therein expressed. 

Given under my hand and seal of office on this 

____ day of 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF 

-------~-My Commission Expires 
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MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 
August 8, 2014 

CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

Page 1 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
Plaintiff, 

v. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B.§ 
5 GOTHELF, AND CONGREGATION § 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

TORAS CHAIM, INC., 
Defendants. 

and 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND§ 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 
ASSOCIATION, § 

Intervening Plaintiff,§ 
§ 

v. § 

§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND § 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 

Defendants. 
§ 

§ 

429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF 
MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 

AUGUST 8, 2014 

23 ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MICHAEL D. 
24 DONOHUE, produced as a witness at the instance of the 
25 Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim and duly sworn, was 
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MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 
August 8, 2014 

Page2 Page4 L 

I taken in the above-styled and numbered cause on August 8, 
2 2014, from 2:23 p.m. to 3:36 p.m., before Jamie Prince 
3 Hess, Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the State of 
4 Texas, reported by computerized stenotype machine at 
5 Haynes and Boone, LLP, 2323 Victory Avenue, Suite 700, 
6 Dallas, Texas 75219, pursuant to the Texas Rules of Civil 
7 Procedure and the provisions stated on the record or 
8 attached hereto. 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

I APPEARANCES 
2 
3 FOR THE DEFENDANT CONGREGATION TO RAS CHAIM: 
4 Mr. Matt McGee 

Haynes and Boone, LLP 
5 2323 Victory Avenue 

Suite700 
6 Dallas, Texas 75219 

214.651.5000 
7 matt.mcgee@haynesboone.com 
8 FOR THE DEFENDANTS CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, JUDITH D. 

GOTHELF AND MARK B. GOTHELF: 
9 

Mr. Justin E. Butterfield 
I 0 Liberty Institute 

200 I Plano Parkway 
11 Suite 1600 

Plano, Texas 75075 
12 972.941.4444 

jbutterfield@libertyinstitute.org 
13 

FOR THE INTERVENOR HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV AND V COMMUNITY 
14 IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION: 
15 Mr. David A. Surratt 

Riddle & Williams, PC 
16 3710 Rawlins Street 

Suite 1400 
17 Dallas, Texas 75219 

214.760.6766 
18 dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com 
19 ALSO PRESENT: 
20 Mr. Randy Jolmson, the videographer 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Page3 

I 
2 

INDEX 
PAGE 

3 Appearances .. . . .. . . . . .. . .. .. . . . 3 
4 Index ....................... 4 
5 WITNESS - MICHAEL D. DONAHUE 
6 
7 
8 
9 

IO 
11 

12 

Examination by Mr. McGee. . . . . . . . . . 5 
Witness Signature Page/Corrections. . . . . . . . . 47 
Reporter's Certificate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49 

EXHIBITS 

NUMBER DESCRIPTION MARKED 

Exhibit 25 Notice of Intention to Take Videotaped 
13 Deposition of Mike Donohue.. . . . . . IO 

Exhibit 26 Minutes from 02/02/14 HOA board 
14 meeting (HOA 000277 through 000278) .. 21 

Exhibit 27 Minutes from 03/02/14 HOA board 
15 meeting (HOA 000279 through 000283) .. 23 

Exhibit 28 Minutes from 05/04/I 4 HOA board 
16 meeting (HOA 000284 through 000288) .. 24 

Exhibit 29 Printout of screen shot from Bradford 
17 Court Reporting Repository Logon. . . . 40 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Pages 

I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're now on the record 
for the video deposition of Mike Donohue. The time is 
2:23 p.m. The date is August 8th, 2014. 

Will the court reporter please administer the 
oath? 

(Witness sworn.) 
MR. McGEE: I'm Matt McGee for the 

Congregation Toras Chaim, Inc. 
MR. BUTTERFIELD: Justin Butterfield for 

I 0 Congregation Toras Chaim and Mark and Judith Gothelf 
11 MR. SURRATT: David Surratt for Highlands 
12 ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement Association. 
13 MICHAEL D. DONAHUE, 
14 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 
15 EXAMINATION 
16 BY MR. McGEE: 
17 Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Donahue. 
18 A. Good afternoon. 
19 Q. Would you please state your full name? 
20 A. Michael Daniel Donohue. 
21 Q. And you and I have just met for the first time a 
22 few minutes ago? 
23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. And, Mr. Donahue, do you understand that the 
25 oath you just took is made under a penalty of perjury? 

I 

Ii 

:; 

f. 

2 (Pages 2 to 5) 
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MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 
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1 
2 
3 
4 

A. I do. 
Q. And that it's the same oath as if you were 

testifying in court? 
A. I do. 

5 Q. And that the oath requires you to answer my 

Page6 

6 questions truthfully and completely to the best you can? 
7 A. I do. 
8 Q. And do you agree to do that? 
9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And the court reporter here is taking down 
11 everything we say, so I'll ask you to answer my questions 
12 out loud instead of with nods or gestures. Do you agree 
13 to do that? 
14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. And ifl ask you a question that you don't 
16 understand, please let me know that and I'll try to 
1 7 rephrase it or repeat it as appropriate. 
18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. And if you don't tell me that you don't 
20 understand, can I assume that you do understand my 
21 question? 
22 A. If I answer it, yes. 
23 Q. It's harder for the court reporter if we're 
24 talking over each other, so I'll ask you to wait for me to 
25 finish talking, and I'll do the same for you. 

Page 8 

1 A. No. 
2 Q. Have you ever been deposed before? 
3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. How many times? 
5 A. Once that I can remember. 
6 Q. And when was that? 
7 A. Probably over 20 years ago. 
8 Q. And what kind of case was that? 
9 A. That's a challenge. I really don't remember. I 

10 was working at Baskin & Novikoff. I remember that. It 
11 was before 1992 when I left. So what the case was about, 
12 I can't even tell you. Don't remember. 
13 Q. In what capacity were you giving your testimony 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

there? 
A. It wasn't as a party. It was a witness in some 

case that I had, some case that was over with and I guess 
there was a lawsuit that ensued afterwards is what I 
remember. 

Q. Have you ever testified in court? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And about how many times? 
A. I don't know. Maybe 10 or 15 times. 
Q. And what -- were those in connection with your 

employment or --
A. Primarily on cases that I work on on attorneys' 

Page7 Page 9 ' 

1 A. Okay. 
2 Q. And if you need a break anytime, please let me 
3 know and we'll accollllllodate that at the next available 
4 opportunity. 
5 A. All right. 
6 Q. And sometimes Mr. Surratt may state an objection 
7 to one of my questions. But unless he instructs you not 
8 to answer it, you can go ahead and answer even ifhe 
9 objects. 

10 A. Okay. 
11 Q. Is there anything about your physical, mental or 
12 emotional condition that would prevent you from 
13 understanding my questions? 
14 A. No. 
15 Q. And ifthat changes, will you let me know? 
16 A. Sure. 
17 Q. And is there anything about your physical, 
18 mental or emotional condition that would prevent you from 
19 giving truthful and complete answers? 
20 A. No. 
21 Q. And will you let me know if that changes? 
22 A. Sure. 
23 Q. Are you on any medications that would prevent 
24 you from understanding my questions or answering 
25 truthfully? 

1 fees, that type of thing. 
2 Q. Can you recall any times you testified that were 
3 not on the issue of attorneys' fees? 
4 A. I testified in this case at the temporary 
5 restraining order hearing. 
6 Q. And is that the only time you've testified 
7 excluding about attorneys' fees? 
8 A. I testified -- I tell you what. I had a case on 
9 my own. I was trying to think of the cases I was party 

10 in, and I thought there was just one, but there's one that 
11 I filed about three or four years ago. Well, no. I take 
12 that back. Maybe six years ago. And I was Plaintiff and 
13 I was my witness, so I had to put myself on the stand and 
14 testify. 
15 Q. And is that the only time you've sued someone 
16 before as a party? 
17 A. As a party? I don't remember suing anybody 
18 else, but I remember that one. 
19 Q. And what was that case about? 
20 A. That was a case where I bought a new car. I 
21 forgot to switch the insurance over to my new car and got 
22 in a -- a tire came off a car coming the opposite 
23 direction on 35 and skipped over the median and nailed me 
24 right in the center of my car. So I ended up suing the 
25 other driver as well as Discount Tire that had just put 

I 

; 
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1 the tire on her car. And that -- that's the one lawsuit 
2 that I can remember that I was a party to. 
3 Q. So you've never been a defendant? 
4 A. I've been a defendant in a lawsuit probably --
5 that was filed probably maybe nine or 10 years ago. It 
6 was a suit in which I was the attorney. It was an 
7 adversary proceeding in a bankruptcy court here in Dallas, 
8 and the defendants ended up suing me and another attorney 
9 with the firm claiming defamation; but they promptly 

10 dropped it once we filed our response and our motion for 
11 sanctions. 
12 Q. And have you ever been arrested? 
13 A. Have I ever been arrested. I've never been, I 
14 guess, arrested. I spent a night in jail one time, but I 
15 don't know that I was arrested. It was just -- I guess 
16 they wanted me to sleep off a drinking situation, but --
17 Q. How long ago was that? 
18 A. That was over 20, maybe 25 years ago. 
19 Q. I'm going to mark Exhibit 25, which is the 
20 notice of deposition. 
21 (Exhibit 25 marked.) 
22 Q. If you'd just please look at it briefly and let 
23 me know once you've had a chance to look at it. 
24 A. Uh-huh. I see it. 
25 Q. And is this the notice of deposition pursuant to 

Page 11 

1 which you're here testifying today? 
2 A. Correct. 
3 Q. And, Mr. Donahue, what is your address? 
4 A. 7015 Mumford Street, Dallas 75252. 
5 Q. Just to -- to save time as we go through this 
6 deposition, when I mention the congregation or the 
7 synagogue, I'm referring to Congregation Toras Chaim, 
8 Inc., and when I mention the HOA, I'm referring to the 
9 Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V Community Improvement 

10 Association, and ifI mention Highlands ofMcKamy, I'm 
11 referring to the neighborhood as a whole. 
12 A. Okay. 
13 Q. Do you -- is your residence at 7015 Mumford in 
14 the Highlands ofMcKamy? 
15 A. It is. 
16 Q. And how long have you lived at 7015 Mumford? 
17 A. Since January of 1997. 
18 Q. And where did you live before that? 
19 A. I lived in a -- I guess it was an apartment. I 
20 didn't own it. In Highland Park, on the edge of Highland 
21 Park off -- Glenwick was the name of the street. 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. So when you moved to your current residence in 
1997, was that the first time you had lived in the 
Highlands ofMcKamy? 

A. Yes. 

Page 12 

1 Q. And what did you pay for your home when you 
2 purchased it in 1997? 
3 A. That's a good question too. I want to say like 
4 288,000, something like that. I could be wrong. That's a 
5 guess. 
6 Q. And do you know what your home is worth today? 
7 A. What it's worth. I guess the tax rolls show it 
8 at maybe north of 400,000, but I'm not sure. Ifl'm not 
9 mistaken, I think that's about right. Whether that's the 

10 actual worth, I think we could probably get more for it if 
11 we actually sold it, so ... 
12 Q. Do you have an estimate for what you think you 
13 could get for your house if you were to sell it? 
14 A. I think we might be able to get 450-, 450,000. 
15 Again, that's a guesstimate. 
16 Q. Understood. Where is your home in -- with 
17 respect to 7103 Mumford? 
18 A. Well, if you're on Frankford and you take a 
19 right -- say you're on Frankford headed east. I don't 
20 know if you're familiar. You take a right on Meandering 
21 Way. That's the entrance to Highlands ofMcKamy. Right 
22 on the left comer is the congregation's house, if you 
23 will, Mr. Gothelfs and his mother's house. You take a 
24 right on Mumford Street and you come down and it makes a 
25 horseshoe. Right where the horseshoe starts, right there 

Page 13 

1 on the right is my house. 
2 Q. So about -- about how many houses are there 
3 between your house and Meandering Way? 
4 A. Maybe eight or nine. Maybe seven. Seven to 
5 rune. 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. And are you on the same side of the street as 
the Gothelfs home or the opposite side? 

A. Same side of the street. 
Q. What did you do to prepare for this deposition 

today? 
A. I met with Mr. Surratt. And the only thing I 

looked at is I glanced through the petition in 
intervention this morning. 

Q. And did you review any documents other than that 
petition? 

A. No. 
Q. Was anyone else present at your meeting with 

Mr. Surratt? 
A. TedDay. 
Q. Did you talk to anyone else about the fact that 

you were coming here to be deposed? 
A. Other than my wife and my secretary at work, no. 
Q. So you're here today in your capacity as a board 

member of the HOA; is that right? 
A. I am a board member of the HOA. It does say --

I 
I 

I~ 
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1 it does say I'm a board member in the notice, but, I mean, 
2 I'm here. I am a board member, so I can speak in that 
3 capacity if that's what you want me to do. I am also a 
4 homeowner. 
5 Q. Yes. Understood. 
6 What does the HOA want out of this lawsuit? 
7 A. Well, they want the congregation to leave and 
8 they want that address to be used as a single-family 
9 residence only and they want to be paid for their cost in 

10 attorneys' fees for having to file the petition in 
11 intervention and file the other pleadings in this case. 
12 They want to be made whole. 
13 Q. Anything else the HOA wants other than the 
14 congregation to leave and attorneys' fees? 
15 A. They want probably I would say some -- you know, 
16 there's a claim in the plea or petition in intervention 
17 for $200 a day fine. I think that's discretionary. I 
18 could be mistaken. That's up to the Court, obviously. 
19 Since the date that demand was made on them by Mr. Surratt 
20 on behalf of the prior board and the -- on behalf of the 
21 association to leave back in November oflast year. 
22 Q. So do you believe every home within the 
23 Highlands of McKamy should be used solely as a 
24 single-family residence? 
25 A. Primarily, yes. That's what the deed 

Page 15 

restrictions are for. 1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

Q. What do you mean when you say "primarily, yes"? 
A. I mean, every home in the Highlands ofMcKamy is 

subject to the deed restrictions, and the deed 
restrictions call for all the structures to be used as 

6 single-family residences --
7 Q. And how would --
8 A. -- and for no other purpose. 
9 Q. How would you define a single-family residence? 

10 A. Just that, single-family residence used as a --
11 for single family purposes. 
12 Q. And for no other purpose? 
13 A. Primarily for single-family residence. I mean, 
14 it's ridiculous to think that no home is ever used for 
15 anything else other than for single-family residence. 
16 Q. And how do you define "primarily"? 
17 A. However it's -- however it's defined. The plain 
18 meaning of the word. 
19 Q. Who lives with you at 7015 Mumford? 
20 A. My wife and two children. 
21 Q. And what is your wife's name? 
22 A. Kathy. 
23 Q. And is her last name Donohue? 
24 A. Yes. 
25 Q. And what's the age of your children? 

1 A. They're both 10. They're twins, boy and a girl. 
2 Q. And since you moved in in 1997, has anyone else 
3 ever lived there that doesn't live there currently? 
4 A. Not as part of our family, no. 
5 Q. Has anyone else lived there not as part of your 
6 family? 
7 A. I mean, there's been people stay for a week or 
8 two, in-laws, if that's what you mean. We have visitors. 
9 Q. What harms do you contend come from the 

10 congregation's presence in the neighborhood? 
11 A. The congregation's presence. Well, the fact 
12 that they're using the structure for other than single 
13 family purposes is a harm in and of itself It harms the 
14 integrity of the neighborhood. This is a residential 
15 neighborhood for single families and the congregation 
16 wants to use it as a synagogue, or have used it as a 
17 synagogue, and that starts the ball rolling, so to speak. 
18 It's like a domino effect. They do it and everybody else 
19 thinks they have a right to do it. Who knows what else 
20 will come moving in and not only affect the integrity of 
21 the neighborhood, but the property values of each and 
22 everybody's home in the entire neighborhood. 
23 Q. So do you contend there are any harms other than 
24 this starting the ball rolling towards others doing it and 
25 possible impact on property values? 

Page 17 

1 A. Well, we've sued them also -- I believe we have. 
2 Maybe it was Mr. Schneider -- for nuisance. You know, 
3 there's parking issues with too many cars parked out 
4 there. There's congregants, if you will, coming and going 
5 at all hours of the day at least six days a week. And I 
6 thought that Sunday was a -- was the day that they did not 
7 come and go, but they do on Sunday too. I could be wrong 
8 about that. Maybe that's Saturday. 
9 So I think it's seven days a week. It's --

10 obviously, it's more than normal foot traffic. I mean, 
11 that's what I've seen, but it's primarily -- this is about 
12 the enforcement of the deed restrictions. 
13 Q. And so are there any harms that you think would 
14 come from not enforcing the deed restrictions other than 
15 the ones that you've mentioned? 
16 A. That's -- the biggest one is allowing them to do 
17 this and not enforcing the restrictions sends a signal to 
18 everybody else, well, look you can buy in Highlands of 
19 McKamy and use it for business purposes, use it for --
20 primarily for church purposes, you know, a Hindu temple, 
21 you name it. There's a neighborhood just to the west of 
22 us on the other side of Hillcrest where just that has 
23 happened. Apparently they don't have deed restrictions 
24 and it is a hodgepodge of -- I think there's a limousine 
25 service over there. It's -- you know, it's used for 
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1 commercial purposes too, those homes. 
2 So that's what -- what happened to our 
3 neighborhood were we to just permit someone like the 
4 congregation to take over a structure and use it primarily 
5 for their non-single-family residential purposes. 
6 Q. How long have you been on the board of the HOA? 
7 A. First week of February this year, February 2nd, 
8 maybe February 4th, whatever date it was the annual 
9 meeting was held. 

10 Q. And had you ever been on the board in the past 
11 before this year? 
12 A. No. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Were you involved with the HOA prior to your 
election to the board? 

A. I wasn't really involved. I mean, I went to, I 
don't know, three or four, maybe five HOA meetings over 
the course of the time, and so I really wasn't too 
involved. I mean, I guess the answer really is, overall, 
no. 

Q. And I understand that you're currently the 
secretary of the board? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. And what do you do as secretary? 
A. I keep the minutes, and my understanding too is 

I think I'm overseeing the records, but the records 

Page 19 

1 primarily are held with Principal Management Group. And 
2 then, obviously, the minutes I prepare I submit at the --
3 usually at the next month's board meeting for approval and 
4 then that becomes the board -- the board's records, which 
5 I understand Marilyn Frey sends to Principal to retain as 
6 records, the minutes. 
7 Q. And do you know if those records at Principal 
8 Management Group have been made available to Mr. Surratt 
9 for the production of potentially responsive documents? 

IO A. They have. 
11 Q. Do you have knowledge about what kind of records 
12 are kept at Principal Management Group? 
13 A. I know they keep financial records, budget 
14 records. I'm assuming the minutes. They keep billing 
15 statements, invoices from third parties. That's my 
16 understanding. 
17 Q. Why did you want to be on the board? 
18 A. I was asked by David Schneider. He was -- I 
19 don't know if it was before or after he filed his lawsuit, 
20 but he was going to run and wanted me to be on the board. 
21 Primarily the focus was enforcing the deed restrictions 
22 against the occupants of7103 Mumford Court, and so I told 
23 him that yes, I would. 
24 Q. So did Mr. Schneider lead a slate of candidates 
25 for election to the board? 

1 A. I think that's probably a good way to put it. I 
2 mean, he's the one that I guess was most active in 
3 garnering support to enforce the deed restrictions; and 
4 that's the platform, if you will, that we ran on, if you 
5 want to call it that. I mean, running -- to me, the 
6 campaign consisted of showing up at the annual meeting and 
7 just telling people who you were and that you, you know, 
8 were asking to be on the board and what your stance was, 
9 and I told people what mine was, so ... 

IO Q. And other than yourself and Mr. Schneider, who 
11 were the other people that ran at the same time you did? 
12 A. Marilyn Frey and Ted Day, and then Doug 
13 Galbraith also, but I didn't know Doug was running until 
14 the day of the -- of the annual meeting. And I don't know 
15 if-- quite frankly, I don't know if David Schneider had 
16 asked him to run also or not, but Doug Galbraith was also 
17 there. 
18 Q. And do you know if any of the -- those five 
19 people, the three you just mentioned plus yourself and 
20 Mr. Schneider, are Jewish? 
21 A. Are Jewish. I don't know. 
22 Q. Are you Jewish? 
23 A. No. 
24 Q. I'm marking Exhibit 26. Once you've had a 
25 chance to look at it and are ready for me to ask you a 

1 
2 

question, please let me know. 

3 A. 
4 Q. 

(Exhibit 26 marked.) 
Okay. I know what this is. 
And what is this? 

5 A. This is the minutes of the board meeting. It 
6 says on February 3rd, 2014. That's a -- I remember 

Page 21 

7 thinking later I put the wrong date because the meeting 
8 was on February the 2nd, 2014, as shown in the subject. 
9 But that's what this is, the minutes from that first 

10 meeting. 
11 Q. And did you prepare this document? 
12 A. I did. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Kind of towards the bottom of the first page 
there on HOA 277 --

A. Correct. 
Q. -- there's a header that says Official Policy of 

HOA Board to Enforce Deed-Use Restriction of Residential 
Only, and then it indicates that a new policy was adopted 
to enforce deed-use restrictions; is that correct? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And prior to February 2nd, do you know what the 

policy was? 
A. I wasn't on the board, so I don't know. 
Q. And then at the very bottom on 1 and top of 

Page 2 there's a reference to the legal committee of which 

I 
I' 
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you appear to be a member. 1 A. I did. I; 
I; 

A. Correct. 2 Q. And about halfway down on Page 4 there's an all 
Q. And who else is on the legal committee? 3 caps header called Executive Session. 
A. Ted Day. 4 A. I see it. it 

s 
Q. And why is Mr. Schneider not on that committee 5 Q. And then is the information under that header 

anymore? 6 accurate, to the best of your knowledge? 
A. I don't think he ever was on the committee. 7 A. It is. 
Q. So it's just yourself and Mr. Day? 8 Q. And why was an executive session called? 
A. Correct. 9 A. Because this was all in anticipation of 
Q. How many times has the legal committee met? 10 litigation, which is privileged and wasn't for the, I 
A. I don't know how many times we've met. I mean, 11 guess, dissemination to homeowners, the board's 

we've talked. We meet at the board meetings. I mean, Ted 12 discussions about anticipating joining the litigation. 
Day and I are there. If there's anything that needs to be 13 (Exhibit 28 marked.) 
discussed, I mean, we talk with one another, if you want 14 Q. And I'm handing you what I've marked as 
to call that a meeting. I mean, that's how we 15 Exhibit 28. 
communicate. 16 A. Yes. Okay. 

Q. What subjects has the legal committee met about 17 Q. And these appear to be HOA minutes from May 4th 
excluding the congregation? 18 of this year; is that right? 

A. Well, we've met -- it's been primarily about the 19 A. Correct. 
congregation and there's been some issues that have come 20 Q. And did you prepare these? 
up. I mean, there was a special meeting -- two special 21 A. I did. 

le 
meetings that I recall. I mean, one special meeting I 22 Q. On the fourth page, this is HOA 287. I'm 
think took place in May on a petition by some homeowners, 23 looking at the header about the discussion between the 
and then another one took place on July the 20th. So he 24 board and present homeowners about the May 17th special 
and I have discussed those. And then we retained counsel. 25 meeting. Is this the special meeting you were referring 11 

10 

Page23 Page25 

I don't know with respect to the May -- I want to say it 1 to earlier, the non-July 20th special meeting? le 

was mid-May. Whether we retained Mr. Surratt on that 2 A. Yes. It was May 17th, I believe, was the first 
specifically I don't recall unless I was shown something 3 special meeting, if you will. " le 
in writing, but I know we retained some counsel for the 4 Q. And this indicates that that was scheduled for 
May -- excuse me -- the July 20th special meeting. 5 the Jewish Sabbath; is that right? 

Q. And was Mr. Surratt the counsel for that 6 A. Apparently so. 
meeting? 7 Q. And then the sub-bullets indicate that the board 

A. Not ultimately, no. We did talk with 8 declined to move the meeting to accommodate Jewish 
Mr. Surratt about the meeting, communicated with him about 9 homeowners that might want to attend? 
that; but then we also hired another attorney, David 10 A. Well, it indicates much more than that. It 
Lubin, L-u-b-i-n, for his legal advice with respect to the 11 indicates that David Schneider advised he'd been given --
May -- excuse me -- the July 20th special meeting. 12 or had given several available dates to the 

Q. And is Mr. Lubin still doing any legal work for 13 representatives of the homeowners who had requested the 
the HOA? 14 special meeting, some of which were dates on Saturday, ' 

A. He's done some since just kind of on an ad hoc 15 some of which were on Sunday, and that they did not reply ' 

basis. 16 back to him, you know, not to have the special meeting on 
Q. This will be Exhibit 27. 17 a Saturday. So they'd been given a chance to determine " (Exhibit 27 marked.) 18 when they wanted the special meeting and now they were 
Q. Again, please let me know once you've had a 19 coming up complaining about it. 

chance to look at it. 20 Q. But the meeting was not moved, was it? 1; 
A. Okay. Yes, I read it. 21 A. It was not. 11 

Q. And what is Exhibit 27? 22 Q. At the top of the same page there's a reference 
A. It is the minutes of the board meeting on March 23 to 27 boxes in storage since 1991? 

the 2nd, 2014. 24 A. Correct. 
Q. And did you prepare these as well? 25 Q. What do you know about where those boxes are 
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now? 1 yes. ' 
A. Where they are now? I don't know. I don't know 2 Q. And what disclosure was made to the full 

what 27 boxes are being referred to. I mean, Marilyn Frey 3 homeowners? ' 

is the one that reported on that. 4 A. Just the amounts that had been expended. 
Q. And there's -- it mentions you would research 5 Q. And what amounts? 

and recommend at the next board meeting as to what records 6 A. The monthly -- I think the monthly -- I think 
should be retained by the HOA and for how long. 7 they were monthly amounts. 

A. Right. 8 Q. And what were those amounts that were disclosed? 
Q. Did you do that? 9 A. I don't have them with me. I don't know. 
A. I did research, and the property code I think 10 Q. Do you have an estimate or a range for what may 

says seven years. You have to keep records seven years 11 have been disclosed to the homeowners? 
back in associations. So I believe, if I'm not mistaken, 12 A. At that point in time, I don't. I do know 

I' 

we implemented a policy to keep records for seven years. 13 that -- I don't know if it was at this point or soon 
Because those records again -- you can see from my 14 thereafter that there was a -- Mara Flemming, who's a 
notations what Marilyn Frey reported. They go back to 15 homeowner, secured copies of our attorney billing 
1991. So the association was paying for storage cost for 16 statements from Mr. Surratt's firm that were privileged, 
antiquated records that we had no obligation to keep. 17 had privileged information in them, and we requested that :; 

Q. And what is Iron Mountain? 18 she return them and she never did. So that was of 
A. I think that's the recordkeeping firm, if you 19 concern. ) 

will, that actually holds the records. 20 So certainly we -- we reported the amounts that z 
Q. Are they associated with Principal Management or 21 had been expended in attorneys' fees in this litigation, 

are they a different entity? 22 but it was never our intent to disclose what was 'l 

A. I think they contract with them. I think 23 privileged. 
they're a different entity. At least that's my 24 Q. Have you disclosed a litigation budget through 
impression. 25 trial to the homeowners? 

Page27 Page29 

Q. And do you know if these 27 boxes have been made 1 A. No. I 
Ii 

available to Mr. Surratt to search for documents that may 2 Q. Do you think the homeowners ought to know how 
be in response to our discovery requests? 3 much they might be asked to spend for this litigation? 

A. Again, I don't know what 27 boxes are being 4 A. It probably would be something that should be 1,~ 

referred to. I can speak to I was involved with -- 5 considered. Certainly when we were at the annual meeting 
coordinated with Marilyn Frey to make sure we got 6 back on February 2nd, Mr. Surratt was in attendance and 
documents responsive to what was being requested by, I 7 was asked that very question by homeowners as far as what 

I' 

guess, the other side in this litigation, and there were a 8 did he foresee if we got into the litigation would be 
number of boxes that -- I say boxes. I guess they were in 9 anticipated costs, and he gave his -- you know, obviously '~ 

boxes -- records that Iron Mountain provided to Principal 10 it was qualified, but he gave his estimate at that time to 
who in tum provided those lists to us who we in tum 11 whoever was there, the homeowners. 
provided them to Mr. Surratt. So yes, I mean, the 12 Q. Do you remember what that estimate was that he ? 
question -- whether that is inclusive of these 27 boxes, I 13 gave? 
have no idea. 14 A. I don't want to -- you know, I can't recall for 

> 

Q. On Page 5 is HOA 288. 15 certain. I just remember him giving some numbers. It was 
i 

A. Yes. 16 less than $100,000, I know that; but what the numbers were 
' Q. There's a header HOA Board to Disclose Attorney 17 for sure, you'd have to ask him. 

Fee Expenditures to Date, and it looks like there was a 18 Q. Do you know if his estimate included possible 
motion that at the next meeting some disclosure on legal 19 appeals? ,, 
expenses was going to be made to the full group of 20 A. It seems like that may have been discussed, but 
homeowners? 21 I don't know for sure. 

A. Yes. 22 Q. What is the current composition of the board? 
Q. And was that disclosure made? 23 A. Ted Day is vice president acting as president I+ 

I 
A. That disclosure was made as far as the amount of 24 because Mr. Schneider's no longer a board member. The F 

attorneys' fees expended on the -- on this litigation, 25 treasurer is -- of course, he's not on the board -- Aaron 
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b 

Orshalick. He's not on the board though. He's not a 1 the five directors in alphabetical order was given an 1: 

director. 2 opportunity for -- it was either three or five minutes to 
I'm the secretary. Marilyn Frey is a director 3 give a -- to stand up in front of the special meeting and 

and Doug Galbraith, it seems like he's got an officer 4 say whatever they wanted. And in retort, if you will, 
position too, but he's a director. So there's four 5 Hervey Levine had somebody from their group, if you will, 
directors. 6 that spoke for each of the five also. You know, they were 

Q. And why are there only four instead of five? 7 speaking to remove each of the five board members, and 
A. Because Mr. Schneider was recalled back on 8 then each of the five board members spoke after that 

the -- the July 20th special meeting. And the board will 9 person. And that's how it was structured. And I thought 
be considering adding a fifth board member. In fact, I 10 it went off -- as far as being pretty well organized and 
think -- speaking with Ted Day, he's already approached 11 non-chaotic, if you will, I thought it went off pretty 
some people about that, so -- 12 good as far as that's concerned. 

Q. And do you know who has been approached about 13 So after that occurred, then people cast their 
being that possible fifth member? 14 votes, either that had proxies or they were there in 

A. You know, he gave me some names, but -- it 15 person and voted and those votes then were counted by a 
doesn't speak well of me, but most of the names I didn't 16 group that included Mr. Levin. And that process took 
recognize. 17 quite a while. 

Q. Do you remember any of those names? 18 While that process was underway, David Schneider 
; 

A. I don't. 19 got up and allowed whoever wanted to speak, gave them the 
Q. Do you know if any members of the congregation 20 floor and the microphone. There was a microphone with a 

have been considered as the fifth board member? 21 pedestal at the front. So anybody that wanted to speak 
A. No, but if they stepped up and asked to be on 22 could, and there was a number of people that spoke, some 

the board, we certainly would consider it. Not a bad 23 pro, some con as far as, you know, the litigation, as far 1:. 

idea. 24 as the board, or as far as anything -- any other issue I? 
Q. And just please give me a general overview of 25 they had. It was just an open forum, if you will. So 

Page 31 Page 33 

this July 20th meeting. Like how was it structured, how 1 that took place while the counting was underway. Ii 

did it go? 2 Then there was the counting, and the counting 
A. Well, I mean, structured. It was -- there was a 3 came back and there was only one board member that was 1; 

notice sent out by the president under the bylaws of the 4 removed and that was the president, David Schneider. The 
meeting for July 20th and it was -- the homeowners had 5 other four, there was not a majority of votes cast to 
petitioned for the meeting. It was a recall petition for 6 remove them -- to recall them, I should say. 

:: 

the board, entire five-member board. They also had a 7 Q. Now, the five people who spoke against each of 
petition to replace the board with certain named 8 the five board members, do you remember who any of those 
individuals, but that wasn't part of the agenda. And 9 five people were? 
there was a meeting that took place on -- I think it was a 10 A. I do. The guy that spoke against me, if you 
Sunday, July 20th, at the police station offMcCallum and 11 will, his name was Silver. I know his last name was 
Hillcrest, and there was quite a number of homeowners that 12 Silver. Older gentleman, dark hair, kind of stooped --
showed up and Hervey Levine, I think, is kind of the -- I 13 kind of stooped. And I'm sorry. I'm terrible with names. 
guess the -- the group that had petitioned, he was more or 14 I could recognize his face in an instant, but I just am ' 
less their leader. I think he had a number of proxies 15 not good at names. His last name was Mr. Silver. Silver '· 
there. But as secretary, that's another charge I have is 16 was his last name. 

y 

to count the proxies, which I'd done on the May 17th 17 The other people that spoke, I think Hervey . 
meeting, but because of the conflict, I couldn't count the 18 Levin gave a short speech. And actually, he was reading a 
proxies at the July 20th meeting and we had to recruit 19 speech from someone who wasn't there that had written it 
non-board numbers to come in and count those proxies, 20 down, and he wrote her -- I mean he read her words at the 
including Hervey. He was part of the accounting process, 21 end. 
if you will. 22 You know, I can remember faces, but I -- names, 

So those proxies were counted as well -- I'm 23 I just don't know them. 
assuming, as well as votes that were made at the meeting 24 Q. Do you remember what Mr. Silver said in his 
as far as recalling each of the five directors. Each of 25 speech to -- in favor of removing you from the board? I• 
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1 A. It wasn't -- well, I guess it was me and along 
2 with the others that -- a lot of the gist of what I was 
3 hearing was failure to communicate with the homeowners. 
4 That was the gist of what he was saying for the most part. 
5 There was a lot of it about what this litigation was 
6 costing. Some people got up there and said what a loser 
7 situation it was. I mean, it ran the gamut, but the gist 
8 of a lot of it was a failure to communicate on behalf of 
9 the board of what was going on, you know. That was what 

10 they -- a lot of communicated that were, you know, pro 
11 recall, if you will. 
12 Q. And what -- what specifically do you remember 
13 that was said -- what do you remember being said about 
14 this litigation at that meeting? 
15 A. Just about the cost of it is what I remember a 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

few people saying. And there was some people that got up 
and said that they didn't think the congregation posed any 
kind of a problem or a threat or anything of that nature, 
that they were good people, which is not even in dispute. 
But people had those type of things to say about -- and I 
guess you could tie that to the litigation. But nothing 
really about the -- that I heard about the litigation 
itself did I hear about, you know, well, this person's 
really educated about what's going on with the litigation. 
I didn't hear any kind of talk in that nature. 

1 A. Nonresidential uses. I mean, I've heard -- that 
2 I have knowledge of, I don't know, but as far as -- I've 

Page 36 

3 heard about, you know, some lady giving piano lessons; 
4 another lady having swim lessons. Tue rabbi in this 
5 litigation testified that he had -- I don't know if it was 
6 worship services at his house on Bremerton before. I've 
7 heard that. There's a group home -- or I guess two group 
8 homes that I've heard are exempt under the law. I've 
9 heard about those. 

10 So I guess that's four or five that I've heard 
11 about. Do I have personal knowledge of any of them? I 
12 don't. That doesn't mean they didn't occur. 
13 Q. During the time that you've been on the board, 
14 did the board consider enforcement actions regarding any 
15 of these others you've mentioned? 
16 A. It may have been discussed, but certainly, you 
17 know, unless it rises to the level of the -- obviously the 
18 primary use of the structure is for nonresidential 
19 purposes, as in the case of the congregation, Mr. Gothelf 
20 and his mother, I haven't heard that that's the case other 
21 than the group homes. I mean, the group homes are 
22 obviously being used as group homes, but they are exempt. 
23 They're exempt from our enforcement the deed restrictions. 
24 Q. So is it your view that as long as the primary 
25 use is residential, then other uses are acceptable? 

p 

I 

I 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

Q. Were any numbers mentioned about the cost of the 
litigation? 

A. It may have been, but I don't remember. 
Q. Other than the current action against the 

Gothelfs and the congregation, are you aware of any other 
enforcement actions that have ever been brought in the 
Highlands ofMcKamy regarding nonresidential usage? 

A. Ever? 
Q. Yes. 
A. I don't know about before I was a board member. 

11 I can't --
12 Q. But any that you are aware of. 
13 A. I'm not aware of any before I was a board 
14 member. 
15 Q. And what about since you've been a board member? 
16 A. This one, obviously. We elected to intervene in 
17 Mr. Schneider's lawsuit. 
18 Q. So since you moved in in 1997, this is the only 
19 instance you're aware of of an HOA enforcement effort for 
20 nonresidential usage? 
21 A. That I know of, but again, I wasn't involved 
22 with the board before February of this year, so I don't 
23 know. 
24 Q. What nonresidential uses within the Highlands of 
25 McKamy are you aware of, excluding the congregation? 

1 A. It just depends on the case. You have to take 
2 it case by case. You can't say, oh, here it is, it's 
3 black and white. I think you have to look at the case. 
4 Whatever board members are there have a fiduciary 
5 obligation, in my estimation, to enforce the deed 
6 restrictions as they're written. So whether that's -- you 
7 know, it's just not as black and white as your question 
8 seems to say it could be. It just depends on the 
9 situation. 

10 Q. Are you aware of any home-based businesses in 
11 the Highlands of McKamy other than the ones you've already 
12 mentioned? 
13 A. I've heard Hervey Levin has his law office out 
14 of his house. You know, again, there's an example that if 
15 he's doing that yet he lives there and -- lives there with 
16 his family -- and I don't know his circumstance. I mean, 
17 if that's the case, then I don't think that's something 
18 that the board has an obligation to enforce that. I mean, 
19 he's using it primarily, I'm assuming, as his residence 
20 and he also uses it as his business office. 
21 So, you know, that's up to the board. Certainly 
22 if that's the case, I as a board member would look at that 
23 if that were the facts and probably say no, that's not 
24 something where we would enforce the deed restrictions 
25 because it's being used primarily by Mr. Levin as his 

;, 

I; 

I, 
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home. 
Q. Are you aware of other home-based businesses 

besides Mr. Levin's? 
A. There's -- I'm sure there's a number them. I 

Page 38 

5 mean, Jan Sullivan, she's moved since this occurred, and 
6 she put up her house for sale because of this. She lived 
7 on Mumford right around the horseshoe, if you will, and I 
8 know she ran her sales business out of her house; but she 
9 had the best house, most hospitable house in the 

10 neighborhood, so, I mean, it's not something that 
11 violated, I don't think, the spirit of the deed 
12 restrictions. 
13 Q. Any other home-based businesses that you're 
14 aware of? 
15 A. My wife had a court reporting -- has a court 
16 reporting business and she worked out of the house. She 
17 doesn't now, but she did. Again, we lived there and it's 
18 our primary residence. You can't say that for the rabbi 
19 or his son or the Gothelfs. 
20 Q. So you contend that 7103 Mumford is not the 
21 rabbi's son's primary residence? 
22 A. I don't know. He may claim it as his primary 
23 residence, but that's not the primary use of that house. 
24 Q. Did you and your wife add a second door to your 
25 home at any point? 
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1 A. Second door. We have a number of doors. We 
2 have a lot more than just one door. What do you mean a 
3 second door? 
4 Q. Have you added a new door to the home at any 
5 point since you purchased it? 
6 A. We have a sliding gate, if you will, in the back 
7 that slides and keeps our driveway segregated from the 
8 alley, and we got that when we had our two kids. That's 
9 the only door we've added. 

10 Q. And that's in the driveway? 
11 A. It's in the driveway. It's a -- I say sliding. 
12 It's on wheels. 
13 Q. And where are you employed, Mr. Donohue? 
14 A. I'm employed with Friedman & Feiger law firm. 
15 Q. And where is your office located? 
16 A. It's on Spring Valley and Noel Road, North 
17 Dallas. 
18 Q. And how long have you been there? 
19 A. I've been with Larry Friedman's firm since 1995. 
20 Q. And are you a partner there? 
21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. And when did your wife stop operating her 
23 business that you mentioned earlier? 
24 A. She's not. I mean, she operates her business. 
25 She just doesn't have her office, if you will, located at 
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1 the house. She's still in the court reporting business. 
2 Q. Where is her office now? 
3 A. I think -- and I could be wrong about this, and 
4 it shows you how much I keep up with things -- it's off 
5 Coit and Belt Line. There's a building. I think it says 
6 like Toumeau University. It's a multistory building. I 
7 think that's where her office is. 
8 (Exhibit 29 marked.) 
9 Q. I'm going to mark this as Exhibit 29. Please 

10 let me know once you've had a chance to look at it. 
11 A. Yeah. 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. And I'll represent that this was, as you can see 
from the date at the bottom, pulled from the Internet 
yesterday. 

A. Uh-huh. 
Q. And this lists -- is this a website of your 

wife's business? 
A. It is. 
Q. And does she still operate this business? 
A. She does, just like I testified to. 
Q. And this business lists your home address as the 

address of the business? 
A. It does, uh-huh. That's where she has 

deliveries and she mails things out of the house. Sure. 
Q. Are you aware of any other religious gatherings 

; 

1; 
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1 within the neighborhood, like Bible studies, prayer 
2 meetings, not counting the congregation? 
3 A. Other than the rabbi's testimony about having, 
4 you know, people of his faith over at his house, I'm not 
5 aware of any. I've heard that there's some, but I'm not 
6 aware of any. 
7 Q. What are the ones you've heard of? 
8 A. I've just heard people talking about 
9 such-and-such has a Bible study every now and then, and 

10 I'm thinking that's great. 
11 Q. Do you remember who's mentioned Bible studies? 
12 A. I don't. But I feel that same way about people 
13 of any faith. If they get together, I think that's fine. 
14 Q. What's your understanding of how long the 
15 congregation has been meeting within the Highlands of 
16 McKamy? 
17 A. What's my understanding? You know, all I know 
18 is -- all I can testify to is what I heard the rabbi 
19 testify to. Ifhe was telling the truth, he's been having 
20 meetings on Bremerton Court. He tried to make a case that 
21 the homeowners association and the board's known it all 
22 this time, according to his testimony back in, I think, 
23 April. That's all I've heard. 
24 And then, of course, they bought the 
25 7103 Mumford Court at the behest of the rabbi, Mr. Gothelf 1 

; 
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1 did, I don't know, May or June of last year, and my 
2 impression is they started services not too long after 
3 that. But that's really all I know is what I've heard the 
4 rabbi testify to. But he also testified that they were 
5 looking -- that he told the then-president that they were 
6 looking at property off outside of the neighborhood to 
7 move to, and that's also what I heard, so ... 
8 MR. McGEE: Let's take a break and go off 
9 the record. I don't think I have too much more. I just 

10 want to look things over. 
11 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

3:20p.m. 
(Recess taken.) 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record at 

3:30 p.m. 
Q. Just a few more questions, Mr. Donahue. You 

mentioned earlier that your wife had moved to a new office 
recently. When did that happen? 

A. I say recent. I mean, it could have been four, 
five years ago. It's kind of -- it's another court 
reporting firm that I think offices there too named Alpha 
Reporting, and that's who she -- I don't know if it's -- I 
don't know what the arrangement is, but that's where her 
office is. 

Q. Have you ever heard any residents of the 
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1 Highlands ofMcKamy make any antisemitic comments? 
2 A. Have I ever heard any -- no, I haven't, and 
3 that's certainly not what this is about. So I've never --
4 as a board member I've never heard anybody say anything 
5 antisemitic, either the board or, quite frankly, any of 
6 the homeowners, although I've seen -- before I was on the 
7 board there was somebody that I -- my impression is he's 
8 from the Jewish community come in and try to, I think, 
9 stir things up as if it was some type of a -- I don't know 

10 antisemitic, but some kind of religious issue. I did see 
11 that happen one time, yes. 
12 Q. And what are -- what are you referring to? 
13 A. I'm referring to an instance that David 
14 Schneider before he ran for president had a gathering, if 
15 you will, an invitation to come to his house to talk about 
16 what was happening at 7103 Mumford Street. And that was 
17 either in October or November oflast year. And I 
18 attended that and so did quite a few other homeowners, 
19 including members of the then current board. I say 
20 members. I know of one in particular that was there that 
21 I later learned was on the board. 
22 But at the start of that meeting in his house, a 
23 gentleman walked in, short, kind of chubby, white hair, 
24 and basically, I think, tried to -- my impression was he 
25 was trying to break up the meeting and trying to make it 

1 
2 

sound like there was anti-Jewish sentiment either to David 
Schneider or to those that would want to enforce the deed 

3 restrictions against the congregation. That's the 
4 impression that I had. 
5 Q. And then what--
6 A. And he was asked to leave by Mr. Schneider after 
7 just a couple of exchanges with Mr. Schneider. He was 
8 asked to leave. 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

Q. Do you remember what he said? 
A. I don't remember in particular what he said, but 

that was the impression I got is, you know, why are you 
picking on us, us Jews, if you will, as opposed to you 
didn't enforce it with respect to -- and I think I 
remember him mentioning, you know, the -- I call it the 
group home now. There's another word for it. I want to 
say retirement home or whatever else he mentioned; you 
know, that we were selectively wanting to enforce the deed 
restrictions. I say "we." Whoever wanted to selectively 
enforce the deed restrictions against the congregation 
because they were Jewish. That's the impression that I 
got from that gentleman. 

Q. And do you remember what Mr. Schneider said to 
him? 

A. He said that no, that's not what this is about 
at all, you know. And then the guy continued and spoke 

1 over David and was -- not that there was an order or 
2 anything to that meeting, but still it was -- you know, to 
3 David Schneider, the guy crossed the line -- and I don't 
4 blame him; it was in his home -- and he asked the guy to 
5 leave. He said, You're going to have to leave. 
6 Q. And then did he leave --
7 A. He did. 
8 Q. -- when Mr. Schneider asked him to? 
9 A. He did. 

10 Q. And do you remember this person's name? 
11 A. I don't know his name. I saw him at the 
12 July 20th meeting. He was there. I don't know that he's 
13 been to all the -- I don't know ifhe was there at the 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

annual meeting when the new board was put on or not, but I 
did see him at the July 20th meeting. I don't know his 
name though. 

Q. And excluding residents of the Highlands of 
McKamy and Mr. Surratt, who are the people that you have 
talked to about either this litigation or the 
congregation? 

A. Oh, I don't know. I mean, I've mentioned it in 
passing to people that I know as far as -- but nothing in 
depth. I mean, I haven't talked in depth about this 
lawsuit to anyone other than Mr. Surratt, the board 
members, and my wife. 

I: 
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Q. Is your wife involved with the HOA at all? 1 I, MICHAEL D. DONOHUE, have read the foregoing 

A. What do you mean "involved"? 2 deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 

Q. Like does she attend meetings, cast votes? 3 and correct, except as noted above. 

A. She casts votes and, yeah, she's attended at 4 

least two of the meetings since I've been on the board. 5 MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 
And she and I have attended meetings, again, maybe three 6 
or four times before. She and I attended meetings. 7 THE STATE OF ) 

Q. When you both attend, how do you decide who's 8 COUNTY OF ) 

going to be casting the vote for your property? 9 
A. It doesn't matter. I mean, both of us think 10 Before me, , on this day 
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F 

I' 

fi 

I' 

alike as far as the Highlands ofMcKamy are concerned. So 11 personally appeared MICHAEL D. DONOHUE, known to me or 

I guess I cast the vote when I was there; but if she had 12 proved to me on the oath of or through Ii 

13 (description of identity card or 1~ been there, then she could have cast it. It doesn't 14 other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed 
matter. 15 to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 

MR. McGEE: That's all I have. I'll pass 16 he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 
the witness. 17 therein expressed. 

MR. BUTTERFIELD: I have no questions at 18 Given under my hand and seal of office on this 
this time. 19 day of , 

MR. SURRATT: No questions at this time. 20 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're off the record at 21 

3:36p.m. 22 NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
(Deposition concluded.) THE STATE OF 

23 My Commission Expires 
24 
25 ' 
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I further certify that I am neither counsel for, 

related to, nor employed by any of the parties in the 

action in which this proceeding was taken, and further 

that I am not financially or otherwise interested in the 

outcome of this action. 

Further certification requirements pursuant to 

Rule 203 of the Texas Code of Civil Procedure will be 

complied with after they have occurred. 
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deposition officer on s:e y> ~ \S 1 ZA:J \ Li\ 
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page(s) contain(s) any changes and the reasons therefor. 

If returned, the original deposition was delivered to 

Mr. Matt McGee, Custodial Attorney. 

$ \.\l..oCS. IS is the deposition officer's charges to the 

Defendant Congregation Taras Chaim for preparing the 

original deposition and any copies of exhibits; 

The deposition was delivered in accordance with Rule 

203.3, and a copy of this certificate, served on all 

parties shown herein, was filed with the Clerk. 
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I, MICHAEL D. DONOHUE, have read the foregoing 

deposition and hereby affix my signature that same is true 

and correct, except as noted above. 

MICHAEL D. DONOHUE 

THE STATE OF --------
COUNTY OF ---------

Before me, , on this day 

personally appeared MICHAEL D. DONOHUE, known to me or 

proved to me on the oath of or through 

(description of identity card or 

other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed 

to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that 

he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 

therein expressed. 

Given under my hand and seal of office on this 

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR 
THE STATE OF ---,--------My Commission Expires 
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From: Dayjd Schnelder 

To: Jle!l..llise 
Subject: Deed / Covenants 
Date: Monday, August 19, 2013 2:52:30 PM 

Hi Ben, 

Hopefully this is your email. Wanted to pass on the relevant section of the Declaration of Restrictions per our 
discussion this morning: 

Article VI, 1: RESIDENTIAL USAGE: No structure shall be erected placed, altered, used for or be permitted to remain 
on any residential building lot other than one detached single family private ... 

I didn't want your congregation to run afoul of this provision, as I am concerned that a "church certificate" might 
cause, This may satisfy the City of Dallas but not the deed restrictions. I believe that the Texas law regarding placing 
a church in an area deed restricted to residential is relatively more clear than the issue of when residential use 
becomes incidental to other (ie religious) activity. 

See for instance: 
http· lfwww,leagle com/decjsjon/19781039570SW2d469 1943 xml/CALVARY +BAPTIST +CHURCH+AT + JYLER+y,+ADAMS 
(1978) which I think is more or less representative. This deed restriction was almost verbatim the same as ours. I am 
not familiar with the specifics of Dallas municipal law so that might trump in this case. 

Please be assured that generally I see the congregation as a positive for our neighborhood; yet at the same time I 
would prefer not to reside by something which would be operated under City of Dallas guidelines as a church. 
Membership parking on the street is not as much an issue for our family. My primary concern is that it would lose the 
exterior character as a residence. I wouldn't want a physician's clinic there either (something that serves a good 
community purpose as well). 

Or to put it another way: if I can voice these issues, I believe the HOA will be closely reviewing these legal issues too. 
I realize some of this puts neighbors on opposite sides of some issues. Hopefully those are not, of themselves, related 
to exercise of religion. 

Please feel free to pass my sentiments on to others as you see fit. 

Regards, 

-David 
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From: 
To: 
Subject: Re: Deed/ Covenants 
Date: Tuesday, August 27, 2013 12:27:10 PM 

Ben, 

After further review of the related case law, it appears that Texas courts have consistently enforced deed restrictions 
prohibiting non-residential uses, including as a place of worship. Thus I believe Congregation Toras Chaim will be 
violating the Highlands of McKamy IV/V Declaration of Restrictions regarding 7103 Mumford if it obtains a church use 
certificate for that property. I am sure you are aware that any homeowner can initiate legal action to enforce, as well 
as the Homeowners Association itself. No damages need be demonstrated to prevail. 

I have no grievance against worship at 7103 Mumford. That would be as a secondary use, the primary being 
residential (as I originally understood the intent). I have no grievance against street parking either, I have indicated 
the street in front of our house can be used for overflow (not that we own it). But the primary use as a church is 
inconsistent with our neighborhood - and more importantly violates a key provision of the restrictions. I consider it to 
be the law. 

While most folks likely are not familiar with these restrictions in detail, I read them before I purchased my home. 
Although I am not an attorney, I am capable and experienced in reading and interpreting the relevant law. In fact, I 
have litigated regarding similar covenants to force a neighbor to comply (which he did after a day in court). See 
DAVID R. SCHNEIDER Vs. JOHN A. VANN, Case 1990209300, 199th District Court, 2000. I acted prose. 

It is not my desire to bring this to the point of legal action, quite the contrary. To attempt to avoid such, I would like 
to invite someone from the Congregation to present - informally or otherwise - any counter-reasoning that might 
change my view. I would never pursue the legal avenue unless I felt success was very likely - so show me how I 
should see things in a manner amicable to the Congregation. If you would be so kind as to pass this on to an 
appropriate person, or even if would like to discuss yourself, that would be good. If you decline, I will understand. 

Please be advised that I am not acting on behalf of the HOA board or anyone else. But if I was placing a bet: this 
matter will be litigated if it cannot be resolved with me. Hopefully you will understand that I intend no malice at any 
level. I am confident we all believe we are acting in the best interest of the neighborhood. 

Thanks, 

-David 

On Mon, Aug 19, 2013 at 3:14 PM, Benjamin Nise <ga,tQL:'ik'!'i'ilI!l2J::il.'1lY..fillOO,.CQ.ffi: wrote: 
Hi David --

Thank you very much for your email, and I appreciate your looking up the case, which I will pass on to the Rabbi and 
the synagogue board. 

Best Regards, 

Ben Nise 

From: David Schneider <Q.rcl:llr1~i>...e@g,u.11'JJL.cQffi> 
To: Ben Nise <ggtorswarn~JLahOQ..QQO:l> 
Sent: Monday, August 19, 2013 2:52 PM 
Subject: Deed I Covenants 

Hi Ben, 

Hopefully this is your email. Wanted to pass on the relevant section of the Declaration of Restrictions per our discussion this 
morning: 

Article VI, I: RESIDENTIAL USAGE: No structure shall be erected placed, altered. used for or be permitted to remain on any 
residential building lot other than one detached single family private ... 

I didn't want your congregation to run afoul of this provision. as I am concerned that a "church certificate" might cause. This 
may satisfy the City of Dallas but not the deed restrictions. I believe that the Texas law regarding placing a church in an area 
deed restricted to residential is relatively more clear than the issue of when residential use becomes incidental to other (ie 
religious) activity. 

See for instance: 
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familiar with the specifics of Dallas municipal Jaw so that might tmmp in this case. 

Please be assured that generally I see the congregation as a positive for our neighborhood; yet at the same time I would prefer 
not to reside by something which would be operated under City of Dallas guidelines as a church. Membership parking on the 
street is not as much an issue for our family. My primary concern is that it would lose the exterior character as a residence. I 
wouldn't want a physician's clinic there either (something that serves a good community purpose as well). 

Or to put it another way: if I can voice these issues, I believe the HOA will be closely reviewing these legal issues too. I realize 
some of this puts neighbors on opposite sides of some issues. Hopefully those are not, of themselves, related to exercise of 
religion. 

Please feel free to pass my sentiments on to others as you see fit. 

Regards, 

-David 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

Andy, 

Dayjd Schnelder 
Andy Jacobs HOA 
HOM presjdent; HOA Board 
Re: Various Notices 
Saturday, December 28, 2013 1 :09:52 PM 
Orjg!na!Petjtjon Stamped pdf 

I filed in Collin County. I have attached a copy of the Original Petition with the 
District Clerk's file stamp. You will be able to see all of the allegations and the 
related law. As cases go, I consider it fairly clear cut. 

For your consideration: The HOA can join my suit and I can continue as lead 
counsel. I will do the majority of the work, including discovery (depositions, 
interrogatories, etc). That will keep HOA legal costs to a minimum. This offer does 
not accrue much (if anything) to me. I will not be dropping the suit regardless of 
the HOA's involvement. 

However, it is in the HOA's best interests to be a part of this. I anticipate that this 
is not going to be the last time someone tries to set up shop in our neighborhood. 
The HOA needs to take a firm stand on this, you cannot expect individuals to pursue 
this every time. Once this process has been used by our HOA to keep us 
residential, it shouldn't be hard to keep other non-residential uses at bay. They will 
know we are not bluffing, and there will be a good precedent. 

Thanks, 

-David 

On Sat, Dec 28, 2013 at 12:22 PM, Andy Jacobs HOA 
< hofrnck45.djrectorl@gmail.com > wrote: 

David: 

I Pursuant to #4 in your email dated December 26 to the Board of The Highlands of McKamy in 

' which you state: 

"I personally filed suit in this matter against Congregation Taras Chaim and the 
owners of the house. The case number is 429-04998-2013" 

Thank you for giving us a "Head's up" regardung the filing of your lawsuit. 

David-

Please clarify for me in which county (Dallas, or Collin county) you filed your 
lawsuit. 

Moreover, I would greatly appreciate it if you would provide me and/or the Board 
of Directors of the Highlands of McKamy and its Officers a Certified co of the 

~~1!1111111---. ffl EPOSITION T I EXHIBIT -
~- ll \,/\ 
~kl'\.t>iAPv ti0 
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I papers you filed with the court. This will allow the Board to better ascertain how 
I we should proceed in addressing this issue. 

Thank you for your assistance with this matter. 

Andy Jacobs 

From: David Schneider [mailto:drchinese@gmajl.com] 
Sent: Friday, December 27, 2013 10:16 AM 

To: HOM President 
Cc: HOA Board 
Subject: Re: Various Notices 

Cookie, 

I Thank you for the time for your response. 

t It is true that my perception is based on one's actions more than what that person 

I
. says. A change in perception follows a change in actions. It is never too late for 
the right actions. 

I Regards, 

I 

1-oavid 

I 

! On Fri, Dec 27, 2013 at 10:06 AM, HOM President 
I < hofmck45. president@gma ii .com> wrote: 
' I David, 

• You seem to have made up your mind regarding what you perceive as my ego and my 

unwillingness to take the interests of our neighborhood seriously; consequently, there is nothing I 

can say which will alter your perception. 
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i 
I 

Regarding your bullet 4: 

My engagement with DART began and continues to be an effort to protect the rights of our 

neighborhood as well as the property values that impact us all. Regarding the possible application 

for an SUP, given your familiarity with Texas Statutes, I am sure you are aware that participating in 

any discussion or voting on any matter in which an individual has a personal or monetary interest 

is unethical. Andy Jacobs is aware of my ethical concerns and has stepped forward to serve as 

liaison with the City Attorney, the homeowners, etc. 

Regards, 

Cookie Peadon 

1 From: David Schneider [mailto:drchjnese@gmail.com] 
I Sent: Friday, December 27, 2013 9:04 AM 
· To: HOM President 

Cc: HOA Board 
. Subject: Re: Various Notices 
! 

Cookie, 

11. Thanks. 

' 2. Thanks, either address is fine. 

3. Announcing a future meeting at a previous meeting is not one of the prescribed 
methods of providing Board meeting notice under Texas law. Announcing via a 
public website is IF accompanied by an email to those you have on file. I get that 
it was an innocent oversight that the email did not go out. I don't really have an 
issue with that as I know you have a lot on your plate. However, our current 

, website calendar really doesn't qualify as a public internet site as you must have a 
! userid and password to see it (if you can find it - good luck with that). I would 

recommend that in the future, HOA board meetings be noticed on the public 
section of our site as a notice as well. (Of course, if I recommend it, I can be sure 
you will do anything but - your pride requires that.) 

. 4. I take your comment about "following my conscience" in a favorable light. 
I However, it is really more of a practical decision. You seem to have an interest in 
: the future Dart rail nearby and actively lobby around that. You seem to have an 
I interest in the City of Dallas Planning Commission, and regularly review and vote 
t on property matters all over Dallas. And yet when you look at the words in the 
I Deed Restrictions of the neighborhood where you are President, you suddenly 
I have no interest in the rule of law. So I am doing what I am doing precisely 
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because I can count on you NOT doing what you should be doing. You have 
demonstrated that satisfactorily. I expect one of these days, the Congregation will 
be filing its specific use permit for a church at 7103 Mumford. And I expect you 
will vote to approve that as well. Or even more humorously, you will recuse 
yourself. 

Regards, 

-David 

1 On Thu, Dec 26, 2013 at 11:05 PM, HOM President 
<hofmck45.president@gmail.com> wrote: 

David, 

1. The date of the annual meeting was set for February 2, 2014. Notices are required to be 

sent NOT EARLIER than 50 days in advance and no later than 10 days prior to the meeting. To 

optimize the mailing, we are waiting for the results from the Nominating Committee; so that we 

can include the official proxy form, etc. and avoid multiple mailings. 

2. The email address I have on file for you is drchjnese@gmail com That is the email source 

from which you transmitted the email below. Do you wish me to change that to the domain name 

you listed in point 2 below? 

! 3. The board meeting was announced at the previous meeting and was posted to the calendar 

j on the website for Highlands of McKamy. I was out and did not send an additional email reminder 

i since all homeowners have access to the web site. 

! 4. I am glad you have chosen to follow your conscience. I am sorry you feel I am placing other 

I areas ahead of Highlands of McKamy as a priority. That is not the case. 

I 
! 

! 
I Regards, 
I 

I Cookie Peadon 
I 

I From: David Schneider [rnailto:drchinese@gmail.com] 

I 
Sent: Thursday, December 26, 2013 3:36 PM 
To: HOA Board 

j Subject: Various Notices 

! 

I 
! Dear HOA Board Members, 

I 
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1. I have not yet received written notice of the 2014 Annual Homeowners 
Meeting. I assume you are putting this together, but wanted to be sure. This 
must be mailed to all homeowners. See below. 

2. I wanted to be sure my email address is registered for all HOA official email 
notices as: Dave@DrChinese.com. 

3. I do not know by what means you are announcing HOA Board Meetings, but 
this is required by Texas Law. I did not receive notice of the December board 
meeting, and I did not see an announcement on the HOA "web site". I did not 
receive written notice. I did not see an announcement posted prominently in the 
neighborhood either. (Newsletters do not constitute notice under Texas law.) 
Also: I have just learned that Cheryl resigned as Secretary and wonder if any HOA 
business was transacted at the December meeting. The circumstances cause me 
to question whether this omission was intentional, and whether any business 
conducted then can be considered valid without proper notice. See below. 

4. This notice is a courtesy, regarding 7103 Mumford: Because of your ongoing 
failure to execute your duty to keep our neighborhood residential only, I 

·
1
· personally filed suit in this matter against Congregation Toras Chaim and the 
, owners of the house. The case number is 429-04998-2013. To Cookie: 
Apparently, your interests in other areas of Dallas supercede your interest in the 
neighborhood where you serve as President. 

Regards, 

-David 

Annual Meetings: 

(Texas Prop. Code 209.0056) HB 2761 Effective 1/1/12 

HOAs must give owners notice of an HOA-wide election 

or vote. 

Sec. 209.0056. NOTICE OF ELECTION OR ASSOCIATION VOTE. 

(a) Not later than the 10th day or earlier than t 

he 60th day before the date of an 

election or vote, a property owners' association sh 

all give written notice of the 

election or vote to: 
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(1) each owner of property in the property owners' 

association, for purposes 

of an association-wide election or vote; or 

(2) each owner of property in the property owners' 

association entitled 

under the dedicatory instruments to vote in a parti 

cular representative 

election, for purposes of a vote that involves elec 

tion of representatives of 

the association who are vested under the dedicatory 

instruments of the 

property owners' association with the authority to 

elect or appoint board 

; members of the property owners' association. 

(b) This section supersedes any contrary requireme 

nt in a dedicatory instrument. 

(c) This section does not apply to a property owne 

rs' association that is subject to 

Chapter 552, Government Code, by application of Sec 

tion 552.0036, Government 

Code. 

Board Meetings: 

(e) Members shall be given notice of the date, hou 

r, place, and general subject of a 

regular or special board meeting, including a gener 
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al description of any matter to 

be brought up for deliberation in executive session 

. The notice shall be: 

(1) mailed to each property owner not later than t 

he 10th day or earlier than 

the 60th day before the date of the meeting; or 

(2) provided at least 72 hours before the start of 

the meeting by: 

(A) posting the notice in a conspicuous manner rea 

sonably designed 

to provide notice to property owners' association 

members: 

(i) in a place located on the association's common 

property or, 

with the property owner's consent, on other conspic 

uously 

located privately owned property within the subdivi 

sion; or 

(ii) on any Internet website maintained by the ass 

ociation or 

other Internet media; and 

(B) sending the notice by e-mail to each owner who 

, has registered an 
! 

· e-mail address with the association. 
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Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) t Agenda & Minutes (Approved) 

Meeting ca!!ed by 

Secretar1 
Timekeeper 

BOD AttendtH:S 

,\dditional Mlendaes 

5 minutes 

10 minutes 

Discussion 

Cookie P1nufon 

Cheryl P;irker 

James Vasil 

7111 

Cooltie Pead on, Cheryl D. Parker, James A. Vasil, Jim McQuagge, Aviva H!rsctiuerg( absent). Ted Day 

C. Jan Sul!lvan (7 003 Mumford St.); Marilyn & J!tn Frey (H 16 Mumford Ct.) Moe Tnvirna {7115 
Mumford Ct); Anita & James Johnson (7035 Halprin St) Aaron & Amanda Orscalicl< (71 t9 Mumford 
CC); David Schneider (7035 Mumford St) Mary Michael Canfete {7120 Mumford Ct) Jean Mcfnrosh 
(6915 Blue ,~Ian Pruger (7U1 Bremerton Ct.) Scoggins (1035 Bremerton St.) 

NO Ted 

Cookie Peadon 

!here had been concern that tlie BOD did not have copy of out insurnnce >mllcies and the limlts were high enough to cover 
common arnas and south walL We currently have a SlM h1 liability insurance. 

Requests have been made in the past for a pla;'grounct by the Gazebo. Tli!s would need permission from City of Dall as as it owns 
pro11erty. We am allowed to USt? it as long as HOA maintains and pays utilities. Adding a playground would nllow signifl cantly 

increase nee!! fo1 insurance and would used by oth<'!S outside of the HOA arna. 

Conclusions 

1. Them was not a decision on if we l'!1e can1·i:ig insmancfi ·tabled until next meeting 
2. No playground will be coustrnct\on ill common aren 

Action Items 

Provide copies of Insurance policy to all board memtl!:rs 

5 minutes Pem:!o11 

Person 
Responsible 

Cookie Peadon 7i21/2013 

D!scussin11 
Revision to Neighborlwod Dirnclory is slow going due to neighborhood turnover. Cookie indicated 
block captains need to help 

C. fan Sullivan suo:ge~ted that Urn current duectory form shouid be included in the package of infonr1ation provided bl' PMG 
manngement association along wllli Bylaws and Restrlcl!ons. 

Chery! noted that Chrlsti11<1 Jacques of 7028 Mumford SL offered to assume poslti(ln of f3!ock Ca1itain for Mutnfmd St/Ct. 

Conclusions 

Adoptfa11's 

Action Items 

Wod; with PMG to get form into new owner packet 

Enli$t Block Captaills to assist with gelling information 

10 minutes Coollle ?cation 

. . . .... 

Person 
Responsible 

Cookie 

Cookie 

Deadline 

7/21/2013 

! I 
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Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) J Agenda & Minutes (Approved) 

Discussion 

The BOD discussed the need for a five year plan for lamlscaping repair and maintenance the last BOD. Given more urgent 
situations. this has not moved for.\'ard. 

NOTE: Jan Sullivan indicated she is not receiving emails from Cookie on matters of HOA interest 
There was review of the Ne>:ldoor site and what the BOD hopes to accomplish with it (Li:. decrease cost, increase information 
!low). Cookie !s the only one that has evcryot!!l's email .aodrcss she needs to send test asking for reply. 

Conclusions 

Jeim Mcintosh, Lora Day, David Schneider have volunteered to serve on this committee, maybe Ure North family as wen 

Action Items 

Establish committee. 

Test email distrill\Jtio11 list 

10 minutes 

Discussion 

Cooklc Pead on 

Person 
Responsible 

Cool\ie 

Cookl11 

Deadline 

9/1/2013 
712.1/2013 

Cookie thanked community tor their activities to block establishment of 
development. 

taxing for Cotton Belt without clear plans tor 

Conchislons 

Action Hems 

Continue to monitor and report on situation to HOA 

Cookie Peadon BOO membe1s 

Person 
Responsible 

Cookie 

Deadline 

45 minutes 

Discussion Focus: Complete a second dralt of Bylaw and Declaration of Restrictions to present to membership 

Quick review of Bylaws and Restriction ctocumems ... l!rnse need to trn revised, voted upon and refilled to reflect new Texas laws, 
See minutes from last BOD meeting. Bylaws ;;r,z easier to pass than Oeclnration of Restrictions. May have to go door ·to·door to 
get. proxies. 

Bylaws: need to clarity 
costs. 

address and take out anything dates the documcrnt Le. listing State of Texas copying 

Conclusions 

While the HOA wants IJe!p maintain prnpe1ty values, !t docs not want to become the HOA police. 

Oavid Schneider offered to assist with development ot Draft 2 that will be presented for vote. Items to Ill; added lnclude sleds. 
artificial turi, outdoor living areas, circular driveways, & storm shelters. 

fan Sui!!w:rn esked that we check tor old wording about having to haven wood root and remove it 

Action !terns 

on 
Restrictions 

- create a Draft 2 of Bylaws and Declaration of 

Person 
Responsible 

Cheryl ASAP 

21 

HOA 000259 
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 265



Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) I Agenda & Minutes (Approved) 

Work to get the require.d number of prnxh:,;/votes pf'ior to sriecial election 
on Jt1iy 21at2pm 

. CheiyJ 

!S minutes 

Discussion Focus; Use of residential houses as pl;;ees of worship with emphasis on the on-street parking 

Review of information from Avi Bloomenstiel, Pu1sident, Congregation Torns Cl1aim of Da!!as 
Review of information from City of Oailas Code Officer 
Texas State law 
What the HOA can do and cannot do 

on an issue. 
all the cars 011 the street belong to members of the Congregation Toms Chaim that trnvB blocked access. Marilyn Frey indicated 
~he had been unaware them had been worship meeting being held on Bremerton Ct. 1'01 the last 2.5 years nor of any parking 
issues on Bremerton until approximately two weel<s ago. 

Conclusions 

Tlle HOA cannot stop build mg from being used for worship 
Recommendations were made from the floor regarding consulting ano;or retarnlrig legal coun:wl prior to meeting with the BOD 
of Chai111 of Dallas ~ the BOD w1il t<il\1; t!lis unaer iHMsemant. 

Action Items 

·rne BOD wiH sclrn!l11le an open mucting wlth the BOD ot Congregation Toms 
ChuHll of Dallas ASAP and announce to nH.'mbers 

Cookie will discuss situation with Dave Smratt of Riddle & Williams HOA 
atlorney and see what he advisu 
(tlttp;//www,riddleandwH!iams.oom/bio.lltmlJ 

Discussion NONE 

Conclusions 

Action Items 

Meeting adjourned at 5µrn 

Person 
Hesponslbie 

Cookie 

Cook le 

Person 
.Responsible 

Deadline 

Seµt 1, 2013 

Before meetlng with 
Congregation Toras Chaim 
o.f Da!la.s BOO 

Deadline 

31 
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From: 
To: 
Subject: 
Date: 
Sensitivity: 

FW: Highlands of McKamy / 7103 Mumford Court 
Tuesday, September 03, 2013 6:06:39 PM 
Confidential 

Last ''official" communication from David before Cookie and Ted went to see hirn the last time. We 

never got any notes from that visit. 

Cheryl 

From: David A. Surratt [mailto:DSurratt@riddleandwilliams.com] 
Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2013 3:39 PM 
To: Carolyn Peadon 
Cc: Aviva Hirschberg; Ted Day; Cheryl Parker; Jim McQuagge 
Subject: Highlands of McKamy / 7103 Mumford Court 
Sensitivity: Confidential 

CONFIDENTIAL AND/OR PRIVILEGED ATTORNEY COMMUNICATION 
[ONLY FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS] 

Re: 7103 Mumford Court - Use as Synagogue 

Carolyn: 

The following is in response to the issue of 7103 Mumford Court being used as a Jewish 
synagogue. 

This email is lengthy because I wanted to provide sufficient explanation to assist the Board 
with its decision on how to proceed. 

Let me know if there are questions or any disagreement with my analysis. 

I encourage the Board to meet with the representatives of the synagogue to learn more 
about the plans for the property and to evaluate the temperament of the representatives 
with regard to possibly cooperating with the Board and neighbors to minimize any negative 
effects. 

IMPORTANT: The new owner of record should be a primary participant in any meeting 
with the Board. The Association's enforcement options (if any) focus on the owner of the 
property, rather than the synagogue as a religious group/entity. 

If legal action becomes necessary by the Association, it would involve filing a civil suit 
against the owner of 7103 Mumford Court by which the Association asks the court to 
review the Declaration and other factors to render a "declaratory" judgment as to whether 
or not the synagogue violates the deed restrictions. If the court says yes it does, then the 
second part of the relief requested by the Association would be for the court to issue a 
permanent injunction ordering the owner to stop using the residence as a synagogue or 
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ordering the owner to limit/restrict certain aspects of the activities. If the activities at the 
property create an issue about being a possible nuisance, then a civil suit would ask the 
court to rule that the activities in question constitute a nuisance and order the owner to 
stop the activities in question. 

Short Answer: 

Is the use of the property as a synagogue automatically authorized because it is a religious 
activity? Answer: No 

Does the Declaration for Highlands of McKamy IV & V (the "restrictions") specifically: 

AUTHORIZE using a residential dwelling as a synagogue? Answer: No 

PROHIBIT using a residential dwelling as a synagogue? Answer: No 

Does City of Dallas zoning or City Code specifically: 

AUTHORIZE using this residential dwelling as a synagogue? Answer: No 

PROHIBIT using this residential dwelling as a synagogue? Answer: No 

Does City of Dallas zoning limit the type of residences for this property to single-family 
residences? Answer: Yes 

Does City of Dallas zoning allow churches in the same Zoning District as 7103 Mumford 
Court? Answer: Yes 

However, the Dallas Development Code defines "church" as "a facility principally 
used for people to gather for public worship, religious training, or other religious 
activities. This use does not include home meetings or other religious activities 
conducted in a privately occupied residence." The City Code for churches 
addresses such issues as parking requirements for a church. 

Does the Association have an argument that using the property as a synagogue with a 
congregation and regularly scheduled activities is contrary to the general plan of 
development of Highlands of McKamy as a single-family residential subdivision? Answer: 
Yes 

Is the Association's "argument" (above) a slam dunk win for the Association? 
Answer: No 

I anticipate that the Board is not objecting to religious activities and is not objecting to a 
church or synagogue being located in the community but is objecting to a private 
residence being converted to use as a synagogue with a congregation. 

Explanation: 

The key provisions of the Association's governing documents are in the First Revised 
Declaration as follows (italicized boldface type added for emphasis): 
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Introductory Recitals 

WHEREAS, Declarant, desiring to establish a uniform plan for the benefit of the 
present and future owners of residential lots, has heretofore filed Articles of 
Incorporation for Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association ... 
and has filed that certain "Declaration ... " ... ; 

ARTICLE VI 
CONSTRUCTION. USAGE, AND ARCHITECTURAL COVENANTS 

The abovesaid properties are hereby made subject to the following restrictions, 
conditions, limitations and improvements (herein the covenants), to-wit: 

1. RESIDENTIAL USAGE: No structure shall be erected, placed, 
altered, used for or permitted to remain on any residential building lot other than 
one detached single family private dwelling ... 

15. NOXIOUS ACTIVITY. No activity shall be carried on upon any lot 
which may be or may become an annoyance or nuisance to the neighborhood .... 

The provisions of the Declaration cited above demonstrate that the community was 
intended to be a planned residential development comprised of privately-owned, single­
family residences. However, when interpreting similar restriction language as contained in 
Paragraph 1 above without other related or clarifying language in the Declaration or other 
governing documents, Texas Courts tend to interpret provisions like Paragraph 1 as 
merely requiring that the "structure" (the actual residence) be limited to a single-family 
dwelling, as opposed to a multi-family structure, duplex, apartments, commercial buildings, 
etc. The restriction does not govern the actual "use" of that structure/dwelling so long as it 
is a residential structure consistent with structure requirements in the Declaration and 
consistent with the neighborhood. Such interpretations by the courts have also been 
influenced when the restriction is part of the restrictive language related to construction and 
architectural control matters, such as in The Highlands Declaration. The Highlands 
Declaration does not contain a specific section that addresses what can or cannot be done 
on an owner's lot or in the residence. I am also not aware of any amendments or 
rules/policies adopted by the Association that address "use" of the properties within the 
community. 

Paragraph 15 above regarding nuisance type activity would come into play after the 
property has been used as a synagogue and issues have arisen for neighbors, such as 
traffic, parking, number of visitors, noise, hours of activity, etc. Each individual property 
owner has the legal right to the quiet and peaceful enjoyment of their property without 
undue interference from a neighboring property. Whether an owner's quiet and peaceful 
enjoyment of their property has been violated to the point that the owner has a legal claim 
against the offending owner(s) depends on the facts. Whether the individual homeowner 
affected by the interference must bring a claim or whether the Association could bring legal 
action on behalf of the affected homeowners would need to be evaluated based on the 
facts and circumstances at the time legal action is being contemplated. 

Some of the general legal principles that Texas courts apply when interpreting an 
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Association's restrictive covenants are: 

A property owner accepts the terms, conditions, and restrictions in the declaration 
and covenants by acceptance of the deed to his/her individual lot. 

The declaration (the covenants, conditions and restrictions) is the instrument that 
subjects the lot to a set of restrictive covenants. 

Courts will attempt to determine the objective intent of the covenant at the time the 
Declaration was drafted and whether that intent has been violated. 

Restrictive covenants are liberally construed to give effect to the purpose and intent 
of the covenant. 

"Construe" means to analyze and explain the meaning of a document or text. 

"Liberal construction" is defined as not being a strict or literal interpretation, but a 
loose interpretation. 

If a restrictive covenant is vague or ambiguous, the courts will generally rule in favor 
or the homeowner's free and unrestricted use of the property. 

The party seeking to enforce a deed restriction has the burden to prove that the 
restriction is valid and enforceable. 

When interpreting a "single-family residence" restriction, a distinction may be drawn 
between restrictions on the use of the lot and the architectural restrictions on 
the buildings that may be constructed on the lot. 

If the single-family restriction is addressed not only to the architectural character 
of the buildings, but also to the use of the building, the restriction may be enforced 
to prohibit any use of the property inconsistent with the covenants. 

There are a few published opinions from Texas appeal courts addressing the use of a 
property in a residential HOA. Whether or not the religious use violated the deed 
restrictions depends upon the particular facts and the specific language of the applicable 
deed restrictions. With the appropriate set of facts and the appropriate language in the 
deed restrictions, courts have ruled that use of a residence as a church did violate the 
deed restrictions. Unfortunately, The Highlands Declaration and other governing 
documents do not contain the preferred language. 

At least one court opinion commented that enforcing the deed restrictions did not violate 
the owner's religious rights or equate to religious discrimination. 

The challenge for The Highlands of McKamy is not that such religious use is automatically 
protected. Rather, the issue is the lack of specific or more definitive restrictions in The 
Highlands governing documents regarding the "use" of a property. For example, there is no 
specific restriction in the Declaration against the use of a property for business purposes 
(e.g. running a daycare facility). An argument can be made that the developer intended the 
homes to be used solely for residential use. See the introductory "whereas" paragraph 
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from the Declaration that I cited above. However, such an argument is subject to 
challenge. Therefore, it is difficult to predict how a local trial court might rule based on the 
facts and circumstances of this particular issue with 7103 Mumford Court. 

With the understanding that such a position is subject to challenge, the Board could take 
the position in discussions with the owner of 7103 Mumford Court that modifying the 
interior and using the house as a functioning synagogue with a congregation and 
"sanctuary" is in violation of the restrictions governing The Highlands as a planned single­
family residential development. 

Information Known to Date: 

The congregation appears to have plans: 

to conduct worship service on Jewish Sabbath 
to conduct Torah study daily 
to conduct other regular religious worship and congregation social activities 

Rabbi Yaakov Rich is the head of the congregation and is a current resident of the 
neighborhood. 

7103 Mumford Court was recently purchased by Michael Gothelf, an apparent member of 
the congregation, who plans to reside at the property. 

The congregation's webpage includes the following with regard to the purchase of 7103 
Mumford Court: 

"Congregation Toras Chaim An Intimate Space Grow at Your Pace" 

Building Dedication: $100,000 - The structure would be named Beis ___ _ 
Kehillas Toras Chaim - would include exterior wall plaque and name in proximity 
to the front entrance. Plus donor would be honoree at first shul banquet following 
dedication of the new building. All learning and shiurim in the first year would as 
well be done in the merit of the donor or whoever the donor may designate. 

[Attorney Comment: The property is characterized as a building to be 
named in honor of the donor. Not as a private residence.] 

Renovations Sponsor: $40,000 - Would include dedication "Renovations donated 
by __ in memory of " and would include entryway plaque. 

[Attorney Comment: The solicitation of donations to renovate is not 
consistent with a private residence but is not in and of itself a violation of the 
Declaration.] 

Beis Medrash Dedication: $25,000 - would include plaque and name over 
entryway. 

Sanctuary: $25,000 - would include plaque and name over entryway. 
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[Attorney Comment: "Sanctuary" is not consistent with a private residence.] 

Children's Play Center & Yard: $20,000 - Dedication Plaque 

Bookcase: $1,000 - dedication plaque (we have MANY bookcases that need to be 
donated!). 

Table for Beis Medrash and Beis Tefillah $250 - Wood tables with solid frames 
for davening and learning. We need a lot! 

Chair Dedication (A lot of chairs!): $100 - Plush metal-frame congregational 
chairs with a pocket in the back for siddurim. Comfortable and made for 
congregational use! 

DONATE TO CTC TO HELP US COMPLETE THE RENOVATIONS. 

Potential Issues: 

Issues that "might" influence action taken by the Board include the following: 

Will the property be the primary residence of the owner of record or used solely as 
a synagogue (no permanent resident)? 

I understand that Rabbi Rich apparently conducted some services in his home in 
the community for approximately the past 3 years. Therefore, there is an issue of 
whether the Association has allowed such activities without any objection or 
enforcement action. 

Will the frequency of visitors, parking, traffic, noise, etc. be such as to constitute an 
invasion of the neighbors' private use and enjoyment of their property? 

What specifically are the Board members' concerns or objections to the group's use 
of the property? 

What specifically are the concerns or objections of neighboring homeowners 
regarding the use of the property? 

Neighbors who object to the use of the property as a synagogue and/or who might 
have complaints about the effect of certain activity will need to be willing to sign an 
affidavit or publicly express their opposition. If the affected homeowners are 
unwilling to publicly state their opposition, the Association's options are limited. Any 
legal action that the Association might take would require supporting evidence. 

The Declaration and governing documents do not appear to contain any restriction 
regarding: street parking; parking generally; and/or "use" of the properties. 

Final Comments: 

I hope my explanation and comments are helpful. I'm available to meet with the Board if 
needed. 
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After the Board meets with the representatives of the congregation and the new owner and 
if the situation appears to be one of concern for the Board about what will be occurring at 
the property, then a follow up meeting or discussion with the City of Dallas representative 
regarding any issues of zoning violations based on the additional facts that you've 
obtained should be considered. If the specific use of the property as a synagogue is not 
prohibited by City Code/Zoning, are there other issues, such as occupancy limits (number 
of people at a given time based on square footage and characterization of the property as 
a single-family residence)? Even if unsuccessful in obtaining any enforcement by the City, 
such action would be part of the Board's due diligence in addressing this issue and 
evaluating options and would help ensure that any concerned neighbors understand that 
the Board has evaluated all options. 

Given the potential problem with the limitations of the Association's Declaration, achieving 
some form of agreement or agreed-upon controls with the owner concerning the activities 
to occur at the property and the potential impact on the neighborhood should be 
considered. 

As a side note in case the issue arises, a new provision of the Texas Property Code 
concerning restrictive covenants became effective June 2011 regarding regulating the 
display of religious items. The new provision reads as follows: 

Section 202.018 Regulation of Display of Certain Religious Items 

(a) Except as otherwise provided by this section [below], a property owners' 
association may not enforce or adopt a restrictive covenant that prohibits a property owner 
or resident from displaying or affixing on the entry to the owner's or resident's dwelling one 
or more religious items the display of which is motivated by the owner's or resident's 
sincere religious belief. 

(b) This section does not prohibit the enforcement or adoption of a covenant 
that, to the extent allowed by the constitution of this state and the United States, prohibits 
the display or affixing of a religious item on the entry to the owner's or resident's dwelling 
that: 

(1) threatens the public health or safety; 

(2) violates a law; 
(3) contains language, graphics, or any display that is patently offensive to a 

passerby; 

(4) is in a location other than the entry door or door frame or extends past the 

outer edge of the door frame of the owner's or resident's dwelling; or 

(5) individually or in combination with each other religious item displayed or 

affixed on the entry door or door frame has a total size of greater than 25 square 

inches. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided by this section, this section does not authorize 
an owner or resident to use a material or color for an entry door or door frame of the 
owner's or resident's dwelling or make an alteration to the entry door or door frame that is 
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not authorized by the restrictive covenants governing the dwelling. 

(d) A property owners' association may remove an item displayed in violation 
of a restrictive covenant permitted by this section. 

David A. Surratt 

Riddle & Williams, P.C. 

3710 Raw!ins Sh~et 

Suite 1400 - Regency Plaza 

Dallas, Texas 75219 

T: 214-760-6766 

F: 214 760 6765 

wwv:.riddleandwjliiarns,corn 

RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. -· £-MAil NOTICE 

This transmission rnay be: (1.) subject to the f'rivi!ege, an attorney wmk product, or (3) 

confidential. if you are not the intended rec!pil"'nt of t!1is message, vou rnav not disclose, print, copy or 

cl!sserninate this inforrnation. If vcu have r,eceived this in enor, ;»ease reply and the sender (only) and 

delete the message, Unauthorized inter-ception of this e-mail is a vioiation of feder-al criminal law, 

From: Carolyn Peadon Lillfil!IQJ::sQ!~!Qil~!QQJlQ.12£1,l!S[J 
Sent: Wednesday, June 26, 2013 7:43 AM 
To: David A. Surratt 
Cc: Aviva Hirschberg; Ted Day; Cheryl Parker; Jim McQuagge 
Subject: RE: Highlands of McKamy / 7103 Mumford Court 

David, 

The Board rnernbers who have responded want you to move forward with your 1·esearch, The Board 

of Toras Chaim has asked for a meeting with our Board, but we wanted to know what OLii' options 

are before we set a time for that meeting, 

Per my initial discussions with Sandy Greyson, our City Council rep., Linda l<oop, former District 11 

rep,, and our NPO contact at the local police station, there isn't much we can do except work on 

parking issues, Religious freedon1 is such a touchy subject! Neighboring residents take exception 

since their Board is claiming it is the full-time residence of Mr. Gothelfs family AND a place of 

worship. 

Thanks for your assistance and clarification. 

Carnlyn "Cookie" Peadon 
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The Annual Homeowners Meeting of Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement 
Association is fast approaching -Sunday, February 2, 2014 at 3:00pm. Each Homeowner has 
a vote towards selecting Board of Directors members to represent you. While I appreciate the 
time and dedication of our existing Board members, frankly it is time for a change. I lead a 
group of concerned homeowners who are candidates to serve as your new Board of Directors. 
Here are our positions on some important issues facing us now: 

• Your current HOA President, Cookie Peadon, raised dues 50% without the required 30 
days advance notice, without required authorization from the Board of Directors, and 
without a capital plan. This is fiscal irresponsibility; we do not support a tax-and-spend 
approach. We intend to take immediate action to correct this. We will roll back dues to 
last's year's level for now. We already have about $190,000 in the bank, and face no 
immediate cash flow issues. 

• We have long-term needs that must be identified. These include the North and South 
entrances, including walls. We support a Town Hall meeting to get your input for a long­
term capital plan. We will then earmark existing funds or a planned future dues increase 
to support that plan. 

• The Board of Directors has not acted while a variety of non-residential organizations 
moved into homes on Rocky Top (2011) and Mumford (2013). These are not allowed by 
our deed .restrictions, which limit usage to single family dwellings. We will act to reverse 
this trend and keep us residential only. If we don't, you can expect more traffic and 
parking issues. 

• We will operate in accordance with the letter and spirit of the Texas Open Meetings act. 
There needs to be accountability. The Board must stop meeting behind closed doors. 

Who we are: 

• David Schneider, 60, 7035 Mumford St (pictured below): IT Manager - 3 years prior experience 
on HOA boards, including 1 year as president of Stewart Creek Estates in Frisco. 

• Ted Day, 61, 7016 Judi St.: College Professor {Finance)- 10 years experience as treasurer of 
Highlands of McKamy !VIV and 2 years on the Board. 

• Marilyn Frey, 7116 Mumford Ct: Retired -first time board member. Ask her age at your own 
risk.:) 

• Doug Galbraith, 55, 7107 Bremerton Ct.: Architect - 20+ years experience on HOA boards 
including treasurer and president. Currently president of 2 HOAs where he has investment 
properties. He resides here. 

" Michael Donohue, 57, 7019 7015 Mumford St.: Attorney (Civil practice)-first time board 
member. 

The meeting is this Sunday, 3:00pm at the Dallas Police Station, Community Room. Please 
sign & return the attached proxy if you are unsure if you can attend the meeting. 

u Values 
I need your help today to make Highlands of McKamy IV and V a bett~•!e' 
live. Thanks, 
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Proxy Form ... Please sign return today 
lam the owner/co-owner of record for Ule property identified below with my signature. i hereby revoke any 
previous proxies and give to the person identified below {my "Proxy Holder") my revocable Proxy to consent and to 
vote, and in au other respects to act in my behalf, as a member of the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community 
Improvement Association, at any meeting, and on absentee ballot, referendum, petition or similar. My Proxy holder 
is authorized to consent and to vote in the same manner and with the same effect as if I were at the meeting and 
voted. 

I DESIGNATE AS MY PROXY HOLDER (I give my proxy to) {check one): 

0 David Schneider 

If I attend the meeting and elect to act on my own behalf. my presence or action will supersede and suspend the 
effectiveness of the Proxy. This proxy shall expire 11 months from the effective date. 

Executed _ ............... _-' 2014. 

Highlands of McKamy IV and V address: 

Dallas, TX 75252 

wait- you act after February 2, it's too late! 

Please return to: 

7035 Mumford, Dallas TX 75252 

This is the home of David Schneider. It's at the NW corner of 
Meandering & Mumford. There Is a spot on the porch for you to put 
this form. 

It's Time for Your Voice to be Heard 
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Minutes of HOA Board Meeting on March 2, 2014 

TO: HOA Board 

FROM: Michael Donohue 

DATE: March 11, 2014 

SUBJECT: Highlands of McKamy IV and V - Minutes of HOA Board meeting on March 2, 
2014 

A meeting of the HOA Board was called to order by the President, David Schneider, at 4:04 
p.m., March 2, 2014, at the residence of David Schneider, at 7035 Mwnford Street, Dallas, Texas 
75252. 

Present at the meeting were all Board members: David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn 
Frey, Doug Galbraith and Michael Donohue 

Approval of Minutes from February 2, 2014 Board Meeting: 

Michael Donohue presented for approval the minutes from the Board's February 2, 2014 
meeting and made a motion to make the minutes part of the record. David Schneider 
seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members voted "aye", and the motion 
passed. 

New Treasurer: 

Doug Galbraith resigned as acting Treasurer 

- Following Doug Galbraith's resignation, David Schneider made a motion to appoint 
Aaron Orshalick as Treasurer 

~~EPOSn ON 

iCT EXH~lf 

i bo.4 ' 

o Ted Day seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members voted "aye", 
and the motion passed 

o A discussion ensued about the new Treasurer's attendance at any Executive Board 
Meeting, since the new Treasurer was not a Board member 

• David Schneider brought out that the Board had a right to call in third 
parties to attend Executive-session Board meetings, citing the example of 
a non-Board member homeowner in the HOA being called into an 
Executive session to discuss any non-compliance issues with the 
covenants and restrictions 

--- 1 ---
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• Likewise, it was discussed that the Board had the right to call into 
an Executive session a non-Board member officer of the HOA, 
such as Aaron Orshalik, Treasurer, to discuss the finances of the 
HOA 

Preparation of2014 Budget: 

- A financial report package for January 2014, and balance sheet reports as of January 31, 
2014, apparently prepared by Jordan Hicks, were handed out to the Board 

Aaron Orshalik is preparing a budget for 2014, and that it is being updated from the prior 
Board's budget 

o Discussion ensued that the sprinklers on the east side of the north side were not 
working (as they are on the west side of the north side) 

o Discussion then ensued that VMC was the current landscaping vendor charging 
$1,500 per month, and that there was a contract in place with VMC 

o Discussion then ensued about the HOA's liability insurance, and Marilyn Frey 
said she had contacted the insurer, who had then sent her a declaration sheet 

• The question arose as to whether the insurance premiums were market rate 

o David Schneider then asked that both a "status-quo" budget be prepared, as well 
as a "plan-to-take-action" budget be prepared 

South Wall: 

Doug Galbraith said that he had gotten a price on the falling-down/tilting or damaged 
portions of the south wall, which consisted of two (2) sections that were each 
approximately 80 feet long 

o The cost of removal of those two (2) sections was $15,000 to $20,000 

The issue was brought up that it was unknown what DART was going to do --- was 
DART going to eventually tear down the south wall? -- if so, the question arose as to 
why repair or replace the south wall at this point? 

Doug Galbraith also brought up that any replacement wall that the brick could not be 
matched up with the existing brick wall 

Doug Galbraith's recommendation was to tear down the damaged portions of the south 
wall and replace it with wooden fence 

--- 2 ---
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o Doug Galbraith will find out the difference between wooden fence and brick wall 
replacement costs 

Discussion of Other Houses in the Neighborhood, Other Than 7103 Mumford Court: 

A resident is complaining of a house in a state of disrepair 

o House, formerly owned by Tracy Rowlett (per Marilyn Frey), at the south comer 
of Meandering Way and Rocky Top -- bricks separating and fence looks "lean­
to" like 

Discussion of Management Company: 

Principal Management Group provides financial services only (i.e., collecting 
homeowners' fees) 

o Doug Galbraith brought up that it would probably double the management fee if 
the management group were to also drive the neighborhood looking for non­
compliance issues Oike the aforementioned problem with the house on Rocky 
Top) 

o Short discussion that some residents were in arrears on paying their HOA dues 

Document Storage Expense: 

Marilyn Frey is looking into and will make a presentation at the next HOA Board 
meeting 

Website Expense: 

Marilyn Frey is looking into and will make a presentation at the next HOA Board 
meeting 

Social Committee Update: 

David Schneider made a motion for Marilyn Frey to be the Board Coordinator for the 
Social Committee 

o Michael Donohue seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members 
voted "aye", and the motion passed 

-- 3 ---
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Revise Bank Account Signatory: 

Ted Day will make a recommendation after consulting with Jordan Hicks at Principal 
Management 

o David Schneider questioned whether the bank account is protected and secured 

o James ___ , with the prior Board, closed out the prior account 

o The Premier Bank account has two (2) accounts: an operating account and a 
reserve account 

o Ted Day noted that interest on dues collected is taxed at a 30% tax rate 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

David Schneider called an Executive Session, closed to non-Board members other than 
officers 

o At the beginning of the Executive Session, all 5 Board members were present 
(David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn Frey, Doug Galbraith and Michael 
Donohue) along with the Treasurer, Aaron Orshalick 

Retain David Surratt as Legal Counsel: 

o A motion was brought by Michael Donohue, Chairman of the Legal Committee, 
to retain legal counsel for the HOA counsel to consult with the Board on pending 
legal issues, specifically to retain David Surratt of Riddle & Williams. 

• Discussion ensued amongst the Board 

• The motion was then seconded by Ted Day, then unanimously passed 
among the Board 

HOA to File Suit or Intervene in Pending Suit, Against Owners of 7103 Mumford Court 

o A motion was brought by Michael Donohue to file suit (or intervene in the 
existing homeowner's suit) against the owners and possessors of 7103 Mumford 
Court to enforce the "residential-only" deed restrictions in the covenants 

o Before discussion was had, David Schneider abstained from the discussion or 
vote, excused himself and exited the Executive Session 

--- 4 ---
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• Discussion was had among the 4 remaining Board members, then the 
motion was seconded, and the remaining 4 Board members unanimously 
passed the motion. 

Adjournment of Board Meeting: 

Following the close of the Executive Session, Ted Day made a motion to adjourn the 
Board meeting 

o Doug Galbraith seconded the motion and the motion passed 

--- 5 ---
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Minutes of HOA Board Meeting on February 3, 2014 

TO: HOA Board 

FROM: Michael Donohue 

DATE: February 3, 2014 

SUBJECT: Highlands of McKamy IV and V - Minutes of HOA Board meeting on February 
2,2014 

A meeting of the newly-elected Board commenced immediately following the conclusion of 
HOA annual meeting and election of the Board: 

Present at meeting: David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn Frey, Doug Galbraith and 
Michael Donohue 

Election of Officers by the Board: 

- David Schneider elected President 
Ted Day elected Vice-President 
Doug Galbraith elected acting Treasurer 
Michael Donohue elected acting Secretary 

Reversion of HOA Dues: 

Following election of officers, David Schneider made a motion to move the recent HOA 
annual dues increase back to 2013 level of $120 semi-annual, $240 annual 

o Ted Day seconded the motion and the motion passed 

Official Policy of HOA Board to Enforce Deed-Use Restriction of Residential-Only: 

Ted Day made a motion that it be the policy of the Board to enforce the "deed-use" 
restrictions of residential-only 

o David Schneider seconded the motion and the motion passed 

EPOSITION 
fJ EXHIBIT 
~ I~ 

Creation and Appointment of Legal Committee: 

--- 1 ---
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David Schneider made a motion for the President to create and appoint a legal committee 
to make recommendations to the Board with regard to retaining legal counsel for the 
HOA Board with regard to any legal issues, with Michael Donohue being the Chainnan 
and a voting member of the committee, and Ted Day being appointed to the committee as 
a voting member, and with Michael Donohue to act as liaison between any retained 
counsel and the Board 

o Marilyn Frey seconded the motion and the motion passed 

Authorize President to Deal with Management Company: 

David Schneider made a motion for the President to take control and deal with the 
HOA's management company 

o Michael Donohue seconded the motion and the motion passed 

Adjournment of Board Meeting: 

David Schneider made a motion to adjourn the Board meeting 

o Doug Galbraith seconded the motion and the motion passed 

--- 2 ---
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Minutes of HOA Board Meeting on May 4, 2014 

TO: HOA Board 

FROM: Michael Donohue 

DATE: May 5, 2014 

SUBJECT: Highlands ofMcKamy IV and V - Minutes of HOA Board meeting on May 4, 
2014 

A meeting of the HOA Board was called to order by the President, David Schneider, at 3:10 
p.m., May 4, 2014, at the residence of David Schneider, at 7035 Mumford Street, Dallas, Texas 
75252. 

Present at the meeting were all Board members: David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn 
Frey, Doug Galbraith and Michael Donohue 

Absent from the meeting was the Treasurer, Aaron Orshalick 

Approval of Minutes from March 2, 2014 Board Meeting: 

Michael Donohue presented for approval the minutes from the Board's March 2, 2014 
meeting and made a motion to make the minutes part of the record. David Schneider 
seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members voted "aye", and the motion 
passed. 

South Wall Repairs: 

Doug Galbraith said that he had gotten a price on the falling-down/tilting or damaged 
portions of the south brick wall, which consisted of nine (9) sections, approximately 20 
feet per section, for the total price of $7,700 

Doug Galbraith obtained a "ballpark" estimate to replace the sections with like-kind brick 
of $33,000, and a "ballpark" estimate to replace the sections with board-on-board wood 
of$8,000 

Doug Galbraith made a motion to remove and haul off nine (9) sections of the south wall 
for $7,700 

o Ted Day seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members voted "aye", 
and the motion passed 

--- 1 ---
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The Board considered whether to replace the sections, once removed, with brick or wood, 
and the Board decided to defer any decision on replacement until the next Board meeting 

June 8th Summer Kick-OffJVeterans: 

- Christie Barton and Jennifer Pierce, who assist Marilyn Frey on the Social Committee, 
announced that the June gth Summer Kick Off will have food (BBQ), musical band, jump 
house, games and marketing, for the price of $2,500 (similar price and items for last 
year's event) 

o Christie Barton said she would contact the band for a copy of their contract 

Marilyn Frey advised that, according to the HOA's insurance agent, both the band and 
the jump house need to have insurance and list the HOA as an additional insured under 
their policies 

David Schneider made a motion to fund the Summer Kick-Off for $2,500 

o Michael Donohue seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members 
voted "aye", and the motion passed 

Home Maintenance Standards: 

David Schneider noted that there are a number of properties in the neighborhood whose 
improvements and grounds have not been properly maintained, in violation of the Deed 
Restrictions 

o Further, it was noted by David Schneider that there is not currently a mechanism 
in place to bring before the Board any alleged violations of the maintenance 
requirements under the Deed Restrictions 

o The Board then discussed putting in place a mechanism, including the initial step 
of sending a letter from the Board, signed by the President, to the homeowner of 
any property that is in violation of the maintenance requirements under the Deed 
Restrictions, notifying them of the violation(s) and requesting compliance 

- David Schneider then made a motion to create a Home Maintenance Standards 
Committee, with Marilyn Frey as Chairman (with the authority to determine and select 
other committee members to assist [such additional committee members do not have to 
be in the Board]), to report and make recommendations to the Board of any violations of 
the maintenance requirements 

o Michael Donohue seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members 
voted "aye", and the motion passed 

--- 2 ---
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Gazebo Property: 

David Schneider noted that the original developer of the neighborhood, John Shelton, 
owns the Gazebo property, and never assigned the property to Highlands of McKamy IV 
and V, with Mr. Shelton claiming he did not know which of two (2) homeowners 
association to deed the property to 

o David Schneider, Marilyn Frey and Doug Galbraith reported that they met with 
John Shelton to discuss Mr. Shelton's proposal to sell the Gazebo property to the 
HOA 

• It was discussed that apparently the Gazebo property is valued at $1,000 
on the tax rolls 

o The Board then discussed making an offer to John Shelton to purchase the 
Gazebo property 

- David Schneider then made a motion to offer $500, plus reasonable costs for closing, to 
John Shelton to purchase the Gazebo property 

o Ted Day seconded the motion, a vote was taken, all Board members voted "aye", 
and the motion passed 

Financial Review: 

- It was noted that the Treasurer, Aaron Orshalick, was not in attendance 

- David Schneider advised that, as an action item, he would post the HOA's financial 
report 

It was further noted that, going forward, the Treasurer, once comfortable with the figures 
in the financial report, would post the financial report in the future 

HOA Bank Account: 

- Ted Day reported on the HOA's CD's, advising that the CD's were fully bonded to a 
minimum of $150,000, that Jordan Hicks (at PMG) does not have the authority to access 
or transfer the CD funds, and that, based on his research, Ted Day was satisfied that the 
CD's are financially safe and secure 

o Marilyn Frey noted that currently the Board could not go directly to the Bank to 
obtain financial information, without first going through PMG 

--- 3 ---
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Document Storage Expense: 

- Marilyn Frey reported that there have been 27 boxes in storage since 1991, currently 
stored with Iron Mountain 

The issue of how far back the HOA should retain records was brought up 

o Michael Donohue will research and make a recommendation at the next Board 
meeting as to what records should be retained by the HOA, and for how long 

Website Expense: 

Discussion about the HOA's website expense is deferred until the next Board meeting 

Discussion Between Board and Present Homeowners about May 17th Special Meeting: 

A question was asked of the President, David Schneider, by a homeowner present during 
the Board meeting as to whether the Special Meeting of Homeowners, scheduled on 
Saturday, May 17, 2014 by the President, could be moved to the following Sunday, to 
accommodate those of Jewish faith as Saturday was the Jewish Sabbath 

o Ted Day moved that such question be put before the Board 

o Discussion then ensued and, although the homeowner argued that those of Jewish 
faith would be disenfranchised by having the Special Meeting on Saturday, it was 
pointed out that such Jewish homeowners could participate by proxy, many of 
which proxies for the Special Meeting already having been submitted, so no one 
would be disenfranchised 

o David Schneider then advised that he had given several available dates to the 
representatives of the homeowners who had requested the Special Meeting, some 
of which available dates were Saturday and some of which were Sunday, that 
such representatives had not replied back to him which of such available dates 
they preferred, so David Schneider, as President and under the authority of the 
By-Laws, picked one of those dates, which was May 17, 2014 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

David Schneider called an Executive Session, closed to non-Board members other than 
officers 

--- 4 ---
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o At the beginning of the Executive Session, all 5 Board members were present 
(David Schneider, Ted Day, Marilyn Frey, Doug Galbraith and Michael 
Donohue) 

o Before discussion was had, David Schneider abstained from any discussion or 
vote about the HOA's position or strategy in the current lawsuit with the property 
owners at 7103 Mumford Court, excused himself and exited the Executive 
Session 

HOA Board to Disclose Attorney Fee Ey>enditures to Date: 

o A motion was brought by Michael Donohue, Chairman of the Legal Committee, 
to disclose to HOA members at the next Board meeting the amount of attorney's 
fees expended by the HOA thus far in dealing with the issue of violations of the 
"residential-only" deed restriction by the owners and occupants of 7103 Mumford 
Court 

• Discussion ensued amongst the Board 

• The motion was then seconded by Ted Day, then unanimously passed 
among the Board members present 

Adiournment of Board Meeting: 

Following the close of the Executive Session, David Schneider made a motion to adjourn 
the Board meeting 

o Doug Galbraith seconded the motion and the motion passed 

--- 5 ---
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on near 

? 11 Oct 

IV V 

This past Sunday, the renters of a house on the 

corner of Meandering and Mumford built an unusual structure in their 

driveway. It would be hard not to notice this eyesore if you have driven 

by, it even has colored lights on it at night to attract attention. I have 

since learned that the structure is called a Sukkah. The past couple of 

nights, a number of men have been meeting inside. At night, it is 

common for people to sleep inside this type of structure and I assume 

that is being done here too. 

This is a clear violation of the Highlands of McKamy IV/V binding deed 

restrictions, as temporary structures of any kind are prohibited - even 

for a few weeks a year. Per Highlands of McKamy IVN covenants, 

Article VI, Section 1: "No temporary structure may be placed on lot 

except during construction." There is no exemption for religious 

purposes in Texas. Tuesday, I sent a letter to the absentee landlords in 

New York (as well as the occupants) instructing them to remove it 

immediately and refrain from future violations of the covenants. I made 

it clear I was open to compromise. But they chose not to respond. 

I hope you are as disturbed and dismayed by the appearance of this 
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unusual structure as I am. I asked many of you several days ago 

whether unenforced deed restrictions are any better than none at all. If 

the only way to make our neighborhood better is to sue, then so be it. 

Yesterday I submitted an Original Petition to the District Clerk for the 

State of Texas, Collin County. Although it is always possible that the 

Sukkah will come down before a hearing can occur, a reasonable 

person would expect to see this structure again next year. 

Consequently, I am also asking for a temporary and a permanent 

injunction. 

Many of you know that I also have a pending lawsuit against an 

Orthodox Jewish congregation across the street from this location 

(Congregation Taras Chaim, 7103 Mumford). While the deed restriction 

violations are different and the violators are different, it does raise a 

similar question: can contractual agreements (such as restrictive deed 

covenants) be ignored by those of some religious faiths? Texas courts 

have routinely ruled that they cannot. If this precedent were to be 

overturned, I question the value of any deed restriction anywhere in 

Texas. 

Please note that I have no objection to the free exercise of religion that 

does NOT violate deed restrictions nor violates City of Dallas law. Nor 

do I have any prejudice against any religion. I welcome neighbors of 

any faith, but ask that contractual obligations be honored by all. If you 

don't like the terms of a contract, don't sign it. 

Thanks, 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 296



-David Schneider 

PS my personal email is dave@drchinese.com if you wish to privately 

express your support or disagreement on this issue. 

Shared with Highlands of Mcl<amy IV and V + 3 neighborhoods in 

Thank 1 Reply 6 

• Add bookmark 

• Change category 

• Flag 

• Mute discussion 

It's apparently a major international problem: 

http://wwwJewishpress.com/blogs/guest-b ... 

I'm planning to build an ice fishing hut over my pool this January. Bring 

vodka! 

Thank Flag 

Bill thanked Dean 
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Wednesday, December 17, 201412:04:56 PM Central Standard Time 

Subject: Comments made by D. Schneider on Next Door 

Date: Tuesday, October 21, 2014 11:32:49 PM Central Daylight Time 

From: Maura Schreier-Fleming (sent by maurasf@gmail.com <maurasf@gmail.com>) 

To: Justin Butterfield 

CC: gatorswamp34 

Mr. Butterfield, 
Ben Nise gave me your email address. I wanted you to see what Mr. Schneider has been posting on NextDoor 
(before he was removed) from the main posting area. I highlighted the yellow comment which is offensive and 
contrary to the Constitution. I live in the Highlands of McKamy and am opposed to the HOA's involvement in this 1st 
Amendment case. 
Maura Schreier-Fleming 
7028 Judi St 
Dallas, TX 75252 

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Nextdoor Highlands of McKamy IV and V <reply@r.email.nextdoor.com> 
Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 8:17 AM 
Subject: Re: What's that strange-looking thing on Meandering Way near Frankford (7104 Mumford)? 
To: maura@bestatselling.com 

Cara: Are you saying that Biblical law supercedes Texas contract law? That 

would be a new interpretation in the United States. Is that what you 

want? Further, you can be an observant Jew without breaking HOA rules. Go outside the neighborhood 

to celebrate. Anyway, it would be grossly 

inaccurate to paint a picture that says Jews who do not celebrate Sukkat 

are not observant - because most don't celebrate it in the US (reform, 

conservative, and even most orthodox as far as I know). While you may have 

moved here because of the religious makeup of the community, that is not an 

issue to me either way. I would encourage anyone of any belief to move 

here and practice their religion. I would also recommend that anyone's 

practice of their religion follow the laws of the land. But if you cannot 

find a way to reconcile yourself to those laws, do not move here and expect 

not to be called out on it. There is no religion I am aware of that 

requires you to live in the Highlands of McKamy IV/V. 

Page 1 of2 
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Regards, 

Maura Schreier-Fleming 
Best@Selling M aura@Bestatselling.com 
972 380 0200 More brain, less mouth selling that works. 

Sales training and consulting to sell more now. 
Allbusiness.com Blog on Sales & Women in Business 

Author of Real-World Selling for Out-of-this-World Results and Monday Morning Sales Tips 

Get the monthly SELLING NEWSLETTER 

Follow me on Twitter! 
"I would recommend your work to other sales organizations who 
want to get better results from improved selling strategies." 

Jamey Rootes 
President 
Houston Texans (NFL Football Team) 

Read Maura's Expert Sales Advice Get Your Sales Advice 

Page 2 of2 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 300



EXHIBIT CC 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 301



RIDDLE & WILLIAMS, P.C. 

ilEAN A. IU!ll>Lf:' 
LANCE E. WILLIA\1S 
IJA \'!!) ,\. SVRI<ATT 

Mr. Mark B. Gothelf 
Ms. Judith D. Gothclf 
1 Wilder Road 
Monsey, New York 10952-1023 

l'vfr. Mark B. Gothelf 
iv1s. Judith D. Gothelf 
7103 Mumford Court 
Dallas, Texas 75252 

A1"l'ORNElS & COUNSEtons 

3710 RAWLINS STREET 
St'ITE 1400- REGENCY PLAZA 

CHAO E. RO HINSON 
.IVLIE L. DUl'ONT 

DALI.AS, TEXAS 75219 
·rnu~!'HONE (214) 76!.Hi766 
FACSlilollLE Ill-I) 760-6765 
W\\W, rlddlcundwUl!am~xom 

October 14, 2013 

GHANT R. NE!l)ENFElillll 

VIA CERTfflED MAIL 
RETURN RECEIPT HEQUESTlW 
NO. 7009 3410 0001 2241 7889 

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL 
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
NO. 7009 3410 0001 4241 7896 

Re: Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
7103 Mumford Court, Block 10/8758, Lot 45, Highlands of:McKamy Phase V 

Dear tv1r. Gothelf and Ms. Gotbelf: 

This luw finn represents the Hlghhmds of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement 
Associalion ("HOA"), At the request of the HOA Board of Directors, I am writing with regard to 
the issue of the use of your property located at 7103 Mumford Court (the "Property") as an 
active synagogue. According to the Real Properly Records of Collin County, Texas, you are both 
identified as the ovmers of record of the Property. As the owners, you are responsible to ensure 
that the Property and its use comply with the applicable restrictions set forth in the HOA's 
governing documents. 

The Property is subject to restrictive covenants filed for record in the Real Properly 
Records of Collin County, Texas, and is within the jurisdiction of a mandatory property owners' 
association. Restrictions on the use of the Prnpeny include, but are not necessarily limited to, the 
following provisions set !orth in the i.nstrument entitled ''First Revised Declaration of 
Restrictions for Highlands of McKamy, Phase IV and Phase V, Dallas, Texas" (the "Restrictive 
Covenants") (emphasis added below): 

lntroductorv Recitals 

WHEREAS, Declarant, desiring to establish a uniform plan for the 
benefit of the present and future owners of residential Jots, has heretofore 
filed Articles of Incorporation for Highlands of McKamy IV and V 

HOA 000124 
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t\fr. Mark B. Gothclf 
Ms. Ji.:dith D. Gothelf 
Octob!!r !4, 2013 
Pag1:2 

Community Improvement Association (herein the Association) and has 
filed tbut certain Declaration of Restrictions ... 

NOW, THEREFORE, Declurant, ... does hereby ... substitute this 
First Revised Declaration of Restrictions, imposing the following 
restrictions, reservations, covenants and conditions upon all residential lots 
in McKamy IV and McKruny V, wltich sltall constitute covemmts 
naming witlt the title of saicl reside11tial lots and wlticli shall be btiuliug 
upon am! inure to tire benefit of ... eat:lz am/ every purchaser of any of 
said resfr!ential lots amt tlteir respective heirs, administrators, 
successors mu! assigns, ... and further, the Highlands ofMcKamy IV and 
V Community Improvement Association shall have the right to enforce the 
restrictions, reservations, covenants and conditions herein set forth by any 
proceeding at law und/or in equity as may be deemed advisable or 
appropriate. 

Article YI 
Construction. Usage. and Architectural Covenants 

The above said properties are hereby made subject to the following 
restrictions, conditions, limitations and improvements (herein the 
covenants), to-wit: 

1. RES!DEN11AL USA GE: No structure shall be .. used for .. 
other than ... single family private dwelling ... 

15. NOXIOUS ACTIVITY: No activity shall be carried on upon a 
lot which may be or may become an annoyance .. , to the neighborhood. 

By accepting the deed to the Property, you accepted the terms, conditions, and 
restrictions set forth above. 

It is our understanding that the City of Dallas may have detennined that the use of the 
Property does constitute use as a church or religious facility, as opposed to a private single~ 
fomi ly residence. 

The Board of Directors have been informed that at least one homeowner in the 
neighborhood has communicated to you in writing setting forth his/her objection to the use of the 
Properly as an active synagogue and his/her intent to pursue enforcement of the restrictive 
covenants, 

HOA 000125 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 303



l\.'!r. Mark B. Gothelf 
Ms. Judith D. Gothelf 
Octobi!r 14, 2013 
Pag.'3 3 

'll1e purpose of this letter is to inform you that the use of the Property as a synagogue, 
rather than as a single-family private residence, is in violation of restrictive covenants. 
Tbctefore, the HOA Board of Directors hereby demand that such activity cease. You are hereby 
demanded to bring the Property into compliance with the Restrictive Covenants \vilhin tbfrty 
(30) days from your receipt of this letter. Should you fail to take such action to correct this 
violation within the prescribed time period, the HOA may be forced to file suit against you. lf 
suit is deemed necessary, the HOA will seek recovery of all costs incurred, including attorney's 
fees. 

If you disagree with the HOA's position in this matter or if you are uncertain about your 
ob!Jgations under the HOA's Restrictive Covenants, you may submit a written request for a 
hearing with the HOA Board of Directors. Such request is to be directed to my attention and 
must be received within thirty (30) days from the date either one of you receive this letter. 

If you do not request a hearing and fail to timely comply with this demand to correct the 
violation of the use of your Property, the HOA Board of Directors may take the action described 
above without further notice to you .. 

We understand the Property is/will be the primary residence of one or both of you and is 
identified in the Collin County Central Appraisal District's records as a residential homestead. 
Within ten (l 0) days of your receipt of this letter, please provide me with confirmation of who 
will be the primary resident of the Property so that the HOA may update its records. The HOA 
Board of Dirt~ctors recently learned that the Property may cunently be occupied by someone 
other than you. If neither one of you will be occupying the Property as your primary residence, 
please provide me with written notification. 

Your prompt attention to this important matter is encouraged. Please direct any response 
or questions concerning this matter to my attention. Jf you are represented by an attorney, please 
forward a copy ofthis letter to your attorney. 

cc: Board of Directors 
Highlands of!\kKmny JV & V 

Community Improvement Association 
(Via electronic mail) 

Si:c/? '/ 
~--{4~, 
David A Surratt 
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Highlands of McKamy IV &V Community Improvement Association 

Minutes of the 
Rl~GVLAR BOARD MEETING 

October 17. 2006 

The October 2006, board meeting of the Highlamls of MeKamy IV & V Community 
improvement A~:wciatlon, referred to herein as the "Homeowners Assodation", or the "Association", 
was c.:al!ed to order at 7:20 PM by Board of Directors President Bill North. Also present were board 
mc:mbcrs Bob Dodge, Unda Messer, and Bill Purdon, Treasurer Ted Day, and homeowner Bill Green. 

ni-~ minules for the August 15, 2006 reguh1r board meeting, distributed previously via e-mail, were 
amended. Due to Hw absence of a tiuorum, a formal was not convened in 

The following itc·ms of business were discussed at the 

Committees and Depanmcnts: 
.- Bcautific.ation and Landscaping: 

~ After dis.:u~sion and n:view ofprnposal$, the Board an:cp1ed a bid frcmi VMC to perform 
common area maintenance for the next year. The propcisa! im:!ndcs 
one oddi!ilinal (total of three annually) change of color {planting~}. The1·e was mi increas<: 
Jn price (S 155 76.00) compared to the s.:mlt' scope last yt:ar, with an im:rease of SJ 65(t00 
for the add.itionat planning. 

> The east bras~ emry $Jgns are fabricated and eomplete. We have received an insunHKe 
payment our d:iim for theft of property. 

> A motion was rnade and approved sdecting m inscall ( ti.:<l S l 26 J thelWW 
cwH brass .:ntry signs at the north entry. 

~ Sen:ral of our small (bulk trash, lifon, no soliciting, etc) that were age have 
been renewed. goes tl1 Bill Green for his help rn this project 

., Crime \Vatch: 
> No report 

, Directory: 
Pat Dtldgc is proceeding with formattmg th.: directory informaiion. 

,, Finance: 
> Al11:r discussion, a motion was made and approved to select Goldklang, Cavanaugh & 

Associates as our financial auditors for 200:5. This change was influenced primarily hy the 
experienced in the completion nf amlils in prior year~. 

> Tc:d Day prepared the Association's tax filing for this year. 
~ let! a proposed budget for 2007. After a frw very minor are made. lhe 

revised budget w1!1 be submitted for ''t next r1,:gular 

Newsletter: 
> No report 

r Social: 
~ The annual Halloween party will b1: hdd in from of the Wunlwn's home at 7112 Brem..:rlon 

Court from 5-6:.30 pm. 
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DHA Public Housing: 
,.. No rt•port. 

Non-committee Oki Busi.11ess: 

, \Vt:b-Sitc: 

,.. DART: 
Tlten: Wt1s very >trong and vocal partkipntion at the DART public The 

repmL those Associ;ition Board members present wns lhut ihere wa:. 
opposition to th<' ,;dtJ;.:iion of dies<:! trains and a11 at-grade passag.; through the Dall•1~ 
suburbs. The next DART public meelmg will be to vote on this issue~ 

,.. Deed Ikstriction/Covenant Compliance 
~ There have been m1mernu~ complaint$ reedved about the home the comer ofLattim(m: and 

!-.leandering \Vay thtit is heing a~ an ddercim; facility. 

New Business: 

,- The Association has been invited to send a representative to attend a community breakfast 
with City Councilmembcr Ron Natinski. Bill Green will attend. 

There: bcin~ no fortltt~r business to conduct, the meeting \Va:> adjourned at 9:35 PM by Board President 
Bill North. 

rrn:cting is scheduled for Tuesday, November 2 L 2006, at 7:00 PM. 

- 2 -
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NO PJJOTOCOPYtl\1AGE A VAll 
ll lE FOLLOWlNO JS A PRJSTOL OF ELr:crRO\lC FlLE 

!Riddk Williams. P.C. Letterhead] 

Mr. W. Romberger and 
ivlrs. Lind:i K. Romberger 
7605 Afton Villa Court 
Plano. Texas 75025~3600 

t\farch 29. ~OOl 

Ri.:: 7038 Lattimore Drive. D<1llas. Collin County, Texas 
llighlnnds oCvicKamy IV and V Community 

hr1provem.:nt Association 
(Our File No. 511115459) 

Dear :Vic and 1\1rs. Romberger: 

We Highlands oflvkKany IV and V Community Irnpnwement Association 
"1\ssociation"). \Ve lune be..:n requested the Board of Directors (the "l~\•ard") 

Association to write lo you t'.oncerning your ten:mt, June Itani 

According to Board. they received numerous from the bon11:owners 
C\mcerning the conduct of your lcmmt and h1..·r operation of hl)mt.: hi.:a!th care community ccntl..'r 
in your n.~sidcncc under !he name business nnme or "Our Placl'". 

Article VI, the First Revised Declaration of Rcstricthms for l of \lcKamy. 
Phase JV and V (th...: "Declaration"). 1itkd Construct.ion. Usage, and An:hitec!ur:il 
Covenants, Paragraph I provides. in part, as follows: 

1. Rt:sidcntial . :\o strnclun:.- shall be <.'rectcd, placed, altered, 
used or permitted lo remain on any residential building lot 
other than one detached single family private dwdling .... 

Board for the Association has received reports of debris on the ground and 
the alley 1.)f the lot. as in rnedicini.: bottles. used nccdh:-s and dirty diapers. 

Article VI or the Dccbration, Paragraph 13. prm ides as follows: 

13. Rubbish: No rubbish, trash, or \\llsic shall be place, 
dumped or permitted to remain on any lot in this Addition. 

Article VH of the Ikclarntion, cmitkd 1vfaintenancc. Paragraph L provides as fbllows: 
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!vfr. James\\'. Romberger and 
?vfrs. Linda K. Romberger 
~farch 200 l - Page 2 

1. Duty of l\taintcnancc. Owners :md occupants (including 
lessees) of uny pan of the aboYc propcnics shall jointly and 
sl.."vcrally han:· ihe dmy and responsibility, at their sole cost and 
expense, to keep that part of Prnpcrtics so mvncd or occupied, 
ini:luding buildings. improvements and grounds in Clmncdion 
thl•rewith. a wcll-nrnintaincd, clean and attractive condition 
at all 1imc. Suell maintenance includes, but is llt)t limited to, the 
follO\ving: 

a. Prompt removal of all litter. trash. r-:llisc. ;.ind 
wastes. 

b. Lawn mowing. 

c. Tree and shrub pruning. 

cL Watering . 

.:. Kc..:ping: l~nv and garden areas alive, free of \\1..'cds. 
and attractive. 

f. Keeping parking areas, driveways, an<l roads m 
good r1..'JXlir. 

g. Cornplying with all govl'rnmcnt health and police 
req uin:mcnts. 

h. Rc·ix.Jinting of irnprovc1.ncnts. 

L Ilcpair of i:xkrior damagi:s to improvements. 

I lomcov,ncrs' complaints also or hearse picking up bodi1:s from your residence. 
also known as "Our Plucc" and continuous activity of people corning in and going and out of 
house at au hours of day and night 

Artiek VJ. of the Declaration. Paragraph 15. provides in part as JlJ!lows: 

l 5. Noxious Activity: No activity shall be carried on upon any lot 
w'hich may be or may become an annoyance or nuisance to the 
neighborhood. 

and Romb;:rgcr. as the own0rs of 7038 Lattimon: Driw in Highlamls of ivlcKamy. you 
are responsible for ensuring that your tenant abides by Assodation Declaration. 
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Mr. W. Romberger and 
Mrs. Li11l!a K. Romberger 
\farch 29. 2001 - Page 3 

Article VII of the Declaration. Paragraph 2, pn>\ ides. in part. as foll()\VS; 

2. Enforcement Il~ in the 1Jpinion the Association any such 
owner or occupant has failed in of the foregoing duties or 
responsibilities, then the Association may give such person written 
notice of such failure and such person must within ten ( 10) days 

receiving such notice, perform the care and maintenance 
requir..::d. Should any such person foil to fulfill this duty and 
n.•sponsibility within such period, then the !\:;sociation tbmugh its 
authori:tcd 1.)r shall have the and power to enter 
onlo th\.' premis...:s and pcrfrirm such care and mainkrnmcc \Vithout 
any liability for darnages or wrongful entry, trespass or otherwise to 
any person. The Ov.ners occupants (including lessees) any 
part of the Properties on which such \vork is performc:d jointly 

severally he liable for the cost of such work and shall promptly 
reimburse the Association for such cost. .... 

Laslly, in to y~nir knant operating a home health care community center within a 
residcmial area has been qw.:stioncd. Please ha\ c your tcmmt provide the Board of thc 
Association a copy of Itani's bu:>inl..'ss, "Our Pbc..:". c..:rtifit:atc of ot:cupancy issu..:d by the 
City ofl)alias, Collin County, Texas. and any other licenses to opcrah; tlll~ business. 

\Ve that you immediately bring this lcUi:r to the atlc:ntion of your tenant and 
her prompt compliance. 

Dean A. Riddle 

DAR/db 

cc: 
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RIDDLE& vVrLLIAi\'lS,P.C. 

DEAN A. RJDDLE* 
LANCE E. Wl.LL!AiHS 
DAV!l) A. SLRRA lT 
CLA YTO:'ll R. HEAR.'.,:**t 

• .d-so admitted ln NC & GA 
** .tiso ndmtned m r.-fN 
•• • o!so idmitted m f!'i & :!>1S 
t tln;trd Certified 

Li!Jor & Employment L•w 
rexas Boa.rd afLegal SpedaliL.>llOll 

Clayton and Joni Arhelger 
6806 Rocky Top Cirde 
Dallas, TX 75252 

ATTOR.~l:Ys & COVNSKLORS 

3710 RAWLl.'.\S snu:ET 
SUITE 1406 - REGENCY PLAZA 

DALLAS, TEXAS 75219 
TELEPHONE (214) 760-6766 
FACSIMILE (214) 76()..6765 
www. riddleand.willlams.ct11tt 

March 3, 2011 

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL 

CHAD E. ROUINSON 
Jt'UE L. DUPONT 
CAROLINE A • .\fcCLfMON 
SHAWNA D. l:>ALRYMPLE*"* 

RETlJRi'\i RECEIPT REQUESTED 
NO. 7009 1680 0000 5012 0625 

Re: Highlands oflv1cKamy, Phase lV and Phase V Homeowners Association. Inc. (the 
"'Association") 

Potential Covenant Violations - 6806 Rocky Top Circle (rhe "Property") 

Dear Mr. and Ms. Arhelger: 

Our fim1 represents the Association and I have been ashd w communicate \Vith you about 
potential covenant violations at your Property. 

It has been brought to the attention of the Board of th!! Association that construction has 
taken place at above Property without a submission to the A.rchitectural Committee of the 
proposed plans, as required by Article VI, Paragraph 18 of !he First Revised Declaration of 
Restrictions for Highlarids ofMcKamy, Phase IV and Phase V (the "Declaration"). Additionally, at 
least one concerned neighbor has alerted the Board that you intend to use the Property for other than 
single family, residential purposes, in violation the Declaration. 

Please contact me to discuss the need to submit a full set of plans to the Architectural Control 
Committee and your intended use of the Property. 

Your prompt attention to this matter is encouraged. 
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l\fr.and Ms. Arhelger 
March 3, 2011 
Page 2 

cc: client 

Via Regular U.S. Mail 
Clayton and Joni A.rhelgcr 
6806 Rocky Top Circle 
Dallas. TX 75252 

Clayton and foni Arhelger 
7304 Campbell Road 
Dallas, TX 75248 
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Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) I Meeting Minutes July 21, 2013 (Approved) 

2013 
Meeting called by 

Secretary 

Time!H:eper 

BOD Attendees 

Additional 
Attendees 

15 minutes 

5 minutes 
Discussion 

Conclusions 

Action Items 

Cooki!l Peadon 

, Cheryl Parker 

James Vasil 

7111 Debbe St 

Cookie Peadon, Cheryl D. Parker, fames A. Vasil, Jim McQuagge (absent). Aviva Hirschberg( had to leave 
early), Ted Day 

Ben & Lauren Nise (7020 Mumford SL); Mmilyn & Jim Frey (7116 Mumford Ct.) David Schneider (7035 
Mumford St} Andy Jccobs (7115 Dcblle St) Jean Mcintosh {6915 Blue Mesa); Janette Neely {7111 
Mumford Ct.); Karl & Pam Wortl11:11 (7112 Bremerton Ct.); Dawn Coates {7112 Mumford Ct.); Hershel 
Krycer (7004 Halprin St.) 

YES with Ruvlslons NO 

Treasurer's fleport - Review of current report -See New Business for discussion and action items 

Cookie Peatlon 

Al! BOD members now llave hardco1)Y o! insurance which ts in force between 3/23/13·3/23/14 

Person 
Responsible 

Provide copies of insurance policy to all board members Cookie Peadon 

Cheryl Pmlw1 

Done 

8/18/13 HonwtJwnms requested that BOD scan insurance document and put uni.inc 

5 minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Action Items 

Cookie Peadon 

PGM charges $250 tor packet to new homeowners 
PGM will send ;i C3 report of new Imme owners or we can puH from Cn!Un County deeds. Cheryl will begin 
to (Juli a report ot the first of each month and send to BOD and Charles Km both who is working on 
Director)'. 

Person 
Deadll11e 

Work with PMG to directory form into new owner packl!t Cookie 

Cookie/Charles 

7 /21/2013 

. 8/18/13 Enlist Block Captains to assist with getting information 

10 minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Cookie Peadon 

Jim McQuagge got a recommendation on Sonth Wall. They recormnended tenring down one section and 
cutting tree OJl South side which ate 11ushing Ol1 wait. Question ls "whose lllml is on south side of wall 
and can we get them to cul down tree$?" 

Jea11 Mcintosh, Lora Day, Oa•ld Schneider, & Doug Galbraith have voluntt!ered to serve on this committee 

l I 
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Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) I Meeting Minutes July 21, 2013 {Approved) 

Action Items Person 
Resp\insibls 

........................... 

Deadline 

Establish committee first meeting is scheduled 

Test email dis!ributlon list 

Cookie 

Cookie 

Done 

Done 

10 minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Action Items 

Cookie Pomlon 
Legls!ations dil1 not go through - Cotton Belt Concerned Citizens Coalition continues to monitor situation 

fB tor them is https:/ /www.facebook.com/pages/Cotton-Sc!t·Co11cemed-Citlzens· 
Coa!lt!on/ 29 9 625016 7 307 4 7?frefGts 

Person 
Responsible 

Deadline 

Continue to monitor and report on situatton to HOA , Cookie 

:rn minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Cheryl o. Parker 

' Focus: Completi; a second draft uf Bylaw and Declaration of Restrictions to pres.ent to membershl1> 

i Nee!! to do via nmendments not rewrite; need to test amendments to see which would get support. 

Person 
Responsible 

Deadline 

Create a list of separ;itc ;1mer11lments has1:d on foedhack thus tar and then 
create a Survey Monkey site so that homeowners could rmN!de feedback 
and \/ote on each <imcndment S(Jparately 

Cheryl By October 

Need to include reactivatini: ARC 

20 minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Act!(m. !teins 

Co()kfe Peadon 

Cookie has talked with one of the two ownern, Marl> Gothell wllo in.dicated he wW be moving to Dallas 
toward tile <rnd of August. There were severnl complaints about the pile of dirt currently In the driveway. 
Concerns were voiced that this is "an end·run• arnund tile mies that allow using a residence as a place of 
worshi1>. 
Deed shows that two people own the home Mark and Judith Gothelf (his mother?) 
Homeowners frorn Bremerton Ct. shared examples of problems had occurred from parking issues during 
services at the Rabbi's home. Ben Nise promised to bring these stories to the RabbL Mention was a!so 
mild1~ of m:lditi01rn! parking problems dut; to one of the neighbors conducting swimming lessons during 
the summer. 

Concerns atwut potential for parking issues will be discussed with homeowner 

Person Deadline 

2 ! 
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Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) I Meeting Minutes July 21, 2013 (Approved) 

Gool\ie will discuss situation with Dave Sunntt, of Riddle & WH!ian:s HOA 
1ttomcy end see wilat he advises 

The Board has been advised to meet with the propmty owner to discuss any 
concems iuemified by HOA members by our attorney 

5 minutes Cheryl Parker 

Cookie Done 

Discussion 
• The HOA needs a way to record issues from individual homeowners rntherthan phone calls to 

lndividua.ls 

Conclusions All concurred 

Action Items 

Create form and Mrnounce in newsletter and Nextdoor 

NOTE: Put article in newsletter about how to refiuest alley repair 

5 minutes Parker 

Person 
Responsible 

Cheryl 

Cheryl 

Deadlirrn 

8/18/13 

Discussion 
Need to have generic cmoils so that when BOD member change ctorn1s do not have to be 
recreated. 

Conclusions 

Actirm llems 

Create em;:t;ist 
Nextdoor 

10 mlmites 

i'\11 concurred 

informoUon to BOD and ;;nnounce in nawsletter and 

Cookie 

, Person 
' Responsible 

Cheryl 

Discussion 

Conciusions 

Discussion that we don't knew how much to .raise dues 

Need plall lrnm Landscaping Cornmlttce with budget 

Action ltums 

landscaping Committee needs to create plan and buu1~et 

Ootenni11c last date we cati notify PMG to rnise Feb 2014 dues 

15 .minutes 

Discussion 

Conclusions 

Action Items 

James Vasl! 

James to investigate why administration cost are highel'than expected. 

Investigate if/whefl we can oro1> website through PMG and make sure that 
website doesn't Impact 1rnying HOA dues onlirw 

Cojl)I all documents from PMG Site and put on Nuxldom 

Person 
Responsible 

Cookie 

Person 
Responsible 

James Vasi! 

Cookie 

C!rnryl 

Deadline 

8/18/ 13 

Deadllne 

ASAP 

8/ 18/13 

Deadline 

8/18/13 

. 8/18/13 

8/Hl/13 

3 t 
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Highlands of Mcl<amy IV & V Community Improvement Association 
(aka HOA) I Meeting Minutes July 21, 2013 (Approved) 

Notify homeowners via email that we arc swltclling to using Nextdoor on!y 

Notify homeowners vfa next newsletter that we are switching to using 
Nextdoor only 

Other New Business: NONE Meeting adjourned <'It 4:58pm 

1 Cockle 

Cheryl 

8/18/13 

B/18/13 

4 I 
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CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

IN THE MATTER OF § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
§ 

DAVID R, SCHNEIDER, § 
§ 

Plaintiff, § OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 
§ 

vs. § 
§ 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF, § 4z9th JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
AND CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, § 
INC. § 

§ 
Defendants, § 

§ 
and § 

§ 
HIGHLANDS OF McKAMY IV and § 
V COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT § 
ASSOCIATION, § 

§ 
Intervening Plaintiff, § 

§ 
vs. § 

§ 
JUDITH D. GOTHELF and § 
MARK B. GOTHELF, § 

§ 
Defendants. § 

DECLARATION OF MICHAEL BENKLI.FA 

I, Michael Benklifa, hereby declare that the following facts are true and correct: 

1. My name is Michael Benklifa. I am over 18 years of age and am fully competent in all 

respects to make this declaration. I have personal knowledge of the facts and statements 

contained in this Declaration, and each of them is true and correct. 
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2. I am a resident of the Highlands of McKamy IV and V Community Improvement 

Association. My address is 7019 Judi Street, Dallas, Texas 75252. 

3. The home of Theodore Day is located at 7016 Judi Street. 7016 Judi Street is located 

next door to 7020 Judi Street. 

4. The house at 7020 Judi Street is located across the street from my home. A music school 

operates seven days a week at 7020 Judi Street. Parents regularly sit in their cars in front of my 

home waiting for their children to finish music class at 7020 Judi Street. The music school at 

7020 Judi Street has hosted a recital. 

5. A used car business operates out of the house at 7043 Judi Street. There is a constant 

revolving inventory of cars parked on the street and in the driveway of 7043 Judi Street. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 to this Declaration is a true and correct copy of an email I 

sent to Benjamin Nise and Yaakov Rich on October 12, 2014. 

JURAT 

My name is Michael Benklifa, my date of birth is ) 1' fe~bel' i 11(1-and my 

address is 7019 Judi Street, Dallas, Texas, 75252, United States of America. I declare under 

penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed in Collin County, State of Texas on the __2_ day of J C<.111..tay ,201 <. 
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From: Michael Benklifa <benklifa@gmail.com> 
Date: Sun, 12 Oct 2014 22:31:54 -0500 
To: Benjamin Nise<gatorswamp34@yahoo.com>; Yaakov 
Rich<rabbi@toraschaimdallas.org> 
Subject: Selective outrage 

Across the street from us, next door to Bob Day (President of HOA) 7020 
Judi st. there is music school that operates 7 days a week. Parents regularly 
sit in their car in front of our house waiting for their child to finish their 
music class. They recently even had a recital. 

On 7041 Judi st., again on the corner of the same street as Bob Day 
(President of HOA), there is a used car business. There is a constant 
revolving inventory of cars that he buys at auction and parks them in the 
street and his driveway until they are sold. Article 6 section 1 says that a 
residence is not allowed to have more than 4 cars and our esteemed 
president has turned a blind eye to this as well. 

Also .... 
According the the HOA Governing documents 
Article 6 section 7: "Wood fences shall be no higher than 6 feet and 
constructed of redwood, ceder or cyprus." Snyder, as well as everybody in 
the neighborhood, might be in violation of this. 

Section 10: All houses are supposed to have lights that illuminate their 
alley. 

Section 11: Only allows for one Ssqft sign for the purposes of "identifying 
the builder or advertising the property for sale or lease." A sign posted for 
other reasons, for instance, "Keep us Residential" is a violation. 
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Bradford Court Reporting Repository Logon 

Bradford Court Reporting, LLC 
7015 Mumford Street 
Dallas, TX 75252 
Phone: 972-931-2799 (888-733-2311) Fax: 972-931-1199 
j About us I Contact us J Email us I Home I 

Page 1of1 

lcustomer Logon.eporter Logonlschedule Nowlsign-U 11.----------------. 

Username 

Password 

To view a full demonstration logon as 
MASON with the password 3333 

Forgot your password? Click here to have your password emailed to you. 

https://cp6.courtpages.net/logon.asp?TB=&companyid=214 713 2850 

f EPOSITION 
EXHIBIT 

7., 
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Subject: Congregation 
From: Ted Day <tday@utdallas.edu> 
Date; Thu, 27 Jun 2013 01:04:23 ·0500 
To: mkc2@sbcgiobal.net 
Message-ID: <51CBDSE7.2000002@utdallas.edu> 
User-Agent: Mozilla/5.0 (Macintosh; U; Intel Mac OS X 10.6; en-US; rv:l.9.2.28) 
Gecko/20120306 Thunderbird/3.1. 20 
MIME-Version: 1.0 
Content-Type: text/plain; charset:::: IS0-8859-1; format=flowed 
Content-Transfer-Encoding: ?bit 

Michael and Mary, 
I'm very concerned about all of the issues related to the establishment of the 

synagogue near your home, both as a member of tr1e board and as a neighbor. 
Unfortunately, at this point I don't believe that there is the unanimity on the boa rd 
about this .issue that I 1-10uld like to see. I don't think that it vJould be right to 
-forward cop.ies of e-mail messages that have been shared by members of tl1e board. However, 
belov1 I copied in the opinions that I have expressed on the matter to the other members of 
the board and if you infer anything about the opinions of others from 1-1hat l have said .I 
don• t see that l'.!ny harm has been done • 

.I don't want to see litigation but I agree that deed restrictions l.imit usage to 
single family dwe \lings, and unfortunately, I don't think that the re is an acceptab 1e 
negotiated solution. Re Ugious freedom has nothing to do <Ji.th this 1 ssue, although H is 
possible that a court may not be will.ing to grant us relief, particularly g.iven the 
erosion in our rights due to the laws about the establishment of hospices. In fact, right 
now I'm figuring out what to do about a garage near my home has been converted to a rental 
apartment. Anyway, I'm committed to getting good legal advice on the remedies we may have 
available to us. I know that both ot you are very savvy about neighborhood issues and 
so I would appreciate sharing any ideas that you might have about ho1-1 to proceed. Take 
care, Ted Day 

What follows is the message that I sent: 

Those are al.l good points---and rather than provide ans;1ers to those questions myself I 
would rather present the situation to an attorney, ex.plain v1hat \·te viev1 as the 
negative consequences to the neighborhood of what i>Je perceive to be happening (parking 
problems, renovations that might not be consi.stent with a resi.dentia.l neighborhood, the 
potential for a non-profit day care business to take root in the ne.1ghtmrhood, and the 
poss.ibility that this would potentially attract other seedling churches to our 
neighborhood or lead to an expansion of non-residential activity in our neighborhood}, and 
then have the attorney tell us what the potential legal remedies would be, if any. At the 
risk of expressing an opinion on something that I'm not an expert on, I 1,-muld say that 
there is in fact a definable difference betv1een a church and a bib le study. If I'm having 
a bible study in my home my guests would be sitting in cha.irs and on the couch and 
possibly the floor, making do with the living space that for the moment is not being used 
by my There would be no specia.l reference library, there would not be a 
playground for significant numbers of children added to my backyard, and there would be no 
renovations to my home to either create or expand worship specific seating 
Also, my experience \~ith bible studies is that they typ.ically move to the home of another 
member of the group after a month or so. 
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So to the extent that the home i.s being specifically modified to be a place of 
worship permitting significant numbers of people to gather on a regular basis I think that 
a church has definitely been established. I think that it's one thing for a group to meet 
for worship in a private residence as they form the nucleus for a congregation that will 
ultimately find a permanent place of worship in an appropriate \ocation---Fellowship Bible 
Church of the Park CiHes began in exactly that manner. That is very much how I would 
view the worship that has been occurring in the Rabbi's home up until now. However, it 
looks to me as if they have decided that the permanent home for the church/synagogue win 
be in our neighborhood. This can't be the first time something like this has happened and 
so I would be very surprised if there weren't legal precedent regarding a matter like 
this. 

l\l'ith regard to having our board meet with their board of directors {bible study groups 
usually don't have enough members to create a board of directors I, I'm inclined to think 
that •<e should meet with them at some point, but whether we meet or not I'm very sure that 
they will continue to implement their plan. So ~Y feeling is that we need to nave a legal 
opinion on whether there are le.gal options or not. If our attorney tells us that 1ve have 
no options, as has been the case v1ith the hospices located in our neighborhood, then I 
agree that by all means we shoul.d not be spending money on Utigation for the sake of 
harassing someone who is doing something that some of us just don't Uke. 

With regard to whether this is a matter for the homeowner's association, I f.irmly 
believe that it is. I think that this is a situation vthere a group of people is doing 
something that may have an immediate negative impact on a small group of our neighbors, 
and in the long run this negative Jmpact could potentially be transmitted to the entire 
neighborhood by g radua Hy expanding the scope of the non-- residential activities that a re 
permitted to be conducted in structures that are intended to be used as single family 

Apart from assuring that the gazebo is painted and the grass is cut, I think 
that one of the important reasons for having a homeowner's association is for the group to 
unite to take appropriate co l1ective action through the homeowner' s association rather 
than naviny a small group of affected homeowners bare the brunt of these actions and have 
to go it alone. So those are my thoughts on the matter. Take care, Ted 
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I lighlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 

Minutes of the 
REGULAR HOARD MEETING 

November 20, 2007 

regular board meeting of th,• Highlands ofMcKumy IV & Y Community 
referred to hcrdn as the "lfomeowners Association", or the ''Association", 

was culled to order ~1t 7; l 0 PM by Board of Directors President Bill North. Also present were board 
members Bill Purdon and Andy Zekany. 

Th¢ minutes for the October 16, 2007 board meeting, distributed previously via e~mail, W<.m: 
revkwt'd nnd a;, 

.. C\lmminccs and Dcpmtmcnts: 
,, Architecture: 

~ '.'o report 

,..,. lkautification and Landscaping: 
~ North Entry Bill Punfon repo.rtcd that the are ready but he has b.:en unable w get 

Starlite Sign to return phone calls to schedule installation. Starlite has been paid half of the 
cost for the installation in advance. 

~ Bill North corrected that he will talk with Linda Messer, not Candy Crawford, about the 
possibility of preparing a kmg term landscaping plan for the common are<1s. 

,..,. Crime Watch: 
It was noted some ofthe Bo:ird members have received comments th:it patrols by the VIP team 
arc being noticed neighbors. This is an excellent result 

,.. Directory: 
Bill Purdon noted that he has not received any update infon11ation for the directory since it was 
p11b!ishcd in February. Bill North expressed the desire fi:x the posting of updates to become 
ekdr()fli..: (post to website), or ewn the whole directory. 

Finance: 
> Ted has prepared and submined a draft ofa FY2008 budget for review. This will be 

considered and a vote for approval will be taken at the new regular Board meeting. 

I- Newsletter: 
So activity to report 

r Social: 
> The annu~d neighborhood Halloween parry was hosted by Christie and John-Paul Font and 

was well attended. The Boards expressed appreciation to the Fonts. 
> The fall nuighborhood garage sale was held October 25<17. Thanks to Pat Dodge. 

• Dli.t\ Public Housing: 
r reported that he is holding a check for unused funds released by our attorneys and will 

with Prc$ton about a disbursement plan. 
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No11-1::ommittee Old Business: 

, Wcb~Sitc; 

> :-Jo repoii. 

DART: 
~ 'No Ile>\ information or report. 

'r Deed RestrictiontCovemmt Compliance 
> No dis.:ussion. 

• New Business: 

, ii was brought that the property at 7031 Bremerton Drive is now owned by Mike 
Dossett and is used as a business site for training p1.1rposes. This has been 
generating a number of complaints as !he number of cars parked at seminar time is 
significant. Such use is against Association deed restrictions and is very likely a violation 
of city of Dallas ordinanc.:s. Bill North indicated that he will contact Dr. Dnssett. 

n1cre hdng no further business to conduct, the 
l3i!l North. 

was adjourned al 8:0 I PM by Board President 

meeting is s;.:hcdult:d for Tuesday, Dcc..:mber 18, ::wen, at 7:00 P!vt 

Respectfully submitted, 

-2-
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llic:hlands oOv'lcKamv lV &V Communitv lm1Jrcrvement Association 
~ ; . 

Minutes of the 
REGULAR HOARD MEETING 

December 18, 2007 

board meeting ofthe H.ighlands ofMcKamy rv & V Community 
lm.prnvcment referred to here in as the "ffomeowners Ass<>ciation'', or the" Associ:uion", 

called w order at 7: 15 PM by Board of Director::; President Bill North. Also present were board 
members Bil! Purdon and Andy Zekany, and Association Treasurer Ted Day. 

fhe minutes for the Novi:mber 20, 2007 regular board meeting, distributed previously via e-mail, wl."re 
n:viewc·d and approved as pn.:sentcd. 

rhe following ikms of business were discuss(~d at the meeting: 

• Committees and Depar!!rn:n!s: 
r /\rchitecturc: 

No report 

,., Beautification and Landscaping: 
> Nonh Entry Signs: Any Zd;.any reported that he has contacted St;;rlite Signs and are 

ready lo install the signs, and ju~t need coordination about a suitable date, Due. w the 
holidays, ihe installation will prnbably !1()t happen until January, Andy also confirmed that 
A&B Aluminum and Brass Foundry has been paid for the refurbishmc.nt oflhe recover<.>t! 

Bili North has asked that we provide tn him receipts for the repair expenses so 
that he can :mbmit to our insurance compHny. 

~ Linda J\ksser indicated that she will not be able to pn.:pare a long tenn lm1dscaping plan for 
the neighborhood common area.'>. 

> It was noted that there Js a need to make some repairs on the gazebo. The s.:opc is not 
known. 

Crime Watch: 
No report 

;... Directory: 
No directory haw been received since lhe and release in February, 

";.- Finance: 
~ Aller further review and discussion, the proposed FY2008 budget prepared by Ted Day and 

submitted at the November regular meeting was approved by all Board members present 

,., Newsldter: 
No a1:tivity to report. 

,., Social: 
No report. 

• DHA Public I lousing: 
, l\o report 
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• Non-committee Old Business: 

Web-Site: 
> '\ o r.::port. 

DART: 
~ new informatim1 or reporL 

, Deed Restrktion/Covcnant Compliance 
> R.:garding the property at 703 l Bremerton Drive whidl is now owned Mike Do:m~n and 

being used as a business site for training purposes, a number of complaints hav.:: lx~en 
received due to the nmnbcr ,,f cars parked along lhe street .... apparently at semimir time. 
Such use is Assoc.i;ttion deed restrktions a:nd is very likely a violation of city of 
Dallas rndhmnces. Bill '\orth .indicated that he will contact Dr. Dossett 

New Business: 

Tb1.:1\: 110 further business to conduct, the m.::eting was adjourned at 7:58 .PM by Boan! President 
Bill North. 

lhi: n~xt regular meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, J:inuary 15, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

w 2 -

HOA 000085 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 334



Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improven1cnt Association 

?vtinutcs of the 
REGULAR BOAR}) l\JEETING 

January 15, 2008 

board meeting of the Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community 
n.:ferred w herein as the ''Homeowners Associ.acion", or the .. /\sso1:iation", 

W'1S called to Ndcr at 7: 12 PM by Board of Ditedors President Bill North. Also present were board 
members Bob Dodge. Bill Purdon and Andy Zekany. 

The mimJtes for the De-.-.:mber l 2007 regular hoard meeting, distributed pn:viously via e-mail. wen.: 
n:Yiewcd and •1pproved as prepared and presented. 

The following items of business were discussed at the meeting: 

Committees and Departments: 
:,.. Architecture: 

No n:purl. 

Beautification and Landscaping: 
:\orth Bill Purdon sHtted that the recovered ;md rd'urbishc.d will be 

in$!alicd tomornsw (l2!}6J. Receipts for the variou,; expenses associated with the recovery, 
refurhishmem and installation are being provided to Bill North i.br submisswn w uur 
insurance i:ompany for claim renivery. 

; Thc n<:eds to be examined as a need for repair has b.:cn reportt>d. 

Crirnc Watch: 
Billy Green and his wifo have from 

;,.. Directol)': 
No diiccwry have been rei.:eived since and rcleas1; in Fcbrnary. 

;,.. Finance: 
Ted Day i~ in the pmi:css of a year cnd fiimndal sunuo ~umnrnry for the annual 

,.. Newsletter: 
/\ ncwsleltcr in nn•nArn1;1trn and is tnrgeted for malling 
meelin,U. 

Social: 
No report. 

DHA Public Housing: 
,., No rcporL 

Non-committee Old Business: 

,_ Web-Site: 
> No rqJort. 

with the notice for the annual 
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Ther(~ 

-,. DART: 
~ No rn:w inform<Hion or repmt 

,_ Dc.::d .Restriction/Covenant Compliance 
~ the· prnp1my ::tt 7031 Bremerton Drive which is now owned by !\like Doss<.:tt :ind 

being used as a busines" sit.; for training purposes, Bill North imfa:atcd that h<.: 
has commtrnicatcd with Dr. Dossett Yia e-mail n:g;udrng complaints and violation nf deed 
restri..:tion:;. bu! ha;:; received no n:spo11s1.,. 

Nc\v Business: 

The annual meeting <Jfthe Association has been tentatively set fin Sllnday. February 17. This 
it- upon findmg a suitable location to hold the meeting. 

no further busim:~s lo condth.:t, the meeting: was adjourned at 7:25 PM by Board President 
Bill Nonh. 

The n.:xt meeting will be the Annual tentatively scheduled for , February 17, 2008, 
with 1he time and location to be detcrminecL 

The iwx! rt'.gular A>:S\)ciation meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, tv1arch 18, 2008, 7:00 PlVL 
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l1ighlands of McKarny IV &V Community Improvement Association 

Minutes of the 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

March l 8, 2008 

The March 2008. regular boarJ meeting of ihe Highlands of tvkKamy JV & V Community 
Association, referred to herein as the ''Homeowni:rs Association.,, 1.Jf the "Association", 

was called to order ;It 7: JO PM by Board of Directors Pres.idem Bob Dodge. Also present were board 
member-.; Bil! Purdon and Vint.:ent Button and homeowner Pa.trkk Harrison. 

nie minutes for the January 15. 2008 regular board meeting, distributed previously via e·maiL were 
r.:vicwed and appnJved a!1er amendment to com.:.ct ihe date for the in:m1l!ation of 1he north 
i:ntry signs from 12/l 6/:WOS lo l i16!2008. 

rh..: !(11lowing items of bm;incss were discussed at rhe meeting: 

C'ommitt1:es and Dcpartmcllts: 
, Architccturc: 

There h:1ve beeu two inquiries from hom<.:owners its lo whether ei!lJH.ll'tx: tire 
th1: per the deed restrictions. The nmuer has been referred to 

'"'''"''vnm ibis issu<;:. 

Beautification and Landscaping: 
Bill Ptm.ion stated that th10 retovered and refurbished 

llJih. Receipts for !he various. exp .. :nscs a~sodated with th<: teem:ery, 
rdlirh1shment and msta!!atim1 are hdng collected hy Bill Nonh for suhnmsion hi our 
insuram;e eatrkr for claim H!C(Jvery, 

t The w.1> by Andy Zekany and Bill Purdon and they found that a sizahk gap 
tlf "separation" now cxisb between the .four pie segmeim; of the slab undi:r the gazebo 
structure Bub Dodge. \\ill contact a coulracrnr hi:: has used w provide an •estimate for 
repair. 

• l lomi:owni:r Patrkk Harrison volunteered to help in the preparation of a kmg term 
for the neighb0rhood common area~. 

Crime \Vatch: 
It " greal Bill Purdon an exampk 
where he was notified one had ldt his gamge door open after dark 

r Directory: 
The Hoard voted to begin the proe.:ss of i:n!lecting infr>rmation for 
directory. 

,,, Finance; 
)\fo repmt. 

r Newsletter: 

the ndghhmhood 

A newslett.;r issudin as pan of the notification for [he annmd meeting, 

.,., Social: 
• A garage: sale is scheduled for 1\pril 3, 4, and 5. 
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~ The lhxml 
BBQ at the 

of the last yc:1r's very successful 
,·rnim"·""'" t.J cha.fr thi~ once 

The BBQ is tcmativdy ,;chedtilcd for 

DHA Public Housing: 

~on-committee Old Business: 

\Vcb-Sitc: 
> The b11:ird ha:; b.:en not.ificd that thr: monthly fo.: for our website will .incri:asc frnm $55 to 

$60 May l. 

DART: 
~ ;\() m:w information or report. 

" Delinquent lfomcowncrs Dues Accnunts 
Prhidpal ha;; notified us that there is <)lh! f!(:cotrnt !hat now rc;Kh-:.d th<: 
outstanJing ba.Ia11ce due threshold that, per our in$lructions, the Bonrd i> to mak.: a dcdsion on 

next action. !fob will ailcmpt to contact the mvner to arrange a resolution before legal ac1ion 
i~ autho1iz.:d. 

~ l)~ed I<i:stri¢tion/C'io_venant (~'on1pliancc 
the property al 703 l Bremerton Drive which b now owned 

us.:d as a site for conduc1illg 
he has not received a response from Dr. Do~Sl'H regarding his of neighbor 

cnmplaims and vioht!ion of deed restrictions, 

,, Insurance: 
A renewal proposal for our consolidated liability, protwrty and D&O rnsurance has 
n:c.:inxl. The Board members will rcvi1:w the and pn.wiJi; f.;t;db;1ck in the ncxJ wc,k M 
so, 

~.-:cw Business: 

,., 1\ccd to address our status with the Secretary of State's office. 

,.. Patrick Harrison will talk with the City of Dallas officials to delcrminc why we arc n1.1 

longer allowed to use the North Central Police Station for our lmmeowncr meetings Web­
Site: 

There no furthc.r business to «oiiduct, the meeting was adjourned at 8:55 PM by Board Prcsidtmt 
Bob 

Tile next regular Association meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, April 15, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 
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Highlands of :V1cKamy IV &V Community Improvement Association 

tv1inutes of the 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

April 15, 2008 

Th<: April 2008, regular board meeting of the Highlands of McKamy IV & V Community 
Improvement Association, reforred to herein as the "Homeowners Association", or the "Association", 
was calkd to order at 7:05 PM by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge. Also present were board 
m.:mhcrs Vincent Button. Bill Purdon, Viki Seelig, and Andy Zekar1y. 

The minutes for the March 18. 2008 regular board meeting, distributed previously via e-mail., were 
reviewed and approved as 

! he following items of business were discussed ai the meeting: 

Committees and Departments: 
>- Architecture: 

has rc$carchcd the .issu<: of carports for the neighbtirhood und says that thes.;-
structun.:s an: not by bmh convcntim1 and dct:d rc~tric1.io11s. 

,.. Beautification aml Landscaping: 

>-

, 

,... 

y 

Bill Purdon :stated that he hao: our insurnnce carrier with 
detailing of the timcline and the expenses as,;odatcd with the refurbishment and 

rcin~tallatimt of the n.:covered north entry in support of claim for loss n:covcry. 

• Prcsidi::m Bob has c1.m1acted a comractw ubuut htlW to address the sizable gap nr 
that now exists bc.:twccn the four pie segments of the slab under ihc 

~arucmre. The Bmml authorized that these repairs, estimated to be, aniund $400, 

r The utility pole that moumed the electric 111et1Jr., service and sprinkler controller at the 
,;muh entry common area has fallen down. The meter <1nd the sprinkler conirnller have 

shilen, Bob has contacted one comrnelor far who has proposed to the ptik 
and restore power for $1700. A motion was made and approved authorizing the acceptance 
of either of the two lowest bid after a total of three bids art> receiwd and normalized. 

• So input lms been received as yet from m1J10;;1;a1~•c e1ill!trne'r.«c1n Patrick Harrison ,,,,.,,,m:lm1• th.: 
preparation of a term landscaping plan for the common areas. 

Crin1c Watch: 
No report. 

Directory: 
Bill l'urdon is a questionnaite and phm for updating the ndghbor!mod directory. 

Finance: 
No report. 

Newsletter: 
No report 

Social: 
> The neighborhood sah: was held April 3, 4, and 5, There a consensu:; 

that interest ha> fallen the past few sales and that some action needs to be taken 
to increase the flow and participation to rejuvenate this to its prior successful event. 
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> Spring BBQ: Tlv: mmual ndghborlmod pimk.:13BQ is seheduh:d for May 3 at the 
area. North ;md Kristy Font an: coordinrning this event. 

DI IA Public Housing: 
,. Nu report. 

Non-committee Old Business: 

Web-Site: 
~ Linda 1-.tes>er is looking for a volunteer lo take ov.:r the w..:b-sile liaison duties, 

.- DART: 
> No new information or repnrt. 

,. Delinquent Homeowners Dues Accounts 
Bob Dodg.: has foll sevo::ral for the humeowner with the outsumding due$ b;ilance 
abuv.: the threshold fix Board Because no response was rneeiwd, the Board atHhorized 
referral tif thi~ matter w our anorney for kgal filings and cullection actions. 

~ Deed Restriction/Cov.::nrmt Compliance 
the property at 7031 Bremerton Drive which is now tlWned by Mike Dossett an .. ! 
bdng used as a site for rnnducting busines,1profossional tniining, no r..:;;ponsc has 

lNen received to the communication from former Association president, Bill North, n01i!yi11g Dr. 
Dossett of neighbor complaints and vfok1lion of deed rnstrictiono. It was reported, however, that 
the training sessions appear to haw moved from l\·fonday'< to 

.- Insurance: 
The rern:wul of the Associatiun's consolidated liability, prope1ty and D&O insurance policy 
apprnvcd via .:-mail vot.: oftbc Board on 1vlarcli 25. There wns no significant in 0ither 
coverngc tif premium foe. 

" Corporation Status: 
N~ed !o address our status with the of State's oflkc. Bill Purdon will investigate this. 

Association Governance Documents Updates: 
Tile Board h;1s begun the process ofri:vi<:wing the A;;sociation govern:mce and deed rcstrktion 
docmm:nts for rcvic>ion and updating. 

New Business: 

',- !\o new business. 

Tb,:re bc~ing no further business to condut't, the meeting was adjourn<~d at 8:30 PM by Board President 
Bob Dodge. 

The nc~x.t Association meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, May 21, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 

submitted, 
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Highlands of McKamy JV &V Community hnprovement Association 

:'v1imncs of the 
REGt:LAR BOARD '.\lEETIXG 

May 21. 2008 

2008, board meeting of the Highlands of McKamy JV & V Community lmprovemc.nt 
referred to herein as the "Homeowners' Ass'1ciation". or the "Association", was called tu 

nrd.:r ai 7:05 PM by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge .. Also present were board members 
Vinct·nt Butlnn, Bill Purdon, ~me! Andy Zekany. 

lhl' mim1h:s for the April 15, 2008 regular board distributed previously via e-mail, were 
re\·icwi:d apprc•\ l..'.d a,; 

The f\illuwing items of business were discussed at the meeting: 

Committees and Departments: 
,. Architecture: 

]',,;o reporL 

fi.)r a contrnctor lo n:pa1r the gap ,lr t.ha! 
si:gm.::nts of the com:ret<:: s!;1b under th..: stmcmr<·. This W>1s 

in advanc..: of the :,pring The cost was S.175. 

~ B,lb also ammged for a C\llltractor to install a new milny JX>le th;it wax the n1<iunting for the 
dcctric meter, service panel, and sptinkfcr controller at the south entry common ar..:a aft..:r 
ihe pole cam.: down. After h:ls,;les and bureaucratic the city inspected :md 

t.bc i11~tallation and Om:or reconnected the PoW<'f al the St>uth end has 
now been restored. Tim contractor chug!.' was S l 305. foes and Oncor are 
yd to be accumulated, This was considernbk over original estimates. 

Bob to contact VMC about having a new controller (;;toknJ in~tal!.od so 
uf !he grns;; and shmbs can resume~. 

'\orth Emry Bill Purdtm :ilated 1hut Principal notified him that our 
insurmice i.:;irrii.:r has denied our daim for imbursement of the ri;p,1ir and rein~1;11la1iun ..:osts 
for the stolen and then r<:!cm'ered entry 

> A draft of a term hmdscuping plan for the ndgbborlmod common urea~ was n:eeived vfa 
<Hll::Jil today from dmirperson Putr.ick Harrison. The phm proposes io 
th.:: some of ihe at the north end, replacing the from annu;;ls 
lO perennials, and lYfthe wi:h u :trbor for and "'"''torm;m•«·< 

Patrick not present at the to discuss, so the matt.::r will be tabkd until the next 
to allow consideration and questions. 

Crime Watch; 
l'\(1 report. 

Directory; 
Bill Purdon the plan for urdating the direclory. A qucst1om1aire will go 
out the .August du.::s statement, with one follow-up repeat update appcnL Target to publish and 
di~tribulc in rime for the next unnua! meeting, 

Finance: 
~o rcpon. 
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, N ev;slctier: 
No reporL 

, Social: 
~ Spring BBQ: picniCBBQ was held at the area <m 3. 

This a very and run cveni. Special thanks to Stacey :-.Jonh and Kristy Font 
Jin all their dJorts in coordinating this event. 

DHA Public Housing: 
, No report, 

Non-committee Old Business: 

\Veb-Sitc: 

, DART: 
t i\c) new information or report 

,_ Ddinquent Homco\'.vncrs Dues Accounts 
No ni.:w infonmnion. 

, Deed Restriction/Covenant Compliance 
No in the srntus of the busim:ss/prvfossional trnining 
Bn:mcrton Drive whkh is no\v tlW!led by ~·lib:: Dossett. 

,.., Corporation Status: 

hdd at the property at 703 J 

Bill Purdon will rnnt:icl the Texas ,_...,,,,,tnrv of State's office about \JUI' i:vrpornte ~latus and any 
actions. 

,., Association Governance Docun1ents Updates: 
Thi: Board has the proc.:::;s of the Assm:iatlon gvwm~rncc and deed restrictwn 
doctm1ents for revision and updating. Bill l'urdon wi.ll i;omdinme working ~essions. 

New Business: 
No m:w busincs,; presented, 

no fui1her lmsincss to conduct, the meeting was adjourned al 8:20 PM by Board f>rcsidcm 
Bob Dodge. 

next regular Association mc:cu1111 is scheduled for Tuesday, June 17, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 
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Highlands ofM.cKamy JV &V Community Improvement Association 

rvt inutes ofthc 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

June 17, 2008 

lh: June :WOS, regular board meeting of the Highlands off\1cKamy IV&. V Community Improvemem 
As~ncfation, rcforn!d to herein as the "llomeowm:rs' Association ... or the ''Assodaiion'\ was called to 
order at 7: J 0 PM by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge. Also present were board members Bill 

Viki and Andy 

Thi.'. minutes for the May 21, 2008 regular board me.::ting, distributed previously via e~mail, wen: 
reviewed and approved as presented. 

The following items of business \Vere discussed at the meeting: 

• Committees and Departments: 
r Architecture: 

Nl1 report. 

,. Bcamitication and Landscaping: 
~ The Board the n~signation of Patrkk Harrison as chairperson of the Beautification 

and Landscape commim:e. 
) The sprinkler controller !hr the south common area has now been re-installed :md is 

Although thought to have been siolen when ib.:: power pole, to 
which the controller was aHachcd, was downed in a storm, it turns out that il was retrieved 
by VMC for safekeeping. Cnfortunately, this fact was never shared, and when VMC did 
not return several phone calls attempting to authorize them to install a new comroller, due 
to the urgency the grass irrigated, a different irrigation company was contracted. 
However, VMC, working frnm an undetermined authorizaiion, proce<.'dcd lo re-install the 
controller after oflhc f)QWCr pole and reactivation of power. but did not notil)' 
any Board member. As a result, were incurred when the other irrigation service 
company visited to install a new controller. ln summary, the cost for reinstalling the 
comroller by V~tV was $312, the foe for po\\er lo the controller was $85, and 
the fee for the aborted attempt by the other irrigation company was $Hl5. 

~ No1th Entry Signs: Bill Purdon has been unable to our agent at Principal management to 
rcltlm phone calls about why our insurance carrier denied the claim for hnbmsement of 
lhe repair and rein;;talh1tion costs for the stolen and then recovered entr;y signs, 

~ The draft of a long term landscaping plan prepared by Pa1rick Harrison was dlscussed. There 
was no support on the Bm1rd for the sugge~titm of replacing the gazebo with an nrt1orfs1111><' 

and th..:n sponsoring concerB, as the expense and complication would be s.ignificant. The 
Board wiU be recrniting a new landscape chairperson to in the oiher and 
perhaps fonmilaling additional ones. 

~ The Board decided to solicit bids from other landscaping maintenance companies to deter­
mine if Vl\·1C is competitive. Of panicular interest will be to sec if a servke company can 
be found that can offer professional landscaping advice in addition to maintenance services. 

Gazebo Repair: The repair to !lie Gazebo slab. previously reported, included tie mds to try 
and prevent more separation movement. and the ith1allalion of an expansion joint. 

,,_ Crime Watch: 
for the VIP program was held at the police station and additional patrol volunteers 

were recruited, Ava and Jeff Weinstein arc the VIP program contact> for our neighborhood. 

,. Directory: 
B iU Purdon wi 11 send the directory questionnaire to Principal for inclusion in the next dues 
statement mailing. 
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Finance: 
No report. 

,.. NcwsJ.::tt..:r: 
Will !1) to push for rd<.'a:>e of a newsletter this summer. 

:,. Social: 
• The social cmnmittee is checking about the Fourth of Jtily parade. 

Dl !!\ Public Housing; 

• Non-committec Old Business: 

,, \Vcb-Sltc: 
• B.ill Purdon urged that the Board engage in a driv.:: for mote content and neighborhood 

partkipatit1n in our web site. 

,,. DART: 
~ No new information or report. 

,.. Delinquent llomeowncrs Dues Accounts 
A home on Halprin is now more that ()!1e year delinquent in payment 
Principal Management has been authorized to proceed with !ega! aclion against a delinquent 
account on Rocky Tnp. 

r Deed Restriction/Covenant Compliance 
No in the status of the businesslprofessi.onal training being held at the prnpcrty at 703 l 
Hrcmcrton !)rive which now owned by Jl.:likc Dossett 

r Corporation Status: 
Bill Purdon has pn:parcd all of the documents for submission the T (:xas Secretary of Stat.:'s 
tSOSJ omce w r<:instate or corporate status, The problem has been traced to a failure on the part 
of Priacipai lvlanagement Grnup, our rcgisti:rcd agent, to submit to the SOS 's office, in a time!y 
manner. the s1amtorily required report 9.01 on a Non·Profit Corporation. 

,,. Association Governance Documents Updates: 
The Board has begun the process of reviewing the Association governance and deed restriction 
documents for possible revision mtd updating. A preliminary list changes t<J the 
Declamtim1 of Restrictions document was discussed. A working session will be scheduled where 
these and any others wlll be considered further. 

New 
No new bu.$incss presented. 

There no further business to conduct, the meeting was adjourned at 8:20 Pl'v1 by Board Pre;;ident 
Bob Dodge. 

The next regular Assodation meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, July 15, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 

Respect folly submitted, 

f? 11(! I) I 
f!..)Ut't urdon 
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Uighlarn.ls ofMcKamy lV &V Community fmprovemcnt Association 

Minutes of lhe 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

July l 5. 2008 

The Jul) 2008, regular bo:m.l mceting of the High!ands ofMcKamy !V & V Community lrnprovem.ent 
A-;sociation. rcforred to herein as the .. Homeowners· As&ociation'', m the ·'Association'', was called io 
order at 7:06 PM by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge. Also present were board members 
Vincent Bill Purdon. and Viki Treasurer Ted Day, and homemvner/VlP chairperson 
:\\ W<:.il1s!cin. 

The 111!11utes for ihe June 17, 2008 regular board meeting, distributed previously via e-mail, were 
reviewed and approved as 

The following items of business were discussed at the meeting: 

Committees and Departments: 
, Archilcdurc: 

Andy Zekany has the action to review and suggest changes to the in the deed 
rcstrktions regarding the responsibili1ics and makeup of the architecture committee. 

,, Beautification and Landscaping: 
> Somcon..: turned l'.1fftw~1 ofthc irrigation z(mes at the north entry (north-we~! side), which h;is 

resulted in some landscaping damage. These zones have been reactivated. and Jncks wl!l 
be installed on the sprinkler controllers. VMC recommended that we \Vail to see if the 
grass and plants revive before taking any restorative action. 

t ?\orth Entry Kathy Parker of Principal ;\fanagement says that 1he claim for 
imbursement of lhe repair and reinstal!ation cosb for the stolen and then recovered entry 

have been paid by our insurnnce carrier. 
> The Board expressed continued desire for having a long term landscaping plan before moving 

forward with any tm~jor changes. There are seeds of idi;as in the dmll lands1.,aping plan 
prepared by Patrick Harrison, who ha5 resigned. The Board is irying to recruit a new 
landscape chairperson to help in pricing these ideas, and formulating additional ones. 

~ !n for the pending renewal of the maintenance contrnct, bids an: 
solicited. B.:sides VMC, our current contractor, twn other firms wi!l be asked to pwvidi;: 
quotations. Of particular interest will be to determine if a service company c.an be found 
that can offer professional landscaping design advice in addition w maintenance services . 

., Crime \Vatch: 
Ava Weinstein, who, along with her husband Jeff~ is chairing the ''Volunteers Jn Patrol" program 
for our neighborhood ga"c an update on 1he status of this crime \Vatdi initiative. The Board 
members expressed appreciation for the dedication ofthe volunteers which currently numbers 
six people. It was noted that the '·patrols" have been frequently seen and that the Board ha.'> 
.received many positive comments from neighbors. Ava stated that there is very good interaction 
with the Dallas Police Department. and that this relationship is a real positive for our 
neighborhood in that it personaliz.es us to the local police officers. More volunteers are needed w 
be able to increas<: the frequency of patrols. 

,.. Directory: 
The directory questionnaire missed the deadline for inclusion .in the July dues statement mailing 
and so will be mailed separately. 
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Finance: 
• Ted st<i!ed there no remarkable items of note our expenditures or revenues thus 

in FY 2008 and that we an: tracking to budget. 
• Ted is still pressing ow· rdained CPA firm (Goldklang, Cavanaugh & Associates) to complete 

the financial audit for 2007. Their timeliness has been a disappointment after changing: 
from our previous auditors {Swaim & Assoc.) specifically because of their untimely 
execution. 

Newsletter: 
Will try to push for release of a newsletter this summer. 

"' Social: 
> The Fourth of July parndelpicnic/socia! wa,; not held because the sdv::duling or all the evens 

could not he worked ouL 
> The traditional fall garage sale is planned, but there will be some discussion at the next Board 

meeting about the days of!he week to hold this. 
~ The next social event planned is the Halloween picnic. 

• DHA Publk Housing: 
, Althtiugh ennstructiun has taken very kmg time. the public housing at Hillcrest and SH J 90 is just 

about complete and the <.:eremonial dedication was hdd today. 

• Non-commiitcc Old Business: 

\Vcb-Sitc: 
~ The general consensus is that the H.ighlands ofMcKamy web site is not ~erving us wclL 

With Linda Messer's re~ignation from doing any fortht?t updat.<:s. there is no one driving 
this now. The Board will try to find a new person 10 champion this resource, but falling 
that the web-site may bc discontinued. 

DART: 
> No new information or report. 

~ Delinquent Homeowners Dues Accounts 
!3ob ha:; had success in getting one delinquent account bwught current 
The house at 703 l Bremerton Drive being used for business/pmfesslonal training is now 
dclinquem on its Association dues. 

"' Deed Restriction/Covenant Compliance 
No in the status of the business/professional training being held at the propeny at 7031 
Breme1ton Drive, which is now owned by Mike Dossett. 

r Corporation Status: 
Bill f'urdon reported that he has received notification from the office of the Texas Secretary of 
State that the Highlands ofMcKamy !V & V Community Improvement Association corporation 
h:1s been reinstated and it::. status returned to "In Good Standing". The problem was traced tO a 
faihire Oil the part of Prim:ipal Management Group, our rcgistt'red agent, to submit to the sos·s 
office, in a timely manner, the stamtori!y required report 9.0 I on a Non-Profit Corporation. 

r ASS\)ciation Governance Documents Updates: 
Thi:? Board continues the process of reviewing the Association governance and deed restriction 
documents for possible revision and updating. A prelirninary list of suggested changes to the 

• 2 -

HOA 000097 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 346



Declaration ofRestrktions document \\as discussi:d. A. working session will be scheduled where 
these and any others will be COMidercd further. 

Ne\\ Business: 
Xo new bmincss pn:sented. 

Tlwrc being no further business to conduct, the meeting was adj(mm.:d at 8:45 Piv1 by Board President 
Bob Dodge. 

Tbe next regular Association tnccting is scheduled for Tuesday, August 19, 2008, at 7.:00 PM, 

R.:sp<:ctful!y submitted, 

- 3 -
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1 Iighlands of McKamy IV & V Community Improvement Association 

Minutes of the 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

August l 9, 2008 

2008, regular board meeting of the Highlands ofMcKamy IV & V Community 
"'"'k·'""•'•n• Association, referred to herein as the .. lfomeowners' As:sodation", or the "Association'', 

was calkd to order al 7: 13 PM by Board of Directors Pr..:sidem Bob Dodge, Also present were board 
members Vincent Button, Bill Purdon, and Viki Seelig. 

!he minut6 forthe July l 5, '.WOS 
rev iem:d nnd approved a:s prepared. 

board meeting, distributed previously via e-mail, were 

The• fol!o\.ving items of business \'>er~· discussed at the meeting: 

Cnmm ittccs and Departments: 
,, Architecture: 

Andy Zekany has the action to review and suggest changes to the language in the de..:d 
re:>trictions regarding the responsibilities and makeup of the architecture committc.::. 

,, lkautification and Landscaping: 
) The plants and some nfthe grass at the N\V nonh cnlry have recovered sufficiently 

from the sprinkler problem that no fimhcr rcst<m1tivc action will be taken at this time. 

> In anticipation of the pending renewal ofthc landscape maintenance comrnct. bids have been 
solicited and received from two other contrnctors. These bids are than we arc 

paying Viv.IC. \Ve expect mir current vendor (VJ'vlCJ to i;(1m1mmic:.itc a renO"wal 
in the next month. 

~ Bob Dodge has had some discussions with VMC"s n:prcscntalive about <1dvising u~ on 
ptuting together a long term hmdscaping plan. 

Crime Watch: 
?\o report. 

,. Directory: 
The directory questionnaire has been mii.iled to the HOA ml:'.mbcrs. A deadline for return of these 
was ~ct for JO. 

Finance: 
Bill reported that in e-mail comrnunicati<)n loday with Ted, he indica!.;.d that he will once 
again press our CPA firm (Goldklang, Cavanaugh & Associates) to complete the financial audit 
for 2007. 

'r Newsletter: 
No report. 

Social: 
• Vincent rcqu.::sti:<l that the fall ni:ighborhood garage sale be held Saturday and Sunday so that 

more residents can partidpate on day \)ne. The majority of Board members present were ln 
favor, with one dissention. 

> The next social event planned is the 1-Jallowecn picnic. Bob will communicate with 
social d1air North ab,1nt planning for the event. 
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DHA Public Housing: 
to r<:port. 

• Non-committee Old Business: 

Web-Site: 
> Bill stakd that, .in his opinion, th.o biggest problem with our web-site is that there is no one 

who champions it any longer, Separately, Vincem \.Vil!. examine uptions and alternatives 
f<.n our web-&ite, with the understanding thttt if the effectiveness of our HOA web-site is not 
improved by the end of the year, it will be discontinued for failing to provide value. 

,. DART: 
~ No new information or report. 

r Delinqw:nt Homeowners Dues A.ccounts 
new delinquencies reported. 

, Deed Restriction/Covenant Compliance 
No d11mge in the status of the business.1profossiona! training being held al the property at 7031 
Bm11crton Drive, which is now owned by Mike Dossett. 

,,. Association Governance Documents Updates: 
Discussions regarding revisions to the Association's governance and deed restriction document$ 
continued. Vincent believes thal the biggest issue is the enforceability of the covenlants and he 
\vants a lawyer to comment, and suggetit changes. A motion to this effect was made. Jn 
discussion, Bill cautioned that it will be better w first concentrate on changes in content 
\ eovcnanls and rcstrh:lions) and that once a consensus on the Board is established, the ""'"'"·0

"''·' 

content i,;hanges a$ well as the i:nforceability issues should be reviewed and addressed as a whole 
by our in order tn nmkc the process ell1cient, timely, and to hold down costs. The Board 
dcdded to meet next \Vcdrn:sday (August 27) in a working session to thrashing out content 

• New Business: 
No new busirwss '"''~•"nu•ei 

There no further business to conduct, the meeting was adjourned at 9:00 PM by Board President 
Bob Dodge. 

The Hl!'Xt regular Associa1ton meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, Septembe1 16, 2008, at 7:00 PM. 

- 2 -
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Highlands ofMcKamy IV &V Community Improvement Association 

tvtinutes of the 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

September 16, 2008 

The September 2003. regular board meeting of the Highlands ofMcKamy JV & V Community 
/\;;sociation. rci\:m:d wherein as the "Homeowners' Association", or the ··Association", 

\\:1$ called to order at 7:05 !Y\1 by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge. Also present were board 
members Bi!.! Purdon and Viki Sce!ig, and Treasurer Ted Day 

Thi: minute:; fi)r the August .! 9, 2008 regular board mct•ting, distributed previously via e-mail, were 
re\ icwed and approved as prepared. 

th.:: follmving items of business were discussed at the meeting: 

• Committet:s and Departments: 
..- Architecture: 

Andy Z..:kany hrt$ the action to rttvie'.V and changes to the in the deed 
restrictions the responsibil!ties makeup of the architecture eommil\ee. 

,,. Beautification and Landscaping; 
> v;v!C has 

> Vl\K is 
to prepare a Jong term landscaping !}Ian for our common areas. 

Crime Watch: 
Jn response to Bob's e-mail about suspicious activity in the neighborhood. a neighbor repor1cd a 
white vm1 (.with license plate number) cruising the streets, induding the alleys. This was 
forwarded to Bob. 

r Directory: 
The consensus of the Board was to send a reminder notice out about th<: deadline to return the 
directory information (Sept 30). Hill will prepare the notke, which will also in.;;lude a note to 
:>c1fously consider providing a home e-mail address tu faci!i1ate future c<imm1micntions. So far. 
about 90 questionnaires have been returned. 

,... Finance: 
> Ted repwted that he will begin preparation ofa 2009 

approvaL 
> ~o status on the audit report J()r 2007. 

Ncwskt!cr: 

fbr Board consideration and 

Boh stated that Pat will prepare two more newsletters, including one in the next month. 
A ftcr that, he intends; to shit\ to e-mail communications if no one steps forward to handle this 
ai.:tivity . 

..r Social: 
> Th<: next >ocial even! planned is the HallLJwcen picnic. Bob Dodge will communkate with 

social chair Stacey North about planning for the cwnL 

• DHA Public Housing: 
r Noth.ing to report 
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>!u1H'ornmil!cc Old Business: 

,, Web-Site: 
~ N,1 discussion. 

DART: 
~ No new infimnation or report. 

,, Delinquent Bomeowm:rs Dues Accounts 
'.'Jo discussion. 

,, Deed Restriction!Covcnant Compliance 
No change in ihe status of thi! busincss/prolessinnal training being held at the property m 703 I 
Bn:merwn Drive, which is now owned by tvlike Dossett 

, Association Governance Documents Updates: 
Our deed restrktions and by-!aws arc in the hands of attorneys Riddle and Williams for review 
and SUfJg(cSICcO 

• Ne\\ Business: 
No new business pres(·ntcd. 

TIH~re being no further busim:ss to 
Hoh 

Th<: n<:xt regular Association 

R.:spcctfuliy submitted. 

the meeting was adjourm:d at 8:20 PM by Board Prcshfont 

is scheduled fr)r Tuesday, October 21, 2008, al 7:00 Prv'L 

• 2 -
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Highlands of McKamy IV & \!Community Improvement Association 

1'1 Ri.'vL~ed Minutes of the 
REGOLAR BOARD MEETING 

October 21, 2008 

The Oct()b!.'.'r 2008. board of the Highlands ofiv!cKamy IV & V Community 
'"''"'''m .. •nt Association. n:Ii::ned to herein ns the "Homeowners' Association'', or the '"Association", 

was Cc1lled to order at 7:09 PM by Board of Directors President Bob Dodge. Also present were board 
m..:mbcrs Vincent Button. Bill Purdon, Viki and Andy Zekany, Treasm..:r Ted Day, and 
homeowners Ida and Juhnnie 1 litt. 

mint1tes for the September 16, 2008 regular board 
rc\'lcwed and apprnv.:.d as nn•rnrn•t1 

lh.: t~1Jlowing items of business were discussed at the m1.~eting: 

Crnt1mittces and Departments: 
,.. Architecture: 

Nothing to n:pllft. 

,, Beauti tlcation and Landscaping: 

distributed previously via e-mail, wen: 

> The stams of our landscape contract rene\val with VMC is unknown. 
• Bob indicated that hi: asked VMC to hold off on preparing a term landscaping plun for 

our common areas. 

• V kki slated that she believes that our la11dscaping at both the north aml south entry is 
unattractive am.I need:; to be changed. Andy and Bil! think the shrubs need trimming and 
!hat the annuals (changed three times per year) are in need of color rotation. 

A motion was made and apprnved to authorize planting of filur live oak trees (or equivalent), 
approximately 6" in ct11iper diameter, at the gazebo eomm011 area. The vendor will be 
VMC and the cost is estimated to be $1000 per tree. These are to some of the seven 
trees that lrnv(· fallen down over the pastsevernl years, and is parl of the forward looking 
planning to provide fbr the bcautifo:ation of the common areas. 

> All lighting (trees. security pole, gazebo) is out at the south common area. Bob wiH contact 
an electrical contractor to inveMigatc. 

Crime Wat.ch: 
No repm1. 

,.. Directory: 
The directory file is now clnsed lo updates. Bill is working on soliciting advertisers. He staled 
that it looks Hke ihcre will be li.:\.ver ads this time. 

,... Finance: 
• T.:d stated he is working on a budget for 2009. He also indicated that his 1ncliminary look at 

om current numbers may indicate that we arc operating in a deficit. 
> Per Ted, the current retained earnings (reserve aecoumJ is about S l 45K. Bill stressed thitt we 

ne..:d io develop a prospective for how big this reserve a.:coum needs to be, so that we 
can determine if we have enough in reserve and the dues can be scaled back, or we need to 
continue to build the account balance. Vincem indicated that he is anxious to spend this 
down to about S l OOK. 

> '.\:o status on the audit report for FY2007. 
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i\1..~ws letter: 
A newslcner w;1s prepared by Pat Dodge and mailed. There is no one io prepar<:> future 
new~letters. so some on the Board want to send e-mail as notification about events. Bill read a 
ktter from one homeowner urging that eommunications contim11;-. via mall, as she does not have a 
eomputer or c-maiL The Hilts, who are a neighbor to the person who sen! the letter, offered to 
print a copy of future commtmications and ddivcr same. Bob stated that he had received a 
number\! 0-12) of e-mails a to e-mai.l delivery. A majority of the Board 
a!lirmed a plan to mt1ve to e-mai! communication n::; there is no support to e:xpc:nd the m:lditirnml 
effort tn prepare more formal documents for mailing. 

,_, Sodal: 
• The next S()Cial evem will be the Halloween picnic to be held at Stacey and Bil! Norths house. 

positive commcms about it only 
sale. !hat he received number (lf 

wc:eKe!l!d. and that there were nil complaints. 

• DI lA Public Housing: 
,_, Andy reported that thert• is a proposal l from Preston J !igh(ands) to divide the remaining awarded 

proceeds frmn the victory in the 5'h Circuit District Court equally between our Association and 
Preston Highlands. This appears to amount to about $28K in total. Aller discussion, this was 
tabkd until the next meeting s<i that Andy can research the equity of this a bit more. 

• Non-committee Old Bnsincss: 

,,, \Vcb-Site: 
> There was a n:mind,'.r that ·we will be cancding our web-site with Prindpn! at the end Qftbc. 

year if we cannot improve its uqcfulncss. Ted ;ilso nntt:d that the fi.'t'" W(' ;1re 

more that double was \Ve have them to be (about $140 versus. $60 per month). 

DART: 
• No new infhnnation or report. 

,.. Delinquent llomcowm:rs Dues Accounts 
Bob slated that he signed an authorization to Principal !'l.fanagement to have attorneys file a lien 
against the Highlands of McK:uny propccrty of Mr. Abraham Cohen. Bill repeated his objedicm 
that this was probably not neci:!ssary and just punitive as the resale certificate procedure 
essentially guarantees that the Association will be paid outstanding dues and interest 

r Deed Restrktion/Covcnant Compliance 
Nu change in the status of the busincss/profcssimml training being held at the 
Brcmcnon Drive, which is now owned by 1'.·Hke Dossett. 

,. Association Governance Documents Updates: 

at 7031 

:\discussion including Bob, Vicki, Vincent, and Bill last \Vednesday, October !5 was hdd to 
discuss to the Deed Restrictinns/Covemmt document. BiH has prepared drnfis of the 

and ha~ sent them out for comment and correction from the Board. 

• New Business: 

l'hcre 
Bob 

:\o new business prcs,ented. 

no further business to conduct, the meeting was adjourned at 9: I 0 PM by Board Pn.:sident 
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As'o'ociation is schcdul.::d for Tu.::sday, Nowmb.::r 18, 2008, at 7:00 Plv1. 
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CAUSE NO. 429-04998-2013 

IN THE MATTER OF 

DAVID R. SCHNEIDER, 
PLAINTIFF, 

V. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF, 
MARK B. GOTHELF, AND 
CONGREGATION TORAS CHAIM, 
DEFENDANTS. 

AND 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

INC.§ 
§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

HIGHLANDS OF MCKAMY IV AND V § 
COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 
ASSOCIATION, 
INTERVENING PLAINTIFF 

V. 

JUDITH D. GOTHELF AND 
MARK B. GOTHELF, 
DEFENDANTS. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

429TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR DISCLOSURE 

TO JUDITH D. GOTHELF, MARK B. GOTHELF AND CONGREGATION TORAS 

CHAIM, INC. BY AND THROUGH THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

Plaintiff David R. Schneider responds to Defendants' 

Request for Disclosure dated April 8, 2014 as follows: 

I. 

Disclose: "the method of calculating the $50,000 in 

damages alleged in Count 4 of Plaintiff's Amended Petition." 

Response: The method was for Plaintiff homeowner David 

R. Schneider to estimate the fair market value of his house 

at 7035 Mumford, Dallas (were it to be offered for sale) 
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with residential only usage at nearby houses (as most 

potential buyers would expect), less the fair market value 

of same house having Defendant Congregation Toras Chaim, 

Inc. operating an Orthodox Jewish synagogue directly across 

the street in violation of residential only deed 

restrictions. This difference represents damages caused by 

Defendants. 

This takes into consideration the idea that although 

there could be a few buyers (perhaps members of the 

Congregation itself) that would be enticed to purchase such 

house with a synagogue across the street, there would be a 

great many more who, upon learning of the operation of the 

Orthodox Jewish synagogue, would cease to consider Mr. 

Schneider's house as a suitable potential home purchase. 

The net effect would be an overall reduction in 

potential buyers. Such reduction would inevitably lead to 

less buyer interest, fewer offers, lower offers, and a 

longer length of time of the market before ultimate sale (if 

any). Given that Mr. Schneider's house is otherwise a 

valuable asset in a unique and desirable location, the 

actions of Defendants cause significant damages to the 

Plaintiff in loss of value in Plaintiff's property. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ David R. Schneider 
David R. Schneider, Pro Se 

7035 Mumford 
Dallas, TX 75252 

Email: DavidRaySchneider@Gmail.com 
Cell: (214) 315-5531 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the 
following was this 8th day of May, 2014 served in accordance 
with the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure to the following: 

Matt McGee, Haynes and Boone LLC , 2323 Victory Avenue, 
Suite 700, Dallas, TX 75219 
(Matt.McGee@havnesboone.com). 

Justin Butterfield, Liberty Institute, 2001 West Plano 
Parkway, Suite 1600, Plano, Texas 75075 

David Surratt, Riddle and Williams, 3710 Rawlins Street, 
Suite 1400, Dallas, Texas 75219 
(dsurratt@riddleandwilliams.com). 

/s/ David R. Schneider 
David R. Schneider 
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